Dissertation

Nash Flows Over Time

Leon Sering

Nash Flows Over Time

vorgelegt von

M. Sc. Leon Sering

ORCID: 0000-0003-2953-1115

an der Fakultät II – Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften der Technischen Universität Berlin

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doktor der Naturwissenschaften

– Dr. rer. nat. –

genehmigte Dissertation

Promotionsausschuss:

Vorsitzender Prof. Dr. John M. Sullivan Gutachter Prof. Dr. Martin Skutella Prof. Dr. José Correa Prof. Dr. Neil Olver

Tag der wissenschaftlichen Aussprache: 28. September 2020

Berlin 2020

Leon Sering Nash Flows Over Time Dissertation, Berlin 2020 Reviewers: Prof. Dr. Martin Skutella, Prof. Dr. José Correa and Prof. Dr. Neil Olver

Technische Universität Berlin

Combinatorial Optimization & Graph Algorithms Institute of Mathematics Straße des 17. Juni 136 10623 Berlin

Acknowledgments

This thesis is the result of three great years in the *Combinatorial Optimization & Graph Algorithm* (*COGA*) research group at TU Berlin and I met a lot of wonderful people along the way.

First of all, I want to thank my advisor **Martin Skutella**. He hired me, even though I was calling for the job interview from somewhere in the middle of nowhere in Australia with a very rough connection. I am especially thankful that he introduced me to this amazing topic of Nash flows over time and for all the inspiring ideas he contributed during the years. He also made it possible that I had not to worry about any financial barriers and could visit a lot of international conferences and workshops. In this regard, I shall not forget to mention and thank the **Reseach Center Matheon** and **MATH+** for all the funding they provided.

I was very lucky to meet **Laura Vargas Koch** in December 2017. It is no understatement to say that this was a huge boost to my research. It became clear very quickly that we have a very similar approach on mathematical problems and the result of this highly productive collaboration can be seen in this thesis. Thank you very much, for all the great discussions and ideas, for the productive time and the great research visits, and last but not least, for your friendship.

I also want to thank **José Correa** for inviting me to Chile and all the further participants of the two very nice Nash flow workshops in Santiago de Chile and in Berlin: **Neil Olver, Laura Vargas Koch**, **Tim Oosterwijk**, **Andrés Cristi, Dario Frascaria** and **Marcus Kaiser**. It was a great time in Chile and a pleasure to host you in Berlin. You are truly great people to work with.

I want to thank my co-authors **Lukas Graf** and **Tobias Harks** for the great collaboration and interesting discussions and **Britta Peis** for inviting me to Aachen and providing some great ideas. I am very grateful to **Theresa Thunig** for all of her great insights into the traffic science community and the simulation software *MATSim* and to **Miriam Schlöter** and **Veerle Timmermans** for the great scientific and non-scientific discussions in the last years. I should not forget to thank **Max Zimmer** for his great work on the *Nash Flow Computation Tool*. You did a great implementation job and this tool saved me so many hours of constructing examples.

Finally, I want to thank my girlfriend **Jennifer Manke** for all the great years, the huge support during my doctoral studies, and in particular for spell-checking this thesis. Without your help there would be a lot less pleasure in my life and a lot more typos in the following text. Thank you for everything. I love you.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1		
	1.1	Contribution and Overview	3		
	1.2	Related work	5		
2	Preliminaries				
	2.1	Graphs and Networks	9		
	2.2	Static Flows	10		
	2.3	Game Theory	13		
	2.4	Functions	15		
		2.4.1 Measure Theory	16		
		2.4.2 Integrals	18		
	2.5	Variational Inequalities and a Fixed Point Theorem	19		
		2.5.1 Finite-dimensional Variational Inequalities	19		
		2.5.2 Variational Inequalities in Infinite-dimensional Function Spaces	20		
		2.5.3 Kakutani's Fixed Point Theorem	22		
	2.6	Linear and Integer Programming	22		
	2.7	Flows Over Time	23		
	2.8	Notation	24		
3	The Base Model				
	3.1	Modeling Road Networks	27		
	3.2	Deterministic Queuing Model	28		
	3.3	Nash Flows Over Time	30		
	3.4	Thin Flows with Resetting	33		
	3.5	Constructing Nash Flows Over Time	37		
	3.6	Further Results	39		
		3.6.1 Mixed Integer Programs for Thin Flow Computations	39		
		3.6.2 Uniqueness of Earliest Arrival Times	41		
		3.6.3 Prices of Anarchy	41		
		3.6.4 Long-Term Behavior	43		
	3.7	Appendix: Technical Proofs	46		
4	Time-Dependent Networks				
	4.1	Arc Dynamics	53		
	4.2	Nash Flows Over Time	58		
	4.3	Thin Flows	59		
	4.4	Constructing Nash Flows Over Time	60		
	4.5	Appendix: Technical Proofs	64		

5	Mul	tiple Commodities	69	
	5.1	Multi-Commodity Flows Over Time	70	
		5.1.1 Flow Dynamics	70	
		5.1.2 Multi-Commodity Nash Flows Over Time	72	
		5.1.3 Multi-Commodity Thin Flows	75	
		5.1.4 Existence of Multi-Commodity Nash Flows Over Time	77	
	5.2	Common Destination	79	
	5.3	Common Origin	85	
	5.4	Appendix: Technical Proofs	89	
6	Spil	lback and Kinematic Waves	95	
	6.1	Modeling Kinematic Wave Road Networks	95	
	6.2	Flow Dynamics for Spillback and Kinematic Waves	96	
	6.3	Nash Flows Over Time	103	
	6.4	Spillback Thin Flows	105	
	6.5	Existence of Spillback Thin Flows	107	
	6.6	Constructing Nash Flows Over Time	109	
	6.7	Further Results	111	
		6.7.1 Non-Uniqueness of Earliest Arrival Times	111	
		6.7.2 Unbounded Prices of Anarchy	113	
	6.8	Appendix: Technical Proofs	115	
7	Inst	antaneous Dynamic Equilibria	125	
	7.1	Flow dynamics	126	
	7.2	Instantaneous Dynamic Equilibria	127	
	7.3	Thin Flows for Instantaneous Dynamic Equilibria	128	
	7.4	Constructing Instantaneous Dynamic Equilibria	130	
	7.5	Further Results on Instantaneous Dynamic Equilibria	133	
8	Futu	are Research and Conclusion	137	
	8.1	Review	137	
	8.2	Open Problems	138	
	8.3	Conclusion	140	
Bibliography 1				

Introduction

Climate change is inevitable. Right now humanity is facing the biggest crisis since the end of the cold war. Every year we produce over 35 gigatons of carbon dioxide (CO_2) and more than 15 gigatons of other atmospheric greenhouse gases, such as methane (CH_4), nitrous oxide (N_2O) and tropospheric ozone (O_3) [13, 79]. If these anthropogenic emissions persist during the next decades the global temperature will rise between 2.6 °C and 4.8 °C by 2100 causing a rise of the sea level by an estimated 45 to 82 cm [14]. Besides, the *Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (IPCC) reported the possible consequences on our planet in 2014: Extreme weather with storms, floods and droughts will cause water scarcity, crop losses and mass damage to the biodiversity, just to name some examples [12].

Even though the scientific world agrees that anthropogenic activities will inevitably lead to climate change [102], the IPCC recommends to maintain the greenhouse gases below a limit of 450 ppm (parts per million) in order to avoid an increase of more than 2 °C in global temperature [13]. This can only be achieved by starting to reduce the emissions of atmospheric greenhouse gases immediately.

Hereby, the transportation sector is the second biggest primary source of greenhouse gases, right after electricity and heat. This sector alone is responsible for nearly half of the fossil fuel consumptions and an estimated 15% of the global anthropogenic greenhouse emissions [13].

Fortunately, there are several promising technologies and concepts on the horizon that could reduce the emissions significantly. Firstly, and most importantly, changing car engines from combustion fossil fuel to electronic power [15]. This would reduce the emission greatly under the assumption that the energy sector also heavily invests into renewable energies and reduces the usage of fossil energy drastically. Secondly, reducing the individual traffic volume should be one of the primary goals. Even though the global population and with it the transportation demand is growing exponentially, concepts like pooling (sharing a car for a ride with other travelers) [95] or car sharing [88] are promising concepts as the production of cars is very CO_2 costly.

Finally, one of the major goals should be to design the infrastructure such that congestion is minimized, or in other words, the traffic volume should be controlled to be distributed best possible within the road network. Studies have shown [4, 90] that traffic in high congested networks produces approximately 50% more carbon-dioxide and other exhaust gases per vehicle and kilometer than in non-congested networks. Additionally, high congested roads cause air pollution by emitting carbon monoxide, volatile organic compounds, hydrocarbons, nitrogen oxides, particulate matter and other pollutants [27]. As high congestions mainly occur in metropolitan areas this has a huge negative effect on the traffic users and residents, and it has been shown that the morbidity rate for respiratory and cardiovascular diseases, cancer and adverse pregnancy is increased in such areas [59]. Additionally, highly congested roads also mean longer travel times and higher stress levels of commuters and other traffic users.

In conclusion, it is in society's best interest to minimize congestion, especially in metropolitan areas, in order to decrease greenhouse gas emissions and increase health and welfare.

Understanding traffic. In order to achieve these goals science has to take the first step and develop concepts and ideas on how to improve the infrastructure and reduce traffic congestions. But this is a challenging task as traffic dynamics are hard to predict and changes in the network can have surprising unintentional effects. For example the congestion in a network can increase when a new road is added or a bottle-neck road is enlarged even though the demand and total traffic volume has not changed. This famous effect is known as *Braess Paradox* [8, 9, 74] and was reported for example in Stuttgart in 1969 [52]. The reverse effect, i.e., a closure of a road that improves the traffic situation, was observed in New York (1990) [57] and Seoul (2005) [97]. Hence, it is important to understand the complicated interplay of traffic users and to predict it as best as possible before applying costly and sometimes irreversible changes to the infrastructure.

This is exactly the part where mathematics and this thesis come into play. In order to understand the traffic dynamics mathematicians need to formulate a strong traffic model, in which, on the one hand, it is possible to provide provable statements and predictions and which, on the other hand, represents real-world traffic in the best possible way.

Of course, different aspects of traffic have been considered from the mathematical perspective for a long time and there are several different approaches for modeling traffic [22, 23, 66, 69, 100]. But most of them are either too simplified, leading to large discrepancy to real-world traffic, or they are too complicated to prove any results for larger networks. Only in recent years there was a significant scientific improvement by combining the main concepts of previous static models with a continuous time approach [54].

In almost every case the traffic is modeled as a network flow on a graph and the traffic assignment problem is to find a traffic flow, for which every part that corresponds to a traffic user is traveling on a reasonable path from its origin to its destination. In simpler models time is not taken into account but instead it is assumed that the flow represents the average traffic on a constant demand. On the other side of the spectrum, we have models that aim to simulate the dynamics on each road segment in great detail including acceleration, deceleration, reaction times and distances between vehicles. In this thesis we consider a model that sits in the middle. It has a continuous time component in order to represent the dynamic flow evolution, as some of the most interesting phenomena can only be observed in over time models. But at the same time we stay on a macroscopic level and assume a straightforward queuing model on each link, which does not take detailed vehicle dynamics into account.

The overall goal of this thesis is to provide a complete overview of recent results on dynamic equilibria in this model and to extend the flow dynamics by features, such as spillback, kinematic waves or time-dependent capacities, to be as realistic as possible without losing the fundamental structure and results of dynamic equilibria.

In order to precisely formulate this traffic model the combination of multiple different mathematical disciplines is needed, each covering a different aspect. First of all, road networks are best represented by directed graphs, which are part of discrete mathematics. Next, game theory is important as we need to study the complex interplay of the single road users, which can all be seen as a huge number of players striving for the shortest travel time on the same network. Furthermore, the traffic simulation and congestion calculation form a dynamic system with continuous time, which requires several aspects of functional analysis and measure theory. Finally, if we want to predict the traffic behavior of larger instances, we need to implement an algorithm. It turns out that this can be done with mixed integer programming, a powerful tool within the area of combinatorial optimization.

1.1 Contribution and Overview

In this thesis we consider dynamic equilibria in a flow over time model with deterministic queuing, which were introduced by Koch and Skutella in 2009 [54]. This model, in its base version, lacks essential aspects of traffic. For example, each arc can store an unbounded amount of flow volume and, more importantly, only a single commodity with one source and one sink is considered. In other words, only scenarios where all agents share the same origin and the same destination can be modeled. As this is highly unrealistic for a real-world scenario, the goal of this thesis is to improve the base model by adding features, like spatial queues with kinematic waves that can cause spillback, or by allowing the network properties to change over time. We intensively study a multi-commodity version of this model and show the existence and some structural results of dynamic equilibria. Additionally, we consider a different equilibrium notation, where every agent adaptively chooses a fastest route to the destination based on the information that can be observed at the current time. Overall, the main contribution of this thesis is to greatly reduce the gap between mathematical Nash flows over time and complex large-scale simulation tools, such as MATSim [46], which only determine user equilibria heuristically without provable quality but which are used to predict traffic in real-world scenarios due to their large range of features.

Overview. First, we will present the state of the art and **related work** on this topic in the mathematics, computer science and traffic science communities in the next section.

Right after this, we are going to present all fundamental mathematical definitions, theorems and further **preliminaries** that are needed throughout this thesis in Chapter 2. This includes graph and game theory, an introduction into the Lebesgue measure and a brief overview of variational inequalities. We also consider basic structures of classical static flows as well as several optimization problems of flows over time.

The first chapter on Nash flows over time, Chapter 3, is dedicated to the **base model** as it was introduced by Koch and Skutella. Note that we changed some of the notation in order to make it consistent with the feature extensions in later chapters. In addition to the central results, i.e., that Nash flows over time can be constructed via a sequence of thin flows with resetting, we also provide a short overview of recent results about the long-term behavior and the price of anarchy in this model.

In Chapter 4 we consider flows over time in **time-dependent networks**. In other words, the capacities and the transit times (here given indirectly by speed limits) of the road network can change during the evolution of the traffic flow. If these changes are known information in advance and the traffic users, represented by flow particles, can anticipate them, then it is possible to construct a dynamic equilibrium. The key step is to show how to incorporate the time-dependent capacities and speed limits into the thin flow definition. This way we can prove that all main results of the base model also hold for this extension and that Nash flows over time can, again, be constructed by a sequence of these extended thin flows.

The biggest drawback of the base model is that we can only consider a single-commodity, i.e., only networks with a single source and a single sink, which corresponds to a dynamic traffic assignment problem, where each road user starts from the same origin and everyone has the same destination. To attack this flaw, we consider **multi-commodity flows over time** in Chapter 5, where each commodity has its own origin-destination pair. Even though we lose a lot of structure and some of the main results of the base model in this setting, we show that there still exist dynamic equilibria and that they can still be characterized by some extended thin flow formulation. The key idea is to take

3

all flow from the past and the future into consideration at once and to incorporate the flow of other commodities, called *foreign flow*, into the thin flow definition. It is then possible to prove that multi-commodity Nash flows over time correspond one-to-one to multi-commodity thin flows. Finally, the existence of these thin flows can be shown by a reformulation to an infinite-dimensional variational inequality and the existence theorem of Brézis. As an additional result we show that all properties of the base model translate to the multi-commodity case, as long as all commodities either share the same origin but have different destinations or have potentially different origins but share the same destination.

Chapter 6 is dedicated to the most significant changes of the base model, namely **spillback** and kinematic waves. In order to represent highly congested road networks it is important to support these two crucial features. Spillback can be modeled by restricting the total amount of flow on an arc by some storage capacity. Whenever an arc is *full* the inflow rate cannot exceed the outflow rate any longer. In the words of traffic: if a road is full no new vehicle can enter the street before another vehicle has left. If more flow aims to use a full arc, it has to queue up on a previous arc. This is exactly the definition of spillback. In order to obtain a kinematic wave model, we introduce a backwards moving flow over time on each arc representing the gaps between vehicles. Whenever flow leaves an arc, it takes some time until these free spaces reach the tail, but only then, new flow is allowed to enter if this arc was full. Additionally to the introduction of these new features to the flow over time model, we show that essentially all results of the base model, especially the existence of dynamic equilibria, transfer to this extended model. The key idea thereby is to extend the thin flow definition by a so-called *spillback factor* for each node, which can be used to reduce the effective outflow capacity of all incoming arcs, whenever there is an outgoing arc that is fully congested. Unfortunately, most of the proof techniques used for the base model fail for these extensions. Hence, even though most of the results are basically the same as for the base model, the proofs are much more involved in this chapter.

Note that all these different extensions to the base model can also be combined in a straightforward manner. But in order to keep things as simple as possible, we focus on only one extension to the base model in each chapter.

We continue with a different equilibrium concept in Chapter 7. Here, we consider the same multicommodity flow over time model as given in Chapter 5 but now the particles, representing the road users, are not allowed to anticipate the further evolution of the flow, but instead, they consider only the current state of the network in order to decide on a route to their destination. In these **instantaneous dynamic equilibria**, or **IDE flows** for short, each particle can reevaluate its route choice at every node and adapt its path if necessary. The advantages and disadvantages of this concept compared to Nash flows over time are discussed in-depth and even though these flows over time have completely different structures, we can still use the general thin flow framework to compute them. In fact, the existence of multi-commodity IDE flows can be shown with techniques very similar to the ones used for proving the existence of single-commodity Nash flows over time.

Finally, in Chapter 8 we give a brief summary of the results and discuss **further research** as well as several open problems related to Nash flows over time.

How to read this thesis. The goal of this thesis is that everyone with a basic understanding of mathematical notation should in principle be able to comprehend all results and proofs presented here. Furthermore, all lemmas and theorems that are either a central result on their own or that are necessary later on, are proven rigorously, with the exception of a few theorems in the preliminaries,

for which the proofs are beyond the scope of this thesis. In these cases we refer to an article or text book, where the respective proof can be found.

Each of the Chapters 4 to 6, which focus on a special extension aspect, are completely independent of each other and only refer to the base model. In other words, it is possible to read only Chapter 3 and then one of the Chapters 4 to 6. To understand Chapter 7 about IDE flows it is helpful to read the introduction of the multi-commodity flow over time model in Section 5.1.1.

Note that the fundamental philosophy of this thesis is to keep everything as simple and comprehensible as possible, without losing any mathematical precision or correctness. Surely, the proofs will also include some unpleasant technicalities and calculations that are unavoidable. But we aim to always convey the intuitive idea behind all concepts and proofs. In order to keep the reading flow as fluid as possible we move some of the especially technical and strenuous proofs to the appendix of the corresponding chapter and replace them by intuitive presentations of the key ideas.

1.2 Related work

Dynamic traffic assignment. Network loading models in time-dependent networks have been studied intensively within the traffic science community and the several different approaches can be classified into three categories depending on their level of detail. On the macroscopic level, traffic is modeled by a flow representing a collection of vehicles. Some of the pioneer work in this regard is due to Vickrey with his single link-load model [96] and to Mechant and Nemhauser with an exit-function-based flow model [67]. Recently, more advanced approaches like the Colombo phase transition model [6, 16] or the macroscopic node model [31, 92] have become popular. In contrast to this, microscopic traffic flow models consider each vehicle individually and track not only the position, speed and acceleration of each car, but they also simulate maneuvers, like lane changes and overtaking. Some of them even consider different driver behavior, such as gap-acceptance, reaction times and more. For further details on this kind of models we refer to the comprehensive surveys of Algers et al. [1] and Olstam and Tapani [70]. Finally, mesoscopic models are in between these two. Some aspects, such as the traffic dynamics, are considered at a low level of detail (macroscopic) whereas other aspects, such as the agent behavior and the route choice for each traffic user, are considered individually (microscopic). This gives a trade-off between accuracy and computational complexity. Examples of such models are DynaSMART [47] and the multi-agent transport simulation (MATSim) [46]. For a more detailed overview of different dynamic traffic assignment models we refer to the book of Ran and Boyce [73] and the survey article of Wang et al. [98].

Flows over time. Classical network flows, or **static flows** as we call them in this thesis, have been studied from a mathematical perspective since the middle of the last century. Ford and Fulkerson did a lot of pioneer work on these structures and they also were the first to introduce **dynamic flows**, also called **flows over time**, back in 1958 [32, 33]. In a flow over time, every flow particle travels over time through a network, and therefore, it is an excellent basis for a traffic model. Considering a network with a single source and a single sink as well as a capacity and a transit time for each arc, Ford and Fulkerson showed how to efficiently construct a **maximum flow over time** for some given time horizon. Hereby, a maximum flow over time is a flow over time that sends as much flow volume as possible from the source to the sink within the time horizon. Their algorithm is based on a static min-cost flow computation in the given network, where arc transit times are interpreted as costs. The resulting static flow corresponds to the flow rates of a maximum flow over time that needs to be sent into the network and along the paths as long as possible.

Closely related to the maximum flow over time problem is the **quickest flow problem**. Here, a specific amount of flow volume is given and the task is to send all of it as quickly as possible to the sink. This can be solved efficiently by using Ford's and Fulkerson's algorithm in combination with a binary search framework [29], which can be improved to a strongly-polynomial running-time by using parametric search [11].

Surprisingly, it is possible, at least for the single-source single-sink setting, to compute a flow over time that is maximal for all time horizons simultaneously, and that is, therefore, also a quickest flow for all given flow volumes at once. Such special flows are called **earliest arrival flows** and their existence was already shown by Gale in 1959 [35]. Minieka showed in 1973 that they can be computed by using the successive shortest path algorithm, where it is also allowed to send negative flow backwards in time in the opposite direction of an arc [68]. Unfortunately, this might take an exponential number of iterations in general, which was shown by Zadeh [101]. Just as for all other flow over time concepts, earliest arrival flows were first considered in a discrete time model and, only in 1990, Philpott [72] showed their existence in the continuous time model. Eight years later Fleischer and Tardos [29] also extended the earliest arrival algorithm to the continuous time setting. When considering networks with several sinks, it is possible that there does not exist an earliest arrival flow anymore [30]. In fact, it is NP-hard to decide whether such a flow exists or not in these networks [84]. A formal definition of all of these flow over time problems is given in Section 2.7 on page 24.

It turns out that the **transshipment over time problem** of balancing given supplies and demands on different nodes of a network by sending flow within a time horizon is considerably more difficult to solve than the corresponding problem for static flows. Only in 2000, Hoppe and Tardos [45] presented an efficient algorithm for solving the transshipment over time problem; see also Hoppe's PhD thesis [44]. However, their algorithm uses parametric submodular function minimization, which is theoretically efficient but leads to unrealistic running times for reasonably large networks in practice. Only quite recently, Schlöter and Skutella [83] presented an improvement of this result; see also Schlöter's PhD thesis [82].

As dynamic flow models were often considered in a discrete time model, a classical approach to solve flow over time problems is to reduce them to a static flow problem by considering the time-expanded **network**. The original network is for this purpose copied for every time step between zero and the time horizon, and for each original arc the tail-node in each copy is connected to the head-node in the respective copy corresponding to a later point in time depending on the transit time. This way, an optimal static flow in the expanded network corresponds to an optimal flow over time in the original network. However, the size of the expanded network is exponential in the input size under the natural assumption that the time horizon is encoded in binary. This construction was already introduced by Ford and Fulkerson [32, 33] and it is used, for example, to prove that the minimum cost flow over time problem, which is NP-hard in general [51], can be solved in pseudo-polynomial time. Moreover, clever usage of the concept of time-expanded networks was utilized by Fleischer and Skutella to show the existence of fully polynomial-time approximation schemes for several NP-hard flow over time problems [28]. Another clear evidence that flow over time problems are more complex than static flow problems is the fact that the computation of multi-commodity flows over time is NP-hard [38]. For a recent introductory survey into the whole field of flows over time we refer to the publication of Skutella [89]. Furthermore, the survey of Köhler, Möhring and Skutella gives an overview of flow over time models in the context of traffic networks [56].

Nash flows over time. All flow over time problems discussed so far are based on the assumption that the total flow is controlled by a central authority, which decides on the route and departure time

of each single particle. In real-world traffic situations, however, each traffic user acts independently and selfishly, and therefore, we have a lack of coordination. To capture this behavior, we assume that each flow particle is an individual agent that wants to reach its destination as early as possible, and hence, we consider flows over time from a game-theoretical perspective. In this thesis we study dynamic equilibria, which are states where no particle can reach the destination earlier by unilaterally changing its route. Hereby, the arc dynamics are described by the **deterministic queuing model**, which was first mentioned by Vickrey in 1969 [96] and studied by Hendrickson and Kocur in 1981 [41]. It is also at the core of large-scale agent-based traffic simulations, such as MATSim developed by Horni, Nagel, Axhausen [46] and others. Here, the travel time of a flow particle entering an arc consists of a constant transit time and a waiting time due to a queue that builds up in front of a bottle-neck whenever the flow rate exceeds the arc's capacity. The queues, and therefore the arc dynamics, thereby follow the first-in-first-out (FIFO) principle. For a detailed definition we refer to Section 3.2.

In 2009, Koch and Skutella characterized the structure of dynamic equilibria in a single-source singlesink network from a strictly mathematical point of view [54]; see also Koch's PhD thesis [53]. As the most essential structural insight, they prove that these equilibrium flows, called **Nash flows over time**, consist of a number of phases, in which all flow entering the network chooses the same routes from the source to the sink. Each phase is, thereby, characterized by the strategy of the particles in form of static flows featuring specific properties, which they call **thin flows with resetting**. Based on this key observation, Cominetti, Correa and Larré showed existence and uniqueness of these thin flows with resetting [18], and thus proved the existence of Nash flows over time. They extended this existence result in 2015 to networks with general inflow rate functions and also to a multi-commodity setting [17], which we will discuss in Chapter 5. Moreover, Macko, Larson and Steskal showed the existence of the Braess Paradox in this model [65], and Cominetti, Correa and Olver examined the long-term behavior of queues and were able to bound their lengths whenever the network capacity is sufficiently large [19]. Nash flows over time in the deterministic queuing model are the central mathematical object considered in this thesis. More details on most of these results and a formal introduction to the model can be found in Chapter 3.

Price of anarchy. The price of anarchy is a concept in game theory to measure the total loss in a game due to the selfish behavior of the players. It is defined as the ratio of the total cost of the worst Nash equilibrium and the total cost in the optimal (cooperative) scenario. This concept was first considered by Dubey and Jonathan [25] and transferred to static routing games by Roughgarden and Tardos [77, 75]; see also the publication of Koutsoupias and Papadimitriou [58]. One possibility to apply this concept to the flow over time model is to measure the increase of the arrival time of a particle in a Nash flow over time compared to the arrival time of the same particle in an earliest arrival flow. Bhaskar, Fleischer and Anshelevich showed that this ratio can be bounded by $\frac{e}{e-1}$ under some very specific conditions on the network [5]. Only very recently, Correa, Cristi and Oosterwijk reduced these preconditions significantly [20]. But the conjecture, that the price of anarchy is $\frac{e}{e-1}$ in general, remains open. More on this topic can be found in Section 2.3 on page 14 for static flows and in Section 3.6.3 on page 41 for flows over time in the base model.

Wardrop equilibria. User equilibria have also been studied for a long time in static networks and they are referred to as **Wardrop equilibria** [99]. As they lack the time component, they can be thought of as a steady state after an initial evolution when considering a constant incoming traffic rate [61]. Here, the network is considered to have monotonically increasing cost functions that map the load of each arc, i.e., the amount of flow using this arc, to the traversing time every traffic user experiences by using this arc. Then, the Wardrop equilibrium simply is a static flow where

7

each arc that is used by a positive amount of flow lies on a path from the origin to the destination with minimal cost (a formal definition can be found in Section 2.3 on page 14). These flows always exist [2] and are unique whenever the cost functions are strictly increasing [91]. Under some mild conditions on the cost functions they can be computed efficiently via convex optimization [2, 23]. Just recently, Klimm and Warode showed that it is even possible to compute all Wardrop equilibria for a fixed network with piece-wise linear cost functions for all possible demands [50]. Roughgarden studied the price of anarchy in this model and showed that it only depends on the class of cost functions and not on the network topology [76]. Together with Tardos he showed that the price of anarchy is $\frac{4}{3}$ for linear cost functions [77]. For more details on this topic we refer to the survey of Correa and Stier-Moses [21].

Packet routing. In all the approaches presented above we model traffic by a flow over time or a static flow that can be split in arbitrarily small particles, which makes sense when considering traffic from a microscopic point of view. But there is another class of mathematical routing models that considers each vehicle separately. This perspective became popular since Leighton, Maggs and Rao [62] studied optimization problems in such **packet routing models**. Combining these with game theory leads to so-called **competitive packet routing models**, or **routing games with atomic players**, where discrete packets (corresponding to the vehicles or players) want to move over time as fast as possible through the network to their destinations. Whenever the number of packets using an arc exceeds the arc's capacity, some of the players have to wait, building up congestion. These models are widely studied and there are different aspects that can be altered. For example, Hoefer et al. and Kulkarni et al. study versions with continuous time [43, 60], whereas Harks et al. consider discrete time steps [40]. A model where each player controls multiple packets at the same time was recently introduced by Peis et al. [71] and a competitive packet routing model, which is very similar to a discrete version of Nash flows over time, is studied by Scarsini et al. [81].

Preliminaries

In this chapter we give a formal introduction of all mathematical objects and concepts required throughout this thesis. We start with the basics for graphs, networks and static flows in Sections 2.1 and 2.2 and continue with the fundamental definitions for game theory and a brief introduction into Wardrop equilibria and the price of anarchy in Section 2.3. Integrable functions are essential for flows over time and they are introduced together with the basics of differentiation and measure theory in Section 2.4. Advanced results of finite and infinite dimensional variational inequalities and the fixed point theorem of Kakutani are presented in Section 2.5. They are required for proving the existence of thin flows as well as the existence of Nash flows over time in a multi-commodity setting. Section 2.6 is dedicated to a brief introduction into linear and integer programming, which we need to characterize the long-term behavior of Nash flows over time and to compute thin flows. Finally, we define flows over time in Section 2.7 and show some basic results about optimal flows over time in order to set dynamic equilibria into context. At the very end of this chapter in Section 2.8 we give an intuition of the notation we use throughout this thesis.

2.1 Graphs and Networks

Directed graphs. A **directed graph**, here also just called **graph**, G = (V, E) is given by a finite **node set** *V* and an **arc set** $E \subseteq V \times V \setminus \{ (v, v) | v \in V \}$ as it is depicted in Figure 2.1. Note that by this definition, we do not allow graphs to have any parallel arcs or loops.

Each **arc** $e = (u, v) \in E$ is imagined as a directed arrow pointing from u to v and, for the sake of better readability, it is denoted by uv. We call u the **tail** and v the **head** of arc e and in rare occasions we write tail(e) for u and head(e) for v. The sets of all **incoming** and **outgoing** arcs of a node v are denoted by

$$\delta_v^- \coloneqq \{ e \in E \mid \text{head}(e) = v \} \quad \text{and} \quad \delta_v^+ \coloneqq \{ e \in E \mid \text{tail}(e) = v \}.$$

For a subset of nodes $W \subseteq V$ we write

 $\delta_W^- \coloneqq \{ e = uv \in E \mid u \notin W, v \in W \} \quad \text{and} \quad \delta_W^+ \coloneqq \{ e = uv \in E \mid u \in W, v \notin W \}.$

The **in-degree** and **out-degree** are given by $|\delta_v^-|$ and $|\delta_v^+|$ and the (total) **degree** by $|\delta_v^-| + |\delta_v^+|$.

Paths and Cycles. Given a directed graph G = (V, E) a finite sequence of arcs (e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_m) is called a **path** of **length** m if head $(e_i) = tail(e_{i+1})$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, m-1$. Paths can also be denoted by the visited nodes, i.e., a sequence of nodes $P = (v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_m)$ is a path of length m if $v_{i-1}v_i \in E$ for all $i = 1, 2, \ldots, m$. Note that the empty sequence is a path of length 0. We say a node v is **visited** by a path P if it occurs in the node representation of the path, in this case we also write $v \in P$. Similarly, we say P contains an arc e if e occurs in the arc representation of P and we write $e \in P$. A **cycle** of length m is a path $C = (e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_m)$ with head $(e_m) = tail(e_1)$, or equivalently, a path $C = (v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_m)$ with $v_m = v_0$. A graph is called **acyclic** if it does not contain any cycles. Note that the empty sequence is explicitly not a cycle.



Figure 2.1: On the left: a directed graph with six nodes and eight arcs. The node sequence (v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4) forms a simple path and (v_4, v_5, v_6, v_4) is a simple cycle. The graph is weakly connected but not strongly connected as, for example, v_1 is not reachable by v_2 . In the middle: an arc e with tail u and head v. On the right: A node v with incoming arcs δ_v^- and outgoing arcs δ_v^+ .

We say a node u can **reach** a node v (or v **is reachable** by u) in G if there exists a u-v-path, i.e., a path starting at u and ending at v. Furthermore, a graph G is (weakly) connected if for every pair of nodes $u, v \in V$ either v is reachable by u or u is reachable by v. If we have a graph G such that for every pair of nodes $u, v \in V$ it holds that u can reach v and v can reach u, we say that G is strongly connected.

We call a path (v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_m) simple if none of the nodes are visited twice, in other words, if $|\{v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_m\}| = m + 1$. A cycle is called **simple** if no node is visited twice, except for the start and end node, which of course need to be the same.

Networks. As **networks** we usually denote a directed graph together with some distinct nodes, parameters on the arcs, and additional objects defining the setting. Note that the definition of a network depends on the context. For flows over time a network often consists of a directed graph G together with arc capacities $\nu_e > 0$ and transit times $\tau_e \ge 0$ for all $e \in E$ as well as two distinct nodes $s, t \in V$ and a network inflow rate r > 0. Hence, at least for the base model the network is defined as the tuple $(G, (\nu_e)_{e \in E}, (\tau_e)_{e \in E}, s, t, r)$. Later on some of these constants may get replaced by functions (see time-dependent networks in Chapter 4) or expanded by additional parameters. For the kinematic wave model, for example, we also have an inflow capacity, a storage capacity and a gap transit time for each arc. For every model we clearly state the properties of the network at the beginning of the corresponding chapter.

2.2 Static Flows

We will call the classical network flows *static flows* in this thesis in order to dissociate them from *dynamic flows* (here called *flows over time*). Given a network consisting of a directed graph G with source s and sink t, as well as a capacity $\nu_e > 0$ on each arc, we call an vector $x = (x_e)_{e \in E}$ of **arc** flow values $x_e \ge 0$ a static flow if it satisfies flow conservation at each node $v \in V \setminus \{s, t\}$:

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x_e = \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x_e.$$

The **flow value** |x| is hereby defined as the net flow leaving the source (or equivalently entering the sink) and we require it to be non-negative:

$$|x| \coloneqq \sum_{e \in \delta_s^+} x_e - \sum_{e \in \delta_s^-} x_e = \sum_{e \in \delta_t^-} x_e - \sum_{e \in \delta_t^+} x_e \ge 0.$$

Furthermore, we call a static flow **feasible** if the flow on each arc does not exceed the capacity, i.e., if $x_e \leq \nu_e$ for all $e \in E$.

Path-based static flows. Instead of specifying a static flow by the flow value on each arc, it is also possible to describe it path-based. For this let \mathcal{P} be the set of all simple *s*-*t*-paths and \mathcal{C} the set of all simple cycles in the graph G. Note that both of these sets are finite since E is finite. We call a vector $(x_P)_{P \in \mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{C}}$ with $x_P \ge 0$ also **static flow** with **flow value** $\sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}} x_P$.

To convert a path-based static flow into an arc-based static flow we can simply determine the arc loads in the following way:

$$x_e \coloneqq \sum_{P \ni e} x_P.$$

Here the term " $P \ni e$ " denotes all simple paths and simple cycles that contain arc *e*.

Static flow decomposition. The inverse direction follows by the famous flow decomposition theorem:

- Theorem 2.1. Given an arc-based static flow $x = (x_e)_{e \in E}$ it is possible to specify a path-based static flow $(y_P)_{P \in \mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{C}}$ with

$$x_e = \sum_{P \ni e} y_P$$

Proof. The key idea is to start with the static flow $x^1 \coloneqq x$ and to consider one path/cycle $P \in \mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{C}$ after the other. In each iteration we set y_P to the minimal flow value of all arcs in P, i.e., $y_P \coloneqq \min_{e \in P} x_e^1$. Afterwards, we reduce the flow of all $e \in P$ by this value, while keeping the flow of all other arcs as they were, i.e., $x_e^2 \coloneqq x_e^1 - y_P$ for $e \in P$ and $x_e^2 \coloneqq x_e^1$ for $e \notin P$.

We show that we end up with the empty static flow x^k , meaning $x_e^k = 0$ for all $e \in E$. Suppose there is an $e_1 = v_0v_1 \in E$ with $x_{e_1}^k > 0$. In the case of $v_1 \neq t$ we find an arc $e_2 = v_1v_2 \in \delta_{v_1}^+$ with $x_{e_2}^k > 0$ due to flow conservation. We can continue this argumentation until we have a node v_m with $v_m = v_j$ for some j < m or we have $v_m = t$. In the first case we found a simple cycle $C = (v_j, v_{j+1}, \ldots, v_m)$ with positive flow on each arc. This is a contradiction, as we would have reduced this flow when considering C. In the second case, we can use the flow conservation to build a path backwards starting at v_0 , where we will end up at the source s (or, again, have a simple cycle). Hence, if we end up at s we found a simple s-t-path P with positive flow on each arc, which is again a contradiction as we would have reduced this flow to 0 at some of these arcs when considering P. Since x^k is the empty static flow we have by construction that

$$0 = x_e^k = x_e - \sum_{P \ni e} y_P \qquad \text{for all } e \in E.$$

In the original statement of the flow decomposition theorem the number of paths P with $y_P > 0$ is bounded by |E| and a path-based formulation can be computed efficiently by iteratively constructing paths for which the remaining flow value is strictly positive. Further details are omitted as these statements are not needed in the thesis.

Note, however, that in an acyclic graph it holds true that for every static flow x with flow value |x| we have $x_e \leq |x|$ for all arcs e. This can easily be seen as we do not have any cycles in the path based formulation, and therefore,

$$x_e = \sum_{P \ni e} x_P \le \sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}} x_P = |x|.$$



Figure 2.2: After sending 5 flow units along the first *s*-*t*-path (*top left*) the Ford and Fulkerson algorithm picks the next *s*-*t*-path in the residual network (*bottom left*). By sending 3 flow units along this augmenting path (*top right*) the algorithm stops since *t* is not reachable by *s* in the corresponding residual network (*bottom right*). The final static flow with flow value 8 is maximal as the min-cut also has a value of 8.

Cuts. For a given network G = (V, E) with source s, sink t and arc-capacities ν_e we call the outgoing arcs $C = \delta_S^+$ of a set $S \subseteq V \setminus \{t\}$ with $s \in S$ an s-t-cut. An s-t-cut always separates the source from the sink and every s-t-path has to use at least one arc of C. The **capacity** or **value** of an s-t-cut C is defined by $|C| := \sum_{e \in C} \nu_e$.

Residual networks. Consider a feasible static *s*-*t*-flow $x = (x_e)_{e \in E}$ in a network with graph G = (V, E), source *s*, sink *t* and capacities $(\nu_e)_{e \in E}$. Without loss of generality we assume that for every pair of nodes $u, v \in V$ only arc uv or arc vu is contained in *E* but not both. In a general graph this can be achieved by adding dummy nodes if necessary. The **residual network** for *x* is given by a directed graph $\overline{G} = (V, \overline{E})$ with

$$\bar{E} \coloneqq \{ e \mid e \in E \text{ with } x_e < \nu_e \} \cup \{ vu \mid uv \in E \text{ with } x_{uv} > 0 \}$$

and capacities $\bar{\nu}_e := \nu_e - x_e$ and $\bar{\nu}_{vu} := x_e$ for all $e = uv \in E$. Two examples of residual networks are displayed on the bottom left and bottom right of Figure 2.2. The arcs $e \in E \cap \bar{E}$ are called **forward arcs**, whereas the arcs e with $e \in \bar{E} \setminus E$ are called **backward arcs**. Finally, the *s*-*t*-paths in the residual network are called **augmenting paths**.

Optimal static flows. Given an *s*-*t*-network G = (V, E) with capacities $(\nu_e)_{e \in E}$ such that *t* is reachable by *s*, the **static maximum flow problem** is to determine a feasible static *s*-*t*-flow of maximum value. Such a maximum static flow can, for example, be constructed by the **Ford and Fulkerson algorithm** by starting with the empty static flow and iteratively considering one augmenting path after the other in the residual network; see Figure 2.2. By augmenting the static flow by the minimal capacity along the considered path, meaning to increase the flow value on forward arcs and reducing it on backwards arcs, we can increase the flow value of the static flow. This procedure can be repeated until there is no augmenting path left in the residual network. By the well-known **max-flow**

min-cut theorem, that states that the value of a maximum static *s*-*t*-flow equals the capacity of a minimal *s*-*t*-cut, it can be shown that this is indeed a maximum static flow.

With a similar algorithm it is possible to determine a **static min-cost flow** in a network that, in addition, has a cost $c_e \ge 0$ on each arc. The task is to determine a feasible static flow that is not only a maximum flow but also has minimal cost, where the cost of the static flow x is given by $\sum_{e \in E} c_e \cdot x_e$. The **successive shortest path algorithm** works very similar to the algorithm of Ford and Fulkerson but instead of considering the augmenting paths in arbitrary order, it always augments a path of minimal cost, where the cost of each backwards arc vu is given by $-c_{uv}$.

Static transshipments. A generalization of a static *s*-*t*-flow is a static transshipment. For a transshipment network we consider a directed graph G = (V, E) where every node v is equipped with a supply or demand of $b_v \in \mathbb{R}$. A positive value means that v has a supply and a negative value corresponds to a demand. We assume that the total supply equals the total demand, i.e., $\sum_{v \in V} b_v = 0$. We call an arc vector $(x_e)_{e \in E}$ with $x_e \ge 0$ a *b*-transshipment if

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x_e - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x_e = b_v \quad \text{ for all } v \in V.$$

These transshipments often come together with a cost $c_e \ge 0$ on each arc and a typical task is to find a transshipment of minimal cost $\sum_{e \in E} x_e \cdot c_e$.

Again, a static transshipment can be represented by a path-based formulation, where we consider a value for every simple path starting at some supply node and ending at a demand node together with all directed cycles.

It follows immediately by the path-based representation of the *b*-transshipment that in all acyclic graphs we have

$$x_e = \sum_{P \ni e} x_P \le \sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}} x_P = \sum_{v \in V : \ b_v > 0} b_v.$$

$$(2.1)$$

This property of *b*-transshipment will be used in Chapter 6 for the kinematic wave model.

2.3 Game Theory

In this thesis we model the dynamic traffic assignment problem by a game where each traffic user is a player trying to minimize his or her arrival time at the destination. The main focus will be on Nash flows over time, which are the equilibria in this game. To provide a good intuition of this concept we will give a short introduction into games with a finite number of players, which will later be translated into dynamic games with a continuum of players.

Games. In mathematical game theory a **game** consists of a set of **players** N, a set of **strategies** X_i for each player $i \in N$ as well as a **payoff-function**

$$P: X \to \mathbb{R}^N$$
, where $X \coloneqq \bigotimes_{i \in N} X_i$.

For a given strategy profile $x = (x_i)_{i \in N} \in X$ we call $P_i(x)$ the payoff of player *i*. The goal of each player is to maximize his or her own payoff.

For a given strategy profile $x \in X$ and a player $j \in N$ we use the following unintuitive, but very useful, notation and write x_{-j} for the strategy vector $(x_i)_{i \in N \setminus \{j\}}$ and for a strategy $y \in X_j$ we write (x_{-j}, y) for the strategy profile that is obtained by replacing x_j by y in x.

Nash equilibria. The most important objects in game theory are equilibria, strategy profiles in a stable state, which means that no player can increase his or her payoff by changing his or her strategy. More precisely, we call a strategy profile x a **Nash equilibrium** if

$$P_i(x) \ge \max_{y \in X_i} P_i((x_{-i}, y))$$
 for all $i \in N$.

We denote the set of strategy profiles that forms a Nash equilibrium by NE.

Static network games. To give an example of a game with infinite many players we want to consider the **static traffic assignment problem**. The key idea is, that each road is modeled by an arc equipped with a cost function, which describes the delay for each traffic user on that road dependent on the amount of traffic using it. Note that this is a static game as we do not consider any time component. More formally, we consider a network consisting of a directed graph G = (V, E) with a source s, a sink t as well as monotonically increasing cost functions $c_e := [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$. For some a > 0 let N := [0, a] be a set of uncountably many players. The strategy space X is identical for each player and consists of all simple *s*-*t*-paths, i.e., $X \coloneqq \mathcal{P}$. A strategy profile is given by a function $f: N \to \mathcal{P}$ mapping each player to its chosen route. For technical reasons we have to restrict the set of valid strategy profiles and require that this mapping is measurable (see Section 2.4.1). In other words, the sets $N_P := \{i \in N \mid f(i) = P\}$ have well-defined measures for all $P \in \mathcal{P}$. This way, each valid strategy profile corresponds to a static s-t-flow x of value a, which is obtained by setting x_P to the measure of N_P . The payoff in this game will be represented by a cost function c_i for each player i (corresponding to his or her travel time), which he or she tries to minimize. For a given static flow xthe cost of a path P is given by $c_P(x) \coloneqq \sum_{e \in P} c_e(x_e)$ and the cost of a player $i \in N$ equals the cost of the chosen path.

Wardrop equilibria. The corresponding static flows of Nash equilibria in this type of games are called **Wardrop equilibria**, as they were first considered by Wardrop in 1952 [99]. The Nash condition translates to the following defining condition of Wardrop equilibria:

$$c_P(x) \le \min_{Q \in \mathcal{P}} c_Q(x)$$
 for all $P \in \mathcal{P}$ with $x_P > 0$.

Clearly, this condition guarantees that every path that is used by a positive measure of players is a fastest *s*-*t*-path when interpreting the costs as delay. In other words, no player has the incentive to choose a different route. An example of a Wardrop equilibrium is depicted in Figure 2.3. As a central result, it has been shown that these Wardrop equilibria always exist and, in the case that all cost functions are strictly increasing, that they are unique [2].

Price of anarchy and price of stability. The **price of anarchy** is a concept to measure the loss of total payoff when every player acts selfishly compared to the total payoff if all players cooperate. More precisely, it is the quotient of the sum of all payoffs in an optimal (cooperative) state and the sum of all payoffs in the worst Nash equilibrium

$$\operatorname{PoA} \coloneqq \frac{\max_{x \in X} \sum_{i \in N} P_i(x)}{\min_{x \in \operatorname{NE}} \sum_{i \in N} P_i(x)} \ge 1.$$

If, instead of payoffs, we consider costs that the players try to minimize, the price of anarchy is instead defined by

$$\operatorname{PoA} \coloneqq \frac{\max_{x \in \operatorname{NE}} \sum_{i \in N} P_i(x)}{\min_{x \in X} \sum_{i \in N} P_i(x)} \ge 1.$$



Figure 2.3: Static traffic assignment in a network, where the first and last arc on the middle path have a cost function of $c_e(x) = x$ and all other costs are constant 1 or 0. On the left: The Wardrop equilibrium, where both flow units take the middle path with cost of 4 giving a total cost of 8. As all other paths also have a total cost of 4 there is no incentive for flow particles to deviate. On the right: The optimal static flow. Here one flow unit takes the top and one unit the bottom path. The total cost is therefore 6. Hence, since the Wardrop equilibrium is unique, the price of anarchy and stability in this network is $\frac{8}{6}$. Note that removing the middle arc with cost 0 would force the Wardrop equilibrium to be optimal. This Braess Paradox is the reason why this specific network is called Braess network.

If we consider a class of games, for example, all static traffic assignment problems with affine linear cost functions, the price of anarchy of the class is defined as the supremum of the prices of anarchy of all instances.

A related concept is the **price of stability**. Here, we compare the optimal value to the best Nash equilibrium instead of the worst. In other words, we suppose that an authority can force every player to choose a specific strategy but the outcome will only persist if no player has the incentive to change his or her strategy. Then the price of stability is a measure of efficiency for these stable states compared to the optimum. Hence, it is defined as

$$\operatorname{PoS} \coloneqq \frac{\max_{x \in X} \sum_{i \in N} P_i(x)}{\max_{x \in \operatorname{NE}} \sum_{i \in N} P_i(x)} \ge 1$$

or, if we have a minimizing game, as

$$\operatorname{PoS} \coloneqq \frac{\min_{x \in \operatorname{NE}} \sum_{i \in N} P_i(x)}{\min_{x \in X} \sum_{i \in N} P_i(x)} \ge 1.$$

The price of anarchy for static traffic assignment games has been extensively studied by Roughgarden and others [77, 76, 75] for different classes of cost functions. For affine linear functions and arbitrary networks the price of anarchy is, for example, 4/3 [77]. Hence, the example given in Figure 2.3 is a worst-case instance.

2.4 Functions

As we consider dynamic traffic assignment problems the traffic flow changes over time, which is modeled by functions that specify the flow rates at any given point in time. In this section we want to briefly recall the most important properties of functions on the reals.

Basic properties. Consider a function $f: D \to \mathbb{R}$ with a domain $D \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. We call f bounded if there exists a bound $B \in \mathbb{R}$ with $|f(\theta)| \leq B$ for all $\theta \in D$ and f is called **right-constant** if for every $\theta_0 \in D$ there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ with $f(\theta_0) = f(\theta)$ for all $\theta \in [\theta_0, \theta_0 + \varepsilon] \cap D$. Furthermore, we call f(monotonically) increasing if $f(\theta_1) \leq f(\theta_2)$ for all $\theta_1 < \theta_2$ and (monotonically) decreasing if $f(\theta_1) \geq f(\theta_2)$ for all $\theta_1 < \theta_2$ with $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in D$. It is strictly increasing (or strictly decreasing) if the corresponding inequality is **strict**. The function f is **continuous at a point** $\theta_0 \in D$ if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a $\delta > 0$ with

$$|f_e(\theta_0) - f_e(\theta)| < \varepsilon$$
 for all $\theta \in [\theta_0 - \delta, \theta_0 + \delta] \cap D$.

A function f is called **continuous** if it is continuous at all points in D and it is called L-Lipschitz **continuous** if there exists a constant $L \ge 0$ such that

$$|f_e(\theta_1) - f_e(\theta_2)| \le L \cdot |\theta_1 - \theta_2|$$
 for all $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in D$.

One of the most important properties of continuous functions is described by the following wellknown theorem:

- **Theorem 2.2** (Intermediate value theorem). Considering a continuous function $f: I \to \mathbb{R}$ defined on a closed interval $I := [a, b] \subseteq \mathbb{R}$, for every value $\lambda \in [f(a), f(b)]$ there exists a $\xi \in [a, b]$ with $f(\xi) = \lambda$.

A proof for this theorem can be found in most text books about basic calculus, for example in the book by Royden and Fitzpatrick [78].

Differentiation. Suppose that the domain *D* is an open set. Then *f* is called **right-differentiable** at $\theta_0 \in D$ if the following limit, called **right-derivative**, exists:

$$\lim_{\theta \searrow \theta_0} \frac{f(\theta_0) - f(\theta)}{\theta_0 - \theta}$$

Here, $\theta \searrow \theta_0$ means that θ goes to θ_0 while always staying strictly larger, i.e., $\theta \rightarrow \theta_0$ with $\theta > \theta_0$. Analogously, we call *f* **left-differentiable** at $\theta_0 \in D$ if the following **left-derivative** exists:

$$\lim_{\theta \nearrow \theta_0} \frac{f(\theta_0) - f(\theta)}{\theta_0 - \theta}$$

If *f* is both right- and left-differentiable at $\theta_0 \in D$ and the left and right derivative are equal, we call *f* **differentiable at** θ_0 . In this case the derivative value is denoted by $\frac{df}{d\theta}(\theta_0)$ or by $f'(\theta_0)$. Finally, *f* is called **differentiable** if it is differentiable at all $\theta_0 \in D$. All derivative values together form the **derivative function** denoted by $\frac{df}{d\theta}$ or simply f'.

One of the most important tools for determining derivatives is the **chain rule**, which states that for two differentiable functions $f, g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$(f \circ g)'(\theta) = f'(g(\theta)) \cdot g'(\theta)$$
 for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$.

2.4.1 Measure Theory

In order to properly define integrals we will briefly recall the definition of the **Lebesgue-measure** on \mathbb{R} . A proper introduction on this topic can be found in every measure or real analysis text book, for example [7, 78, 80].

Borel σ -algebra and Lebesgue-Borel-measure. Let $\mathcal{E} := \{ (a, b) \subseteq \mathbb{R} \mid a \leq b \}$ be the set of all open intervals, then the Borel σ -algebra $\sigma(\mathcal{E})$ is defined to be the smallest set of subsets in \mathbb{R} with

(i)
$$\mathcal{E} \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{E})$$
,

(ii)
$$A, B \in \sigma(\mathcal{E}) \Rightarrow A \setminus B \in \sigma(\mathcal{E}),$$

(iii) $A_n \in \sigma(\mathcal{E})$ for $n \in \mathbb{N} \implies \bigcup_{n \in N} A_n \in \sigma(\mathcal{E})$.

The uniquely defined function $\mu \colon \sigma(\mathcal{E}) \to [0, \infty]$ with

- (i) $\mu((a,b)) \coloneqq b a$,
- (ii) $\mu(A \setminus B) \coloneqq \mu(A) \mu(B)$ for all $A, B \in \sigma(\mathcal{E})$ with $B \subseteq A$,

(iii) $\mu\left(\bigcup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}A_n\right) \coloneqq \sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\mu(A_n)$ for all pair-wise disjoint sequences $(A_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in $\sigma(\mathcal{E})$,

is called Lebesgue-Borel-measure.

Null sets and Lebesgue-measure. The null sets for the Lebesgue-measure are defined as

$$\mathcal{N} := \{ N \subseteq A \mid A \in \sigma(\mathcal{E}) \text{ with } \mu(A) = 0 \}.$$

Note that every singleton, and in consequence, every countable set is a null set. But there also exist examples of uncountable null sets. Importantly, a countable union of null sets is, again, a null set. As an extension we add all null sets to the σ -algebra and define the extended measure accordingly:

$$\mathcal{L} \coloneqq \{ A \cup N \mid A \in \sigma(\mathcal{E}) \text{ and } N \in \mathcal{N} \} \quad \text{ and } \quad \lambda(A \cup N) \coloneqq \mu(A) \quad \text{ for all } A \in \sigma(\mathcal{E}) \text{ and } N \in \mathcal{N}.$$

This measure λ is called **Lebesgue-measure** and the sets in \mathcal{L} are called **measurable**. Note that all sets $A \setminus N$ with $A \in \sigma(\mathcal{E})$ and $N \in \mathcal{N}$ are also contained in \mathcal{L} . From now on this will be the only measure to consider.

"Almost all". We often want to make statements S about the elements of a subset $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ that only hold up to some null set. Hence, a statement S holds for almost all $\theta \in A$ if there exists a null set $N \in \mathcal{N}$ such that S holds for all $\theta \in A \setminus N$. One of the most important statements is that a function $f \coloneqq D \to \mathbb{R}$ is almost everywhere differentiable, which means that there exists a null set $N \in \mathcal{N}$ such that f is differentiable at all $\theta \in D \setminus N$. In particular, the function is allowed to have many "kinks" or even "jumps" in its function graph as long as their positions form a null set.

The following lemma is a further example for this and it plays an important role later on.

Lemma 2.3 (Differentiation rule for a minimum). For every element e of a finite set E let $T_e : \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function that is differentiable almost everywhere and let $\ell(\theta) := \min_{e \in E} T_e(\theta)$ for all $\theta \ge 0$. It holds that ℓ is almost everywhere differentiable with

$$\ell'(\theta) = \min_{e \in E'_{\theta}} T'_e(\theta) \tag{2.2}$$

for almost all $\theta \ge 0$ where $E'_{\theta} := \{ e \in E \mid \ell(\theta) = T_e(\theta) \}.$

Proof. Let $\phi \ge 0$ such that all T_e , for all $e \in E$, are differentiable, which is almost everywhere. Since all functions T_e are continuous at ϕ we have for sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$ that $\ell(\phi + \xi) = \min_{e \in E'_{\phi}} T_e(\phi + \xi)$ for all $\xi \in [\phi, \phi + \varepsilon]$. It follows that

$$\lim_{\xi \searrow 0} \frac{\ell(\phi+\xi) - \ell(\phi)}{\xi} = \lim_{\xi \searrow 0} \min_{e \in E'_{\phi}} \frac{T_e(\phi+\xi) - \ell(\phi)}{\xi} = \min_{e \in E'_{\phi}} \lim_{\xi \searrow 0} \frac{T_e(\phi+\xi) - T_e(\phi)}{\xi} = \min_{e \in E'_{\phi}} T'_e(\phi).$$

Note that every point ϕ where all T_e are differentiable, but for which the left derivative of ℓ does not coincide with the right derivative of ℓ , is a proper crossing of at least two T_e functions. Therefore, these points are isolated and form a null set. Hence, we have $\ell'(\phi) = \min_{e \in E'_{\phi}} T'_e(\phi)$ for almost all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$.

2.4.2 Integrals

Measurable functions. A function $f: D \to \mathbb{R}$ for $D \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ is called **(Lebesgue-)measurable** if the set $\{ \theta \in D \mid f(\theta) < c \}$ is measurable for all $c \in \mathbb{R}$.

Simple functions. For a finite sequence of pair-wise disjoint measurable sets A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_n and corresponding real numbers (a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n) we call the function $f(\theta) = \sum_{i=1}^n a_i \mathbb{1}_{A_i}(\theta)$ a simple function. Here, $\mathbb{1}_{A_k}$ denotes the indicated function defined by $\mathbb{1}_{A_i}(\theta) = 1$ if $\theta \in A_i$ and $\mathbb{1}_{A_i}(\theta) = 0$ otherwise. We define the integral of a simple function $f \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \coloneqq \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i \cdot \lambda(A_i).$$

Lebesgue-integral. For a measurable non-negative function $f: D \to \mathbb{R}$ we denote by L(f) the set of all simple functions g with measurable $A_i \subseteq D$ and $g(\theta) \leq F(\theta)$ for all $\theta \in A_i$. With this we define the **integral** by

$$\int_{D} f(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \coloneqq \sup_{g \in L(f)} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}} g(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right\}.$$

Note that the integral can be ∞ . To obtain the integral for an arbitrary measurable function $f: D \to \mathbb{R}$ we split it into the positive and the negative part, i.e., we define $f^+(\theta) \coloneqq \max \{ f(\theta), 0 \}$ and $f^-(\theta) \coloneqq \max \{ -f(\theta), 0 \}$. We call f **quasi-integrable** if at least one of the functions f^+ or f^- has a finite integral and f is **integrable** if both, f^+ and f^- , have a finite integral. In either case we define

$$\int_D f(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \coloneqq \int_D f^+(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta - \int_D f^-(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta.$$

Note that for quasi-integrable functions this value can be ∞ or $-\infty$.

We call a measurable function $f: D \to \mathbb{R}$ **locally integrable** if for every compact set $X \subseteq D$ we have that $f \cdot \mathbb{1}_X$ is integrable. In this case we write for every finite interval [a, b]

$$\int_a^b f(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \coloneqq \int_D f(\theta) \cdot \mathbbm{1}_{[a,b]}(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta < \infty.$$

Since integrals are invariant on changes on null sets it does not matter for this notation whether the interval is closed or open, as long as the closed interval is contained in *D*.

Integral function. Given a locally integrable function $f: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ we can define the integral function $F: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$F(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^{\theta} f(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi.$$

The **Lebesgue's differentiation theorem**, which can be seen as a generalization of the **fundamental theorem of calculus**, states the following.

Theorem 2.4 (Lebesgue's differentiation theorem). Given a locally integrable function $f: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$, the integral function F is differentiable almost everywhere on $(0, \infty)$ and for its derivative it holds that for almost all $\theta \in (0, \infty)$ we have $F'(\theta) = f(\theta)$.

A proof can be found in most text books about Lebesgue integrals, for example in [78, 80].



Figure 2.4: On the left: The integral of the function f equals the area beneath the function graph and is defined by the supremum of the integral of all simple functions with lower or equal function values. In the middle: The integral from 0 to θ_0 of the function f is given by the value of the integral function Fat position θ_0 (on the right). In return the function F is almost everywhere differentiable with a derivative of $f(\theta_1)$ at position θ_1 .

It follows immediately that if f is bounded by a bound L then F is L-Lipschitz continuous. Basic calculation rules known for the Riemann integral, such as the **integration by substitution**, also hold for Lebesgue integrals:

$$\int_{\ell(\phi_1)}^{\ell(\phi_2)} f(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = \int_{\phi_1}^{\phi_2} f(\ell(\xi)) \cdot \ell'(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi.$$

Finally, we have the following theorem about monotone functions.

Theorem 2.5 (Lebesgue's theorem for the differentiability of monotone functions). *Every monotone function* $F: D \to \mathbb{R}$ *is almost everywhere differentiable on* D.

A proof for this theorem can be found, for example, in the text book by Royden and Fitzpatrick [78].

2.5 Variational Inequalities and a Fixed Point Theorem

A powerful tool to prove the existence of dynamic equilibria are variational inequalities, which can be defined for finite dimensional vector spaces as well as for infinite dimensional function spaces. In this section we only present the essential definitions and results that we need throughout this thesis. For more details on this topic we refer to the book of Kinderlehrer and Stampaccia [49] and the more recent textbook of Facchinei and Pang [26].

2.5.1 Finite-dimensional Variational Inequalities

For a natural number *n*, we consider a set $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ and a function $\Gamma: X \to \mathbb{R}^n$. The **finite-dimensional variational inequality problem** VI (X, Γ) is the following.

Find
$$x \in X$$
 such that $(y - x)^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \Gamma(x) \ge 0$ for all $y \in X$. (VI)

From Brouwer's fixed point theorem, we obtain that the set of solutions $SOL(X, \Gamma)$ is non-empty whenever *X* and Γ satisfy some conditions.

Theorem 2.6.

Let $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ be non-empty, compact and convex and let $\Gamma: X \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a continuous mapping. Then $SOL(X, \Gamma)$ is non-empty and compact.

For the proof we refer to [39].

Nonlinear complementarity. If X is a box, i.e., $X = X_{i=1}^{n}[0, M_i]$ for some $M_i > 0$, i = 1, ..., n, it is easy to see that for a given solution $x^* \in SOL(X, \Gamma)$ the nonlinear complementarity property holds for every i = 1, 2, ..., n with $x_i^* < M_i$:

$$\Gamma_i(x^*) \ge 0$$
 and $x_i^* \cdot \Gamma_i(x^*) = 0.$ (NCP)

The left inequality follows immediately since for $x_i^* < M_i$ we can choose y to be equal to x^* with the exception of $y_i := M_i$. Hence, by (VI) we have that $\Gamma_i(x^*)$ cannot be negative. The right equation follows with the same argumentation. For $x_i^* \in (0, M_i)$ we can choose y to be equal to x^* except for y_i , which can either be smaller or greater than x_i^* . Hence, (VI) implies that $\Gamma_i(x^*)$ must be 0 in this case.

2.5.2 Variational Inequalities in Infinite-dimensional Function Spaces.

We can transfer the concept of variational inequalities to infinite-dimensional Hilbert spaces as well, which we will consider next.

Scalar products. Given a vector space V over \mathbb{R} a **scalar product** is a mapping $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle \colon V^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ that is linear in both components and satisfies

- (i) symmetry: $\langle v, w \rangle = \langle w, v \rangle$ for all $v, w \in V$.
- (ii) **positive-definiteness:** $\langle v, v \rangle \ge 0$ for all $v \in V$ and $\langle v, v \rangle = 0 \Leftrightarrow v = 0$.

Hilbert space L^2 . For this section we consider two functions $f_1, f_2: D \to \mathbb{R}$ to be equal if $f_1(\theta) = f_2(\theta)$ for almost all $\theta \in D$. In other words, two functions are equal if they only differ on a null set. More formally, that means that if we define f_1 and f_2 to be equivalent then we identify the functions with their respective equivalent classes.

This way we can define the L^2 -space by

$$L^{2}(D) \coloneqq \left\{ f \colon D \to \mathbb{R} \mid \int_{D} (f(\theta))^{2} d\theta < \infty \right\}.$$

Together with the scalar product

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \int_D f(\xi) \cdot g(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi$$

this forms an Hilbert space, which means that $L^2(D)$ together with the induced norm

$$\|f\|\coloneqq \sqrt{\langle f,f\rangle}$$

is a **complete metric space**, i.e., all Cauchy sequences have a limit in $L^2(D)$. Given a natural number d we can consider the space of function-vectors

$$L^{2}(D)^{d} := \left\{ (f_{i})_{i=1}^{d} \mid f_{i} \in L^{2}(D) \text{ for all } i = 1, 2, \dots, d \right\},\$$

which again form a Hilbert space together with the scalar product

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \int_{D} f_i(\xi) \cdot g_i(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi.$$

We say a sequence $f^k \in L^2(D)^d$ converges weakly to $f \in L^2(D)^d$, if $\langle f^k, g \rangle \to \langle f, g \rangle$ for all $g \in L^2(D)^d$ and, for a given subset $X \subseteq L^2(D)^d$, we call a mapping $\mathcal{A} \colon X \to L^2(D)^d$ weak-strong **continuous** at $f \in X$, if for every $f^k \in X$ that converges weakly to f, we have that $\mathcal{A}(f^k)$ converges to $\mathcal{A}(f)$ with respect to the induced $L^2(D)^d$ -norm. Note that strong convergence implies weak convergence but not the other way round. Hence, a weak-strong continuous mapping is always (strong-strong)-continuous but not vice versa. As an important example we show that the integration operator is weak-strong continuous.

Lemma 2.7. The integration operator $f \mapsto F$ with $F_i(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^\theta f(\xi) d\xi$ is a weak-strong continuous mapping $L^2(D)^d \to L^2(D)^d$ as long as D = [0, H] is a compact interval.

Proof. Consider a sequence of $(f^k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ in $L^2(D)^d$ that converges weakly to f, i.e., $\langle f^k, g \rangle \to \langle f, g \rangle$ for all $g \in L^2(D)^d$. For every θ we consider the vector of functions g^{θ} with $g_i^{\theta}(\xi) = 1$ for $\xi = [0, \theta]$ and $g_i^{\theta}(\xi) = 0$ otherwise. We obtain that $\int_D g_i^{\theta}(\xi) d\xi = \theta < \infty$, and therefore, $g^{\theta} \in L^2(D)^d$. Hence,

$$F_i^k(\theta) = \int_D f_i^k(\xi) \cdot g_i^\theta(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \to \int_D f_i(\xi) \cdot g_i^\theta(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = F_i(\theta).$$

This shows that F^k converges point-wise to F. In order to show the convergence in the L^2 -norm, given an $\varepsilon > 0$, we consider a number $k_{\theta} \in \mathbb{N}$ for every $\theta \in D$ such that

$$\left|F_{i}^{k}(\theta) - F_{i}(\theta)\right| \leq \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon}{2 \cdot H \cdot d}}$$
 for all $i = 1, 2, \dots, d$ and $k \geq k_{\theta}$.

Since for increasing N the measure of $S := \{ \theta \in D \mid k_{\theta} > N \}$ converges to 0 we can choose $N^* \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\int_{S} \left| F_{i}^{k}(\xi) - F_{i}(\xi) \right|^{2} d\xi \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2\cdot d}$ for all $N \geq N^{*}$. This way we obtain for all $k \geq N^{*}$ that

$$\begin{split} \left\|F^{k} - F\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &= \sum_{i=1}^{d} \int_{D} \left|F_{i}^{k}(\xi) - F_{i}(\xi)\right|^{2} \mathrm{d}\xi \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{d} \int_{S} \left|F_{i}^{k}(\xi) - F_{i}(\xi)\right|^{2} \mathrm{d}\xi + \sum_{i=1}^{d} \int_{D \setminus S} \left|F_{i}^{k}(\xi) - F_{i}(\xi)\right|^{2} \mathrm{d}\xi \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\varepsilon}{2 \cdot d} + \sum_{i=1}^{d} \int_{D \setminus S} \frac{\varepsilon}{2 \cdot H \cdot d} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Hence, F^k converges to F in $L^2(D)^d$.

Infinite-dimensional variational inequality. Given a subset $X \subseteq L^2(D)^d$ and a mapping $\mathcal{A} : X \to \mathcal{A}$ $L^{2}(D)^{d}$, the variational inequality VI (X, \mathcal{A}) is the following.

Find
$$f \in X$$
 such that $\langle \mathcal{A}(f), g - f \rangle \ge 0$ for all $g \in X$. (infVI)

Brézis [10, Theorem 24] specifies conditions to guarantee the existence of a solution (see also [94]).

Theorem 2.8. -Let X be a non-empty, closed, convex and bounded subset of $L^2(D)^d$. Let $\mathcal{A} : X \to L^2(D)^d$ be a weak-strong continuous mapping. Then, the variational inequality VI(X, A) has a solution $f^* \in X$.

This result will be important for proving the existence of multi-commodity Nash flows over time in Section 5.1.4.

 \square

2.5.3 Kakutani's Fixed Point Theorem

Another important tool to show the existence of thin flows in later chapters is the fixed point theorem by Kakutani from 1941; see [48].

Theorem 2.9 (Kakutani's Fixed Point Theorem). Let X be a compact, convex and non-empty subset of \mathbb{R}^n and $\Gamma: X \to 2^X$, such that for every $x \in X$ the image $\Gamma(x)$ is non-empty and convex. Suppose the set $\{ (x,y) \mid y \in \Gamma(x) \}$ is closed. Then there exists a fixed point $x^* \in X$ of Γ , i.e., $x^* \in \Gamma(x^*)$.

For the proof we refer to the original publication of Kakutani [48].

2.6 Linear and Integer Programming

Linear and integer programming are very useful tools to describe combinatorial optimization problems and there exist powerful solvers to compute solutions in reasonable time. In this thesis we will show how to utilize mixed integer programs (a combination of linear and integer programs) in order to algorithmically construct Nash flows over time, or more precisely, the underlying static thin flows.

Linear programming. A linear program in its standard form is given by

$$\max_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} c^{\mathsf{T}} x$$

s.t. $Ax = b$,
 $x \ge 0$.

Here, $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is a **cost vector**, $A \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$ is the **coefficient matrix** and $b \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is the **bound vector**. The conditions Ax = b and $x \ge 0$ mean that the equality/inequality holds for every component of these vectors. We call a point $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ **feasible** if it satisfies Ax = b and $x \ge 0$. A feasible point is a **optimal solution** if it has the maximal **objective value** $c^T x$ of all feasible points. These optimization problems can be solved very fast in practice, for example with the **simplex method**, and they can also be solved theoretically efficient via the **ellipsoid algorithm** or **interior point methods**, which will not be discussed in detail here. More important in regard of this thesis is the construction of a dual program, which is again a linear program. For a **primal** linear program in standard form as displayed above the **dual** program is given by

$$\min_{y \in \mathbb{R}^m} b^{\mathsf{T}} y$$

s.t. $A^{\mathsf{T}} y \ge c$

For every of the *m* conditions in the primal we have a variable y_i in the dual and vice versa. For every pair of feasible points (x, y) we have

$$b^{\mathsf{T}}y = x^{\mathsf{T}}A^{\mathsf{T}}y \ge x^{\mathsf{T}}c.$$

Hence, every feasible solution of the dual gives an upper bound on the optimal value of the primal and every feasible solution of the primal yields a lower bound on the optimal value of the dual. This property is called **weak duality**. For linear programs we even have **strong duality**, which means that the maximal objective value of the primal equals the minimal objective value of the dual.

Closely related to this is the so-called **complementary slackness**. This means that for a pair of optimal solutions for the primal and the dual (x^*, y^*) we have for all i = 1, 2, ..., n that

$$x_i^* > 0 \Rightarrow (A^\mathsf{T} y^*)_i = c_i$$
 and $(A^\mathsf{T} y^*)_i > c_i \Rightarrow x_i^* = 0.$

These are also sufficient conditions, in other words, for a pair of feasible points (x, y) that satisfies the complementary slackness conditions, x is an optimal solution for the primal and y an optimal solution for the dual.

(Mixed) integer programming. If we consider a linear program as depicted above but additionally demand that all components of x are integers (i.e., $x \in \mathbb{Z}^n$) we obtain a so-called integer (linear) program. There are many different combinatorial problems that can be modeled by integer programs. Even though, there most likely does not exist any efficient algorithm, as solving an integer program is NP-complete, there are software-solvers that find a solution rather fast for most reasonable sized instances.

A variation of integer programs are **mixed integer programs** where only some of the variables have to be integers. Therefore, the standard form of these problems for a given index set $I \subseteq \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ is given by

$$\begin{array}{ll} \max_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} & c^\mathsf{T} x \\ \text{s.t.} & Ax = b, \\ & x \geq 0, \\ & x_i \in \mathbb{Z} \quad \text{for } i \in I \end{array} \end{array}$$

Often it is enough to restrict the discrete variables only to be in the set $\{0, 1\}$. In this case, they are called **Boolean variables**. Unfortunately (mixed) integer programs with Boolean variables only are still NP-complete.

For more details on linear and (mixed) integer programming we refer to the textbook of Schrijver [85] and, for a more recent publication, to the book of Weismantel and Bertsimas [3].

2.7 Flows Over Time

As final topic of the preliminaries we want to give a brief introduction into flows over time without considering game-theoretical aspects. Instead we want to consider two types of optimization problems.

Feasible flows over time. Consider a network consisting of a directed graph G = (V, E) with a source *s* and a sink *t*, such that *t* is reachable by *s*, as well as a capacity $\nu_e > 0$ and a transit time $\tau_e \ge 0$ for every arc $e \in E$. A family of locally integrable and bounded functions $f = (f_e)_{e \in E}$, where $f_e : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ denotes the inflow rate into arc *e* at time θ , is called **flow over time** if **flow conservation** is satisfied at every node $v \in V \setminus \{s, t\}$ for almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$:

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_e(\theta - \tau_e) = \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_e(\theta).$$

Here, $f_e(\theta - \tau_e)$ denotes the outflow rate of arc *e* at time θ and since there cannot be any delay in this model, this equals the inflow rate at time $\theta - \tau_e$. Note that for $\theta < \tau_e$ we define this value as 0.

The **value function** of a flow over time is given by the **excess** at sink t for each point in time:

$$|f|(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{e \in \delta_t^-} \int_0^{\theta - \tau_e} f_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi - \sum_{e \in \delta_t^+} \int_0^{\theta} f_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi.$$

We call a flow over time f feasible if $f_e(\theta) \le \nu_e$ holds for all $e \in E$ and almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$.

Optimal Flows Over Time Without giving too much details we want to present two typical optimization problems for flows over time.

A typical optimization problem is the **maximum flow over time problem** that asks for a given time horizon $H \ge 0$ to determine a feasible flow over time f with maximal |f|(H). This problem can be solved with the help of so-called **temporally repeated flows**, which are feasible flows over time corresponding to a path decomposition of a feasible static *s*-*t*-flow. The key idea is to send a constant flow rate of x_P into each simple path $P \in \mathcal{P}$ during the interval $[0, H - \sum_{e \in P} \tau_e]$. This leads to an objective value of

$$H \cdot |x| - \sum_{e \in E} \tau_e \cdot x_e.$$

It turns out that a temporally repeated flow with an underlying feasible static flow that maximizes this value is indeed a maximum flow over time and it can be computed efficiently by an algorithm of Ford and Fulkerson. For details on this we refer to the survey of Skutella [89].

The **quickest flow problem** for a given flow volume $M \ge 0$ is to find a flow over time that sends M units of flow as fast as possible from the source to the sink. In other words, the goal is to minimize the arrival time of the particle that arrives last. As mentioned in the introduction this can be solved by combining the algorithm of Ford and Fulkerson for the maximum flow over time problem with a binary search framework (or faster with parametric search); see [29, 11].

The temporally repeated flows for the maximum flow over time problem are constructed specifically for a given time horizon H, and therefore, we cannot expect that the value of a maximum flow over time is also optimal for earlier points in time $\theta < H$. Surprisingly, it is possible to construct a feasible flow over time that is maximal for all times simultaneously, and in addition, solves the quickest flow problem for all flow volumes at the same time. These flows over time are called **earliest arrival flows** and they can be constructed by considering **generalized temporally repeated flows**; see Figure 2.5 for an example. By considering the transit times as costs we can apply the successive shortest path algorithm (see optimal static flows on page 12) in order to obtain a **generalized path decomposition** $(x_P)_{P \in \mathcal{P}^*}$. Note that in this decomposition paths are allowed to use an arc in the inverse direction. The earliest arrival flow is then obtained by sending a constant flow rate of x_P into each of these augmenting paths. This means that we might send a negative flow cancels out with a positive flow that is sent in the forward direction. For the proof that such a flow is always well-defined and that it is indeed an earliest arrival flow we refer to [89].

2.8 Notation

In order to make this thesis as comprehensible as possible we try to keep the notation intuitive and consistent. Throughout this thesis f is used for a flow over time consisting of functions representing flow rates that are (locally) integrable but in general not differentiable. For the integral functions, which are almost everywhere differentiable, we use the corresponding capital letter F. Graphs



Figure 2.5: An earliest arrival flow at different snapshots in time in the network depicted *in the upper left*. The labels denote the transit times and we consider unit capacities as well as a time horizon of H = 16. All arcs are orientated from left to right. The successive shortest path algorithm (*top right*) picks the direct route (s, u, v, t) first and sends one unit of flow there. Next, it chooses the long augmenting path that includes the backward arc vu. In the earliest arrival flow this corresponds to a negative flow over time that is sent from v to u backwards in time from $\theta = 8$ to $\theta = 6$. In the bottom left, we observe that at time $\theta = 7$ this negative flow cancels out with the positive forward traveling flow between u and v.

are denoted by G = (V, E) with source s and sink t and the letters u, v, w are reserved for nodes, whereas e is used for arcs, and only very rarely for the Euler constant. The non-negative real numbers are normally denoted by $[0, \infty)$ (or $[0, \infty]$ if ∞ is included). This notation is used whenever we denote flow rates or points in time (denoted by θ or ϑ) and only if we consider the flow as set of all particles (denoted by ϕ or φ) we write $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. The set of commodities is, in general, given by Jand the individual commodities are denoted by either j or i. Finally, x and ℓ are reserved for the underlying static flow and the earliest arrival times and their derivatives are denoted by x' and ℓ' .

The Base Model

In this chapter we consider dynamic equilibria in the most basic flow over time model with deterministic queuing. Even though the flow dynamics were already mentioned by Vickrey in 1969 [96], Koch and Skutella were the first to consider Nash flows over time within this model [54] (for the full version see [55]). Cominetti, Correa, Larré, Olver and others extended the theory during the following years [17, 18, 19, 20].

At the beginning of this chapter we give an intuitive as well as a formal definition of the flow over time model with deterministic queuing in Sections 3.1 and 3.2. After defining Nash flows over time and thin flows with resetting, we present the main results of the aforementioned publications in Sections 3.3 and 3.4. Finally, we give a short overview of the computation and the most recent results of dynamic equilibria in this base model, namely the long-term behavior and the price of anarchy, in Section 3.6.

It is worth noting that for the sake of consistency to later chapters the notation of the presented model slightly differs from the notation in literature. On the one hand, we always imagine the queues to be at the head of the arcs and, on the other hand, we consistently differentiate between a particle ϕ and the time it enters the network $\ell(\phi)$. This adapted notation is completely equivalent to the original formulation from literature but both of these modifications will be important for extended models in later chapters.

3.1 Modeling Road Networks

In order to motivate flows over time with deterministic queuing and to give some intuition on the flow dynamics we present a model of a street segment and show how it translates to an arc in a flow over time network.

Road model. Consider the following simplified discrete model of a road network. Each street segment is equipped with a length ℓ , a width w (number of lanes) and a speed limit v; see left side of Figure 3.1. Each street segment starts and ends at a street node, for example an intersection, and the segment is one-directional.

Traffic is denoted by two functions f^+ , $f^-: \mathbb{N}_0 \to \mathbb{N}_0$, where $f^+(\theta)$ describes the number of vehicles entering and $f^-(\theta)$ the number of cars leaving the segment at time step θ . After entering a street it takes ℓ/v time to traverse the segment unless there is some congestion. The width induces an upper limit on the number of vehicles that can traverse the street per time unit, which we call capacity. If more cars enter the street than the capacity allows the traffic users have to reduce the velocity, which leads to congestion. We consider the simplest model of traffic congestion.

The number of vehicles that are allowed to leave a road segment is restricted by the capacity and if more cars want to leave they have to line up in a queue in front of the exit. In summary, a vehicle entering the segment first moves with maximal speed of v until it hits the end of the traffic jam. There it lines up and waits until it leaves the street in order to enter a successive line segment.

Note that overtaking is not allowed within one segment and streets can never become full for now.



Figure 3.1: On the left: A road segment of length ℓ and width w with speed limit v. Atomic vehicles enter over time, traverse the arc at speed v before lining up at the tail of the queue. Only the particles at the front can leave the arc. On the right: An arc with transit time τ and capacity ν as we consider it in the base model. A flow over time is defined by the inflow rate $f^+(\theta)$ and the outflow rate $f^-(\theta)$ for every point in time $\theta \in [0, \infty)$. Additionally, we consider the queue size $z(\theta)$ at time θ as only a rate of ν can leave the arc at any point in time.

Arc model. In the flow over time model the traffic is described by a continuous flow over time in a directed graph; see right side of Figure 3.1. Each street segment corresponds to a directed arc between two nodes. Every arc is hereby equipped with a free flow transit time τ corresponding to ℓ/v and a capacity ν corresponding to w.

Incoming and outgoing traffic flow is described by two functions $f^+, f^-: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$, which denote the inflow and outflow rate at each point in time.

If the inflow rate exceeds the capacity a point queue is built up right before the head of the arc, where the particles line up. Note that the flow on every arc has to follow the FIFO principle, hence, no particle can overtake any other particle.

3.2 Deterministic Queuing Model

In this section we define the dynamics of flows over time in the deterministic queuing model in a mathematical precise way. This section is heavily based on the formulation introduced by Koch and Skutella [54] that was later improved by Cominetti, Correa and Larré [17].

Networks. A *flow over time network* in the base model consists of a directed graph G = (V, E) with a source s and a sink t, such that each node is reachable by s. Furthermore, we have a constant network inflow rate at s of r > 0 and every arc e is equipped with a transit time $\tau_e \ge 0$ and a capacity $\nu_e > 0$. We assume that the sum of transit times in every directed cycle is strictly positive.

Flows over time. A flow over time is specified by a family of functions $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$, where $f_e^+, f_e^-: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ are locally integrable and bounded functions for every arc *e*. Hereby, the function f_e^+ describes the **inflow rate** and f_e^- the **outflow rate** of arc *e* for every given point in time $\theta \in [0, \infty)$. The **cumulative in- and outflow** of an arc *e* is the total amount of flow that has entered or left *e* up to some point in time θ and is defined by

$$F_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^{ heta} f_e^+(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \quad ext{ and } \quad F_e^-(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^{ heta} f_e^-(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi.$$

Due to technical reasons we define $f_e^+(\theta) = f_e^-(\theta) = F_e^+(\theta) = F_e^-(\theta) = 0$ for all $\theta < 0$.

Flow conservation. We say $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ is a flow over time if it conserves flow on all arcs e:

$$F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e) \le F_e^+(\theta) \qquad \text{for all } \theta \in [0, \infty), \tag{3.1}$$
and if it **conserves flow at every node** $v \in V \setminus \{t\}$, which means that the following equation holds for almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$:

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_e^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_e^-(\theta) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{t\}, \\ r & \text{if } v = s. \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

Particles entering arc e at time θ need τ_e time to traverse the arc, and therefore, they reach the head of e earliest at time $\theta + \tau_e$. Hence, (3.1) ensures that the amount of flow that leaves e cannot exceed the amount of flow that has entered and traversed the arc. In other words, flow is not created within arcs. In addition, (3.2) ensures that the network does not leak at intermediate nodes and that we have a constant network inflow rate of r at s. Note that flow can be stored within arcs but never on nodes.

Queues. For every arc *e* there is a bottleneck given by its capacity ν_e right before the head of the arc. If more flow wants to leave *e* than the capacity allows, a queue builds up at the exit of the arc. The amount of flow in the queue at time θ is given by

$$z_e(\theta) \coloneqq F_e^+(\theta - \tau_e) - F_e^-(\theta).$$

The queue does not have any physical dimension in the network and is therefore called **point queue**.

Feasibility. In the base model we say a flow over time f is **feasible** if the queue operates at capacity, that means we have

$$f_e^-(\theta) = \begin{cases} \nu_e & \text{if } z_e(\theta) > 0, \\ \min\left\{ f_e^+(\theta - \tau_e), \nu_e \right\} & \text{else,} \end{cases} \quad \text{for almost all } \theta \in [0, \infty). \quad (3.3)$$

Note that this equation together with the definition of z_e immediately implies (3.1), which shows that a family of locally integrable and bounded functions $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ is already a feasible flow over time if only (3.2) and (3.3) are satisfied.

Waiting times. Given a feasible flow over time f, a particle entering an arc e at time θ first traverses the arc in τ_e time units and then queues up and has to wait in line. Hence, the waiting time $q_e: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is given by

$$q_e(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{z_e(\theta + \tau_e)}{\nu_e}.$$

Note that $q_e(\theta)$ denotes the waiting time of particles that enter the *arc* at time θ , and therefore, they enter the queue only at time $\theta + \tau_e$. Hence, the actual waiting period of those particles is given by $[\theta + \tau_e, \theta + \tau_e + q_e(\theta)]$.

Exit times. The **exit time** for arc *e* is the function $T_e : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ that maps the entrance time θ to the time a particle leaves the arc

$$T_e(\theta) \coloneqq \theta + \tau_e + q_e(\theta).$$

Suppose a flow particle enters e at time θ , then the amount of flow which has entered e before θ is exactly the amount of flow that has left e before time $T_e(\theta)$, when the particle leaves the arc. This and other technical properties are collected in the following lemma.

Lemma 3.1. For a feasible flow over time f it holds for all $e \in E$, $v \in V$ and $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that:

- (i) $q_e(\theta) > 0 \iff z_e(\theta + \tau_e) > 0.$
- (*ii*) $z_e(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) > 0$ for all $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$.
- (iii) $F_e^+(\theta) = F_e^-(T_e(\theta)).$
- (iv) For $\theta_1 < \theta_2$ with $F_e^+(\theta_2) F_e^+(\theta_1) = 0$ and $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e) > 0$ we have $T_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_2)$.
- (v) The functions T_e are monotonically increasing.
- (vi) The functions F_e^+ , F_e^- , z_e , q_e and T_e are almost everywhere differentiable.
- (vii) For almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$ we have

$$q'_e(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e} - 1 & \text{if } q_e(\theta) > 0, \\ \max\left\{ \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e} - 1, 0 \right\} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Most of the statements follow immediately from the definitions and some involve some minor calculations. For (vi) we use Lebesgue's differentiation theorem (Theorem 2.4 on page 18). As the proof does not give any interesting further insights we moved it to the appendix on page 46.

3.3 Nash Flows Over Time

In this section we define a dynamic equilibrium, called **Nash flow over time**, and state the most important characterizations. In a dynamic equilibrium each particle of the flow can be seen as a separate player that tries to minimize its travel time from the source to the sink.

Earliest arrival times. The **source arrival time function** maps each particle $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ to the time it arrives at *s* and is therefore given by $T_s(\phi) \coloneqq \frac{\phi}{r}$. For an *s*-*v* path $P = (e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_k)$ the **arrival time function** $T_P \colon \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \to [0, \infty)$ maps the particle ϕ to the time at which ϕ arrives at *v* if it traverses the path *P*, hence, we define

$$T_P(\phi) \coloneqq T_{e_k} \circ T_{e_{k-1}} \circ \cdots \circ T_{e_1} \circ T_s(\phi).$$

The **earliest arrival time function** $\ell_v \colon \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \to [0, \infty)$ of node $v \in V$ maps each particle ϕ to the earliest time $\ell_v(\phi)$ it can possibly reach node v. We have

$$\ell_v(\phi) \coloneqq \min_{P \in \mathcal{P}_v} T_P(\phi),$$

where \mathcal{P}_v is the set of all paths from *s* to *v*. Since all directed cycles in *G* have positive travel times, the earliest arrival times of every particle ϕ are characterized by the following equations:

$$\ell_s(\phi) = T_s(\phi) = \frac{\phi}{r},$$

$$\ell_v(\phi) = \min_{e=uv \in E} T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \quad \text{for } v \in V \setminus \{s\}.$$
(3.4)

Clearly, for given waiting time functions, the earliest arrival times can be computed efficiently by, for example, Dijkstra's algorithm. Furthermore, note that for every $v \in V$ the function ℓ_v



Figure 3.2: The current shortest paths for particle $\phi = 8$. Each arc is labeled with the transit time and the framed labels near the nodes display the earliest arrival times for this particle. If there is a positive queue at the respective time the corresponding waiting time is shown in blue. With a network inflow rate of 2, particle $\phi = 8$ enters the network at time $\ell_s(8) = 4$. As there are no queues on the first arcs the particle could arrive earliest at time $\ell_{v_1}(8) = 6$ at node v_1 and $\ell_{v_2}(8) = 7$ at node v_2 . As there is a queue on arc v_1v_4 at time 6 the particle experiences a waiting time of $q_{v_1v_4}(6) = 1$ leading to an earliest arrival time at v_4 of $\ell_{v_4}(8) = 9$. In this particular instance all arcs except for v_2v_4 are active. Especially, the paths (s, v_1, v_4, t) and (s, v_1, v_3, t) are both current shortest paths.

is monotonically increasing since it is a minimum of monotonically increasing functions T_e (see Lemma 3.1 (v)). Hence, by Theorem 2.5 every earliest arrival time function ℓ_v is almost everywhere differentiable. We denote the derivative by ℓ'_v .

Current shortest paths networks and active arcs. In an equilibrium every particle wants to get to the sink as fast as possible and will therefore use a shortest path. For a fixed particle ϕ we call an arc e = uv active for ϕ if $\ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi))$ holds. These are exactly the arcs that can be used in order to be as fast as possible. We denote the set of all active arcs for particle ϕ by

$$E'_{\phi} \coloneqq \{ e = uv \in E \mid \ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \}$$

and the subgraph $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$ is called the **current shortest paths network**. An example of the earliest arrival times and a current shortest paths network is depicted in Figure 3.2.

Resetting arcs. It will be important to specify the arcs at which a particle would experience a waiting time when traveling along a shortest path. Hence, we call the set

$$E_{\phi}^* \coloneqq \{ e = uv \in E \mid q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0 \}$$

the **resetting arcs** of particle ϕ .

Dynamic equilibria. Since every particle wants to arrive at the sink t as early as possible, it should only use current shortest paths, which leads to the following definition.

Definition 3.2 (Nash flow over time).
 A feasible flow over time *f* is a Nash flow over time, also called dynamic equilibrium, if the following Nash flow condition holds:

$$f_e^+(\theta) > 0 \Rightarrow \theta \in \ell_u(\Phi_e)$$
 for all arcs $e = uv \in E$ and almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$, (N)

where $\Phi_e := \{ \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid e \in E'_{\phi} \}$ is the set of flow particles for which arc e is active.

Figuratively speaking, this condition means that a Nash flow over time uses only active arcs, and therefore only shortest paths to the sink *t*. More precisely, particle ϕ reaches *t* at time $\ell_t(\phi)$ by using active arcs only and $\ell_t(\phi)$ is the earliest time ϕ can possibly reach *t* under the assumption that the

routes of all previous particles $\varphi < \phi$ are fixed. Since this is true for all particles, a Nash flow over time is indeed a Nash equilibrium in a game with a continuum of players.

Lemma 3.3 (cf. Theorem 1 in [17]). Let f be a feasible flow over time, $\Phi_e := \{ \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid e \in E'_{\phi} \}$ the set of all particles for which e is active and $\Phi_e^c := \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \setminus \Phi_e$ its complement. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) f is a Nash flow over time.
- (ii) For each arc e = uv, it holds that $f_e^+(\theta) = 0$ for almost all $\theta \in \ell_u(\Phi_e^c)$.
- (iii) $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$ holds for all arcs e = uv and all particles ϕ .
- (iv) For every arc e = uv and almost all $\phi \in \Phi_e^c$ we have $f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi) = 0$.
- (v) For all ϕ and every arc e = uv we have: If $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi) \varepsilon) < F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$ then $e \in E'_{\phi}$.

Especially the equations in (iii) are essential for the following considerations and the intuitive idea why they hold in a Nash flow over time is the following. Either arc *e* is active, then the equation follows from Lemma 3.1 (iii) or *e* is not active, but then the Nash condition states that there was no inflow between the last point in time θ when this arc was active and $\ell_u(\phi)$. Hence, we have $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^+(\theta) = F_e^-(T_e(\theta)) \leq F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$, which together with the flow conservation on arcs (3.1) shows that $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$. The equivalences of (i) to (iv) were first shown in [17, Theorem 1] and a detailed version of the proof can be found in the appendix on page 46.

As a further result we observe that queues can only occur on active arcs in a Nash flow over time and the earliest arrival times characterize which arcs are active and which are resetting.

Lemma 3.4 (cf. Proposition 2 in [17]). *Given a Nash flow over time the following holds for all particles* ϕ :

(i) $E_{\phi}^* \subseteq E_{\phi}'$.

(ii)
$$E'_{\phi} = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) \ge \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e \}.$$

(iii) $E_{\phi}^* = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) > \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e \}.$

The main idea of (i) is that for a resetting arc we have by definition that arc e = uv has a positive waiting time at $\ell_u(\phi)$. If e would not be active for ϕ then it would also have not been active for the last particles in the queue of e. But this is a contradiction to the Nash condition. The detailed proof, first given in [17, Proposition 2], can be found in the appendix on page 49.

Underlying static flows. Lemma 3.3 (iii) motivates to consider the **underlying static flow** for every particle ϕ , which is defined by

$$x_e(\phi) \coloneqq F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)).$$

For a fixed particle ϕ this is indeed a static *s*-*t*-flow since the integral of (3.2) over $[0, \ell_v(\phi)]$ yields

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x_e(\phi) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x_e(\phi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s, t\}, \\ \phi & \text{if } v = s. \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

By taking the derivative of both sides, which exists for almost all ϕ according to Theorem 2.4, we obtain

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x'_e(\phi) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x'_e(\phi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s, t\}, \\ 1 & \text{if } v = s. \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

Note that it is possible to reconstruct the in- and outflow function of every arc e = uv by these derivatives $x'_e(\phi)$ together with the derivatives of the earliest arrival times ℓ'_u and ℓ'_v . This becomes clear when we apply the chain rule to determine the derivatives of $x_e = F_e^+ \circ \ell_u = F_e^- \circ \ell_v$. We have

$$x'_{e}(\phi) = f^{+}_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{u}(\phi) = f^{-}_{e}(\ell_{v}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{v}(\phi).$$
(3.7)

Consequently, a Nash flow over time is completely characterized by these derivatives, which have a very specific structure that is analyzed in the next section.

3.4 Thin Flows with Resetting

In the considered flow over time game every particle does not only choose one *s*-*t*-path but it can also split up even further and each part can take a different path from *s* to *t*. Hence, a strategy of a particle ϕ is, in fact, a convex combination of such paths, or in other words, a strategy is given by a static *s*-*t*-flow of value 1.

It turns out that for Nash flows over time the strategies of almost all particles have a specific structure, called **thin flows with resetting**. These are static *s*-*t*-flows on the respective current shortest paths network together with real-valued node labels. A preliminary form of these flows was introduced by Koch and Skutella in [54] and Cominetti et al. sharpened the definition in [18] and called them *normalized thin flows with resetting*. Throughout this thesis we will omit the "normalized" even though we still use a definition equivalent to the formulation in [18].

Thin flows with resetting. Let G' = (V, E') be an acyclic subgraph of G such that every node is reachable by s. Note that not every node needs to be able to reach the sink. Additionally, we consider a subset of arcs $E^* \subseteq E'$, called **resetting arcs**.

Definition 3.5 (Thin flow with resetting). -

A static *s*-*t* flow $(x'_e)_{e \in E}$ in G' of value 1 together with a node labeling $(\ell'_v)_{v \in V}$ is called **thin** flow with resetting on E^* if:

$$\ell'_s = \frac{1}{r} \tag{TF1}$$

$$\ell'_{v} = \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}, x'_{e}) \quad \text{for all } v \in V \setminus \{s\},$$
(TF2)

$$\ell'_v = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \qquad \qquad \text{for all } e = uv \in E' \text{ with } x'_e > 0, \qquad \qquad \text{(TF3)}$$

where
$$\rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} & \text{if } e = uv \in E^*, \\ \max\left\{ \ell'_u, \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} \right\} & \text{if } e = uv \in E' \backslash E^*. \end{cases}$$

The intuitive idea behind these equations is that $\frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$ describes the **stress value** of an arc *e* if a fraction of x'_e of the particles decides to use this arc. The stress value of an *s*-*v*-path is then determined by the highest stress value of its arcs (i.e., by the bottleneck arc along the path), as long as there are no resetting arcs; see $\rho_e(l'_u, x'_e)$ if $e \notin E^*$. At every resetting arc along the path the values of all previous arcs are dismissed and the stress value of the path is reset; see $\rho_e(l'_u, x'_e)$ if $e \in E^*$. This is logical

since a high stress value of preceding arcs can be compensated by decreasing the queue, as long as there is a positive queue.

Finally, the value ℓ'_v is the minimal stress value of all paths from *s* to *v*; see (TF2). For high stress values following particles need more time to reach node *v*, hence, these stress values coincide exactly with the slope of the earliest arrival time functions.

If $\ell'_v < \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e)$, this means that *e* leaves the current shortest paths network, and therefore, it cannot be used by following particles, i.e., $x'_e = 0$. In other words, an interval of particles in a Nash flow over time can only use arcs that lie on a path with minimal stress value; see (TF3).

Furthermore, $\ell'_u < \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$ means that arc e is a bottleneck, and therefore, the queue will grow. Whenever we have $\ell'_u > \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$ the arc e has a smaller stress value than the preceding arcs along the s-v-path. Hence, the queue will decrease if e is resetting, or stay empty otherwise. For $\ell'_u = \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$ the arc has the exact same stress value as the arcs before, so the queue will stay constant.

Examples of thin flows with resetting are displayed in the middle of Figure 3.3 on page 40.

As the first central structural result on Nash flows over time, the next theorem states that the derivatives of a Nash flow over time form, almost everywhere, a thin flow in the current shortest paths network with resetting on the set of arcs with positive queues.

- Theorem 3.6 (cf. Theorem 9 in [54]).

For a Nash flow over time $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ the derivatives $(x'_e(\phi))_{e \in E'_{\phi}}$ together with $(\ell'_v(\phi))_{v \in V}$ form a thin flow with resetting on E^*_{ϕ} in the current shortest paths network $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$ for almost all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$.

This theorem was first proven by Koch and Skutella for the preliminary form of thin flows in [54, Theorem 9]. For the improved formulation of thin flows a proof was given in [17, Theorem 2]. The proof we present in the following is similar to the one in [17], but we were able to keep the case distinctions to a minimum.

Proof. By Lemma 3.4 (i) we have that $E_{\phi}^* \subseteq E_{\phi}'$, and furthermore, G_{ϕ} is acyclic since the total transit time of every directed cycle is strictly positive. In other words, the preconditions for a thin flow are satisfied.

We have to show that Equations (TF1) to (TF3) hold for almost all particles. For this let ϕ be a particle such that for all e = uv the derivatives of x_e , ℓ_v , and $T_e \circ \ell_u$ exist and $x'_e(\phi) = f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi) = f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_v(\phi)$. This is given for almost every particle $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$.

(TF1) follows directly from (3.4).

(TF2) can be shown by taking the derivative of $T_e(\theta)$. By Lemma 3.1 (vii) we have

$$T'_e(\theta) = 1 + q'_e(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e} & \text{if } q_e(\theta) > 0, \\ \max\left\{ \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e}, 1 \right\} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

We obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi}T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = T'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi) = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \frac{x'_e(\phi)}{\nu_e} & \text{if } q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0, \\ \max\left\{ \frac{x'_e(\phi)}{\nu_e}, \ell'_u \right\} & \text{else,} \end{array} \right\} = \rho_e(\ell'_u(\phi), x'_e(\phi)).$$

Applying the differentiation rule for a minimum (Lemma 2.3 on page 17) on the equations (3.4) yields (TF2).

(TF3) is satisfied because for $x'_e(\phi) = f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_v(\phi) > 0$ we have

$$\begin{split} \ell'_{v}(\phi) &= \frac{x'_{e}(\phi)}{f_{e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi))} = \begin{cases} \frac{x'_{e}(\phi)}{\min\left\{ \ f_{e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi)), \nu_{e} \ \right\}} & \text{if } z_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi) + \tau_{e}) = 0, \\ \frac{x'_{e}(\phi)}{\nu_{e}} & \text{else}, \end{cases} \\ &= \begin{cases} \max\left\{ \ \ell'_{u}, \frac{x'_{e}(\phi)}{\nu_{e}} \ \right\} & \text{if } e \in E'_{\phi} \backslash E^{*}_{\phi}, \\ \frac{x'_{e}(\phi)}{\nu_{e}} & \text{if } e \in E^{*}_{\phi}, \end{cases} \\ &= \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}(\phi), x'_{e}(\phi)). \end{split}$$

Hence, the derivatives $(x'_e(\phi))_{e \in E'_{\phi}}$ together with the node labels $(\ell'_v(\phi))_{v \in V}$ form a thin flow with resetting on E^*_{ϕ} .

As the second main result we show that the reverse direction of Theorem 3.6 is also true in the sense that we can use thin flows with resetting to construct a Nash flow over time. For this we first prove that there always exists a thin flow with resetting for any acyclic graph G' with arbitrary positive arc capacities and for any subset of resetting arcs E^* .

Theorem 3.7 (cf. Theorem 4 in [18]). Consider an acyclic graph G' = (V, E') with source s, sink t and capacities $(\nu_e)_{e \in E}$ as well as a subset of arcs $E^* \subseteq E'$. Suppose that every node $v \in V$ is reachable from s. Then there exists a thin flow $((x'_e)_{e \in E}, (\ell'_v)_{v \in V})$ with resetting on E^* .

The first proof in [18, Theorem 4] is quite complicated and uses some existence results of finitedimensional variational equalities and the corresponding nonlinear complementarity problem. The proof we present in the following is due to [17, Theorem 3] and uses a set-valued function in order to apply Kakutani's fixed-point theorem.

Proof. Let X be the compact, convex and non-empty set of all static *s*-*t*-flows of value 1 and let $\Gamma: X \to 2^X$ be defined by

$$x' \mapsto \{ y' \in X \mid y'_e = 0 \text{ for all } e = uv \in E' \text{ with } \ell'_v < \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \},\$$

where $(\ell'_v)_{v \in V}$ are the node labels associated with x' uniquely defined by

$$\ell'_{v} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{r} & \text{if } v = s, \\ \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}, x'_{e}) & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s\}. \end{cases}$$
(3.8)

In order to use Kakutani's fixed point theorem (Theorem 2.9 on page 22) we show that all conditions are satisfied:

- The set Γ(x') is non-empty, because there has to be at least one path P from s to t with *l*'_v = ρ_e(*l*'_u, x'_e) for each arc e on P. If we set y_e = 1 for all arcs e on P and set every other value to 0 we obtain an element in Γ(x').
- To see that Γ(x') is convex, note that the arcs that can be used for sending flow, i.e., the ones satisfying ℓ'_v = ρ_e(ℓ'_u, x'_e), are fixed within the set Γ(x'). Furthermore, every convex combination y of two elements y¹, y² ∈ Γ(x') only uses arcs that are also used by y¹ or y².
- In order to show that the function graph { (x', y') | y' ∈ Γ(x) } is closed let (xⁿ, yⁿ)_{n∈N} be a sequence within this set, i.e., yⁿ ∈ Γ(xⁿ). Since both sequences, (xⁿ)_{n∈N} and (yⁿ)_{n∈N}, are

contained in the compact set X they both have a limit x^* and y^* within X. Let $(\ell^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be the sequence of associated node labels of (x^n) and ℓ^* the node label of x^* . Note that the mapping $x' \mapsto \ell'$ is continuous, and therefore, it holds that $\ell^* = \lim_{n \to \infty} \ell^n$. We prove that $y^* \in \Gamma(x^*)$. Suppose there is an arc $e = uv \in E'$ with $y_e^* > 0$ and $\ell_v^* < \rho_e(\ell_u^*, x_e^*)$. But since ρ_e is continuous there has to be an $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $y_e^n > 0$ and $\ell_v^n < \rho_e(\ell_u^n, x_e^n)$ for all $n \ge n_0$, which is a contradiction. Hence, $\{(x', y') \mid y' \in \Gamma(x)\}$ is closed.

Since all conditions for Kakutani's fixed point theorem are satisfied, there has to be a fixed point x^* of Γ . Let ℓ^* be the corresponding node labeling. We show that the pair (x^*, ℓ^*) satisfies the thin flow conditions. Equations (TF1) and (TF2) follow immediately by (3.8). For every arc $e = uv \in E'$ with $x_e^* > 0$ it holds that $\ell_v^* = \rho_e(\ell_u^*, x_e^*)$ since $x^* \in \Gamma(x^*)$, which shows Equation (TF3). Thus, (x^*, ℓ^*) forms a thin flow with resetting, which completes the proof.

Finally, we show that thin flows are unique in the sense that the node labels are uniquely determined. Note that this is the best we can get as it is easy to see that the static flow x' is not unique in general. Consider a network consisting of two disjoint paths from s to t, where all arc capacities are greater than the network inflow rate. If the set of resetting arcs is empty then every static flow, no matter how we split it along the two paths, is a thin flow with resetting. Hence, x' is highly non-unique in this example. Nonetheless, it is easy to see that the node labels are uniquely determined in this specific network, as we have $\ell'_v = 1$ for all nodes v. In the following we show that this is no coincidence but holds in general.

Proposition 3.8 ([17, Theorem 4]). *The node labels of thin flows are uniquely determined by the network.*

Proof. Consider two thin flows (x', ℓ') and (y', k') on the same network. Note that the notation δ^- and δ^+ refers to all incoming and outgoing arcs in the graph G' = (V, E'). Let

$$W \coloneqq \{ v \in V \mid \ell'_v > k'_v \}$$

and assume for contradiction that $W \neq \emptyset$.

For $e = uv \in \delta_W^+$ we have $x'_e \le y'_e$, since otherwise we would have $x'_e > y'_e \ge 0$, and therefore, by (TF3) it would follow that

$$\ell_v'=\rho(\ell_u',x_e')>\rho(k_u',y_e')\geq k_v'.$$

This would be a contradiction to $v \notin W$. But we also obtain that $x'_e \ge y'_e$ for all $e = uv \in \delta_W^-$ since otherwise we would have $y'_e > x'_e \ge 0$ and again by (TF3) this would imply

$$k_v'=\rho(k_u',y_e')\geq\rho(\ell_u',x_e')\geq\ell_v',$$

contradicting $v \in W$. Since both x' as well as y' are static flows of value 1 we have

$$\sum_{e \in \delta^+_W} x'_e - \sum_{e \in \delta^-_W} x'_e = \sum_{e \in \delta^+_W} y'_e - \sum_{e \in \delta^-_W} y'_e.$$

Hence, it follows that $x'_e = y'_e$ for all $e \in \delta^+_W \cup \delta^-_W$, since a strict inequality for some e could not be compensated. Furthermore, we have $x'_e = y'_e = 0$ for all $e \in \delta^-_W$ since otherwise we would have $y'_e > 0$ and as before this would lead to a contradiction to $v \in W$ as this would imply

$$k_v'=\rho(k_u',y_e')\geq\rho(\ell_u',x_e')\geq\ell_v'.$$

Since G' is acyclic and $s \notin W$, as $\ell'_s = k'_s = \frac{1}{r}$, there has to be a node $v^* \in W$ with $\delta_{v^*}^- \subseteq \delta_W^-$ and $\delta_{v^*}^- \neq \emptyset$ (this node can be obtained by starting at some node $v_0 \in W$ and then going backwards along an arc v_1v_0 whenever $v_1 \in W$). For all arcs $e = uv^* \in \delta_{v^*}^-$ we have $x'_e = 0$, and therefore, $\ell'_{v^*} > k'_{v^*}$ implies $e \in E' \setminus E^*$. Hence, $\rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) = \ell'_u$ and $\rho_e(k'_u, y'_e) = k'_u$. But this is a contradiction to $v^* \in W$ since with (TF2) we have

$$k'_{v^*} = \min_{e = uv^* \in \delta_{v^*}^-} k'_u \ge \min_{e = uv^* \in \delta_{v^*}^-} \ell'_u = \ell'_{v^*}.$$

Thus, W is empty, implying $\ell'_v \leq k'_v$ for all $v \in V$ and for symmetric reasons it holds with the same argument that $\ell'_v \geq k'_v$ for all $v \in V$. This proves that the node labels are uniquely determined for all thin flows with resetting.

3.5 Constructing Nash Flows Over Time

In this section we will show how to use a sequence of thin flows with resetting in order to construct a Nash flow over time.

Note that in a dynamic equilibrium no particle is able to overtake any other particle, and therefore, the choice of strategy for ϕ only depends on the strategies of flow that has entered the network before ϕ . So we may assume that the particles decide in order of their arrival at the source, i.e., ϕ_1 chooses a strategy before every $\phi_2 > \phi_1$. Due to this observation, it is possible to extend a given Nash flow over time up to some $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ by using a thin flow on the current shortest paths network G'_{ϕ} with resetting on E^*_{ϕ} .

Restricted Nash flows over time. A **restricted Nash flow over time** on $[0, \phi]$ is a Nash flow over time where only the particles in $[0, \phi]$ are considered, i.e., for each arc $e = uv \in E$ we have $f_e^+(\theta) = 0$ for all $\theta > \ell_u(\phi)$, $f_e^+(\theta) = 0$ for all $\theta > \ell_v(\phi)$, and the net outflow at *s* has to be 0 for $\theta > \ell_s(\phi)$. In addition, the Nash flow condition (N) only must be satisfied for almost all times in $[0, \ell_u(\phi)]$.

 α -Extension. Since all previous results carry over to restricted Nash flows over time, the earliest arrival times $(\ell_v)_{v \in V}$ are well-defined for particles in $[0, \phi)$, and therefore, it is possible to determine $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$ and E^*_{ϕ} ; see Lemma 3.4. In order to extend a restricted Nash flow over time we first compute a thin flow on G'_{ϕ} with resetting on E^*_{ϕ} , and then extend the labels linearly as follows. For some $\alpha > 0$ we define

$$\ell_v(\phi + \xi) \coloneqq \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_v$$
 and $x_e(\phi + \xi) \coloneqq x_e(\phi) + \xi \cdot x'_e$.

for all $v \in V$, $e \in E$ and $\xi \in [0, \alpha]$.

Based on this we can extend the in- and outflow functions, i.e., for all $e = uv \in E$ we define

$$f_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} \quad \text{for } \theta \in [\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha)) \qquad \text{and} \qquad f_e^-(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} \quad \text{for } \theta \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha)).$$

Note that in the case of $\ell'_u = 0$ the time interval is empty. This extended flow over time is called α -extension and we will show in Theorem 3.10 below that it is a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha]$ as long as the α stays within the following bounds:

$$\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) + \alpha(\ell'_v - \ell'_u) \ge \tau_e \qquad \text{for all } e = uv \in E^*, \tag{3.9}$$

$$\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) + \alpha(\ell'_v - \ell'_u) \le \tau_e \qquad \text{for all } e = uv \in E \setminus E'.$$
(3.10)

The first inequality ensures that no flow can traverse an arc faster than its transit time. It holds with equality when the queue of e depletes at time $\ell_u(\phi + \alpha)$, which we call **depletion event**. The second inequality makes sure that all non-active arcs are unattractive for all particles in $[\phi, \phi + \alpha)$. When it holds with equality the arc e becomes active for $\phi + \alpha$ and we speak of an **active event**. Whenever one of these events occurs we must compute a new thin flow with resetting because either a resetting arc has become non-resetting or a non-active arc has become active. It is easy to see that there exists an $\alpha > 0$ that satisfies these inequalities since $\ell_v(\phi) > \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e$ for arcs $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ and $\ell_v(\phi) < \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e$ for arcs $e \notin E'_{\phi}$ as stated in Lemma 3.4.

For the maximal α we call the interval $[\phi,\phi+\alpha)$ thin flow phase.

Lemma 3.9. The α -extension forms a feasible flow over time and the extended ℓ -labels coincide with the earliest arrival times, i.e., they satisfy (3.4) for all $\varphi \in [\phi, \phi + \alpha)$.

The flow conservation follows immediately from the flow conservation of x' and 3.4 can be proven by distinguishing three cases. If the arc is non-active it stays non-active during the extended interval. For active, but non-resetting arcs that do not build up a queue, we obtain $\ell_v(\phi + \xi) \leq T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi))$ from (TF2), with equality if $\ell'_v = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e)$. The same is true for resetting arcs or arcs that build up a queue, even though the proof for this is a bit more technical. A detailed proof is given in the appendix on page 50.

Theorem 3.10 (cf. Theorem 3 [55]). Given a restricted Nash flow over time $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ on $[0, \phi)$ and $\alpha > 0$ satisfying (3.9) and (3.10), the α -extension is a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha)$.

Proof. Lemma 3.3 yields $F_e^+(\ell_u(\varphi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\varphi))$ for all $\varphi \in [0, \phi)$, so for $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ it holds that

$$F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) + \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} \cdot \xi \cdot \ell'_u = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) + \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} \cdot \xi \cdot \ell'_v = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)) + \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} \cdot \xi \cdot \xi \cdot \xi + \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} \cdot \xi \cdot \xi + \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} \cdot \xi \cdot \xi + \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} \cdot$$

By Lemmas 3.3 and 3.9 the α -extension is a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha)$.

Finally, we show that this construction leads to an unrestricted Nash flow over time.

Theorem 3.11.

There exists a Nash flow over time.

Proof. The process starts with the empty flow over time, i.e., a restricted Nash flow over time for [0,0). We apply Theorem 3.10 iteratively and choose α maximal according to (3.9) and (3.10). If one of the α is unbounded we are done. Otherwise, we obtain a sequence $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$, where f_i is a restricted Nash flow over time for $[0, \phi_i)$, with a strictly increasing sequence $(\phi_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$. In the case that this sequence has a finite limit, say $\phi_{\infty} < \infty$, we define a restricted Nash flow over time f^{∞} for $[0, \phi_{\infty})$ by using the point-wise limit of the x- and ℓ -labels, which exists due to monotonicity and boundedness of these functions. Note that there are only finitely many different thin flows, and therefore, the derivatives x' and ℓ' are bounded. Then the process can be restarted from this limit point. Let \mathcal{P}_G be the set of all particles $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ for which there exists a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi)$ constructed as described above. The set \mathcal{P}_G cannot have a maximal element because the corresponding Nash flow over time could be extended by using Theorem 3.10. But \mathcal{P}_G cannot have an upper bound either since the limit of any convergent sequence would be contained in this set. Therefore, there exists an unbounded increasing sequence $(\phi_i)_{i=1}^{\infty} \in \mathcal{P}_G$. As thin flows are unique we have that the ℓ -functions coincide on $[0, \phi_i]$ for all restricted thin flows up to ϕ_j with $j \geq i$. The

same property can be obtained for the *x*-function by setting $x_j(\phi) \coloneqq x_i(\phi)$ for all $j \ge i$. Hence, we can construct a Nash flow over time f on $[0, \infty)$ by taking the point-wise limit of the x- and ℓ -labels, completing the proof.

Example. An example of a Nash flow over time with four thin flow phases is shown in Figure 3.3 on the next page. In this specific network the center arc uv builds up a queue during the time interval [4, 5], which then decreases afterwards and depletes at time 6. This causes a depletion event for particle $\phi = 3$. Interestingly, this arc even leaves the current shortest paths network for particles strictly greater than 6 as ℓ_u increases faster than ℓ_v .

3.6 Further Results

In the following we present some additional results for the base model.

3.6.1 Mixed Integer Programs for Thin Flow Computations

Even though Theorem 3.7 guarantees the existence of a thin flow, it does not give clear instructions on how to compute it. In fact, it is an open question whether this computation can be done efficiently or not. We want to present a mixed integer program that outputs a thin flow with resetting. Even though this is not efficient theoretically, experiments showed, that a Nash flow over time in a network of medium size can be computed rather quickly with a fast MIP-solver.

Besides the continuous variables x' and ℓ' we introduce two types of boolean variables. For each $e = uv \in E' \setminus E^*$ we define $a_e \in \{0, 1\}$ to be 1 if $\ell'_v > \rho_e(x'_e, \ell'_u)$. Hence, in this case we require that $x'_e = 0$. Note that we do not need this boolean variable for an arc $e = uv \in E^*$ since we have $\ell'_v = \rho_e(x'_e, \ell'_u) = \frac{x'}{\nu_e}$ regardless whether $x'_e = 0$ or $x'_e > 0$. The variable $b_e \in \{0, 1\}$ indicates with $b_e = 1$ for an arc $e = uv \in E' \setminus E^*$ that $\ell'_u \ge \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$. Let B > 0 be a number that is greater than the maximal possible value for any ℓ'_v or x'_e plus 1. Then we obtain the following constraints:

$$\begin{array}{l} \ell'_{s} = \frac{1}{r} \\ \ell'_{v} = \frac{x'_{e}}{\nu_{e}} & \text{for all } e = uv \in E^{*}, \\ \ell'_{v} \le \frac{x'_{e}}{\nu_{e}} + b_{e} \cdot B \\ \ell'_{v} \le \ell'_{u} + (1 - b_{e}) \cdot B \\ \ell'_{v} \ge \ell'_{u} - a_{e} \cdot B \\ \ell'_{v} \ge \ell'_{u} - a_{e} \cdot B \\ \ell'_{v} \ge \ell'_{u} - a_{e} \cdot B \\ x'_{e} \le (1 - a_{e}) \cdot B \\ \frac{x'_{e}}{\nu_{e}} - \ell'_{u} \le 1 - b_{e} \\ \ell'_{u} - \frac{x'_{e}}{\nu_{e}} \le b_{e} \end{array} \right\}$$
 for all $e = uv \in E' \setminus E^{*}.$

The third and forth equation guarantee that $\ell'_v \leq \rho_e(x'_e, \ell'_u) = \max \{ \ell'_u, \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} \}$ for all $e \in E' \setminus E^*$ and the fifth and sixth equation ensure that this holds with equality if $a_e = 0$. The last three equations implement that $x'_e = 0$ if $a_e = 1$ as well as $\ell'_u \geq \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$ for $b_e = 1$ and $\ell'_u \leq \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$ otherwise. Together with the region constraints

$$0 \le \ell'_v \le B - 1, \qquad 0 \le x'_e \le B - 1, \qquad a_e \in \{0, 1\} \text{ and } b_e \in \{0, 1\}$$



Figure 3.3: An example of a Nash flow over time with corresponding thin flows. The network inflow rate as well as transit times and capacities (circled) are displayed *on top*. We have four thin flow phases, which are depicted *in the middle*. Here, black arcs are active but non-resetting (at the beginning of each phase), red arcs are resetting and gray arcs are inactive. The arc labels x' and the node labels ℓ' (framed) are shown close to the arc/node. *On the bottom part* the resulting Nash flow over time is displayed at various snapshots in time. Here, the small disc shows the position of particle $\phi = 6$ along the top and bottom path.

this ensures that a feasible point is a thin flow with resetting. Note that this mixed integer program does not have any objective function and the difficulty is not to find an optimum but to find a feasible point instead. But unfortunately, finding a feasible solution of a mixed integer program is in general an NP-hard problem as well.

3.6.2 Uniqueness of Earliest Arrival Times

It is worth mentioning that, since the node labels of thin flows are unique, the earliest arrival time functions coincide for all Nash flows over time that are constructed as described above. More precisely, all earliest arrival time functions $(\ell_v)_{v \in V}$ of Nash flows over time f with right-continuous in- and outflow rates are the same for a given network; see [17, Theorem 6]. It is an open question though whether this is true for all Nash flows over time on a given network. There might be the case that for some particle ϕ the thin flow $(x'(\phi), \ell'(\phi))$ gives a clear instruction for all particles in $[\phi, \phi + \varepsilon]$. But instead that all those particles proceeds as this thin flow suggests, there might additionally be a decreasing sequence of event points ϕ_i together with thin flows $(x'(\phi_i), \ell'(\phi_i))$ for all $\phi \in [\phi_i, \phi_{i-1})$ such that $\phi_i \searrow \phi$. In the case that successive thin flows in this sequence differ, we would obtain a Nash flow over time with different earliest arrival times. Such a behavior would imply some very counter-intuitive effects, for example, some thin flows would occur an infinite number of times within one Nash flow over time meaning that on some arcs a queue would grow and deplete indefinitely. It would also imply that Nash flows over time are very unstable in general and that small perturbations could have major effects. As we have not seen any example of such a butterfly effect in Nash flows over time we conjecture that this does not happen and that the earliest arrival times are unique in general. But since we do not have a proof for this, it remains an open question.

3.6.3 Prices of Anarchy

The question of a bound on the price of anarchy for Nash flows over time was first raised by Koch and Skutella in [54]. They showed that in shortest paths networks the price of anarchy is 1. This means that in networks where every arc is active for $\phi = 0$ implying that the first thin flow phase never ends, Nash flows over times are optimal and equal earliest arrival flows. In 2015, Bhaskar, Fleischer and Anshelevich [5] characterized essentially two kinds of prices of anarchy, which we want to briefly present here.

Suppose we have a fixed amount of flow volume $A \ge 0$ at the source. If we take the ratio of the arrival time of the last particle $\phi_0 = A$ in the worst Nash flow over time to the completion time of a quickest flow (or earliest arrival flow), we obtain the **time price of anarchy** (also called **makespan-PoA**).

Similarly, we can consider a fixed time horizon H and then compare the total volume of a maximum flow to the total volume of particles in $\{\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid \ell_t(\phi) \leq H\}$ (which equals $\ell_t^{-1}(H)$) of a worst Nash flow over time. The ratio of these two is called the **evacuation price of anarchy** (also **throughput-PoA**).

There are even more prices of anarchy that can be considered in this model, for example, if we consider not only the arrival of the last particle but the *average* arrival time of all particles. If we compare this value of an earliest arrival flow to the average arrival time in the worst Nash flow over time for a fixed amount of flow volume, then we obtain the **total delay price of anarchy**. Analogously, we can consider the *average* flow amount that has arrived at *t* over time. The ratio of this value of the worst Nash flow over time to an earliest arrival time up to some fixed time horizon *H* is called **work price of anarchy**. As they share most properties with the time and evacuation price

of anarchy, up to some constant factor, we will not include the total delay or work price of anarchy into further consideration.

It was shown that the evacuation price of anarchy lies in $\Omega(|E|)$, and therefore, is unbounded for arbitrary networks [54]. For this reason we focus on the time price of anarchy for the remaining part of this section.

Bhaskar et al. showed in [5] that it is possible to obtain a bound on the time price of anarchy of $\frac{e}{e-1}$ if we are allowed to reduce the capacities of all arcs in the network before constructing a Nash flow over time. Note that the completion time of the quickest flow is still determined in the original network. The key idea here is to compute a quickest flow, which is a temporary repeated flow (see *maximum flows over time* on page 24), and then to reduce the capacities to the flow values of the underlying static flow. This ensures that in the evolution of the Nash flow over time no arc will ever leave the current shortest paths network. Instead, the Nash flow over time uses the exact same paths as the quickest flow, but some of the paths will be delayed due to congestion. But this delay can be bounded in these specific networks such that the time price of anarchy is bounded as desired.

Very recently, Correa, Cristi and Oosterwijk [20] extended this result and showed that the time price of anarchy is bounded by $\frac{e}{e-1}$ whenever the network inflow rate r does not exceed the initial network inflow rate r' of a quickest flow (that does not build up any queues). Here, r' equals the flow value of the static flow underlying the corresponding temporary repeated flow. This is a massive improvement compared to the result of Bhaskar et al. as now it is only necessary to reduce the network inflow rate (so to say, the capacity of only *one* arc) instead of modifying the whole network. The key idea is to consider the difference between the arrival time of the last particle and the completion time of a quickest flow. It turns out that under the network inflow rate requirement we have

$$\ell_t(\hat{\phi}) - \text{OPT} \le \frac{1}{r} \cdot \sum_{e=uv \in E} z_e(\ell_u(\hat{\phi})),$$

where $\hat{\phi}$ is the last particle that is sent into the network.

By some thoughtful calculations it is possible to bound the total amount of queues seen by some particle ϕ by the total increase of the sink arrival time during $[0, \phi]$. More precisely, it holds for all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ that

$$\sum_{e=uv\in E} z_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \le \frac{r}{e} \cdot (\ell_t(\phi) - \ell_t(0)).$$

Using this for the last particle $\hat{\phi}$ we obtain for the time price of anarchy that

$$\frac{\ell_t(\hat{\phi})}{\text{OPT}} \le \frac{e}{e-1}.$$

Correa et al. also showed in the same publication that this bound is in fact tight for the family of all considered networks with the condition on the network inflow rate.

It is natural to conjecture that $\frac{e}{e-1}$ is also the tight bound for the general case as the following quite natural monotonicity condition would imply this.

Conjecture 3.12. Consider the same network but two different network inflow rates $r_1 < r_2$ and, for both, a Nash flow over time f^1 and f^2 . Then we have $\ell_t^1(\hat{\phi}) \ge \ell_t^2(\hat{\phi})$.

Intuitively, this means that if we have the same network but we increase the network inflow rate then we expect that the last particle should not arrive later than before. This seems very plausible since the last particle enters the network strictly earlier, and intuitively, all particles in front had more time to travel towards the sink. But as the flow dynamics of a Nash flow over time are quite unpredictable as soon as the thin flow phases change, this conjecture remains an open problem and with it a bound on the time price of anarchy for general networks.

3.6.4 Long-Term Behavior

As we have seen, a sequence of thin flows is a perfect description of a Nash flow over time when we consider it chronologically. But from an application perspective the initial traffic evolution might not be that important and it might be more interesting to understand the long-term behavior and the question whether the traffic dynamics will settle down to a steady state. And it would be even better if we could skip the initial phases altogether as they are very hard to compute, and instead, directly characterize how such a steady state could look like. Cominetti, Correa and Olver found out that this is indeed possible and that the steady state, if it exists, can be computed efficiently by a linear program and its dual [19]. They also proved that the question, whether such a steady state exists, can easily be determined by considering the minimal *s*-*t*-cut (with respect to the capacities) in the network.

To be more precise, we define the **steady state** as the thin flow phase with thin flow (x', ℓ') , where $\ell'_v = \frac{1}{r}$ for all $v \in V$. Hence, if the Nash flow over time ever reaches such a phase then the arrival times will all grow with a constant slope, which means that all travel times stay constant. But this immediately implies that this phase lasts indefinitely as there cannot occur new events anymore. In this phase all queue lengths (and therefore all waiting times) stay constant.

Cominetti et al. show that such a steady state exists and that it is reached in finite time if, and only if, the network inflow rate does not exceed the minimal cut of the network. It is easy to see that this is a necessary condition because, if the network inflow rate is strictly larger than the minimal cut, the sum of the queues on all arcs of the cut must increase unlimited, and hence, there cannot be a steady state.

The other direction is a bit more involved. The key idea is that the following potential function

$$\Phi(\phi) \coloneqq r \cdot (\ell_t(\phi) - \ell_s(\phi)) - \sum_{e \in E} z_e(\ell_v(\phi))$$

is strictly increasing with strictly positive derivatives unless the Nash flow over time has reached a steady state. In addition, this potential function is bounded from above, and hence, the Nash flow over time reaches a steady state in finite time.

It is worth noting though, that this does not mean that there are only finitely many thin flow phases in those networks. In principle, it could be possible that there are infinitely many phases with decreasing length and that the event points converge to some $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. Even though we have never seen such an example and we conjecture that this does not happen, the question whether there are only finitely many phases remains open.

In their publication, Cominetti et al. also proved that a steady state is a solution to the following pair of primal-dual linear programs.



Figure 3.4: A steady state represented by a prim-dual-solution. On the left: The thin flow x' together with the capacities ν_e (cycled) for each arc e. Note that the node labels ℓ' are omitted as they are 1 at every node in every steady state. On the right: The travel times d_v (framed) for every node v as well as the transit times τ_e and waiting times q_e (if positive) for each arc e. Note that for each arc e = uv with $x'_e > 0$ the condition $d_v \le d_u + \tau_e + q_e$ is tight. For the central arc $e = v_1 v_4$ we have $x'_e = 0$ and $d_{v_4} < d_{v_1} + \tau_e + q_e$. The steady state is not unique as all waiting times along the s-t-cut $C = \{sv_1, v_4t\}$ could be uniformly reduced until the condition for the

central arc v_1v_4 is tight ($q_{sv_1} = q_{v_4t} = 2$) or, alternatively, they could be increased by an arbitrary



Here, \mathcal{F} denotes the set of all static *s*-*t* flows of value 1 described by

amount.

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x'_e(\phi) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x'_e(\phi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{ if } v \in V \setminus \{s, t\} \\ 1 & \text{ if } v = s, \\ -1 & \text{ if } v = t, \end{cases}$$

and d_v corresponds to the travel time from s to v, i.e., $d_v = \ell_v(\phi) - \ell_s(\phi)$. These travel times d_v as well as the queues q_e are constant in a steady state.

We want to give an intuition, why an optimal solution of this prime-dual linear program corresponds to a thin flow x' (primal) and travel times and queues (dual) of a steady state in a Nash flow over time; see Figure 3.4.

First of all, in a steady state the thin flow x'_e must be a static *s*-*t*-flow of value 1 that satisfies $x'_e \leq \frac{\nu_e}{r}$, since otherwise $\ell'_v = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \geq \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} > \frac{1}{r}$, which is not possible in the steady state where $\ell'_v = \frac{1}{r}$. Furthermore, queues must always be non-negative and the travel time d_s from *s* to *s* must be 0. For all $e = uv \in E$ Equation (3.4) implies that

$$d_{v} = \ell_{v}(\phi) - \ell_{s}(\phi) \le \ell_{u}(\phi) + \tau_{e} + q_{e}(\phi) - \ell_{s}(\phi) = d_{u} + \tau_{e} + q_{e}.$$

Additionally, we can observe that the complementary slackness corresponds to the thin flow and Nash flow conditions: If $x'_e > 0$ we know that (TF3) holds, which is equivalent to the condition that e must be active during the steady state phase, i.e., the equation above holds with equality. For $x'_e < \frac{\nu_e}{r}$ it must be the case that there is no queue on this arc, i.e., $q_e = 0$, since otherwise this queue would decrease, which is not allowed for a steady state.

Note that this linear program formulation enables us to compute steady states efficiently, but it turns out that the queues are not uniquely defined in general. In the case that there is an *s*-*t*-cut *C* only consisting of resetting arcs (or more precisely arcs with $x'_e = \frac{\nu_e}{r}$), we obtain a new solution, and therefore a new steady state, by adding any a > 0 to q_e for each arc $e \in C$. Note that the objective value of the dual stays constant as d_t increases by a and the sum increases by

$$\sum_{e \in C} a \cdot \frac{\nu_e}{r} = a \cdot \sum_{e \in C} x'_e = a.$$

Hence, this linear program does not help us to determine which of these steady states the Nash flow over time reaches in the long-term. For more details on this topic we refer to the publication of Cominetti, Correa and Olver [19].

3.7 Appendix: Technical Proofs

Lemma 3.1. For a feasible flow over time f it holds for all $e \in E$, $v \in V$ and $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that:

- (i) $q_e(\theta) > 0 \iff z_e(\theta + \tau_e) > 0.$
- (*ii*) $z_e(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) > 0$ for all $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$.

(iii)
$$F_e^+(\theta) = F_e^-(T_e(\theta)).$$

- (iv) For $\theta_1 < \theta_2$ with $F_e^+(\theta_2) F_e^+(\theta_1) = 0$ and $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e) > 0$ we have $T_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_2)$.
- (v) The functions T_e are monotonically increasing.
- (vi) The functions F_e^+ , F_e^- , z_e , q_e and T_e are almost everywhere differentiable.
- (vii) For almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$ we have

$$q'_e(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e} - 1 & \text{if } q_e(\theta) > 0, \\ \max\left\{ \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e} - 1, 0 \right\} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Proof.

- (i) This follows directly by the definition of q_e .
- (ii) By (3.3) we have that $f_e^-(\xi) \le \nu_e$ almost everywhere. Since F_e^+ is monotonically increasing, we obtain for $0 \le \xi < q_e(\theta)$ that

$$z_e(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) = F_e^+(\theta + \xi) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) \ge F_e^+(\theta) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e) - \xi \cdot \nu_e > z_e(\theta + \tau_e) - q_e(\theta) \cdot \nu_e = 0.$$

(iii) Again by (3.3) together with (ii) we obtain for almost all $\xi \in [\theta + \tau_e, \theta + \tau_e + q_e(\theta))$ that $f_e^-(\xi) = \nu_e$. Hence,

$$F_{e}^{-}(T_{e}(\theta)) = F_{e}^{-}(\theta + \tau_{e}) + q_{e}(\theta) \cdot \nu_{e} = F_{e}^{-}(\theta + \tau_{e}) + z_{e}(\theta + \tau_{e}) = F_{e}^{+}(\theta).$$

(iv) Intuitively, this holds true since whether a particle enters the queue at time θ_1 or θ_2 does not influence the exit time, as long as no other flow enters the queue during the interval $[\theta_1, \theta_2]$ and as long as the queue does not deplete during this time. Formally, this follows since

$$z_e(\xi + \tau_e) = F_e^+(\xi) - F_e^-(\xi + \tau_e) \ge F_e^+(\theta_2) - F_e^-(\theta_2 + \tau_e) = z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e) > 0,$$

and therefore $f_e^-(\xi + \tau_e) = \nu_e$ for almost all $\xi \in [\theta_1, \theta_2]$. Thus,

$$T_e(\theta_1) = \theta_1 + \tau_e + \frac{F_e^+(\theta_1) - F_e^-(\theta_1 + \tau_e)}{\nu_e}$$

= $\theta_1 + \tau_e + \frac{F_e^+(\theta_2) - F_e^-(\theta_2 + \tau_e) + (\theta_2 - \theta_1) \cdot \nu_e}{\nu_e} = T_e(\theta_2).$

(v) Consider two points in time $\theta_1 < \theta_2$. By (3.3) we have that $f_e^-(\xi) \le \nu_e$ almost everywhere, and therefore $F_e^-(\theta_2) - F_e^-(\theta_1) \le (\theta_2 - \theta_1) \cdot \nu_e$. Since F_e^+ is monotonically increasing we obtain

$$T_e(\theta_1) = \theta_1 + \tau_e + \frac{F_e^+(\theta_1 - \tau_e) - F_e^-(\theta_1)}{\nu_e}$$

$$\leq \theta_1 + \tau_e + \frac{F_e^+(\theta_2 - \tau_e) - F_e^-(\theta_2) + (\theta_2 - \theta_1) \cdot \nu_e}{\nu_e} = T_e(\theta_2).$$

- (vi) Since f_e^+ and f_e^- are locally integrable, Lebesgue's differentiation theorem (Theorem 2.4) yields that the integral functions F_e^+ and F_e^- are almost everywhere differentiable. As summation and scaling preserve this property we have that z_e , q_e and T_e are almost everywhere differentiable as well.
- (vii) For almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ we have by (3.3) that

$$z'_{e}(\theta + \tau_{e}) = f_{e}^{+}(\theta) - f_{e}^{-}(\theta + \tau_{e}) = \begin{cases} f_{e}^{+}(\theta) - \nu_{e} & \text{if } z_{e}(\theta + \tau_{e}) > 0, \\ \min\{0, f_{e}^{+}(\theta) - \nu_{e}\} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

The claim follows immediately by using (i).

Lemma 3.3 (cf. Theorem 1 in [17]). Let f be a feasible flow over time, $\Phi_e := \{ \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid e \in E'_{\phi} \}$ the set of all particles for which e is active and $\Phi_e^c := \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \setminus \Phi_e$ its complement. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) f is a Nash flow over time.
- (ii) For each arc e = uv, it holds that $f_e^+(\theta) = 0$ for almost all $\theta \in \ell_u(\Phi_e^c)$.
- (iii) $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$ holds for all arcs e = uv and all particles ϕ .
- (iv) For every arc e = uv and almost all $\phi \in \Phi_e^c$ we have $f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi) = 0$.
- (v) For all ϕ and every arc e = uv we have: If $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi) \varepsilon) < F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$ then $e \in E'_{\phi}$.

Proof. $(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii)$: Note that the flow conservation implies that $f_e^+(\theta) = 0$ for almost all $\theta \in [0, \ell_u(0))$ for an arc e = uv, since flow only starts at the source at time 0 and it cannot reach u faster than $\ell_u(0)$. Furthermore, we have $\ell_u(\theta) \ge \theta$, and therefore, ℓ_u is unbounded. In other words, ℓ_u is surjective on $[\ell_u(0), \infty)$.

The contraposition of the Nash flow condition reads $f_e^+(\theta) = 0$ for almost all $\theta \in \ell_u(\Phi_e)^c$. Hence, it is sufficient to show that for almost all $\xi \in [\ell_u(0), \infty)$ we have

$$\xi \in \ell_u(\Phi_e)^c \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \xi \in \ell_u(\Phi_e^c).$$

"⇒": Let $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ with $\ell_u(\phi) = \xi \in \ell_u(\Phi_e)^c$. It follows that $\phi \notin \Phi_e$, and hence, $\ell_u(\phi) \in \ell_u(\Phi_e^c)$.

" \Leftarrow ": Let $\xi \in \ell_u(\Phi_e^c)$ and suppose $\xi \notin \ell_u(\Phi_e)^c$, i.e., there are two different particles $\phi_1 \in \Phi_e^c$ and $\phi_2 \in \Phi_e$ with $\ell_u(\phi_1) = \xi = \ell_u(\phi_2)$. Since ℓ_u is monotonically increasing, ℓ_u has to be constant between ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 , and therefore, there exists a rational number $\kappa_{\xi} \in \mathbb{Q}$ with $\ell_u(\kappa_{\xi}) = \xi$. Since for every point in time $\xi \in \ell_u(\Phi_e^c)$ with $\ell_u(\Phi_e)^c$ there is a $\kappa_{\xi} \in \mathbb{Q}$ with $\ell_u(\kappa_{\xi}) = \xi$, the set $\ell_u(\Phi_e^c) \setminus \ell_u(\Phi_e)^c$ is a subset of $\ell_u(\mathbb{Q})$, and hence, it is countable, or in other words, a null set.

 $(ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii)$: Fix an arc e = uv. For all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ let $I_{\phi} \coloneqq (\phi_0, \phi]$, where $\phi_0 \in [0, \phi]$ is the maximal value with $T_e(\ell_u(\phi_0)) = \ell_v(\phi)$ or 0 if no such ϕ_0 exists. Note that $T_e(\ell_u(\phi_0)) > \ell_v(\phi)$ in the latter

case, since $T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \ge \ell_v(\phi)$ holds in general and $T_e \circ \ell_u$ is continuous. In the case that $\phi \in \Phi_e$ we have $I_{\phi} = \emptyset$.

We show for $\phi' > 0$ that

$$\phi' \in \bigcup_{\phi > 0} I_{\phi} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \phi' \in \Phi_e^c. \tag{3.11}$$

On the one hand, we have for all $\phi' \in \Phi_e^c \setminus \{0\}$ that $T_e(\ell_u(\phi')) > \ell_v(\phi')$, and therefore, there is a $\phi_0 < \phi'$ which implies $\phi' \in I_{\phi'}$. On the other hand, for all $\phi' \in I_{\phi}$ we have $\ell_v(\phi') < T_e(\ell_u(\phi'))$, which implies $\phi' \in \Phi_e^c$, because otherwise we would have, by the monotonicity of ℓ_v and $T_e \circ \ell_u$, that

$$T_e(\ell_u(\phi')) \le \ell_v(\phi') \le \ell_v(\phi) \le T_e(\ell_u(\phi_0)) \le T_e(\ell_u(\phi')),$$

and therefore equality, contradicting the maximality of ϕ_0 . This finishes the proof of (3.11). Hence, e is not active for all $\phi' \in (\phi_0, \phi]$. Furthermore, we have $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi_0)) = F_e^-(T_e(\ell_u(\phi_0))) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$. Note that for $\phi_0 = 0$ we have $0 \ge F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) \ge F_e^+(T_e(\ell_u(\phi_0))) = 0$. Suppose (ii) is given, which means $f_e^+(\theta) = 0$ for almost all $\theta \in \ell_u(I_\phi) = (\ell_u(\phi_0), \ell_u(\phi)]$. This yields

$$F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) - F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) - F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi_0)) = \int_{\ell_u(\phi_0)}^{\ell_u(\phi)} f_e^+(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = 0,$$

which shows (iii).

Conversely, suppose that (iii) holds. We have that Φ_e^c is a union of countably many intervals I_{ϕ} for which we have

$$\int_{I_{\phi}} f_e^+(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) - F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi_0)) = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) - F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) = 0,$$

which proves (ii).

 $(ii) \Leftrightarrow (iv)$: For every arc e = uv the rule of integration by substitution with $\theta = \ell_u(\phi)$ yields

$$\int_{\ell_u(\Phi_e^c)} f_e^+(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = \int_{\Phi_e^c} f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi) \,\mathrm{d}\phi.$$

So this either equals 0 or not, which shows that (ii) is equivalent to $f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi) = 0$ for almost all $\phi \in \Phi_e^c$, i.e., equivalent to (iv).

 $(i) \Rightarrow (v)$: Suppose we have $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi) - \varepsilon) < F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0$ the Nash flow condition implies that e was part of the current shortest paths network at some point in time before ϕ . Let $\phi' \leq \phi$ be the last point in time with $e \in E'_{\phi'}$. Since e was not in the current shortest paths network in-between ϕ' and ϕ there is no inflow during $[\ell_u(\phi'), \ell_u(\phi)]$, i.e., $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) - F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi')) = 0$. Since we assume that $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi) - \varepsilon) < F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ this implies that $\ell_u(\phi') = \ell_u(\phi)$. By (3.4) and the monotonicity of ℓ_v we have

$$\ell_v(\phi) \le T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi')) = \ell_v(\phi') \le \ell_v(\phi).$$

Thus, we have equality, which means that $e \in E'_{\phi}$.

 $(v) \Rightarrow (iii)$: For $e \in E'_{\phi}$ we have by Lemma 3.1 (iii) that $F^+_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = F^-_e(T_e(\ell_u(\phi))) = F^-_e(\ell_v(\phi))$. For $e \notin E'_{\phi}$, let $\phi_0 \in [0, \phi)$ be minimal with $F^+_e(\ell_u(\phi_0)) = F^+_e(\ell_u(\phi))$, which exists due to the contraposition of (v). If $\phi_0 > 0$ we have $F^+_e(\ell_u(\phi_0) - \varepsilon) < F^+_e(\ell_u(\phi_0))$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$, and therefore, we know by (v) that e was active for ϕ_0 . It follows from the observation above, from the monotonicity of F_e^- and ℓ_v , as well as from Lemma 3.1 (iii), that

$$F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi_0)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi_0)) \le F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) \le F_e^-(T_e(\ell_u(\phi))) = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)).$$

For $\phi_0 = 0$ we have

$$0 \le F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) \le F_e^-(T_e(\ell_u(\phi))) = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = 0.$$

In both cases it holds that $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$, which shows (iii).

Lemma 3.4 (cf. Proposition 2 in [17]). *Given a Nash flow over time the following holds for all particles* ϕ :

- (i) $E_{\phi}^* \subseteq E_{\phi}'$.
- (ii) $E'_{\phi} = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) \ge \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e \}.$
- (iii) $E_{\phi}^* = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) > \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e \}.$
- *Proof.* By Lemma 3.1 (i) we have $e \in E_{\phi}^* \iff z_e(\ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e) > 0$.
 - (i) Assume we are given an arc $e \in E_{\phi}^*$. Either $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi) \varepsilon) < F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$, then $e \in E'_{\phi}$ by Lemma 3.3 (v), or there exists a $\varphi < \phi$, such that $F_e^+(\ell_u(\varphi)) = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ and $z_e(\ell_u(\varphi) + \tau_e) > 0$. Using Lemma 3.1 (iv), Equation (3.4) and the monotonicity of ℓ_v we obtain

$$\ell_v(\phi) \le T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = T_e(\ell_u(\varphi)) = \ell_v(\varphi) \le \ell_v(\phi).$$

Thus, we have equality, which means that $e \in E'_{\phi}$.

(ii) From $e \in E'_{\phi}$ it follows that $\ell_v(\phi) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \ge \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e$. The reverse inclusion follows, since $q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0$ implies $e \in E^*_{\phi}$ and by (i) we obtain that $e \in E'_{\phi}$. For $q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = 0$ we have

$$\ell_v(\phi) \le T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e \le \ell_v(\phi),$$

and therefore equality, which shows that e is active for ϕ .

(iii) From $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ it follows by (i) that e is active, and therefore

$$\ell_v(\phi) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e.$$

The reverse inclusion follows, since

$$\ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e < \ell_v(\phi) \le T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_u(\phi)),$$

and thus, $q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0$, which implies $e \in E_{\phi}^*$.

Lemma 3.9. The α -extension forms a feasible flow over time and the extended ℓ -labels coincide with the earliest arrival times, i.e., they satisfy (3.4) for all $\varphi \in [\phi, \phi + \alpha)$.

Proof. In order to prove that the α -extension forms a flow over time we have to show that the flow conservation is satisfied at every $v \in V \setminus \{t\}$, which is true because for all $\theta \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha))$ it holds that

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_e^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_e^-(\theta) = \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s, t\} \\ r & \text{if } v = s. \end{cases}$$

For $\theta > \ell_v(\phi + \alpha)$ all functions as well as the network inflow rate are 0, and therefore, the flow conservation holds as well.

Next, we show that the outflow rates obey (3.3). For $e \in E'_{\phi}$ with $x'_e > 0$ and $\theta \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha))$ we have by (TF3) that

$$f_e^-(\theta) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} = \begin{cases} \nu_e & \text{if } e \in E_\phi^*, \\ \min\left\{\frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u}, \nu_e\right\} & \text{if } e \in E'_\phi \setminus E_\phi^*, \end{cases}$$
$$= \begin{cases} \nu_e & \text{if } q_e(\theta - \tau_e) > 0, \\ \min\left\{f_e^+(\theta - \tau_e), \nu_e\right\} & \text{if } q_e(\theta - \tau_e) = 0. \end{cases}$$

The last equation follows since $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ implies that $q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0$ and by (3.9) this is also true during the complete thin flow phase. For arcs $e\in E'_\phi\setminus E^*_\phi$ a queue builds up within the phase if, and only if, $\nu_e < \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u}$ since we have by Lemma 3.1 (vii) that $q'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \frac{f'_e(\ell_u(\phi))}{\nu_e} - 1 = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u \cdot \nu_e} - 1$. Furthermore, for active arcs without queues during the thin flow phase we have $[\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha)) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2}$ $[\ell_v(\phi) - \tau_e, \ell_v(\phi + \alpha) - \tau_e)$. For $x'_e = 0$ (including $e \notin E'_{\phi}$) we have $f_e^-(\theta) = 0 = f_e^+(\theta - \tau_e)$ and $q_e(\theta - \tau_e) = 0$ for all $\theta \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha))$. Combining all this shows that (3.3) holds for the new phase.

For the second part we show that both equations of (3.4) hold for the extended earliest arrival times. Given an arc $e = uv \in E$, we distinguish between three cases:

Case 1: $e \in E \setminus E'_{\phi}$.

Since α satisfies Equation (3.10) this equation is also satisfied for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$, and hence,

$$\ell_v(\phi+\xi) = \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_v \stackrel{(3.10)}{\leq} \ell_u(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_u + \tau_e \leq T_e(\ell_u(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_u) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)).$$

Case 2: $e \in E'_{\phi} \setminus E^*_{\phi}$ and $\ell'_u \ge \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$. Since e is active we have $\ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e$ and (TF2) implies $\ell'_v \le \ell'_u$. There is no queue building up since $f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} \leq \nu_e$, which means $z_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)+\tau_e) = 0$ for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$. Combining these yields

$$\ell_{v}(\phi + \xi) = \ell_{v}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{v} \stackrel{\text{(TF2)}}{\leq} \ell_{u}(\phi) + \tau_{e} + \xi \cdot \ell'_{u} = \ell_{u}(\phi + \xi) + \tau_{e} = T_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi + \xi)).$$

Case 3: $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ or $(e \in E_{\phi}' \text{ and } \ell_u' < \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e})$. Again, e is active, which means $\ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_u(\phi))$, and additionally, $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ or $\frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} > \nu_e$, together with the thin flow condition (TF2), implies that $\ell'_v \leq \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$. Lemma 3.1 (vii) implies $q'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \frac{f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))}{\nu_e} - 1 = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u \cdot \nu_e} - 1$ since $f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} > \nu_e$ in the case of $e \notin E_{\phi}^*$. By rearranging we obtain $\frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} = q'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u + \ell'_u$. Hence, for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ we obtain with (TF2) that

$$\ell_v(\phi + \xi) = \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_v$$

$$\leq \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}$$

$$= \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) + \xi \cdot (q'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u + \ell'_u)$$

$$= \ell_u(\phi + \xi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_u(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_u)$$

$$= T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)).$$

This shows that there is no arc with an exit time earlier than the earliest arrival time, and therefore, the left hand side of the second equation in (3.4) is always smaller or equal to the right hand side. It remains to show that the equation holds with equality. For every node $v \in V \setminus \{s\}$ there is at least one arc $e \in E'$ with $\ell'_v = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e)$ due to (TF2). No matter if this arc belongs to Case 2 or Case 3 the corresponding equation holds with equality, which shows for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ that

$$\ell_v(\phi + \xi) = \min_{e=uv \in E} T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)).$$

This completes the proof.

Time-Dependent Networks

In the base model we assume that the network is constant and does not change over time. In real-world traffic, however, temporary changes of the infrastructure are omnipresent. For example, construction works can cause lane or even road closures for some time duration and school zones reduce the speed limit depending on the time of the day. Surely, the demand, i.e., the network inflow rate, changes drastically between night time and rush hour. Going even further, it is possible to consider traffic lights as time-dependent capacities. We are interested in studying these time-dependent networks because they are capable of modeling more general traffic scenarios than static networks.

In this chapter we will extend the base model by two features: Time-dependent capacities (including the network inflow rate) and time-dependent transit times. As they attach to different parts of the base model, we will consider an extension including both features at the same time. The work in this chapter was developed in collaboration with Julian Steger, who presented the results of time-dependent capacities in his Master's thesis [93], and Hoang Minh Pham, who wrote his Bachelor's thesis on Nash flows over time in networks with time-dependent transit times [42].

4.1 Arc Dynamics

Similar to the base model we consider a directed graph G = (V, E) with a source s and a sink t such that each node is reachable by s. However, this time each arc e is equipped with a time-dependent capacity $\nu_e \colon [0, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$ and a time-dependent speed limit $\lambda_e \colon [0, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$, is inversely proportional to the transit time. In addition, we consider a time-dependent network inflow rate $r \colon [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$. We assume that the amount of flow an arc can support is unbounded and that the network inflow is unbounded as well, i.e., for all $e \in E$ we require that

$$\int_0^\theta \nu_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d} \xi \to \infty, \qquad \int_0^\theta \lambda_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d} \xi \to \infty \quad \text{ and } \quad \int_0^\theta r(\xi) \,\mathrm{d} \xi \to \infty \qquad \text{for } \theta \to \infty.$$

Later on, in order to be able to construct Nash flows over time, we will additionally assume that all these functions are right-constant.

Time-dependent speed limits. Let us focus on the transit times first. We have to be careful how to model the transit time changes, since we do not want to lose the following two properties of the base model:

- (i) We want FIFO on arcs, which leads to FIFO on the network for Nash flows over time.
- (ii) Particles should never have the incentive to wait on a node.

In other words, we cannot simply allow piecewise-constant transit times, since this could lead to the following case: If the transit time of an arc is high at the beginning and but gets reduced to a lower value at some later point in time, then particles might overtake other particles on that arc. Thus, particles might arrive earlier at the sink if they wait right in front of the arc until its transit time drops.



Figure 4.1: Consider a road segment with a time-dependent speed limit that is low in the time interval [0, 1) and large afterwards. All vehicles, independent of their position, first traverse the link slowly and immediately speed up to the new speed limit at time 1.

Hence, we let the speed limit change over time instead. In order to keep the number of parameters of the network as small as possible we assume that the lengths of all arcs equal 1 and, instead of a transit time, we equip every arc $e \in E$ with a time-dependent speed limit $\lambda_e : [0, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$. Thus, a particle might traverse the first part of an arc at a different speed than the remaining distance if the maximal speed changes midway; see Figure 4.1.

Transit times. Note that we assume the point queue of an arc to always be right before the exit of the arc, which has not mattered much for the base model, but is important now. Hence, a particle entering arc *e* at time θ immediately traverses the arc of length 1 with a time-dependent speed of λ_e . The **transit time** $\tau : [0, \infty) \rightarrow [0, \infty)$ is therefore given by

$$\tau_e(\theta) \coloneqq \min\left\{ \tau \ge 0 \mid \int_{\theta}^{\theta+\tau} \lambda_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = 1 \right\}.$$

Since we required $\int_0^{\theta} \lambda_e(\xi) d\xi$ to be unbounded for $\theta \to \infty$, we always have a finite transit time. For an illustrative example see Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2: From speed limits (*left side*) to transit times (*right side*). The transit time $\tau_e(\theta)$ denotes the time a particle needs to traverse the arc when entering at time θ . We normalize the speed limits by assuming that all arcs have length 1, and hence, the transit time $\tau_e(\theta)$ equals the length of an interval starting at θ such that the area under the speed limit graph within this interval is 1.

The following lemma shows some basic properties of the transit time functions.

Lemma 4.1. For all $e \in E$ and almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ we have:

- (i) The function $\theta \mapsto \theta + \tau_e(\theta)$ is strictly increasing.
- (ii) The function τ_e is continuous and almost everywhere differentiable.
- (iii) For almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$ we have

$$1 + \tau'_e(\theta) = \frac{\lambda_e(\theta)}{\lambda_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta))}.$$

Proof.

(i) Consider two points in time $\theta_1 < \theta_2$, then $\tau \coloneqq \theta_1 - \theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_1)$ is strictly smaller than $\tau_e(\theta_2)$ since

$$\int_{\theta_2}^{\theta_2+\tau} \lambda_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{\theta_2}^{\theta_1+\tau_e(\theta_1)} \lambda_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi < \int_{\theta_1}^{\theta_1+\tau_e(\theta_1)} \lambda_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = 1,$$

where the strict inequality holds, since λ_e is always strictly positive. The last equality follows by the definition of $\tau_e(\theta_1)$. Hence, with the definition of $\tau_e(\theta_2)$ we have $\theta_1 + \tau_e(\theta_1) < \theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2)$.

- (ii) Since $\theta \mapsto \theta + \tau_e(\theta)$ is monotone, Lebesgue's theorem for the differentiability of monotone functions (Theorem 2.5 on page 19) implies that it is almost everywhere differentiable. The same is then true for τ_e . The continuity follows directly from the definition since λ_e is always strictly positive.
- (iii) By the definition of $\tau_e(\theta)$ we have

$$\int_0^{\theta + \tau_e(\theta)} \lambda_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi - \int_0^{\theta} \lambda_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = 1.$$

Taking the derivatives of both sides and using Lebesgue's differentiation theorem (Theorem 2.4 on page 18) together with the chain rule, we obtain

$$\lambda_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \cdot (1 + \tau'_e(\theta)) - \lambda_e(\theta) = 0.$$

Since λ_e is always strictly positive, we get

$$1 + \tau'_e(\theta) = \frac{\lambda_e(\theta)}{\lambda_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta))}.$$

Speed ratios. The ratio in Lemma 4.1 (iii) will be important to measure the outflow of an arc depending on the inflow. We call $\gamma_e : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ the **speed ratio** of *e* and it is defined by

$$\gamma_e(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{\lambda_e(\theta)}{\lambda_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta))} = 1 + \tau'_e(\theta)$$

Figuratively speaking, this ratio describes how much the flow rate changes under different speed limits. If, for example, $\gamma_e(\theta) = 2$, as depicted in Figure 4.3, this means that the speed limit was twice as high when the particle entered the arc as it is at the moment the particle enters the queue. In this case the flow rate is halved on its way, since the same amount of flow that entered within one time unit, needs two time units to leave it. With the same intuition the flow rate is increased whenever $\gamma_e(\theta) < 1$. Note that we normally picture the flow rate by the width of the flow in the figures. But



Figure 4.3: An illustration of how the flow rate changes depending on the speed limits. On the left: As the speed limit λ is high, the flow volume entering the arc per time unit is represented by the area of the long rectangle. On the right: The speed limit is halved, and therefore, the same amount of flow needs twice as much time to leave the arc (or enter the queue if there is one). Hence, if there is no queue, the outflow rate at time $\tau + \tau_e(\theta)$ is only half the size of the inflow rate at time θ .

for time-dependent networks this is not accurate anymore as the transit speed can vary. Hence, in this chapter the flow rates are given by the width of the flow multiplied by the current speed limit.

Flows over time. A **flow over time** in a time-dependent network is, as before, a family of locally integrable and bounded functions $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ that **conserves flow on all arcs** *e*:

$$F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \le F_e^+(\theta) \qquad \text{for all } \theta \in [0,\infty], \tag{4.1}$$

and **conserves flow at every node** $v \in V \setminus \{t\}$ for almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$:

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_e^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_e^-(\theta) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{t\}, \\ r(\theta) & \text{if } v = s. \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

The functions $F_e^+, F_e^-: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ denote, again, the **cumulative in- and outflow** defined by

$$F_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^\theta f_e^+(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \qquad \text{and} \qquad F_e^-(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^\theta f_e^-(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi$$

Queues. A particle entering an arc e at time θ reaches the head of the arc at time $\theta + \tau_e(\theta)$ where it lines up at the point queue. Thereby, the **queue size** $z_e \colon [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ at time $\theta + \tau_e(\theta)$ is defined by

$$z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \coloneqq F_e^+(\theta) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)).$$

Feasibility. We call a flow over time in a time-dependent network **feasible** if we have for almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that

$$f_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) = \begin{cases} \nu_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) & \text{if } z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) > 0, \\ \min\left\{ \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\gamma_e(\theta)}, \nu_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \right\} & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

and $f_e^-(\theta) = 0$ for almost all $\theta < \tau_e(0)$.

Note that the outflow rate depends on the speed ratio $\gamma_e(\theta)$ if the queue is empty (see Figure 4.3). Otherwise, the particles enter the queue, and therefore, the outflow rate equals the capacity independent of the speed ratio. Furthermore, we observe that every arc with a positive queue always has a positive outflow, since the capacities are required to be strictly positive. And finally, (4.3) implies (4.1), the same way it does in the base model. This can easily be seen by considering the derivatives of the cumulative flows whenever we have an empty queue, i.e., $F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) = F_e^+(\theta)$. By (4.3) we have that $f_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \cdot (1 + \tau'_e(\theta)) \leq f_e^+(\theta)$. Hence, Conditions (4.2) and (4.3) are sufficient for a family of functions $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ to be a feasible flow over time.

Waiting times. The waiting time $q_e \colon [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ of a particle that enters the arc at time θ is now defined by

$$q_e(\theta) \coloneqq \min\left\{ \left| q \ge 0 \right| \int_{\theta + \tau_e(\theta)}^{\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + q} \nu_e(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi = z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \right\}.$$

As we required $\int_0^{\theta} \nu_e(\xi) d\xi$ to be unbounded for $\theta \to \infty$ the set on the right side is never empty. Hence, $q_e(\theta)$ is well-defined and has a finite value. In addition, q_e is continuous since ν_e is always strictly positive.



Figure 4.4: Waiting times for time-dependent capacities. The waiting time of a particle θ_0 (*right side*) is given by the length of the interval starting at $\theta_0 + \tau_e(\theta_0)$ such that the area underneath the capacity graph equals the queue size at time $\theta_0 + \tau_e(\theta_0)$ (*left side*). Note that the right boundary of the interval equals the exit time $T_e(\theta_0)$. Clearly, the waiting time does not only depend on the capacity but also on the inflow rate and the transit times (speed limits). For example, if the capacity and the speed limit are constant but the inflow rate is 0, the waiting time will decrease with a slope of 1 as pictured *on the right side* within $[\theta_1, \theta_2]$. But it can decline even quicker if, in addition, the transit time is increasing at time θ , i.e., if $\gamma_e(\theta) > 1$.

Exit times. The **exit time** $T_e: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ denotes the time at which the particles that have entered the arc at time θ finally leave the queue. Hence, we define

$$T_e(\theta) \coloneqq \theta + \tau_e(\theta) + q_e(\theta).$$

In Figure 4.4 we display an illustrative example for the definition of waiting and exit times. With these definitions we can show the following lemma.

Lemma 4.2. For a feasible flow over time f it holds for all $e \in E$, $v \in V$ and $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that:

(i)
$$q_e(\theta) > 0 \iff z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) > 0.$$

- (*ii*) $z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + \xi) > 0$ for all $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$.
- (iii) $F_e^+(\theta) = F_e^-(T_e(\theta)).$
- (iv) For $\theta_1 < \theta_2$ with $F_e^+(\theta_2) F_e^+(\theta_1) = 0$ and $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2)) > 0$ we have $T_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_2)$.
- (v) The functions T_e are monotonically increasing.
- (vi) The functions q_e and T_e are continuous and almost everywhere differentiable.
- (vii) For almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$ we have

$$T'_{e}(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{f_{e}^{+}(\theta)}{\nu_{e}(T_{e}(\theta))} & \text{if } q_{e}(\theta) > 0, \\ \max\left\{ \gamma_{e}(\theta), \frac{f_{e}^{+}(\theta)}{\nu_{e}(T_{e}(\theta))} \right\} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

The proof is very similar to the proof of Lemma 3.1 but, due to the time-dependent speed limits and capacities, some more technical calculations are involved. The proof with all details can be found in the appendix on page 64.

4.2 Nash Flows Over Time

As in the base model a dynamic equilibrium is a feasible flow over time, where particles only use current shortest paths from s to t. Note that we still assume a game with full information. Consequently, all particles know all speed limit and capacity functions in advance and choose their routes accordingly. Again, we start by defining the earliest arrival times and the current shortest paths network, now for the extended model.

Earliest arrival times. The **earliest arrival time functions** $\ell_v \colon \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \to [0, \infty)$ are defined by

$$\ell_{v}(\phi) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \min\left\{ \theta \ge 0 \mid \int_{0}^{\theta} r(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi = \phi \right\} & \text{for } v = s, \\ \min_{e=uv \in \delta_{v}^{-}} T_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

They are well-defined as we have finite speed limits, and hence, $T_e(\ell_u(\theta))$ is strictly larger than $\ell_u(\theta)$. Note that for all $v \in V$ the earliest arrival time function ℓ_v is monotonically increasing, continuous and almost everywhere differentiable. This holds directly for ℓ_s and for $v \neq s$ it follows inductively, since these properties are preserved by the composition $T_e \circ \ell_u$ and by the minimum of finitely many functions.

Active arcs, resetting arcs and current shortest paths networks. As before we denote the active arcs and the resetting arcs for a particle ϕ by

$$E'_{\phi} \coloneqq \left\{ e = uv \in E \mid \ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \right\} \quad \text{ and } \quad E^*_{\phi} \coloneqq \left\{ e = uv \in E \mid q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0 \right\}$$

and the **current shortest paths network** by $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$. Note that G'_{ϕ} is acyclic and that every node is reachable by *s* within this graph.

Dynamic equilibria. Nash flows over time in time-dependent networks are now defined in the exact same way as they were defined in the base model.

Definition 4.3 (Nash flow over time in a time-dependent network).
 We call a feasible flow over time *f* a Nash flow over time if the following Nash flow condition holds:

$$f_e^+(\theta) > 0 \Rightarrow \theta \in \ell_u(\Phi_e)$$
 for all arcs $e = uv \in E$ and almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$, (N)

where $\Phi_e \coloneqq \{ \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid e \in E'_{\phi} \}$ is the set of flow particles for which arc e is active.

And again, they have the same characterization.

Lemma 4.4. Let *f* be a feasible flow over time. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) f is a Nash flow over time.
- (ii) For all arcs $e = uv \in E$ and all particles $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ we have $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$.

Since the exit and the earliest arrival times have the same properties in time-dependent networks as in the base model, this lemma follows with the exact same proof as the corresponding Lemma 3.3 in the base model (the proof can be found on page 47).

The following lemma also transfers one-to-one from the base model.

Lemma 4.5. Given a Nash flow over time the following holds for all particles ϕ :

- (i) $E_{\phi}^* \subseteq E_{\phi}'$.
- (ii) $E'_{\phi} = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) \ge \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e(\theta) \}.$
- (iii) $E_{\phi}^* = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) > \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e(\theta) \}.$

By replacing τ_e by $\tau_e(\ell_u(\theta))$ the proof for Lemma 3.4 on page 49 also holds for time-dependent networks.

Underlying static flows. Again, we define the **underlying static flow** for every $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ by

$$x_e(\phi) \coloneqq F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$$
 for all $e = uv \in E$.

By the definition of ℓ_s and the integration of (4.2) we have $\int_0^{\ell_s(\phi)} r(\xi) d\xi = \phi$, and hence, $x_e(\phi)$ is a static *s*-*t*-flow of value ϕ , whereas the derivatives $(x'_e(\phi))_{e \in E}$ form a static *s*-*t*-flow of value 1.

4.3 Thin Flows

In this section we want to transfer the concept of thin flows with resetting to time-dependent networks. Since thin flows should characterize the derivatives of a Nash flow over time, we have to consider the impact on time-dependent capacities and speed limits on these derivatives.

Consider an acyclic network G' = (V, E') with a source s and a sink t, such that every node is reachable by s. Each arc is equipped with a capacity $\nu_e > 0$ and a speed ratio $\gamma_e > 0$. Furthermore, we have a network inflow rate of r > 0 and an arc set $E^* \subseteq E'$. We obtain the following definition.

— Definition 4.6 (Thin flow with resetting in a time-dependent network).

A static *s*-*t* flow $(x'_e)_{e \in E}$ of value 1 together with a node labeling $(\ell'_v)_{v \in V}$ is a **thin flow with resetting** on E^* if:

$$\ell'_s = \frac{1}{r} \tag{TF1}$$

$$\ell'_{v} = \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}, x'_{e}) \quad \text{for all } v \in V \setminus \{s\},$$
(TF2)

$$\ell'_v = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \qquad \qquad \text{for all } e = uv \in E' \text{ with } x'_e > 0, \qquad \qquad \text{(TF3)}$$

where
$$\rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} & \text{if } e = uv \in E^*, \\ \max\left\{ \gamma_e \cdot \ell'_u, \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} \right\} & \text{if } e = uv \in E' \backslash E^*. \end{cases}$$

The derivatives of a Nash flow over time in time-dependent networks do indeed form a thin flow with resetting as the following theorem shows.

- Theorem 4.7. -

For almost all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ the derivatives $(x'_e(\phi))_{e \in E'_{\phi}}$ and $(\ell'_v(\phi))_{v \in V}$ of a Nash flow over time $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ form a thin flow with resetting on E_{ϕ}^* in the current shortest paths network $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$ with network inflow rate $r(\ell_s(\phi))$ as well as capacities $\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))$ and speed ratios $\gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi))$ for each arc $e = uv \in E$.

Proof. Let $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ be a particle such that for all arcs $e = uv \in E$ the derivatives of x_e , ℓ_u , $T_e \circ \ell_u$ and τ_e exist and $x'_e(\phi) = f^+_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi) = f^-_e(\ell_v(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_v(\phi)$ as well as $1 + \tau'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi))$. This is given for almost all ϕ .

By (4.4) we have $\int_0^{\ell_s(\phi)} r(\xi) d\xi = \phi$ and taking the derivative by applying the chain rule, yields $r(\ell_s(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_s(\phi) = 1$, which shows (TF1).

Taking the derivative of (4.4) at time $\ell_u(\phi)$ by using the differentiation rule for a minimum (Lemma 2.3 on page 17) yields

$$\ell'_v(\phi) = \min_{e=uv \in E'} T'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi)$$

By using Lemma 4.2 (vii) we obtain

$$T'_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{u}(\phi) = \begin{cases} \frac{f_{e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi))}{\nu_{e}(T_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)))} \cdot \ell'_{u}(\phi) & \text{if } q_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) > 0, \\ \max\left\{\gamma_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)), \frac{f_{e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi))}{\nu_{e}(T_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)))}\right\} \cdot \ell'_{u}(\phi) & \text{else,} \end{cases} \\ = \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}(\phi), x'_{e}(\phi)), \end{cases}$$

which shows (TF2).

Finally, in the case of $f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))\cdot\ell_v'(\phi)=x_e'(\phi)>0$ we have by (4.3) that

$$\begin{split} \ell_v'(\phi) &= \frac{x_e'(\phi)}{f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))} = \begin{cases} \frac{x_e'(\phi)}{\min\left\{\frac{f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))}{\gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi))}, \nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))\right\}} & \text{if } q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = 0, \\ \frac{x_e'(\phi)}{\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))} & \text{else}, \end{cases} \\ &= \begin{cases} \max\left\{\frac{\gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell_u'(\phi), \frac{x_e'(\phi)}{\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))}\right\}}{\frac{x_e'(\phi)}{\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))}} & \text{if } e \in E_\phi' \setminus E_\phi^*, \\ \frac{x_e'(\phi)}{\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))} & \text{if } e \in E_\phi^*, \end{cases} \right\} = \rho_e(\ell_u'(\phi), x_e'(\phi)). \end{split}$$

This shows (TF3) and finishes the proof.

In order to construct Nash flows over time in time-dependent networks in the next section, we have to show that there always exists a thin flow with resetting in this setting.

Theorem 4.8.

Consider an acyclic graph G' = (V, E') with source s, sink t, capacities $\nu_e > 0$, speed ratios $\gamma_e > 0$ and a subset of arcs $E^* \subseteq E'$, as well as a network inflow r > 0. Furthermore, suppose that every node is reachable from s. Then there exists a thin flow $((x'_e)_{e \in E}, (\ell'_v)_{v \in V})$ with resetting on E^* .

This proof works exactly as the proof for the existence of thin flows in the base model; see Theorem 3.7 on page 35.

4.4 Constructing Nash Flows Over Time

In the remaining part of this chapter we assume that for all $e \in E$ the functions ν_e and λ_e as well as the network inflow rate function r are right-constant. In order to show the existence of Nash flows over time in time-dependent networks we use the same procedure as in the base model. We start with the empty flow over time and expand it step by step by using a thin flow with resetting.

 α -Extension. Given a restricted Nash flow over time f on $[0, \phi]$, i.e., a Nash flow over time where only the particles in $[0, \phi]$ are considered, we obtain well-defined earliest arrival times $(\ell_v(\phi))_{v \in V}$ for

particle ϕ . Hence, by Lemma 4.5 we can determine the current shortest paths network $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$ with the resetting arcs E^*_{ϕ} , the capacities $\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))$ and speed ratios $\gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi))$ for all arcs $e = uv \in E'$ as well as the network inflow rate $r(\ell_s(\phi))$. By Theorem 4.8 there exists a thin flow $((x'_e)_{e \in E'}, (\ell'_v)_{v \in V})$ on G'_{ϕ} with resetting on E^*_{ϕ} . For $e \notin E'_{\phi}$ we set $x'_e := 0$. As in the base model we extend the ℓ - and x-functions for some $\alpha > 0$ by

$$\ell_v(\phi + \xi) \coloneqq \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_v \quad \text{and} \quad x_e(\phi) \coloneqq x_e(\phi) + \xi \cdot x'_e \quad \text{for all } \xi \in [0, \alpha]$$

and the in- and outflow rate functions by

$$f_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} \quad \text{for } \theta \in [\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha)) \qquad \text{and} \qquad f_e^-(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} \quad \text{for } \theta \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha)).$$

We call this extended flow over time α -extension. Note that $\ell'_u = 0$ means that $[\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha))$ is empty, and the same holds for ℓ'_v .

Feasible extension step size. An α -extension is a restricted Nash flow over time, which we will prove later on, as long as the α stays within reasonable bounds. Similar to the base model we have to ensure that resetting arcs stay resetting and non-active arcs stay non-active for all particles in $[\phi, \phi + \alpha)$. Since the transit times may now vary over time, we have to alter the conditions of the base model:

$$\ell_{v}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{v} - \ell_{u}(\phi) - \xi \cdot \ell'_{u} > \tau_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{u})) \quad \text{for every } e \in E_{\phi}^{*} \text{ and all } \xi \in [0, \alpha),$$

$$\ell_{v}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{v} - \ell_{u}(\phi) - \xi \cdot \ell'_{u} < \tau_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{u})) \quad \text{for every } e \in E \setminus E_{\phi}' \text{ and all } \xi \in [0, \alpha).$$

$$(4.5)$$

Furthermore, we need to ensure that the capacities of all active arcs and the network inflow rate do not change within the phase:

$$\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi)) = \nu_e(\ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_v) \quad \text{for every } e \in E'_\phi \text{ and all } \xi \in [0, \alpha).$$
(4.7)

$$r(\ell_s(\phi)) = r(\ell_s(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_s) \quad \text{for all } \xi \in [0, \alpha).$$
(4.8)

Finally, the speed ratios need to stay constant for all active arcs, i.e.,

$$\gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_u) \quad \text{for every } e \in E'_\phi \text{ and all } \xi \in [0, \alpha).$$
(4.9)

We call an $\alpha > 0$ **feasible** if it satisfies (4.5) to (4.9).

Remark 4.9. The Conditions (4.5) to (4.9) on α are sufficient to guarantee that the α -extension is a Nash flow over time as we will show in Theorem 4.12. But it is worth noting that it is possible to formulate more complex conditions on α in order to have longer thin flow phases by skipping events that do not change the thin flow. For example, Equation (4.9) only needs to hold for arcs that stay active during the phase, i.e., arcs for which (TF3) is satisfied. But if we restrict it to those, we need to ensure that active arcs leaving the current shortest path network immediately, also satisfy Equation (4.6) for all $\xi \in (0, \alpha)$ as these arcs might become active again within the same phase due to a change of the speed ratio. As these improved conditions are more complicated to state we will only consider the conditions stated above in this thesis. But for an actual implementation there is room for improvement as a reduction in the number of the costly thin flow computations can speed up the algorithm significantly.

Lemma 4.10. Given a restricted Nash flow over time f on $[0, \phi]$ then for right-constant capacities and speed limits there always exists a feasible $\alpha > 0$.

Proof. By Lemma 4.5 we have that $\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) > \tau_e(\phi)$ for all $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ and $\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) < \tau_e(\phi)$ for all $e \in E \setminus E'_{\phi}$. Since τ_e is continuous there is an $\alpha_1 > 0$ such that (4.5) and (4.6) are satisfied for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha_1)$. Since ν_e , r and λ_e are right-constant so is γ_e , and hence, there is an $\alpha_2 > 0$ such that (4.7), (4.8) and (4.9) are fulfilled for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha_2)$. Clearly, $\alpha := \min \{ \alpha_1, \alpha_2 \} > 0$ is feasible. \Box

For the maximal feasible α we call the interval $[\phi, \phi + \alpha)$ a **thin flow phase**.

Lemma 4.11. An α -extension is a feasible flow over time and the extended ℓ -labels coincide with the earliest arrival times, i.e., they satisfy Equation (4.4) for all $\varphi \in [\phi, \phi + \alpha)$.

The proof is similar to the proof of the corresponding Lemma 3.9 in the base model, but the timedependent transit times and capacities make it a bit more involved. It can be found in the appendix on page 66.

The final step is to show that an α -extension is a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha)$ and that we can continue this process up to ∞ .

Theorem 4.12.

Given a restricted Nash flow over time $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ on $[0, \phi)$ in a time-dependent network and a feasible $\alpha > 0$ then the α -extension is a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha)$.

Theorem 4.13.

There exists a Nash flow over time in every time-dependent network with right-constant speed limits, capacities and network inflow rates.

The proofs of both theorems are exactly the same as the proofs for the corresponding Theorems 3.10 and 3.11 on page 38.

Example. An example of a Nash flow over time in a time-dependent network together with the corresponding thin flows is shown in Figure 4.5 on the next page.

As displayed at the top the capacity of arc su drops from 2 to 1 at time 8 and, at the same time, the speed limit of arc vt decreases from $\frac{1}{2}$ to $\frac{1}{6}$. The first event for particle 4 is due to a change of the speed ratio leading to an increase of ℓ'_t . For particle 6, the top path becomes active and is taken by all following flow as particles on arc vt are still slowed down. For particle 8, the speed ratio at arc vt changes back to 1 but, as this arc is inactive, this does not change anything. Particle 12 is the first to experience the reduced capacity on arc su. The corresponding queue of this arc increases until the bottom path becomes active. This happens in two steps: first only the path up to node v becomes active for $\phi = 16$, and finally, the complete path is active from $\phi = 20$ onwards.



Figure 4.5: A Nash flow over time with corresponding thin flows in a time-dependent network. *On the top:* The network properties before time 8 (*left side*) and after time 8 (*right side*). *In the middle:* There are seven thin flow phases. Note that the third and forth phase (both depicted in the same network) are almost identical and only the speed ratio of arc *vt* changes, which does not influence the thin flow at all. *At the bottom:* Some key snapshots in time of the resulting Nash flow over time. The current speed limit of arc *vt* is visualized by the length of the green arrow and, from time 8 onwards, the reduced capacity on arc *su* is displayed by a red bottle-neck.

4.5 Appendix: Technical Proofs

Lemma 4.2. For a feasible flow over time f it holds for all $e \in E$, $v \in V$ and $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that:

(i)
$$q_e(\theta) > 0 \iff z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) > 0$$

(ii)
$$z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + \xi) > 0$$
 for all $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$.

(iii)
$$F_e^+(\theta) = F_e^-(T_e(\theta)).$$

(iv) For
$$\theta_1 < \theta_2$$
 with $F_e^+(\theta_2) - F_e^+(\theta_1) = 0$ and $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2)) > 0$ we have $T_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_2)$.

- (v) The functions T_e are monotonically increasing.
- (vi) The functions q_e and T_e are continuous and almost everywhere differentiable.
- (vii) For almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$ we have

$$T'_{e}(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{f_{e}^{+}(\theta)}{\nu_{e}(T_{e}(\theta))} & \text{if } q_{e}(\theta) > 0, \\ \max\left\{ \gamma_{e}(\theta), \frac{f_{e}^{+}(\theta)}{\nu_{e}(T_{e}(\theta))} \right\} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Proof.

- (i) This follows directly from the definition of the waiting time q_e .
- (ii) By (4.3) we have that $f_e^-(\xi) \le \nu_e(\xi)$ almost everywhere. Hence, we have by definition that $q_e(\theta)$ is the minimal value such that

$$\int_{\theta+\tau_e(\theta)}^{\theta+\tau_e(\theta)+q_e(\theta)} \nu_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = z_e(\theta+\tau_e(\theta)).$$

Thus, we obtain for $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$ that

$$\begin{aligned} F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + \xi) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) &= \int_{\theta + \tau_e(\theta)}^{\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + \xi} f_e^-(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \\ &\leq \int_{\theta + \tau_e(\theta)}^{\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + \xi} \nu_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \\ &< z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \\ &= F_e^+(\theta) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)). \end{aligned}$$

Or in short: $F_e^+(\theta) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + \xi) > 0$ for $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$. Since F_e^+ is monotonically increasing we obtain for all $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$ that

$$z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + \xi) = F_e^+(\theta + \xi) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + \xi) \ge F_e^+(\theta) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + \xi) > 0.$$
(iii) Again by (4.3) together with (ii) we obtain for almost all $\xi \in [\theta + \tau_e(\theta), \theta + \tau_e(\theta) + q_e(\theta))$ that $f_e^-(\xi) = \nu_e(\xi)$. By the definition of q_e we have

$$\begin{split} F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + q_e(\theta)) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) &= \int_{\theta + \tau_e(\theta)}^{\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + q_e(\theta)} f_e^-(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \\ &= \int_{\theta + \tau_e(\theta)}^{\theta + \tau_e(\theta) + q_e(\theta)} \nu_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \\ &= z_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \\ &= F_e^+(\theta) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)). \end{split}$$

Hence, $F_e^-(T_e(\theta)) = F_e^+(\theta)$.

(iv) Since $F_e^+(\theta_1) = F_e^+(\theta_2)$ we obtain with the monotonicity of F_e^- and Lemma 4.1 (i) that

$$z_e(\xi + \tau_e(\xi)) = F_e^+(\xi) - F_e^-(\xi + \tau_e(\xi)) \ge F_e^+(\theta_2) - F_e^-(\theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2)) = z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2)) > 0,$$

and therefore, (4.3) provides $f_e^-(\xi) = \nu_e(\xi)$ for almost all $\xi \in [\theta_1 + \tau_e(\theta_1), \theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2)]$.

Thus, the definition of q_e implies that $q_e(\theta_1)$ equals

$$\min\left\{ \begin{array}{l} q \ge 0 \left| \int_{\theta_{1}+\tau_{e}(\theta_{1})}^{\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}(\theta_{2})} f_{e}^{-}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi + \int_{\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}(\theta_{2})}^{\theta_{1}+\tau_{e}(\theta_{1})+q} \nu_{e}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi = F_{e}^{+}(\theta_{1}) - F_{e}^{-}(\theta_{1}+\tau_{e}(\theta_{1})) \right. \right\}$$
$$= \min\left\{ \left| p \ge 0 \right| \int_{\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}(\theta_{2})}^{\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}(\theta_{2})+p} \nu_{e}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi = F_{e}^{+}(\theta_{2}) - F_{e}^{-}(\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}(\theta_{2})) \right. \right\} + \theta_{2} + \tau_{e}(\theta_{2}) - \theta_{1} - \tau_{e}(\theta_{1})$$
$$= q_{e}(\theta_{2}) + \theta_{2} + \tau_{e}(\theta_{2}) - \theta_{1} - \tau_{e}(\theta_{1}).$$

Here, the first equation can be obtained by substituting q by $p + \theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2) - \theta_1 - \tau_e(\theta_1)$. Note that the condition $p \ge 0$ is always satisfied since the right hand side $F_e^+(\theta_2) - F_e^-(\theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2))$ equals $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2))$ and is therefore strictly positive by assumption. Hence, we obtain

$$T_{e}(\theta_{1}) = \theta_{1} + \tau_{e}(\theta_{1}) + q_{e}(\theta_{1}) = \theta_{2} + \tau_{e}(\theta_{2}) + q_{e}(\theta_{2}) = T_{e}(\theta_{2})$$

(v) Considering two points in time $\theta_1 < \theta_2$, we show that $T_e(\theta_1) \le T_e(\theta_2)$. Since F_e^+ is monotonically increasing, (iii) implies that

$$F_e^-(T_e(\theta_2)) = F_e^+(\theta_2) \ge F_e^+(\theta_1) = F_e^-(T_e(\theta_1)).$$
(4.10)

If this holds with strict inequality, we obtain by monotonicity of F_e^- that $T_e(\theta_1) < T_e(\theta_2)$. If (4.10) holds with equality we have two cases. If $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2)) > 0$, (iv) states that $T_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_2)$. If $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2)) = 0$, (ii) applied to θ_1 implies that $\xi := \theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2) - \theta_1 - \tau_e(\theta_1) \notin [0, q_e(\theta_1))$. Since $\xi \ge 0$ by Lemma 4.1 (i) we have $\xi \ge q_e(\theta_1)$, and thus,

$$T_e(\theta_2) \stackrel{\text{(i)}}{=} \theta_2 + \tau_e(\theta_2) \ge \theta_1 + \tau_e(\theta_1) + q_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_1).$$

(vi) The continuity of q_e follows since ν_e is always strictly positive and z_e is continuous, as it is the difference of two continuous functions. Finally, T_e is continuous since it is the sum of three continuous functions.

By (v) the function T_e is monotonically increasing for every $e \in E$, and hence, Lebesgue's theorem for the differentiability of monotone functions (Theorem 2.5 on page 19) states that T_e is almost everywhere differentiable. Since $\theta \mapsto \theta + \tau_e(\theta)$ is monotone this also holds for τ_e since it is the difference of two almost everywhere differentiable functions. As a sum of almost everywhere differentiable functions, $q_e(\theta) = T_e(\theta) - \tau_e(\theta) - \theta$ has this property as well.

(vii) The definition of $q_e(\theta)$ states that

$$\int_{0}^{T_{e}(\theta)} \nu_{e}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi - \int_{0}^{\theta + \tau_{e}(\theta)} \nu_{e}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = z_{e}(\theta + \tau_{e}(\theta)) = F_{e}^{+}(\theta) - F_{e}^{-}(\theta + \tau_{e}(\theta))$$

Taking the derivative on both sides we obtain by using the chain rule that

$$\nu_e(T_e(\theta)) \cdot T'_e(\theta) - \nu_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \cdot (1 + \tau'_e(\theta)) = f_e^+(\theta) - f_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) \cdot (1 + \tau'_e(\theta)).$$

If $q_e(\theta) > 0$ we have by (4.3) that $f_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) = \nu_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta))$, and therefore, dividing by $\nu_e(T_e(\theta))$ (which is strictly positive by assumption) yields

$$T'_e(\theta) = \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e(T_e(\theta))}.$$

For $q_e(\theta) = 0$ we have $f_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) = \min\left\{\frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\gamma_e(\theta)}, \nu_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta))\right\}$ and $T_e(\theta) = \theta + \tau_e(\theta)$. Hence, dividing by $\nu_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) = \nu_e(T_e(\theta))$ and using Lemma 4.1 (iii) provides

$$T'_{e}(\theta) = \gamma_{e}(\theta) + \frac{f_{e}^{+}(\theta)}{\nu_{e}(T_{e}(\theta))} - \min\left\{\frac{f_{e}^{+}(\theta)}{\gamma_{e}(\theta)}, \nu_{e}(T_{e}(\theta))\right\} \cdot \frac{\gamma_{e}(\theta)}{\nu_{e}(T_{e}(\theta))}$$
$$= \max\left\{\gamma_{e}(\theta), \frac{f_{e}^{+}(\theta)}{\nu_{e}(T_{e}(\theta))}\right\},$$

which finishes the proof.

Lemma 4.11. An α -extension is a feasible flow over time and the extended ℓ -labels coincide with the earliest arrival times, i.e., they satisfy Equation (4.4) for all $\varphi \in [\phi, \phi + \alpha)$.

Proof. Flow conservation on nodes, Equation (4.2), is satisfied since for all $\theta \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha))$ we have

$$\sum_{e \in \delta^+(v)} f_e^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta^-(v)} f_e^-(\theta) = \sum_{e \in \delta^+(v)} \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} - \sum_{e \in \delta^-(v)} \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s,t\} \\ r(\ell_s(\phi)) \stackrel{\text{(4.8)}}{=} \theta & \text{if } v = s. \end{cases}$$

Next, we show that the feasibility condition (4.3) is satisfied. For this we first consider arcs e with $x'_e > 0$, which implies $e \in E'_{\phi}$. By (TF3) we have that $\ell'_v \ge \gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u$. Since γ is constant during the thin flow phase, so is τ' , and therefore, we have for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ that

$$\ell_{v}(\phi + \xi) = \ell_{v}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{v}$$

$$\geq \ell_{v}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \gamma_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{u}$$

$$\geq \ell_{u}(\phi) + \tau_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) + \xi \cdot (1 + \tau'_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{u}$$

$$= \ell_{u}(\phi + \xi) + \tau_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi + \xi)).$$

In other words, *e* stays active during the thin flow phase.

We consider the outflow rate at time $\theta + \tau_e(\theta)$ for $\theta \in [\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha))$. In the case of $\theta + \tau_e(\theta) < \ell_v(\phi)$ the feasibility condition follows from prior phases. Otherwise, $\theta + \tau_e(\theta) \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha))$, and therefore,

$$\begin{split} f_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) &= \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} \stackrel{\text{(TF3)}}{=} \frac{x'_e}{\rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e)} = \begin{cases} \min\left\{\frac{x'_e}{\gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u}, \nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))\right\} & \text{ if } e \in E'_\phi \setminus E^*_\phi \\ \nu_e(\ell_v(\phi)) & \text{ else,} \end{cases} \\ &= \begin{cases} \min\left\{\frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\gamma_e(\theta)}, \nu_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta))\right\} & \text{ if } q_e(\theta) = 0, \\ \nu_e(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) & \text{ else.} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

In the case that $x'_e = 0$ we either have $\ell'_v = 0$, but then there is nothing to show since the interval $[\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha))$ would be empty, or $\ell'_v > 0$, which means by (TF2) that either e is not active, or it is active but non-resetting. In both cases we have $q_e(\ell_u(\theta)) = 0$ and since $f_e^+(\ell_u(\theta)) = 0$ for all $\theta \in [\ell_u(\phi, \ell_u(\phi + \alpha))$ the queue stays empty during this phase. (4.3) follows since $f_e^-(\theta + \tau_e(\theta)) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell_v} = 0 = f_e^+(\theta)$ holds for all $\theta \in [\ell_u(\phi, \ell_u(\phi + \alpha))$. Altogether, we showed that the α -extension is indeed a feasible flow over time.

It remains to show that Equation (4.4) holds, which implies that the extended ℓ -functions denote the earliest arrival times. First of all we have

$$\int_{0}^{\ell_{s}(\phi+\xi)} r(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \phi + \int_{\ell_{s}(\phi)}^{\ell_{s}(\phi+\xi)} r(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \phi + r(\ell_{s}(\phi)) \cdot \ell_{s}' \cdot \xi = \phi + \xi$$

Since r is always strictly positive, $\ell_s(\phi)$ is the minimal value with this property, which shows (4.4) for v = s. For $v \neq s$ we distinguish between three cases for every given arc $e = uv \in E$.

Case 1: $e \in E \setminus E'_{\phi}$. Since α satisfies (4.6) it is satisfied for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$, and hence,

$$\ell_v(\phi+\xi) = \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_v \stackrel{(4.6)}{\leq} \ell_u(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_u + \tau_e(\ell_u(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_u) \leq \ell_u(\phi+\xi) + \tau_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) \leq T_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)).$$

Case 2: $e \in E'_{\phi} \setminus E^*_{\phi}$ and $\gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u \ge \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))}$. Since e is active we have $\ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e(\ell_u(\phi))$ and (TF2) implies $\ell'_v \le \gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u$. There is no queue building up since $f^+_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} \le \nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))$, which means $z_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi) + \tau_e(\ell_u(\phi))) = 0$ for all $\xi \in (0, \alpha]$. Combining these yields

$$\ell_v(\phi+\xi) \stackrel{(\mathrm{TF2})}{\leq} \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e(\ell_u(\phi)) + \xi \cdot (1+\tau'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u)$$
$$= \ell_u(\phi+\xi) + \tau_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi))$$
$$= T_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)).$$

Case 3: $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ or $\left(e \in E_{\phi}'$ and $\gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell_u' < \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))}\right)$. Again, e is active, which means $\ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi))$. We have $\rho_e(\ell_u', x'_e) = \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))}$, and hence, (TF2) implies $\ell_v' \leq \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))}$. Lemma 4.2 (vii) yields

$$T'_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) = \frac{f^{+}_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi))}{\nu_{e}(\ell_{v}(\phi))} = \frac{x'_{e}}{\ell'_{u} \cdot \nu_{e}(\ell_{v}(\phi))}$$

since either $q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0$ (if $e \in E^*$) or, in the case of $e \notin E^*_{\phi}$, we have

$$\frac{f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))}{\nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))} = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u \cdot \nu_e(\ell_v(\phi))} > \gamma_e(\ell_u(\phi)).$$

Hence, for all $\xi \in (0, \alpha]$ we obtain

$$\ell_{v}(\phi + \xi) \stackrel{(\text{TF2})}{=} \ell_{v}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell_{v}' \leq \ell_{v}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \frac{x_{e}'}{\nu_{e}} = T_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) + \xi \cdot T_{e}'(\ell_{u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell_{v}' = T_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi + \xi)).$$

This shows that there is no arc with an exit time earlier than the earliest arrival time, and therefore, the left hand side of (4.4) is always smaller or equal to the right hand side.

It remains to show that the equation holds with equality. For every node $v \in V \setminus \{s\}$ there is at least one arc $e \in E'$ with $\ell'_v = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e)$ in the thin flow due to (TF2). No matter if this arc belongs to Case 2 or Case 3 the corresponding equation holds with equality, which shows for all $\xi \in (0, \alpha]$ that

$$\ell_v(\phi + \xi) = \min_{e=uv \in E} T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)).$$

This shows that (4.4) is also satisfied for $v \neq s$, which completes the proof.

Multiple Commodities

This chapter is dedicated to networks with multiple sources and multiple sinks and the adaptation of the base model in order to handle multiple commodities. Some parts of this chapter, especially Sections 5.2 and 5.3, are based on the collaboration with Martin Skutella published in 2018 [86].

Multiple origin-destination-pairs. Nash flows over time are mainly motivated by road traffic, where, in general every road user has his or her own origin and destination. This naturally leads to the consideration of flows over time consisting of multiple commodities J, each of them with its own origin-destination-pair (s_i, t_i) and its own network inflow rate $r_i \ge 0$; see Figure 5.1. At every origin s_j , a flow enters the network with rate r_j during some interval I_j and every infinitesimally small particle of this flow has the goal to reach destination t_i as early as possible, while considering the queuing delays on the paths. Every commodity is modeled by time-dependent in- and outflow rates for every arc that must satisfy flow conservation at every node individually. Then, a dynamic equilibrium consists of a multi-commodity flow over time, where each particle chooses a convex combination of fastest routes from s_i to t_i as strategy. Cominetti, Correa and Larré proved that these dynamic equilibria exist by using infinite-dimensional variational inequalities for a pathbased formulation of these flows over time [17]. Unfortunately, the techniques presented in the previous chapters for single commodity networks are not sufficient for analyzing or algorithmically constructing such multi-commodity Nash flows over time. The fact that each commodity has different earliest arrival times is the main difficulty as this causes cyclic interdependencies. Each particle entering the network has to take into account not only all flow that previously entered the network, but also flow entering the network in the future. This challenging situation is further specified in the example in Figure 5.1. Nonetheless, in Section 5.1 we will present some significant structural results for such multi-commodity Nash flows over time and we will give an arc-based proof of their



Figure 5.1: On the left: A multi-commodity network with three commodities. On the right: The particles of each commodity can choose from at least two paths. Each path overlaps with possible paths of other commodities. Hence, the waiting times a particle experiences on these links do not only depend on the flow in front of the same commodity but also on the route choices of the flows of other commodities, which may even enter the network at a later time than the particle itself. For example, the waiting time that particle $\phi = 0$ of commodity 1 experiences on arc s_3t_1 , depends on the flow of commodity 3 entering at a later point in time. Their decisions, however, depend on the congestion on arc s_1v_1 , which in turn might be congested by flow of commodity 1 that has entered later than particle ϕ .

existence. In order to do so we apply the techniques used in [17] to a new class of multi-commodity thin flows with resetting.

Since we were not able to show how to construct multi-commodity Nash flows over time without some strong existence theorem for infinite-dimensional variational inequalities, we consider, in addition, two special cases that can be reduced to the single-commodity setting. Networks in which all commodities share the same destination are discussed in Section 5.2 and the case that all commodities share the same origin is considered in Section 5.3. For these two special cases we essentially use some advanced super-source and super-sink constructions in order to show how to construct a Nash flow over time iteratively.

5.1 Multi-Commodity Flows Over Time

In the first part of this section we specify a proper multi-commodity flow over time model and define dynamic equilibria in this setting. Afterwards, we consider multi-commodity thin flows and prove that the derivatives of multi-commodity Nash flows over time again satisfy these flow conditions. Finally, following the lines of [17], we show the existence of dynamic equilibria in a multi-commodity setting by using an existence theorem for infinite-dimensional variational inequalities.

Note that this time we consider inflow rates with time horizons, i.e., each commodity only sends flow into the network within a finite time interval. This is a necessary condition as in the multi-commodity setting particles in the future can influence particles from the past.

5.1.1 Flow Dynamics

As before we consider a directed graph G = (V, E), where each arc e is equipped with a transit time $\tau_e \ge 0$ and a capacity $\nu_e > 0$. This time, however, we also have a finite set of commodities J, each of them equipped with an origin-destination-pair $(s_j, t_j) \in V^2$ and with a network inflow rate $r_j > 0$ as well as a finite time interval I_j . We assume that there exists at least one s_j - t_j -path for every $j \in J$ and for Section 5.1 we assume that all $I_j = [a_j, b_j)$ are finite intervals.

Multi-commodity flows over time. For a multi-commodity flow over time we consider a family of locally integrable and bounded functions $f = (f_{j,e}^+, f_{j,e}^-)_{j \in J, e \in E}$ where $f_{j,e}^+(\theta)$ denotes the **inflow rate** of commodity *j* into arc *e* at time θ and $f_{j,e}^-(\theta)$ denotes the respective **outflow rate**. The **cumulative in- and outflow** for each commodity *j* and each arc *e* is defined by

$$F_{j,e}^+(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^\theta f_{j,e}^+(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \quad \text{and} \quad F_{j,e}^-(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^\theta f_{j,e}^-(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi,$$

and the total (cumulative) in- and outflow rates at each point in time θ are given by

$$f_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{j \in J} f_{j,e}^+(\theta), \quad f_e^-(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{j \in J} f_{j,e}^-(\theta), \quad F_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{j \in J} F_{j,e}^+(\theta) \quad \text{ and } \quad F_e^-(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{j \in J} F_{j,e}^-(\theta).$$

Flow conservation. We say f is a **multi-commodity flow over time** if every commodity $j \in J$ conserves flow on every arc e:

$$F_{j,e}^{-}(\theta + \tau_e) \le F_{j,e}^{+}(\theta) \qquad \text{for all } \theta \in [0,\infty),$$
(5.1)



Figure 5.2: Inflow at time ϑ (*left side*) and outflow at time $\theta = T_e(\vartheta)$ (*right side*) of three commodities. We require the flow to merge perfectly, which means that the proportions of each commodity are conserved on an arc even if the flow is stretched or compressed.

and conserves flow at every node $v \in V \setminus \{t_i\}$:

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_{j,e}^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_{j,e}^-(\theta) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s_j\} \text{ or } \theta \notin I_j \\ r_j & \text{if } v = s_j \text{ and } \theta \in I_j, \end{cases} \quad \text{for almost all } \theta \in [0,\infty).$$
(5.2)

Queues, waiting times and exit times. We only consider the total flow for the sizes of the queues. Hence, the queue sizes, waiting times and exit times are given by

$$z_e(\theta) \coloneqq F_e^+(\theta - \tau_e) - F_e^-(\theta), \qquad q_e(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{z_e(\theta + \tau_e)}{\nu_e} \quad \text{and} \quad T_e(\theta) \coloneqq \theta + \tau_e + q_e(\theta).$$

Feasibility. A multi-commodity flow over time f is **feasible** if the total outflow rate follows the same flow dynamic as for a feasible single-commodity flow over time, i.e., if

$$f_e^-(\theta) = \begin{cases} \nu_e & \text{if } z_e(\theta) > 0, \\ \min\left\{ f_e^+(\theta - \tau_e), \nu_e \right\} & \text{if } z_e(\theta) = 0, \end{cases} \quad \text{for almost all } \theta \in [0, \infty). \tag{5.3}$$

Furthermore, the amount of flow of a commodity j that leaves an arc e at time θ is determined by its fraction of the total inflow rate at time ϑ when this particle entered the arc. In other words,

$$f_{j,e}^{-}(\theta) = \begin{cases} f_e^{-}(\theta) \cdot \frac{f_{j,e}^{+}(\vartheta)}{f_e^{+}(\vartheta)} & \text{if } f_e^{+}(\vartheta) > 0, \\ 0 & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$
(5.4)

where $\vartheta = \min \{ \xi \le \theta \mid T_e(\xi) = \theta \}$ is the earliest point in time a particle can enter arc *e* in order to leave it at time ϑ . This equation ensures that arcs preserve the proportion of commodities within the flow as depicted in Figure 5.2. In particular, queues follow the first-in-first-out (FIFO) principle, which means that particles cannot overtake others within the queues.

Note that the total flow over time (f_e^+, f_e^-) is a feasible flow over time with respect to the base model, and therefore, Lemma 3.1 holds. Additionally, the follow property holds for every commodity separately.

Lemma 5.1. For a feasible multi-commodity flow over time f we have for every arc $e \in E$, every commodity $j \in J$ and all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that

$$F_{j,e}^+(\theta) = F_{j,e}^-(T_e(\theta)).$$

Proof. By Lemma 3.1 (iii) we have that $F_e^+(\xi) = F_e^-(T_e(\xi))$. Taking the derivative yields that $f_e^+(\xi) = f_e^-(T_e(\xi)) \cdot T'_e(\xi)$ for almost all $\xi \in [0, \theta]$. Hence, for $f_e^+(\xi) > 0$ we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\xi}F_{j,e}^{-}(T_{e}(\xi)) = f_{j,e}^{-}(T_{e}(\xi)) \cdot T_{e}'(\xi) \stackrel{(5.4)}{=} f_{e}^{-}(T_{e}(\xi)) \cdot \frac{f_{j,e}^{+}(\xi)}{f_{e}^{+}(\xi)} \cdot T_{e}'(\xi) = f_{j,e}^{+}(\xi).$$
(5.5)

In the case of $f_e^+(\xi) = 0$ both sides equal 0.

Taking the integral over $[0, \theta]$ of (5.5) yields $F_{j,e}^-(T_e(\theta)) = F_{j,e}^+(\theta)$ since $F_{j,e}^-(T_e(0)) = F_{j,e}^+(0) = 0$. \Box

Note that (5.1) is not used in the proof. Since $F_{j,e}^+(\theta) = F_{j,e}^-(T_e(\theta))$ implies flow conservation on arcs, we can again drop Condition (5.1) for a feasible multi-commodity flow over time.

5.1.2 Multi-Commodity Nash Flows Over Time

In order to define dynamic equilibria in this setting we have to transfer the concept of current shortest paths networks and resetting arcs to the multi-commodity case.

Earliest arrival times. Since every flow commodity has its own origin we need to define earliest arrival time functions for every commodity separately. For a given flow over time f let $\ell_{j,v} : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$ be the earliest time a particle of commodity j can arrive at v. More precisely, we define the **earliest arrival time** for commodity $j \in J$ by

$$\ell_{j,s_j}(\phi) \coloneqq \frac{\phi}{r_j} + a_j,$$

$$\ell_{j,v}(\phi) \coloneqq \min_{e=uv \in E} T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \quad \text{for } v \in V \setminus \{s_j\}.$$
(5.6)

The flow of a commodity can be seen as an infinite long area of width 1, which means that the flow volume of an interval $[a, b] \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ equals b - a (more general: the volume of a measurable subset of \mathbb{R} is given by its Lebesgue-measure). Furthermore, only the particles in $K_j := [0, (b_j - a_j) \cdot r_j)$ enters the network within the time interval I_j .

For technical reasons we also define the earliest arrival times for particles $\phi \notin K_j$ by setting $q_e(\theta) = 0$ for all $\theta < 0$. This way the earliest arrival time functions are surjective on \mathbb{R} .

Active and resetting arcs. We say an arc e = uv is active for particle ϕ and commodity j if

$$\ell_{j,v}(\phi) = T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))$$

and we denote the set of all active arcs for ϕ and j by

$$E'_{j,\phi} \coloneqq \{ e = uv \in E \mid \ell_{j,v}(\phi) = \ell_{j,u}(\phi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \}$$

The graph $G_{j,\phi} := (V, E'_{j,\phi})$ is called the **current shortest paths network** of particle ϕ and commodity j. Furthermore, we define

$$E_{j,\phi}^* \coloneqq \{ e = uv \in E \mid q_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) > 0 \}$$

to be the **resetting** arcs for particle ϕ and commodity *j*.

Note that in this setting there might be arcs that are resetting but not active for a particle of some commodity.

Dynamic equilibria. We can now transfer the definition of Nash flows over time to this multicommodity setting.

- Definition 5.2 (Multi-commodity Nash flow over time).

A feasible multi-commodity flow over time f is a **multi-commodity Nash flow over time** if

$$f_{j,e}^+(\theta) > 0 \implies \theta \in \ell_{j,u}(\Phi_{j,e})$$
 for all $e = uv \in E, j \in J$ and almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$, (mcN)

where $\Phi_{j,e} \coloneqq \{ \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid e \in E'_{j,\phi} \}$ is the set of flow particles of commodity j for which arc e is active.

We can characterize Nash flows over time in the multi-commodity setting as follows.

Lemma 5.3. For a feasible multi-commodity flow over time f the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) *f* is a multi-commodity Nash flow over time.
- (ii) $F_{j,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) = F_{j,e}^-(\ell_{j,v}(\phi))$ for all $e = uv, j \in J$ and all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$.

The proof of this lemma is similar to the proof of the corresponding part in Lemma 3.3. It can be found in the appendix on page 89.

In a multi-commodity Nash flow over time the waiting times, and therefore the active and resetting arcs, are completely characterized by the earliest arrival time functions.

Lemma 5.4. Given a multi-commodity Nash flow over time f with arrival time functions $(\ell_{j,v})_{j \in J, v \in V}$, we have for all arcs $e = uv \in E$ and all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that

$$q_e(\theta) = \max_{j \in J} \left(\max\left\{ \ \ell_{j,v}(\phi_j) - \ell_{j,u}(\phi_j) - \tau_e, 0 \ \right\} \right) \qquad \text{with} \quad \phi_j \coloneqq \min\left\{ \ \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \ | \ \ell_{j,u}(\phi) = \theta \ \right\}.$$

Proof. If $q_e(\theta) = 0$ we have by (5.6) for all commodities j that

$$\ell_{j,v}(\phi_j) \le \ell_{j,u}(\phi_j) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi_j)) = \ell_{j,u}(\phi_j) + \tau_e.$$

For $q_e(\theta) > 0$ we show that there has to be at least one commodity $j \in J$ for which e is active for particle ϕ_j . Let j be the commodity for which e was active at the latest point in time before θ , i.e.,

$$j \coloneqq \operatorname*{arg\,max}_{i \in J} \ell_{i,u}(\varphi_i) \qquad \text{with} \quad \varphi_i \coloneqq \max\left\{ \xi \le \phi_j \mid e \in E'_{i,\xi} \right\}.$$

Since no flow was sent into *e* between $\ell_{j,u}(\varphi_j)$ and $\theta = \ell_{j,u}(\phi_{j,u})$ we obtain for the total cumulative inflow that $F_e^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi_j)) - F_e^+(\ell_{j,u}(\varphi_j)) = 0$. Hence, by Lemma 3.1 (iv) we get

$$\ell_{j,v}(\phi_j) \le T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi_j)) = T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\varphi_j)) = \ell_{j,v}(\varphi_j) \le \ell_{j,v}(\phi_j).$$

Thus, we have equality, which shows that *e* is active for ϕ_j . It follows that

$$q_e(\theta) = q_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi_j)) = \ell_{j,v}(\phi_j) - \ell_{j,u}(\phi_j) - \tau_e$$

Clearly, there cannot be another commodity j' with $\ell_{j',v}(\phi_{j'}) - \ell_{j',u}(\phi_{j'}) - \tau_e > q_e(\theta)$ since this would contradict the definition of the earliest arrival times in Equation (5.6).

Underlying static flows. We define the **underlying static flow** for each commodity j by

$$x_{j,e}(\phi) \coloneqq F_{i,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) = F_{i,e}^-(\ell_{i,v}(\phi))$$
 for all $e = uv \in E$

$$\begin{array}{c} \phi \\ \phi_{1,u} \\ \phi_{1,u}^{2} \\ \phi_{1,u}^{3} \\ \phi_{1,u}^$$

Figure 5.3: Foreign flow entering an arc. Particle ϕ of commodity 1 is entering arc e = uv at time $\theta := \ell_{1,u}(\phi)$. To determine the inflow rate of the other commodities at this point in time, we consider the particles $\phi_{1,u}^i$ that also reach node u at time θ . The value $x'_{i,e}(\phi_{1,u}^i)$ denotes the part of the flow of commodity *i* that will use arc *e*. Hence, we obtain the foreign inflow rates at time θ by dividing this value by $\ell'_{i,u}(\phi_{1,u}^i)$.

It is easy to see that the arc vector $(x_j(\phi))_{e \in E}$ forms a static $s_j \cdot t_j \cdot f$ low of value ϕ if $\phi \in K_j$. Furthermore, these functions are monotone and almost everywhere differentiable and the vector of derivatives $(x'_j(\phi))_{e \in E}$ forms a static $s_j \cdot t_j \cdot f$ low of value 1 for $\phi \in K_j$ or of value 0 otherwise.

Underlying foreign flows. The main challenge of multi-commodity dynamic equilibria is that the stress of an arc, and therefore the route choice of each particle, depends on flow of all commodities simultaneously. To obtain some structural insight nevertheless we define the **underlying foreign flow** by

$$y_{j,e}(\phi) \coloneqq \sum_{i \in J \setminus \{j\}} F_{i,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \quad \text{for all } e = uv \in E.$$

Note that this is not a static flow in general since the cumulative inflow $F_{i,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))$ of some commodity *i* into an arc *e* that is active for commodity *i* but not for commodity *j* generally differs from the cumulative outflow $F_{i,e}^-(\ell_{j,v}(\phi))$.

Nonetheless, we have

$$y_{j,e}(\phi) = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \{j\}} x_{i,e}(\phi_{j,u}^i) \qquad \text{with} \quad \phi_{j,u}^i \coloneqq \min \ell_{i,u}^{-1}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)).$$

Note that $\phi_{j,u}^i$ is the very first particle of commodity *i* that can arrive at *u* (when taking a shortest path) exactly at the time when the particle ϕ of commodity *j* reaches *u*. It is, therefore, a function in dependency of ϕ , but for sake of readability we omit the parameter in most cases.

Lemma 5.5. For all $j \in J$ and $e \in E$ the underlying foreign flow $y_{j,e}(\phi)$ is almost everywhere differentiable with

$$y_{j,e}'(\phi) = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \{j\}} f_{i,u}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell_{j,u}'(\phi) = \begin{cases} \sum_{i \in J \setminus \{j\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i)} & \text{if } \ell_{j,u}'(\phi) > 0, \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

An illustration of the relation between the foreign inflow rates and the derivatives of the underlying foreign flow can be found in Figure 5.3.

Proof of Lemma 5.5. By Lebesgue's theorem for the differentiability of monotone functions, $\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)$ is almost everywhere differentiable as it is monotone. As a composition and sum of almost everywhere differentiable functions so is $y_{j,e}(\phi)$. Let ϕ be a particle such that the functions $\ell_{j,u}(\phi)$, $\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)$,

 $\ell_{i,u}(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))$ and $y_{j,e}(\phi)$ are differentiable for all $i \in J \setminus \{j\}$. This is given for almost all particles. The first equation follows immediately by the chain rule. For $\ell'_{j,u}(\phi) = 0$ we have $y'_{j,e}(\phi) = 0$. So let us suppose that $\ell'_{j,u}(\phi) > 0$. We obtain

$$0 < \ell'_{j,u}(\phi) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi} \ell_{i,u}(\phi^i_{j,u}(\phi)) = \ell'_{i,u}(\phi^i_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi} \phi^i_{j,u}(\phi),$$

and therefore, $\ell'_{i,u}(\phi^i_{j,u}(\phi)) > 0$. Again with the chain rule and the equation above it follows immediately that

$$y_{j,e}'(\phi) = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \{j\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi} \phi_{j,u}^i(\phi) = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \{j\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))}.$$

5.1.3 Multi-Commodity Thin Flows

We now want to describe the structure of the derivatives of the underlying static flow (the strategy of the particles) by an extended thin flow formulation. However, we have to include the derivatives of the foreign flow into our consideration, and since the foreign flow heavily depends on the underlying static flow of other commodities we cannot consider only one particle (or one interval of particles) at a time, but we have to consider the strategy of all particles simultaneously.

Definition 5.6 (Multi-commodity thin flow).

For a given family of arc functions $x' = (x'_{j,e})_{j \in J, e \in E}$ and node functions $\ell' = (\ell'_{j,v})_{j \in J, v \in V}$ we define $E'_{j,\phi}, E^*_{j,\phi} \subseteq E$ and $y'_{j,e} \colon \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \to [0,\infty)$ for all $j \in J$, $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ and $e \in E$ as described above in dependency of the functions $\ell_{j,v}(\phi) \coloneqq \int_0^{\phi} \ell'_{j,v}(\xi) d\xi$. We say that the pair (x', ℓ') forms a **multi-commodity thin flow** if the following conditions are satisfied:

For all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ the arc vector $(x'_{j,e}(\phi))_{e \in E}$ forms a static $s_j \cdot t_j$ -flow of value 1 if $\phi \in K_j$ or of value 0 if $\phi \notin K_j$. In both cases we have $x'_{j,e}(\phi) = 0$ for all $e \notin E'_{j,\phi}$ and for almost all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ the following equations hold:

$$\ell'_{j,s_{j}}(\phi) = \frac{1}{r_{j}} \qquad \text{for all } j \in J, \qquad (\text{mcTF1})$$

$$\ell'_{j,v}(\phi) = \min_{e=uv \in E'_{j,\phi}} \rho^{\phi}_{j,e} \left(\ell'_{j,u}(\phi), x'_{j,e}(\phi), y'_{j,e}(\phi)\right) \qquad \text{for all } j \in J, v \in V \setminus \{s_{j}\}, \qquad (\text{mcTF2})$$

$$\ell'_{j,v}(\phi) = \rho^{\phi}_{j,e}\left(\ell'_{j,u}(\phi), x'_{j,e}(\phi), y'_{j,e}(\phi)\right) \qquad \qquad \text{for all } j \in J, e = uv \in E'_{j,\phi} \qquad \text{(mcTF3)}$$
with $x'_{j,e} > 0$,

where

$$\rho_{j,e}^{\phi}(\ell'_{j,u}, x'_{j,e}, y'_{j,e}) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{x'_{j,e} + y'_{j,e}}{\nu_e} & \text{if } e = uv \in E^*_{j,\phi}, \\ \max\left\{ \ \ell'_{j,u}, \frac{x'_{j,e} + y'_{j,e}}{\nu_e} \ \right\} & \text{if } e = uv \in E'_{j,\phi} \backslash E^*_{j,\phi}. \end{cases}$$

The first main result for multi-commodity Nash flows over time states that the derivatives form a multi-commodity thin flow.

Theorem 5.7.

For a multi-commodity Nash flow over time f, the derivatives $(x'_{j,e})_{j\in J,e\in E}$ and $(\ell'_{j,v})_{j\in J,v\in V}$ form a multi-commodity thin flow.

The proof follows the line of the proof of Theorem 3.6 incorporating the derivatives of the foreign flow. It can be found in the appendix on page 90.

For the reverse direction we show that for a given multi-commodity thin flow (x', ℓ') we can reconstruct the Nash flow over time by setting

$$f_{j,e}^+(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\ell'_{j,u}(\phi)} \quad \text{for } \theta = \ell_{j,u}(\phi) \qquad \text{and} \qquad f_{j,e}^-(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\ell'_{j,v}(\phi)} \quad \text{for } \theta = \ell_{j,v}(\phi)$$

for all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ and every $e = uv \in E$. Furthermore, we set $f_{j,e}^+(\theta) = 0$ for $\theta < \ell_{j,u}(0)$ and $f_{j,e}^-(\theta) = 0$ for $\theta < \ell_{j,v}(0)$.

Theorem 5.8. –

For every multi-commodity thin flow (x', ℓ') the family of functions $f = (f_{j,e}^+, f_{j,e}^-)_{j \in J, e \in E}$ as defined above is a multi-commodity Nash flow over time with earliest arrival time functions

$$\ell_{j,v}(\phi) \coloneqq \int_0^{\phi} \ell'_{j,v}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \qquad \text{for all } j \in J, v \in V \text{ and } \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}.$$

Proof. Clearly, (5.2) is satisfied since flow of every commodity j is conserved at every node v at every point in time $\theta = \ell_{j,v}(\phi)$, i.e.,

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_{j,e}^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_{j,e}^-(\theta) = \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\ell'_{j,v}(\phi)} - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\ell'_{j,v}(\phi)} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s_j\} \text{ or } \phi \notin K_j, \\ r_j & \text{if } v = s_j \text{ and } \phi \in K_j. \end{cases}$$

Note that for $v = s_j$ we have $\phi \in K_j$ if, and only if, $\theta = \ell_{j,s_j}(\phi) \in I_j$.

For a given $e = uv \in E$ and $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ let $\phi_j \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ such that $\ell_{j,u}(\phi_j) = \theta$ for all $j \in J$. Considering the commodities j, where e is active for j and ϕ_j , we observe that also all $\ell_{j,v}(\phi_j)$ of these commodities coincide. Hence, (mcTF3) yields

$$\begin{split} f_e^-(\theta) &= \sum_{j \in J} \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi_j)}{\ell'_{j,v}(\phi_j)} = \begin{cases} \nu_e & \text{if } e \in E^*_{j,\phi_j} \text{ for some } j \text{ with } e \in E'_{j,\phi_j}, \\ \min\left\{\sum_{j \in J} \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi_j)}{\ell'_{j,u}(\phi_j)}, \nu_e\right\} & \text{else,} \end{cases} \\ &= \begin{cases} \nu_e & \text{if } q_e(\theta) > 0, \\ \min\left\{f_e^+(\theta), \nu_e\right\} & \text{else.} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

This shows (5.3).

Equation (5.4) follows by Lemma 5.5 since

$$f_{j,e}^{-}(\theta) = \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi_j)}{\ell'_{j,v}(\phi_j)} = \frac{y'_{j,e}(\phi_j) + x'_{j,e}(\phi_j)}{\ell'_{j,v}(\phi_j)} \cdot \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi_j)}{\ell'_{j,u}(\phi_j)} \cdot \frac{\ell'_{j,u}(\phi_j)}{y'_{j,e}(\phi_j) + x'_{j,e}(\phi_j)} = f_e^{-}(\theta) \cdot \frac{f_{i,e}^{+}(\theta)}{f_e^{+}(\theta)}$$

In order to show that the ℓ -functions satisfy Equation (5.6) we prove that the derivatives of $\ell_{j,v}(\phi)$ and of $\min_{e=uv \in E} T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))$ coincide for all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. Lemma 3.1 (vii) implies for almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that

$$T'_e(\theta) = 1 + q'_e(\theta) = \begin{cases} \max\left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \max\left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e}, 1 \end{array}\right\} & \text{ if } q_e(\theta) = 0\\ \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e} & \text{ else.} \end{array} \right. \end{cases}$$

Hence,

$$T'_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{j,u}(\phi) = \begin{cases} \max\left\{\frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi) + y'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\nu_{e}}, \ell'_{j,u}(\phi)\right\} & \text{ if } q_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) = 0\\ \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi) + y'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\nu_{e}} & \text{ else.} \end{cases}$$

This together with (mcTF2) and the differentiation rule for a minimum (Lemma 2.3 on page 17) implies that

$$\ell_{j,v}'(\phi) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi} \min_{e=uv \in E} T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)).$$

By Lebesgue's differentiation theorem (Theorem 2.4 on page 18) we obtain (5.6). In other words, the ℓ -functions are indeed the earliest arrival times for the constructed feasible flow over time f. Finally, f is a multi-commodity Nash flow over time by Lemma 5.3 since

$$F_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) = \int_{0}^{\phi} f_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{j,u}(\xi)) \cdot \ell_{j,u}'(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{0}^{\phi} x_{j,e}'(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{0}^{\phi} f_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{j,v}(\xi)) \cdot \ell_{j,v}'(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = F_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{j,v}(\phi))$$

for all $e = uv \in E$, $j \in J$ and $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$.

To sum this up, Theorems 5.7 and 5.8 show that multi-commodity Nash flows over time correspond one-to-one to multi-commodity thin flows.

5.1.4 Existence of Multi-Commodity Nash Flows Over Time

The existence of dynamic equilibria in a multi-commodity setting was first shown by Cominetti, Correa and Larré in [17], even though the proof is not worked out in this paper. The main idea is to represent feasible multi-commodity flows over time in a path-based formulation, i.e., as vectors of inflow functions in the L^p -space, and then to formulate the Nash flow condition as an infinitedimensional variational inequality. Using Brézis' theorem (Theorem 2.8 on page 21) guarantees the existence of a multi-commodity Nash flow over time. We will present a complete proof for this, but instead of representing the flow over time path-based we will show the existence of a multi-commodity thin flow in its arc-based form.

In order to avoid degenerated cases we assume from now on that all transit times are strictly positive. Let H > 0 such that $K_j \subseteq [0, H]$ for all $j \in J$. For this we represent the flow by a vector of functions $x' = (x'_{j,e})_{j \in J, e \in E} \in L^2([0, H])^{J \times E}$. Recall that this is a Hilbert space with scalar product

$$\langle x, y \rangle \coloneqq \sum_{j \in J, e \in E} \int_0^H x_{j, e}(\xi) \cdot y_{j, e}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi.$$

Variational inequalities. As described in Section 2.5.2 on page 20 we want to utilize the following infinite-dimensional variational inequality. For a set of function vectors $X \subseteq L^2([0, H])^{J \times E}$ and a mapping $\mathcal{A} \colon X \to L^2([0, H])^{J \times E}$ the variational inequality is the following task.

Find
$$x' \in X$$
 such that $\langle \mathcal{A}(x'), z' - x' \rangle \ge 0$ for all $z' \in X$. (infVI)

As long as we define X to be non-empty, closed, convex and bounded and the mapping A to be weak-strong continuous, Brézis' theorem (Theorem 2.8 on page 21) guarantees a solution to this variational inequality.

We start by defining

$$X \coloneqq \left\{ \begin{array}{l} (x'_{j,e})_{j \in J, e \in E} \in L^2([0,H])^{J \times E} \\ \text{value 1 for } \phi \in K_j \text{ and } 0 \text{ for } \phi \notin K_j. \end{array} \right\}$$

Clearly, X is a non-empty, closed, convex and bounded subset of $L^2([0, H])^{J \times E}$ since a convex combination of two static flows with the same value is again a static flow of this value. In order to define the mapping \mathcal{A} we first need the following lemma.

Lemma 5.9. For every $x' = (x'_{j,e})_{j \in J, e \in E} \in X$ we can construct a vector $(\ell_{j,v})_{j \in J, v \in V}$ of continuous and monotonically increasing functions such that their derivatives $(\ell'_{j,v})_{j \in J, v \in V}$ satisfy (mcTF1) and (mcTF2) for all $\phi \in [0, H]$, where we define

$$\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi) \coloneqq \min\left\{ \left. \varphi \ge 0 \mid \ell_{i,u}(\varphi) = \ell_{j,u}(\phi) \right. \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad y_{j,e}'(\phi) \coloneqq \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi)} = \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ j \right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi) = \sum_{i$$

Furthermore, the mapping $(x'_{j,e})_{j\in J,e\in E} \mapsto (\ell_{j,u})_{j\in J,u\in V}$ is weak-strong continuous.

The key idea of the proof is to start at time 0 and then extend these functions step by step for later points in time. Note that we extend over the range of the functions and not over the domain. In each extension step we determine the change of $\ell_{j,v}$ by plugging $x'_{j,e}(\ell_u(\phi))$ and $y'_{j,e}(\ell_u(\phi))$ into (mcTF2). As we assumed that the transit time of every arc is positive we have that $\ell_{j,u}(\phi) < \ell_{j,v}(\phi) = \theta$ for all arcs that are active for j and ϕ . Hence, we can extend these functions at least by the minimal transit time in every step. A detailed proof can be found in the appendix on page 91.

Lemma 5.9 shows that for a given $x' \in X$ we obtain functions $\ell_{j,v}$, which we can plug into the equation of Lemma 5.4 in order to obtain waiting time functions $(q_e)_{e \in E}$. Note that the mapping $x' \mapsto q$ is also weak-strong continuous. Furthermore, the ℓ -functions satisfy Equation (5.6), as we have already shown in the second half of the proof of Theorem 5.8 (we do not use (mcTF3) in this part of the proof). It is worth noting, however, that these ℓ - and q-functions do not belong to a feasible flow over time, in general, as flow conservation might not hold when deriving in- and outflow rate functions in the usual way.

Finally, we can define the weak-strong continuous mapping $\mathcal{A} \colon X \to L^2([0,H])^{J \times E}$ by

$$(x'_{j,e})_{j\in J,e\in E}\mapsto (h_{j,e})_{j\in J,e\in E} \quad \text{with} \quad h_{j,e}(\phi)\coloneqq \ell_{j,u}(\phi)+\tau_e+q_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))-\ell_{j,v}(\phi).$$

In other words, if x' corresponds to a feasible flow over time, $h_{j,e}(\phi)$ denotes the delay of particle ϕ when traveling as fast as possible to u first and then using arc e, instead of taking the fastest direct route to v. In a Nash flow over time this value should always be 0 for each arc e with $x'_{i,e}(\phi) > 0$.

Theorem 5.10.

For every multi-commodity network with positive transit times there exists a multi-commodity thin flow, and hence, a multi-commodity Nash flow over time.

Proof. Let x' be a solution to the variational inequality constructed above, which exists due to Theorem 2.8. In other words, it holds that

$$\sum_{e \in E, j \in J} \int_0^H (\ell_{j,u}(\phi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) - \ell_{j,v}(\phi)) \cdot (z'_{j,e} - x'_{j,e}) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \ge 0 \qquad \text{for } z' \in X.$$

Let $(\ell_v)_{v \in V}$ be the node labels corresponding to x' according to Lemma 5.9 with derivatives $(\ell'_v)_{v \in V}$. We will show that (x', ℓ') satisfies the multi-commodity thin flow conditions for $\phi \in [0, H]$. As (mcTF1) and (mcTF2) hold for $(\ell'_v)_{v \in V}$ by Lemma 5.9 it only remains to show that (mcTF3) holds for almost all $\phi \in [0, H]$. In order to do so, suppose that there exist a commodity j, an arc e = uv and a set with positive measure $\Phi \subseteq [0, H]$ such that $x'_{j,e}(\phi) > 0$ and

$$\ell'_{j,v}(\phi) < \rho^{\phi}_{j,e} \left(\ell'_{j,u}(\phi), x'_{j,e}(\phi), y'_{j,e}(\phi) \right)$$

We assume that Φ is contained in a small interval [a, b] and that $x'_{j,e}(\phi) \ge \varepsilon$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$. Note that for every $\phi \in \Phi$ there are two s_j - t_j -paths P_{ϕ}, Q_{ϕ} , which satisfy the following conditions. Firstly, we require that $e \in P_{\phi}$ and $x'_{j,e'}(\phi) > \varepsilon$ for all $e' \in P_{\phi}$, and secondly, for all $e' = u'v' \in Q_{\phi}$ we demand that $e' \in E'_{j,\phi}$ as well as

$$\ell'_{i,v'}(\phi) = \rho^{\phi}_{i,e'}\left(\ell'_{i,u'}(\phi), x'_{i,e'}(\phi), y'_{i,e'}(\phi)\right).$$

The existence of P_{ϕ} follows by the flow conservation of the static flow $x'_{j,e}(\phi)$ (ε can be redefined to be small enough) and the existence of Q_{ϕ} follows by the construction of the ℓ' -functions.

It is possible to partition Φ into measurable sets such that the particles ϕ of each subset have the same paths-pair (P_{ϕ}, Q_{ϕ}) . Thus, at least one of these subsets has to have a positive measure, and hence, without loss of generality, we can assume that all particles in Φ have the same pair of paths, which we denote by P and Q.

We set $z' \coloneqq x'$ with the exception of $z'_{j,e'}(\phi) \coloneqq x'_{j,e'}(\phi) - \varepsilon$ for all $e' \in P$. Furthermore, let $\phi \in \Phi$ and $z'_{j,e'}(\phi) \coloneqq x'_{j,e'}(\phi) + \varepsilon$ for all $e' \in Q$ and $\phi \in \Phi$. Clearly, $z' \in X$, as the small shift of flow from Pto Q, does not violate the flow conservation and does not change the total flow value. We obtain that

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{A}(x'), z' - x' \rangle &= \sum_{e \in E, j \in J} \int_0^H T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot (z'_{j,e} - x'_{j,e}) \, \mathrm{d}\xi \\ &= -\varepsilon \cdot \sum_{e' = u'v' \in P} \int_\Phi T_{e'}(\ell_{j,u'}(\phi)) - \ell_{j,v'}(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi + \varepsilon \cdot \sum_{e' \in Q} \int_\Phi T_{e'}(\ell_{j,u'}(\phi)) - \ell_{j,v'}(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi \\ &\leq -\varepsilon \cdot \int_\Phi T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) - \ell_{j,v}(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi + \varepsilon \cdot \sum_{e' \in Q} \int_\Phi T_{e'}(\ell_{j,u'}(\phi)) - \ell_{j,v'}(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi \\ &= -\varepsilon \cdot \int_\Phi T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) - \ell_{j,v}(\phi) < 0. \end{split}$$

The first inequality follows, since ℓ satisfies (5.6), and hence, $T_{e'}(\ell_{j,u'}(\phi)) - \ell_{j,v'} \ge 0$ for all $e' = u'v' \in E$. The last equation holds, since Q is a path of active arcs for all particles in Φ , and therefore, $T_{e'}(\ell_{j,u'}(\phi)) - \ell_{j,v'}(\phi) = 0$ for all $e' = u'v' \in Q$ and all $\phi \in \Phi$. But this is a contradiction to the variational inequality (infVI). Hence, (x', ℓ') satisfies the thin flow conditions for almost all $\phi \in [0, H]$.

This shows the existence of a multi-commodity thin flow and with Theorem 5.8 it follows that there also exists a multi-commodity Nash flow over time on every multi-commodity network. \Box

5.2 Common Destination

Even though multi-commodity Nash flows over time exist, we do not know how to construct them, as exact solutions to infinite-dimensional variational inequalities cannot be computed algorithmically. In order to transfer the concepts of the base model to a multi-terminal setting, we consider the



Figure 5.4: *On the left:* A multi-commodity network where each commodity has the same destination *t*. *On the right:* In this case we can construct Nash flows over time by reducing the problem to a single commodity problem. The inflow distribution denotes the proportion of the flow that enters through each source.

special case where all commodities have the same destination. In other words, we have multiple sources but only one sink. We consider only one commodity, i.e., only one flow, where each particle can choose the source for entering the network; see Figure 5.4. Sources further away from the sink might not be chosen by particles with high priority, but their network inflow rates will be maximal from time 0 onwards nonetheless.

Evacuation scenarios. Even though this setting seems to be artificial at first glance it has an important and relevant application. Imagine an inhabited region with a high risk of flooding, where in the case of rising water levels everyone tries to reach a high-altitude shelter as fast as possible. Since the road users seek for protection and do not care at which of the shelters they end up, we can connect all nodes representing one of these safe places to a super sink. Without regulations an evacuation now corresponds to a Nash flow over time with multiple sources but only a single sink, as everyone starts at their home and tries to reach one of the shelters as fast as possible.

Networks. To model this special case we consider a network G = (V, E) with transit times $\tau_e \ge 0$, capacities $\nu_e > 0$ and a sink node t as before. But this time we have, in addition, a set of sources $S \coloneqq \{s_j \mid j \in J\}$ with network inflow rates r_j for each commodity j. We assume that every source can reach the sink, that every node is reachable by at least one source and that all directed cycles have a strictly positive total transit time.

We do not distinguish between different commodities because as soon as the particles have entered the network they all have the same goal, namely to reach the sink as fast as possible, and therefore, their identity is interchangeable.

We use the same notation of flow rates, cumulative flows, queue sizes and waiting times as in the base model, this time, however, we say that flow is conserved on a node $v \in V \setminus \{t\}$ if

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_e^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_e^-(\theta) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus S, \\ r_j & \text{if } v = s_j \in S. \end{cases}$$
(5.7)

A flow over time is a family of locally integrable and bounded functions $(f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ that satisfies (3.1) and (5.7) and it is **feasible** if (3.3) is fulfilled.

Inflow distributions. In order to denote which particle enters through which source we need additional functions. A family of locally integrable functions $f_j: \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \to [0, 1]$, for $j \in J$, is called inflow distribution if $\sum_{j \in J} f_j(\phi) = 1$ for almost all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ and if each cumulative source inflow $F_j(\phi) := \int_0^{\phi} f_j(\varphi) d\varphi$ is unbounded for $\phi \to \infty$. The function $f_j(\phi)$ describes the fraction of particle ϕ

that enters the network trough s_j . The cumulative source inflow functions have to be unbounded in order to guarantee that the inflow rates at the sources never run dry.

Source arrival times. Given a feasible flow over time f, the **source arrival time** functions map each particle $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ to the time it arrives at s_j and they are given by

$$T_j(\phi) \coloneqq \frac{F_j(\phi)}{r_j}.$$

Earliest arrival times. The earliest arrival times are now defined by

$$\ell_{s_j}(\phi) = \min\left(\left\{ T_j(\phi) \right\} \cup \left\{ T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \mid e = us_j \in E \right\}\right) \quad \text{for } j \in J,$$

$$\ell_v(\phi) = \min_{e = uv \in E} T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \quad \text{for } v \in V \setminus S.$$
(5.8)

This is well-defined since all cycles in G have positive travel times by assumption.

Current shortest paths networks and active arcs. As before we call an arc e = uv active for ϕ if $\ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi))$ holds and we denote the set of all active arcs for a particle ϕ by E'_{ϕ} as well as the current shortest paths network by $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$. Furthermore, $E^*_{\phi} := \{e = uv \in E \mid q_e(\ell_u(\theta)) > 0\}$ denotes the set of resetting arcs.

Multi-source single-sink Nash flows over time. A dynamic equilibrium now consists of a feasible flow over time together with an inflow distribution and each particle chooses a convex combination of routes from the sources to the sink such that it arrives there as fast as possible.

Definition 5.11 (Nash flow over time). A tuple $f = ((f_e^+)_{e \in E}, (f_j)_{j \in J})$ consisting of a feasible flow over time and an inflow distribution is a **Nash flow over time** if the following two **Nash flow conditions** hold:

$$\begin{split} \ell_{s_j}(\phi) &= T_j(\phi) & \text{for all } j \in J \text{ and almost all } \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}, & (\text{msN1}) \\ f_e^+(\theta) &> 0 \; \Rightarrow \; \theta \in \ell_u(\Phi_e) & \text{for all arcs } e = uv \in E \text{ and almost all } \theta \in [0, \infty), & (\text{msN2}) \\ \text{where } \Phi_e &\coloneqq \{ \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid e \in E'_{\phi} \} \text{ is the set of flow particles for which arc } e \text{ is active.} \end{split}$$

Figuratively speaking, these two conditions mean that entering the network through a source s_j is always a fastest way to reach s_j (msN1) and that a Nash flow over time uses only active arcs (msN2), and therefore only shortest paths, to t.

Lemma 5.12. A tuple $f = ((f_e^+)_{e \in E}, (f_j)_{j \in J})$ of a feasible flow over time and an inflow distribution is a Nash flow over time if, and only if, we have

$$F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$$
 and $F_j(\phi) = \ell_{s_j}(\phi) \cdot r_j$

for all arcs $e = uv \in E$, every $j \in J$, and all particles $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$.

Proof. From Lemma 3.3 (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii) it follows immediately that (msN2) is satisfied if, and only if, $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$ for all $e \in E$ and all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. Hence, the lemma is true since $T_j(\phi) = \frac{F_j(\phi)}{r_j}$, and therefore, (msN1) is satisfied if, and only if, $F_j(\phi) = \ell_{s_j}(\phi) \cdot r_j$ for all $j \in J$ and all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. \Box

Underlying static flows. The underlying static flow is now given by two types of functions

$$x_e(\phi) \coloneqq F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$$
 and $x_j(\phi) \coloneqq F_j(\phi) = \ell_{s_j}(\phi) \cdot r_j$.

For every ϕ this is a static *S*-*t*-flow with $x_j(\phi)$ as supply at source s_j since the integral of (5.7) over $[0, \ell_v(\phi)]$ yields

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x_e(\phi) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x_e(\phi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus (S \cup \{t\}), \\ \ell_{s_j}(\phi) \cdot r_j = x_j(\phi) & \text{if } v = s_j \in S. \end{cases}$$
(5.9)

Let x'_e , x'_j and ℓ'_v denote the derivative functions, which exist almost everywhere, since the *x*- and ℓ -functions are monotone. Then, it is possible to determine the inflow function of every arc e = uv as well as the inflow distribution from these derivatives, since

$$x'_e(\phi) = f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi) \quad \text{and} \quad f_j(\phi) = \ell'_{s_j}(\phi) \cdot r_j.$$

Consequently, a Nash flow over time is, again, completely characterized by these derivatives. Differentiating (5.9) yields that $x'(\phi)$ also forms a static *S*-*t*-flow, which we consider next.

Thin flows with resetting for multiple sources and a single sink. Let $E' \subseteq E$ be a subset of arcs such that the subgraph G' = (V, E') is acyclic and every node is reachable by some source within G'. Note that not every node needs to be able to reach sink t. Additionally, we consider a subset of resetting arcs $E^* \subseteq E'$. Moreover, let $X(E', (x'_j)_{j \in J})$ be the set of all static *S*-*t*-flows in G' with supply x'_j at source s_j for $x'_j \ge 0$ and $\sum_{i \in J} x'_j = 1$.

Definition 5.13 (Thin flow with resetting for multiple sources). A vector $(x'_j)_{j\in J}$ with $x'_j \ge 0$ and $\sum_{j\in J} x'_j = 1$, together with a static flow $(x'_e)_{e\in E} \in X(E', (x'_j)_{j\in J})$ and a node labeling $(\ell'_v)_{v\in V}$ is called **thin flow with resetting** on $E^* \subseteq E'$ if

$$\Psi'_{s_j} = rac{x_j}{r_i}$$
 for all $j \in J,$ (msTF1)

$$\ell'_{s_j} \le \min_{e=us_j \in E'} \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \quad \text{for all } j \in J,$$
(msTF2)

$$\ell'_{v} = \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}, x'_{e}) \quad \text{ for all } v \in V \setminus S,$$
 (msTF3)

$$\ell'_v = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \qquad \qquad \text{for all } e = uv \in E' \text{ with } x'_e > 0, \qquad \qquad (\text{msTF4})$$

where
$$\rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} & \text{if } e = uv \in E^*, \\ \max\left\{ \ell'_u, \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} \right\} & \text{if } e = uv \in E' \backslash E^*. \end{cases}$$

As before we can prove that the derivatives of a Nash flow over time f form a thin flow with resetting almost everywhere.

Theorem 5.14.

For a Nash flow over time $((f_e^+)_{e \in E}, (f_j)_{j \in J})$ the derivative labels $(x'_j(\phi))_{j \in J}$ and $(x'_e(\phi))_{e \in E'_{\phi}}$ together with $(\ell'_v(\phi))_{v \in V}$ form a thin flow with resetting on E^*_{ϕ} in the current shortest paths network $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$ for almost all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$.

Proof. We have that $x'_j(\phi) = f_j(\phi) \ge 0$ for all $j \in J$ and $\sum_{j \in J} x'_j(\phi) = \sum_{j \in J} f_j(\phi) = 1$ for almost all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\ge 0}$. Equation (msTF1) follows immediately from Lemma 5.12 and Equations (msTF2) and (msTF4) can be proven in the exact same way as (TF2) and (TF3) in Theorem 3.6.

Constructing Nash flows over time. In order to construct a multi-source Nash flow we first show the existence of multi-source thin flows with resetting.

Theorem 5.15.

Consider an acyclic graph G' = (V, E') with sources S, sink t, capacities ν_e and a subset of arcs $E^* \subseteq E'$. Suppose that every node is reachable by some source. Then there exists a thin flow $((x'_j)_{j\in J}, (x'_e)_{e\in E}, (\ell'_v)_{v\in V})$ with resetting on E^* .

In order to show this, the proof of Theorem 3.7 needs only be modified slightly to fit the new definition of a thin flow with resetting in the multi-source setting. The key idea is, again, to use a set-valued function in order to apply Kakutani's fixed-point theorem (Theorem 2.9 on page 22). A detailed version of the proof can be found in the appendix on page 92.

A restricted inflow distribution on $[0, \phi)$ is a family of functions $f_j : [0, \phi) \rightarrow [0, 1]$ that satisfies $\sum_{j \in J} f_j(\varphi) = 1$ for almost all $\varphi \in [0, \phi)$. A restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi)$ is a feasible flow over time together with a restricted Nash flow condition that satisfies the Nash flow conditions (msN1) and (msN2) for almost all particles in $[0, \phi)$ and almost all times in $[0, \ell_u(\phi))$. Note that we do not demand that the cumulative source inflow functions F_j of a restricted inflow distribution are unbounded. This would not make any sense as ϕ is always a trivial upper bound.

In the same manner as described in Section 3.5 it is now possible to extend a restricted Nash flow over time by computing a thin flow with resetting and defining

$$\ell_v(\phi + \xi) \coloneqq \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_v \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{aligned} x_e(\phi + \xi) \coloneqq x_e(\phi) + \xi \cdot x'_e, \\ x_i(\phi + \xi) \coloneqq x_i(\phi) + \xi \cdot x'_i, \end{aligned}$$

for all $v \in V$, $e \in E$, $j \in J$, and $\xi \in [0, \alpha]$ for some $\alpha > 0$ that satisfies (3.9) and (3.10). Based on this we can extend the inflow functions and the inflow distribution, which gives us

$$\begin{split} f_e^+(\theta) &\coloneqq \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} & \text{ for } \theta \in [\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha)), \\ f_e^-(\theta) &\coloneqq \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} & \text{ for } \theta \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha)) \\ \end{split}$$
 and
$$f_j(\varphi) &\coloneqq x'_j \cdot r_j & \text{ for } \varphi \in [\phi, \phi + \alpha) \end{split}$$

for all $e = uv \in E$ and all $j \in J$. Note that in the case of $\ell'_u = 0$ the time interval $[\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha))$ is empty and the same is true for the corresponding time interval if $\ell'_v = 0$. Once more we call this extended flow α -extension.

Theorem 5.16. -

Given a restricted Nash flow over time $((f_e^+)_{e \in E}, (f_i)_{i=1}^n)$ on $[0, \phi)$ and an $\alpha > 0$ satisfying (3.9) and (3.10), then the α -extension is a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha)$.

Proof. Since

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_{s_j}^+} f_e^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_{s_j}^-} f_e^-(\theta) = \sum_{e \in \delta_{s_j}^+} \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_{s_j}} - \sum_{e \in \delta_{s_j}^-} \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_{s_j}} = \frac{x'_j}{\ell'_{s_j}} = r_j$$

Lemma 3.9 implies that the α -extension is a feasible flow over time. Furthermore,

$$\ell_{s_j}(\phi + \xi) = \ell_{s_j}(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{s_j} \stackrel{\text{(msN1)}}{=} T_j(\phi) + \xi \cdot \frac{x'_j}{r_j} = T_j(\phi) + \xi \cdot T'_j(\phi) = T_j(\phi + \xi),$$

together with the second part of Lemma 3.9 yields that the ℓ -labels satisfy Equation (5.8), i.e., they match the earliest arrival times. In addition, we have $\sum_{i \in J} f_i(\theta) = \sum_{i \in J} x'_i = 1$ for all

 $\theta \in [\phi, \phi + \alpha)$, which shows that $(f_j)_{j \in J}$ is a restricted inflow distribution. Finally, Lemma 5.12 yields $F_e^+(\ell_u(\varphi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\varphi))$ and $F_j(\varphi) = \ell_{s_j}(\varphi) \cdot r_j$ for all $\varphi \in [0, \phi)$, so for $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ it holds that

$$F_{e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi+\xi)) = F_{e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) + \frac{x'_{e}}{\ell'_{u}} \cdot \xi \cdot \ell'_{u} = F_{e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi)) + \frac{x'_{e}}{\ell'_{v}} \cdot \xi \cdot \ell'_{v} = F_{e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi+\xi)),$$

$$F_{j}(\phi+\xi) = F_{j}(\phi) + \xi \cdot x'_{j} = \ell_{s_{j}}(\phi) \cdot r_{j} + \xi \cdot \ell'_{s_{j}} \cdot r_{j} = \ell_{s_{j}}(\phi+\xi) \cdot r_{j}.$$

Lemma 5.12 implies that the α -extension is a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha)$.

Finally, we show that this construction leads to a multi-source Nash flow over time.

Theorem 5.17. There exists a multi-source single-sink Nash flow over time.

Proof. The proof is the same as for Theorem 3.11 in the base model with the only exception that we have to show in addition that all cumulative source inflow functions are unbounded. We start by showing that the earliest arrival time ℓ_t is unbounded. There cannot be an upper bound B on ℓ_t since the flow rate into t is bounded by $N := \sum_{e \in \delta_t^-} \nu_e$ and with the FIFO principle we obtain that no particle $\phi > N \cdot B$ reaches t before time $\frac{\phi}{N} > B$. Next, we show that all ℓ -labels are unbounded. Suppose this is not true. Since every node can reach t there would be an arc e = uv, where ℓ_u is bounded and ℓ_v is not. Since T_e is Lipschitz continuous $T_e \circ \ell_u$ would be bounded as well. But this contradicts that $\ell_v(\phi) \leq T_e(\ell_u(\phi))$ goes to ∞ for $\phi \to \infty$. Hence, $F_j(\phi) = \ell_{s_j}(\phi) \cdot r_j$ is unbounded for every $j \in J$, which completes the proof.

Multi-commodity Nash flows over time with common destination. Finally, we want to show that these multi-source single-sink Nash flows over time do indeed correspond to a multi-commodity Nash flow over time where all commodities share the same destination. To do so, consider a multi-source single-sink Nash flow over time $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)$ as constructed above with a thin flow $(x'(\phi), \ell'(\phi))$ for each particle ϕ . By adding a super source s and a new arc $e_j = ss_j$ carrying a flow of $x'_j(\phi)$ for each $j \in J$, we obtain an s-t-flow of value 1 and by using the flow decomposition theorem (see Theorem 2.1 on page 11) we obtain a path-based formulation $(x'_P)_{P \in \mathcal{P}}$. For every $j \in J$ let \mathcal{P}_j be all s-t-paths that start with the new arc e_j . By assigning all flow on these paths to commodity j we obtain

$$x'_{j,e} \coloneqq \sum_{\substack{P \in \mathcal{P}_j \\ \text{with } e \in P}} x_P$$

Setting

$$f_{j,e}^+(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x_{j,e}'(\phi)}{\ell_u'(\phi)} \quad \text{for } \theta = \ell_u(\phi) \qquad \text{and} \qquad f_{j,e}^-(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x_{j,e}'(\phi)}{\ell_v'(\phi)} \quad \text{for } \theta = \ell_v(\phi)$$

for all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ provides a multi-commodity Nash flow over time with unlimited inflow rates as we show in the following theorem.

Theorem 5.18.

The family of functions $(f_{j,e}^+, f_{j,e}^-)_{j \in J, e \in E}$ is a multi-commodity Nash flow over time in a network with inflow rates r_j and $I_j = [0, \infty)$ for all $j \in J$.

Proof. Flow conservation (5.2) for every commodity $j \in J$ on every node $v \in V \setminus \{t\}$ follows immediately since

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_{j,e}^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_{j,e}^-(\theta) = \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} \frac{x'_{j,e}}{\ell'_{j,v}} - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} \frac{x'_{j,e}}{\ell'_{j,v}} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \neq s_i, \\ \frac{x'_j}{\ell'_v} = r_j & \text{if } v = s_j. \end{cases}$$

The condition on the total outflow rate (5.3) holds as we have shown in Theorem 5.16 and Condition (5.4) is satisfied for each arc $e = uv \in E$ since in the case of $f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0$ we have that e is active (from the single-commodity perspective), i.e., $\ell_v(\phi) = T_e(l_u(\phi))$, and therefore,

$$f_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi)) = \frac{x_{j,e}'(\phi)}{\ell_{v}'(\phi)} = \frac{x_{e}'(\phi)}{\ell_{v}'(\phi)} \cdot \frac{x_{j,e}'(\phi)}{\ell_{u}'(\phi)} \cdot \frac{\ell_{u}'(\phi)}{x_{e}'(\phi)} = f_{e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi)) \cdot \frac{f_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi))}{f_{e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi))}$$

For $f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = 0$ we clearly have $x'_{i,e} = 0$, and thus, $f_{i,e}^-(\ell_v(\phi)) = 0$. Note that the function ℓ_v is continuous and unbounded, and therefore, we can found for every $\theta \ge \ell_v(0)$ a $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\ge 0}$ with $\theta = \ell_v(\phi)$. For $\theta < \ell_v(0)$ we have $f_{j,e}^+(\theta) = f_{j,e}^-(\theta) = 0$ as no flow has reached e yet. Hence, we have a feasible multi-commodity flow over time.

The multi-commodity Nash flow condition (mcN) follows immediately by Lemma 5.3 and by

$$F_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) = \int_{0}^{\phi} f_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\xi)) \cdot \ell_{u}'(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{0}^{\phi} x_{j,e}'(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{0}^{\phi} f_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\xi)) \cdot \ell_{v}'(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = F_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi)),$$

which holds for all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$.

In this last section of the multi-commodity chapter we are going to analyze the second special case of multiple commodities with a common origin. Suppose that each commodity has its own sink but all flow starts at the same common source; see left the side of Figure 5.5. In this scenario the commodities matter a lot, since different flow particles within the network might want to reach different sinks. Nonetheless, we show that this special case, once again, can be reduced to the single commodity case by using a super sink construction as it is shown on the right side of Figure 5.5. The commodities can then be reconstructed by using path decompositions of the thin flows.

Extended graphs. In order to construct a Nash flow over time in this setting we add a super sink to the graph. For this let $\nu_{\min} := \min_{e \in E} \nu_e$ be the minimal capacity of the network, $r := \sum_{i \in J} r_i$ the



Figure 5.5: On the left: A multi-commodity network where all commodities share the same origin. On the right: Constructing a multi-commodity Nash flow over time in this setting can be reduced to a single commodity Nash flow over time by adding a super sink t and new arcs e_j with very small capacities.

total network inflow and $\sigma := \min \{ \nu_{\min}, r \}$. For all $j \in J$ we define δ_j to be the length of a shortest s- t_j -path according to the transit times. Furthermore, let $\delta_{\max} := \max_{j \in J} \delta_j$ be the maximal distance from the source to a sink. We extend G by a super sink t and |J| new arcs $e_j := (t_j, t)$ with

$$\tau_{e_j} \coloneqq \delta_{\max} - \delta_j \quad \text{and} \quad \nu_{e_j} \coloneqq \frac{r_j \cdot \sigma}{2r}.$$
(5.10)

We denote the **extended graph** by $\overline{G} := (\overline{V}, \overline{E})$ with $\overline{V} := V \cup \{t\}$ and $\overline{E} := E \cup \{e_1, \dots, e_m\}$. Note that the new capacities are strictly smaller than all original capacities and that they are proportional to the inflow rate of the respective commodity. Furthermore, we choose the transit times such that all new arcs are in the current shortest paths network for particle $\phi = 0$. The reason for the choice of σ is the following.

Lemma 5.19. For every single-commodity thin flow with resetting (x', ℓ') (see page 33) in \overline{G} it holds for all $v \in V \setminus \{t\}$ that $\ell'_v \leq \frac{1}{\sigma}$.

Proof. We have $\ell'_s = \frac{1}{r} \leq \frac{1}{\sigma}$ and $\frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} \leq \frac{1}{\nu_{\min}} \leq \frac{1}{\sigma}$. Hence, by induction over the acyclic current shortest paths network we obtain that $\ell'_v \leq \max\left\{\frac{x'_e}{\nu_e}, \ell'_u\right\} \leq \frac{1}{\sigma}$ for all active arcs e = uv.

Reduction from single-commodity Nash flows over time. We obtain a multi-commodity Nash flow over time f with common source by using a single-commodity Nash flow over time \bar{f} in \bar{G} , which exists due to Theorem 3.11. To prove this we first show that, if all new arcs are active for some particle ϕ , then there is a static flow decomposition of the single-commodity thin flow with resetting x' with $x'_{e_j} = r_j$. This is formalized in the following lemma, where we write $x'|_E$ for the restriction of x' to the original graph G and $|\cdot|$ for the flow value of a static flow.

Lemma 5.20. For any $E^* \subseteq E' \subseteq \overline{E}$ with $\{e_j \mid j \in J\} \subseteq E'$ consider the single-commodity thin flow with resetting (x', ℓ') with network inflow rate r. There exists a static flow decomposition $(x'_{j,e})_{j \in J, e \in E}$ with $x'|_E = \sum_{j \in J} x'_j$ such that each static flow x'_j conserves flow on all $v \in V \setminus (\{s, t_j\})$ and $|x'_j| = x'_{e_j} = \frac{r_j}{r}$ for $j \in J$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{P} be the set of all *s*-*t*-paths in the current shortest paths network G' = (V, E'). Note that G' is always acyclic and x' can therefore be described by the path vector $(x'_P)_{P \in \mathcal{P}}$ due to the flow decomposition theorem (Theorem 2.1 on page 11). For all $j \in J$ let \mathcal{P}_j be the set of all *s*-*t*-paths that contain e_j . These sets form a partition of \mathcal{P} since every path has to use exactly one of the new arcs. By setting $x'_j \coloneqq \sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}_j} x'_P|_E$ we obtain the desired decomposition of x', because $x'_P|_E$ for $P \in \mathcal{P}_j$ conserves flow on all nodes except for the ones in $\{s, t_j\}$ and the same is true for sums of these path flows.

Since x'_j sends $|x'_j|$ flow units from s over e_j to t_j we have $|x'_j| = x'_{e_j}$. It remains to show that $x'_{e_j} = \frac{r_j}{r}$ for all $j \in J$. Suppose that this is not true. Since x' sends exactly $1 = \sum_{j \in J} \frac{r_j}{r}$ flow units from s to t, there has to be an index $a \in J$ with $x'_{e_a} > \frac{r_a}{r}$ and an index $b \in J$ with $x'_{e_b} < \frac{r_b}{r}$. With Lemma 5.19 it follows that

$$\ell'_{t_b} \leq \frac{1}{\sigma} \stackrel{(5.10)}{<} \frac{r_a}{r \cdot \nu_{e_a}} < \frac{x'_{e_a}}{\nu_{e_a}} \stackrel{(\text{TF3})}{\leq} \ell'_t \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{x'_{e_b}}{\nu_{e_b}} \stackrel{(5.10)}{=} \underbrace{\frac{x'_{e_b} \cdot r}{r_b}}_{<1} \cdot \frac{2}{\sigma} < \underbrace{\frac{x'_{e_a} \cdot r}{r_a}}_{>1} \cdot \frac{2}{\sigma} \stackrel{(5.10)}{=} \frac{x'_{e_a}}{\nu_{e_a}} \stackrel{(\text{TF3})}{\leq} \ell'_t.$$

But this is a contradiction, since (TF2) yields that $\ell'_t = \min_{j \in J} \rho_{e_j}(\ell'_{t_j}, x'_{e_j})$ and the last two equations show that $\rho_{e_b}(\ell'_{t_b}, x'_{e_b}) < \ell'_t$. Hence, we have $x'_{e_j} = \frac{r_j}{r}$ for all $j \in J$, which finishes the proof. \Box

As the next step we show that the new arcs are always active.

Lemma 5.21. In a Nash flow over time \overline{f} in \overline{G} all new arcs $(e_j)_j \in J$ are active for all particles $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$.

Proof. For particle $\phi = 0$ there are no queues yet, and therefore, the exit time for each arc e is $T_e(\theta) = \theta + \tau_e$. Hence, $\ell_{t_i}(0) = \delta_j$ and by construction we have for all $j \in J$ that

$$\ell_t(0) = \ell_{t_i}(0) + \tau_{e_i} = T_{e_i}(\ell_{t_i}(0)).$$

Therefore, all arcs e_j are active at the beginning and also during the first thin flow phase because by Lemma 5.20 we have $x'_{e_j} > 0$ for the first thin flow with resetting, which implies that arc e_j stays active.

Suppose now for contradiction that there are particles for which not all new arcs are active. Let ϕ_0 be the infimum of these particles. By the consideration above we have $\phi_0 > 0$ and Lemmas 5.19 and 5.20 imply that

$$f_{e_j}^+(\ell_{t_j}(\phi)) = \frac{x'_{e_j}}{\ell'_{t_j}} \ge x'_{e_j} \cdot \sigma = \frac{r_j}{r} \cdot \sigma \stackrel{(5.10)}{>} \nu_{e_j}$$

for almost all $\phi \in [0, \phi_0)$ and all $j \in J$. Hence, Lemma 3.1 (vii) together with the fact that $\ell'_{t_j} > 0$ (due to the positive throughput of x' at t_j) yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi}q_{e_j}(\ell_{t_j}(\phi)) = q'_{e_j}(\ell_{t_j}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{t_j}(\phi) > 0.$$

In other words, a queue is building up within $[0, \phi_0)$, and therefore, $q_{e_j}(\ell_{t_j}(\phi_0)) > 0$ for all $j \in J$. The continuity of $q_{e_j} \circ \ell_{t_j}$ implies that there will be positive queues for all $\phi \in [\phi_0, \phi_0 + \varepsilon]$ for sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$. Hence, Lemma 3.4 implies that all new arcs are active during this interval contradicting the existence of ϕ_0 .

Nash flows over time decomposition. With the help of the previous lemmas we can decompose the single-commodity Nash flow over time in \overline{G} to obtain a feasible multi-commodity flow over time in the original graph G.

For each thin flow phase $I = [\phi_1, \phi_2)$ with thin flow (x'_e, ℓ'_e) and thin flow decomposition $(x'_j)_{j \in J}$ we set

$$f_{j,e}^+(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x_{j,e}'}{\ell_u'} \quad \text{for } \theta \in [\ell_u(\phi_1), \ell_u(\phi_2)) \quad \text{ and } \quad f_{j,e}^-(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x_{j,e}'}{\ell_v'} \quad \text{for } \theta \in \ell_v(\phi_1), \ell_v(\phi_2))$$

for all $j \in J$ and every $e = uv \in E$. Note that if $\ell'_u = 0$ we have $[\ell_u(\phi_1), \ell_u(\phi_2)) = \emptyset$. We call the family of functions $(f_{j,e}^+, f_{j,e}^-)$ a Nash flow over time decomposition.

Theorem 5.22. -

The Nash flow over time decomposition $(f_{j,e}^+, f_{j_e}^-)$ is a multi-commodity Nash flow over time in the original network.

Proof. Throughout this proof δ_v^- and δ_v^+ denote the incoming and outgoing arcs of v within the original network G by. Since the particles are partitioned into thin flow phases we consider each thin flow phase $I = [\phi_1, \phi_2)$ separately.

Let (x', ℓ') be the corresponding thin flow with thin flow decomposition $(x'_j)_{j \in J}$. Furthermore, we denote the interval of local times of particles in I by $I_v := [\ell_v(\phi_1), \ell_v(\phi_2))$ for every node v.

First, we have to show that the flow over time decompositions form a feasible multi-commodity flow over time. For every $j \in J$ and every node $v \in V \setminus \{t_j\}$ and all $\theta \in I_v$ the flow conservation condition (5.2) holds since

$$\begin{split} \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_{j,e}^-(\theta) &- \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_{j,e}^+(\theta) = \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} \frac{x'_{j,e}}{\ell'_v} - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} \frac{x'_{j,e}}{\ell'_v} \\ &= \frac{1}{\ell'_v} \cdot \left(\sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x'_{j,e} - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x'_{j,e} \right) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s\}, \\ \frac{r_j}{r \cdot \ell'_s} = r_j & \text{if } v = s. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Furthermore, for $x'_e > 0$ we obtain for all $\theta \in I_u$ and $\vartheta = T_e(\theta) \in I_v$ that

$$f_{j,e}^{-}(\theta) = \frac{x'_{j,e}}{\ell'_{v}} = \frac{x'_{e}}{\ell'_{v}} \cdot \frac{x'^{j}_{e}}{\ell'_{u}} \cdot \frac{\ell'_{u}}{x'_{e}} = f_{e}^{-}(\theta) \cdot \frac{f_{j,e}^{+}(\vartheta)}{f_{e}^{+}(\vartheta)}$$

and for $x'_e = 0$ we have $x'_{j,e} = 0$, which implies $f^-_{j,e}(\theta) = 0$. This shows that (5.4) is satisfied. Equation (5.3) follows by Lemma 3.9 since the total flow is a feasible flow over time, and therefore, we have a feasible multi-commodity flow over time. Finally, since

$$F_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) = \int_{0}^{\phi} f_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\xi)) \cdot \ell_{u}'(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{0}^{\phi} x_{e}'^{j}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{0}^{\phi} f_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\xi)) \cdot \ell_{v}'(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = F_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi))$$

we obtain by Lemma 5.3 that $(f_{j,e}^+, f_{j_e}^-)$ is indeed a multi-commodity Nash flow over time.

5.4 Appendix: Technical Proofs

Lemma 5.3. For a feasible multi-commodity flow over time f the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) f is a multi-commodity Nash flow over time.
- (ii) $F_{j,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) = F_{j,e}^-(\ell_{j,v}(\phi))$ for all $e = uv, j \in J$ and all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii): Let $\xi \in [0, \phi]$ be maximal with $F_{j,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\xi)) = F_{j,e}^-(\ell_{j,v}(\phi))$. Such particle ξ exists due to the intermediate value theorem (Theorem 2.2 on page 16), together with the fact that $F_{j,e}^+ \circ \ell_{j,u}$ is continuous and with the following inequality, which follows by the monotonicity of $F_{j,e}^-$ and Lemma 5.1:

$$F_{j,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(0)) = 0 \quad \leq \quad F_{j,e}^-(\ell_{j,v}(\phi)) \quad \leq \quad F_{j,e}^-(T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))) = F_{j,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)).$$

Note that the second inequality holds because of $\ell_{j,v}(\phi) \leq T_{j,e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))$. In the case of $\xi = \phi$ we are done, so suppose $\xi < \phi$. For all particles $\varphi \in (\xi, \phi]$ we know that $T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\varphi)) \neq \ell_{j,v}(\phi)$, since otherwise, we had with Lemma 5.1 that $F_{j,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\varphi)) = F_{j,e}^-(T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\varphi))) = F_{j,e}^-(\ell_{j,v}(\phi))$, which would contradict the maximality of ξ . Hence, e is not active for particles in $(\xi, \phi]$ which implies $f_{j,e}^+(\theta) = 0$ for almost all $\theta \in \ell_{j,u}((\xi, \phi]) = (\ell_{j,u}(\xi), \ell_{j,u}(\phi))$ by (mcN). This leads to

$$F_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) - F_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{j,v}(\phi)) = F_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) - F_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{j,u}(\xi)) = \int_{\ell_{j,u}(\xi)}^{\ell_{j,u}(\phi)} f_{j,e}^{+}(\vartheta) \,\mathrm{d}\vartheta = 0,$$

which shows (ii).

(ii) \Rightarrow (i): Consider a particle ϕ and an arc e = uv such that e is not active for ϕ and j, in other words, $\ell_{j,v}(\phi) < T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))$. Then, the continuity of $\ell_{j,v}$ and $T_e \circ \ell_{j,u}$ implies that there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ with $\ell_{j,v}(\phi + \varepsilon) < T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi - \varepsilon))$ and that e is not active for all particles in $[\phi - \varepsilon, \phi + \varepsilon]$ and j. This, the fact that $f_{j,e}^+$ and $f_{j,e}^-$ are non-negative and Lemma 5.1 gives us

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \int_{\ell_{j,u}(\phi-\varepsilon)}^{\ell_{j,u}(\phi+\varepsilon)} f_{j,e}^{+}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{T_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi-\varepsilon))}^{T_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi+\varepsilon))} f_{j,e}^{-}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \\ &\leq \int_{\ell_{j,v}(\phi+\varepsilon)}^{T_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi+\varepsilon))} f_{j,e}^{-}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \\ &= F_{j,e}^{-}(T_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi+\varepsilon))) - F_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{j,v}(\phi+\varepsilon))) \\ &= F_{j,e}^{+}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi+\varepsilon)) - F_{j,e}^{-}(\ell_{j,v}(\phi+\varepsilon))) \\ &\stackrel{(\mathrm{iii})}{=} 0. \end{split}$$

Hence, $f_{j,e}^+(\theta) = 0$ for almost all $\theta \in [\ell_{j,u}(\phi - \varepsilon), \ell_{j,u}(\phi + \varepsilon)]$. In other words, for almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ it holds that $\theta \notin \ell_{j,u}(\Phi_{j,e}) \Rightarrow f_{j,e}^+(\theta) = 0$. This is true because for $\theta \ge \ell_{j,u}(0)$ we find a particle ϕ with $\ell_{j,u}(\phi) = \theta$, due to the fact that $\ell_{j,u}$ is surjective. This shows that f is a Nash flow over time, which finishes the proof.

- **Theorem 5.7.** For a multi-commodity Nash flow over time f, the derivatives $(x'_{j,e})_{j\in J,e\in E}$ and $(\ell'_{j,v})_{j\in J,v\in V}$ form a multi-commodity thin flow.

Proof. Let $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ be a particle such that for all arcs e = uv and all $j \in J$ the derivatives of $\ell_{j,u}, x_{j,e}, y_{j,e}$ and $T_e \circ \ell_{j,u}$ exist. Furthermore, assume that $x'_{j,e}(\phi) = f^+_{j,e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{j,u}(\phi) = f^-_{j,e}(\ell_{j,v}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{j,v}(\phi)$ and that (mcN) as well as the equation in Lemma 5.5 hold. This is given for almost all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. By (mcN) we have $f^+_{j,e}(\phi) = 0$, and therefore $x'_{i,e}(\phi) = 0$, for all arcs $e \in E \setminus E'_{i,\phi}$, which shows that $(x'_{j,e})_{e \in E}$ is indeed a static flow on $G_{j,\phi}$.

Taking the derivatives of the first equation of (5.6) shows immediately (mcTF1). In oder to show (mcTF2) we add $f_{j,u}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{j,u}(\phi) = x'_{j,e}(\phi)$ to the equation in Lemma 5.5 and obtain

$$f_e^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{j,u}(\phi) = \sum_{i \in J} f_{i,e}^+(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{j,u}(\phi) = x'_{j,e}(\phi) + y'_{j,e}(\phi).$$

Furthermore, by Lemma 3.1 (vii) we have for almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$ that

$$T'_e(\theta) = 1 + q'_e(\theta) = \begin{cases} \max\left\{\frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e}, 1\right\} & \text{ if } q_e(\theta) = 0, \\ \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e} & \text{ else.} \end{cases}$$

Hence,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi} T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) = T'_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{j,u}(\phi) = \begin{cases} \max\left\{\frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi) + y'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\nu_e}, \ell'_{j,u}(\phi)\right\} & \text{ if } q_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) = 0, \\ \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi) + y'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\nu_e} & \text{ else.} \end{cases}$$

This, together with (5.6) and the differentiation rule for a minimum (Lemma 2.3), implies (mcTF2). In oder to prove (mcTF3) suppose $x'_{j,e}(\phi) = f^-_{j,e}(\ell_v(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{j,v}(\phi) > 0$, which implies $f^+_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \ge f^+_{j,e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) > 0$. Since *e* is active for *j* we have $\ell_{j,v}(\phi) = T_e(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))$. Hence,

$$\begin{split} \ell'_{j,v}(\phi) &= \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi)}{f^{-}_{j,e}(\ell_{j,v}(\phi))} \\ &\stackrel{(5.4)}{=} \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi) \cdot f^{+}_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))}{f^{+}_{j,e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) \cdot f^{-}_{e}(\ell_{j,v}(\phi))} \\ &= \frac{\ell'_{j,u}(\phi) \cdot f^{+}_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))}{f^{-}_{e}(\ell_{j,v}(\phi))} \\ &(5.3) \begin{cases} \max\left\{ \ell'_{j,u}(\phi), \frac{\ell'_{j,u}(\phi) \cdot f^{+}_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))}{\nu_{e}} \right\} & \text{if } q_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi)) = 0, \\ \frac{\ell'_{j,u}(\phi) \cdot f^{+}_{e}(\ell_{j,u}(\phi))}{\nu_{e}} & \text{else}, \end{cases} \\ &= \begin{cases} \max\left\{ \ell'_{j,u}(\phi), \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi) + y'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\nu_{e}} \right\} & \text{if } e \in E'_{j,\phi} \backslash E^{*}_{j,\phi}, \\ \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi) + y'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\nu_{e}} & \text{if } e \in E^{*}_{j,\phi}, \end{cases} \\ &= \rho^{\phi}_{j,e} \left(\ell'_{j,u}(\phi), x'_{j,e}(\phi), y'_{j,e}(\phi) \right). \end{split}$$

Thus, (mcTF3) is fulfilled, which finishes the proof.

Lemma 5.9. For every $x' = (x'_{j,e})_{j \in J, e \in E} \in X$ we can construct a vector $(\ell_{j,v})_{j \in J, v \in V}$ of continuous and monotonically increasing functions such that their derivatives $(\ell'_{j,v})_{j \in J, v \in V}$ satisfy (mcTF1) and (mcTF2) for all $\phi \in [0, H]$, where we define

$$\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi) \coloneqq \min \left\{ \left. \varphi \ge 0 \mid \ell_{i,u}(\varphi) = \ell_{j,u}(\phi) \right. \right\} \quad \text{ and } \quad y_{j,e}'(\phi) \coloneqq \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{ \right. j \right.} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^i(\phi))}$$

Furthermore, the mapping $(x'_{j,e})_{j\in J,e\in E} \mapsto (\ell_{j,u})_{j\in J,u\in V}$ is weak-strong continuous.

Proof. We prove the existence by extending the functions step by step. First, we initialize $\ell_{j,v}(0)$ with the shortest distance from s_j to v, only considering the transit times. For technical reasons we define the ℓ -functions also for negative values by setting $\ell_{j,u}(\phi) := \ell_{j,u}(0) - \frac{\phi}{r_j}$ for all $\phi < 0$. Furthermore, we assume that x' is defined on \mathbb{R} with $x'_{j,e}(\phi) = 0$ for all $\phi \notin [0, H]$.

For the extension step suppose that there is a $\theta_0 \ge 0$ such that each earliest arrival time function $\ell_{j,v}$ is already defined on an interval $(-\infty, \phi_{j,v}]$ with $\ell_{j,v}(\phi_{j,v}) = \theta_0$ and that these ℓ -functions satisfy the condition of the lemma on this interval. Clearly, this is given for $\theta_0 = 0$ as (mcTF1) and (mcTF2) only have to hold for non-negative ϕ .

We are going to extend each function $\ell_{j,v}$ such that the properties hold up to some $\theta_0 + \alpha$. For $v = s_j$ we set

$$\ell_{j,s_j}(\phi) \coloneqq \frac{\phi}{r_j}$$

In order to extend $\ell_{j,v}$ for $v \neq s_j$ we consider all incoming arcs $e = uv \in \delta_v^-$ that are active for $\phi_{j,u}$ according to the function values from the past that are defined already. In other words, we define

$$\delta'_{v} \coloneqq \left\{ e = uv \in \delta_{v}^{-} \mid \ell_{j,u}(\phi_{j,u}) + \tau_{e} \leq \ell_{j,v}(\phi_{j,u}) \right\}.$$

Since we consider strictly positive transit times this implies $\ell_{j,v}(\phi_{j,u}) \ge \ell_{j,u}(\phi_{j,u}) + \tau_e = \theta_0 + \tau_e > \theta_0$, and hence, $\phi_{j,v} < \phi_{j,u}$, for all $e = uv \in \delta'_v$. We define for all $\phi \in [\phi_{j,v}, \phi_{j,u})$

$$\phi_{j,u}^{i}(\phi) \coloneqq \min\left\{\varphi \ge 0 \mid \ell_{i,u}(\varphi) = \ell_{j,u}(\phi)\right\} \quad \text{and} \quad y_{j,e}'(\phi) \coloneqq \sum_{i \in J \setminus \left\{j\right\}} x_{i,e}'(\phi_{j,u}^{i}(\phi)) \cdot \frac{\ell_{j,u}'(\phi)}{\ell_{i,u}'(\phi_{j,u}^{i}(\phi))}.$$

Here, $\ell'_{j,u}$ and $\ell'_{i,u}$ are the derivatives of the corresponding functions $\ell_{j,u}$ and $\ell_{i,u}$, which are welldefined on $(-\infty, \phi_{j,u})$ and $(-\infty, \phi^i_{j,u}(\phi_{j,u}))$, respectively, as $\ell_{i,u}(\phi^i_{j,u}(\phi_{j,u})) = \ell_{j,u}(\phi_{j,u}) = \theta_0$. To determine the earliest arrival time of ϕ at v when using arc e = uv we define

$$\rho_{j,e}(\phi) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi) + y_{j,e}(\phi)}{\nu_e} & \text{if } \ell_{j,u}(\phi) + \tau_e < \ell_{j,v}(\phi), \\ \max\left\{ \ell'_{j,u}(\phi), \frac{x'_{j,e}(\phi) + y'_{j,e}(\phi)}{\nu_e} \right\} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Finally, we extend the earliest arrival time $\ell_{j,v}$ for $\phi \in (\phi_{j,v}, \phi_{j,v} + \varepsilon]$ by

$$\ell_{j,v}(\phi) \coloneqq \ell_{j,v}(\phi_{j,v}) + \min_{e \in \delta'_v} \int_{\phi_{j,v}}^{\phi} \rho_{j,e}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi$$

If we choose ε to be small enough, such that $\phi_{j,v} + \varepsilon \leq \phi_{j,u}$ for all u with $uv \in \delta'_v$, the right side is always well-defined. Clearly, the extended function $\ell_{j,v}$ is continuous and monotonically increasing, and by construction it satisfies (mcTF2), since an active arc has a positive waiting time at $\ell_{j,u}(\phi)$ if, and only if, $\ell_{j,u}(\phi) + \tau_e < \ell_{j,v}(\phi)$.

Note that all $\ell'_{j,v}$ are bounded from above, as $x'_{j,e}$ is bounded, and therefore, there exists an $\alpha > 0$ independent of θ_0 such that we can extend all ℓ -functions to $\theta_0 + \alpha$. By iteratively applying this extension step we end up with ℓ -functions that are at least defined on [0, H].

As the procedure only depends on the *x*-functions this construction provides a mapping $x' \mapsto \ell$, which is weak-strong continuous as the integration operator on compact intervals is weak-strong continuous in L^2 as we have shown in Lemma 2.7 on page 21. Furthermore, all operations we used, such as taking sums, minima, maxima and doing time-shifting are continuous mappings when considering the L^2 -norm. As $x' \to \ell$ is a composition of continuous functions with a weak-strong continuous function it is also weak-strong continuous.

Theorem 5.15. -

Consider an acyclic graph G' = (V, E') with sources S, sink t, capacities ν_e and a subset of arcs $E^* \subseteq E'$. Suppose that every node is reachable by some source. Then there exists a thin flow $((x'_j)_{j \in J}, (x'_e)_{e \in E}, (\ell'_v)_{v \in V})$ with resetting on E^* .

Proof. We consider the following compact, convex, and non-empty set

$$X := \left\{ \left. \left((x'_j)_{j \in J}, (x'_e)_{e \in E} \right) \, \middle| \, x'_j \ge 0, \quad \sum_{j \in J} x'_j = 1, \quad (x'_e)_{e \in E} \in X \left(E', (x'_j)_{j \in J} \right) \right\} \right\}$$

and the set-valued map $\Gamma \colon X \to 2^X$ defined by

$$x' \mapsto \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} y' \in X \ \left| \begin{array}{ll} y'_j = 0 & \text{ for all } j \in J \text{ with } \ell'_{s_j} < \frac{x'_j}{r_j}, \\ y'_e = 0 & \text{ for all } e = uv \in E' \text{ with } \ell'_v < \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \end{array} \right\}$$

Here, $(\ell'_v)_{v \in V}$ are the node labels associated with x' given by the following equations

$$\begin{aligned} \ell'_{s_j} &= \min\left(\left\{\frac{x'_j}{r_j}\right\} \cup \left\{\rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) \mid e = us_j \in E'\right\}\right) & \text{ for } j \in J, \\ \ell'_v &= \min_{e = uv \in E'} \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e) & \text{ for } v \in V \setminus S, \end{aligned}$$

which are uniquely defined due to the fact that G' is acyclic. In order to use Kakutani's fixed point theorem, as it is denoted in Theorem 2.9 on page 22, we prove that all conditions are satisfied:

- The set Γ(x') is non-empty, because if we consider exactly the sources with l'_{sj} = x'_j/r_j and the arcs e = uv with l'_v = ρ_e(l'_u, x'_e), then there has to be at least one path P from such a source s_j to the sink t. If we set y'_j = 1 and y'_e = 1 for all arcs e on P and every other value to 0 we obtain an element in Γ(x').
- Clearly, Γ(x') is convex since the sources and arcs that can be used for sending flow are fixed within the set.
- In order to show that { (x', y') | y' ∈ Γ(x) } is closed let (xⁿ, yⁿ)_{n∈ℕ} be a sequence within this set, i.e., yⁿ ∈ Γ(xⁿ). Since both sequences, (xⁿ)_{n∈ℕ} and (yⁿ)_{n∈ℕ}, are contained in the compact set X they both have a limit x* and y* within X. Let (ℓⁿ)_{n∈ℕ} be the sequence of associated node labels of (xⁿ) and ℓ* the node label of x*. Note that the mapping x' → ℓ' is continuous, and therefore, it holds that ℓ* = lim_{n→∞} ℓⁿ.

We now prove that $y^* \in \Gamma(x^*)$. Suppose for contradiction that there is a $j \in J$ with $y_j^* > 0$ and $\ell_{s_j}^* < \frac{x_j^*}{r_j}$. Then there has to be an $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ with $y_j^n > 0$ and $\ell_{s_j}^n < \frac{x_j^n}{r_j}$ for all $n \ge n_0$. But this is a contradiction to $y^n \in \Gamma(x^n)$. Now suppose that there is an arc $e = uv \in E'$ with $y_e^* > 0$ and $\ell_v^* < \rho_e(\ell_u^*, x_e^*)$. But again, since ρ_e is continuous there has to be an $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $y_e^n > 0$ and $\ell_v^n < \rho_e(\ell_u^n, x_e^n)$ for all $n \ge n_0$. Hence, $\{(x', y') \mid y' \in \Gamma(x)\}$ is closed.

Since all conditions for Kakutani's fixed point theorem are satisfied, there has to be a fixed point x^* of Γ . Let ℓ^* be the corresponding node labeling. We show that it satisfies the thin flow conditions (msTF1) to (msTF4). If we have $x_j^* > 0$, then $\ell_{s_j}^* = \frac{x_j^*}{r_j}$ follows from $x^* \in \Gamma(x^*)$ and if $x_j^* = 0$ it holds that $0 \le \ell_{s_j}^* \le \frac{x_j^*}{r_j} = 0$, and therefore, we have equality in both cases, which yields (msTF1). Equations (msTF2) and (msTF3) are satisfied by the construction of ℓ^* . Finally, for every arc $e = uv \in E'$ with $x_e^* > 0$ it holds that $\ell_v^* = \rho_e(\ell_u^*, x_e^*)$ since $x^* \in \Gamma(x^*)$, which shows (msTF4). This shows that x^* together with ℓ^* forms a thin flow with resetting which completes the proof.

Spillback and Kinematic Waves

In the base model the deterministic queuing allows for arbitrarily long queues and congestions will never expand over multiple road segments. This is of course a huge drawback when considering real-world scenarios since long traffic jams are a huge problem in highly congested networks and, in general, they are very important to take into consideration for road planning.

Spillback. As a first aspect, we extend the base model by **spillback**, an effect that can be observed in daily traffic situations. For example, spillback occurs on a highway, when a bottleneck causes a long traffic jam that blocks exits upstream, or during rush hour in a big city where a crossing is impassable due to the congestion on an intersecting road. We incorporate this into the flow over time model by adding a storage capacity to each arc. This way, arcs can become full leading to a reduction of the inflow rate, and thus, causing queues on preceding arcs to grow.

Kinematic waves. Furthermore, traffic congestions are observed to move upstream after a bottleneck has been removed, as vehicles need a certain reaction time to close the gap when a preceding car accelerates. In other words, the gaps between vehicles move backwards over time, which causes a wave-like motion of the congestion. This phenomenon is therefore called **kinematic wave** and it was first studied from a mathematical perspective by Lighthill and Whitham [63, 64]. In order to capture this behavior, we model the gaps between the vehicles by an additional flow over time that travels in the inverse direction and also occupies space on each arc. We will show in an example that this enables us to create the typical real-world phenomenon, where a traffic jam on a highway slowly travels upstream.

It is no surprise that spillback and kinematic waves are of great interest for traffic planners and that these are core features of recent traffic simulation tools. Hence, introducing spillback and kinematic waves is an important step towards closing the gap between mathematical models and simulations. The work presented in this chapter was developed in collaboration with Laura Vargas Koch and the spillback aspect was presented at *ACM-SIAM Symposium on Discrete Algorithms (SODA19)* [87].

6.1 Modeling Kinematic Wave Road Networks

In order to give an intuitive idea of the feature extensions we discuss in this chapter, we extend the basic road model from Section 3.1.

Road model. We consider, once more, a one way road segment (depicted on the left side of Figure 6.1) with a length ℓ , a width or number of lanes w as well as a speed limit v_1 . Furthermore, we consider a maximal exit speed v_2 , with which vehicles leave the segment when the succeeding roads are free. Note that v_2 might be smaller than the speed limit v_1 due to the geometry of succeeding roads, for example intersection with give way signs or tight curves. Finally, we have a gap speed v_{gaps} that describes how fast the gaps between vehicles travel upstream if the road is congested. Traffic scientists often assume this speed to be globally constant at about $15 \frac{\text{km}}{\text{h}}$ [24]. Similar to the base model the incoming and outgoing traffic at time θ is denoted by $f^+(\theta)$ and $f^-(\theta)$ and the length of the traffic jam by $j(\theta)$. Note that this time the traffic jam length might reach the road segment length, which means that the road is fully congested. Furthermore, the width w



Figure 6.1: On the left: A road segment of length ℓ , width w, inflow speed limit v_1 , outflow speed limit v_2 and backwards gap speed v_{gap} . Atomic vehicles enter over time (given by $f^+(\theta)$) and queue up in a traffic jam of length $j(\theta)$ before leaving the arc (denoted by $f^-(\theta)$). On the right: An arc in the flow over time model with spillback and kinematic waves. We consider a transit time θ , a storage capacity σ , in- and outflow capacities ν^+ and ν^- as well as a gap transit time η . A flow over time is represented by the in- and outflow rates $f^+(\theta), f^-(\theta)$, the queue size $z(\theta)$, the arc load $d(\theta)$ and the gap outflow rate $g(\theta)$ for all times $\theta \in [0, \infty)$.

together with the speed limits v_1 and v_2 induces an upper limit on the incoming and outgoing traffic, i.e., an in- and outflow capacity.

After entering, vehicles first traverse the segment with the maximal speed of v_1 until they reach the end of the traffic jam where they wait in line and only move forward with a speed of v_{gap} when there is enough free space in front of them. When reaching the end of the segment the road users first in line can enter the next road segment provided that it is either not full and still has inflow capacity left, or it is full but has a gap at the very beginning. Note that a road is full when the cars in the traffic jam together with the gaps occupy the whole segment, or in other words, when $j(\theta) = \ell$. In this vague model congestions can occupy multiple segments and might even block preceding

In this vague model congestions can occupy multiple segments and might even block preceding intersections. In addition, the free spaces, created by leaving vehicles, need time to traverse the road in the inverse direction and new cars can only enter a full link if one of these spaces reaches the tail. These are the two key properties for spillback and kinematic waves.

Arc model. In the flow over time model (shown on the right side of Figure 6.1) we equip each arc with a transit time τ corresponding to $\frac{v_1}{\ell}$, an in- and outflow capacity ν^+ and ν^- corresponding to $w \cdot v_1$ and $w \cdot v_2$, a storage capacity σ corresponding to $\ell \cdot w$ and a gap transit time η corresponding to $\frac{v_{\text{gap}}}{\ell}$. The flow is represented by an inflow rate $f^+(\theta)$, an outflow rate $f^-(\theta)$ and a point queue $z(\theta)$. The gaps are modeled by a flow over time traversing upstream denoted by a gap outflow rate of $g(\theta)$. The load $d(\theta)$ is the total amount of flow and gaps currently located on the arc and the link is full when this value reaches the storage capacity.

As in the base model, particles first traverse the complete arc, which takes τ time, before they line up at the point queue located right before the head of the arc. In the best case, flow at the front of the queue leaves the arc with a rate of ν^- . But if the inflow rate of a successive arc is exceeded, the outflow rate might be throttled to match this restriction. At every point in time the leaving flow creates a gap flow that traverses from the head to the tail of the arc and occupies space as well. If an arc gets full, i.e., if $d(\theta) = \sigma$, the inflow rate is further restricted and cannot exceed the gap outflow rate at this point in time. In other words, particles can only enter the arc if there is enough free space (enough gaps) arriving at the entrance.

6.2 Flow Dynamics for Spillback and Kinematic Waves

In this section we properly define the flow over time model that implements spillback and kinematic waves based on the intuition given above. As the spillback aspect is essential for modeling kinematic waves, we simply call it **kinematic wave model**. Note that this is a generalization of the base model

as it is always possible to disable both features by setting the inflow capacity large enough and the storage capacity to ∞ . To obtain a model that only implements spillback but not kinematic waves it is possible to choose the gap transit time as 0.

Networks. We consider a network consisting of a directed graph G = (V, E) with a source s and a sink t such that each node is reachable by s. At s we have given a **network push rate** of $R \in (0, \infty)$ and every arc $e \in E$ is equipped with a transit time $\tau_e \in [0, \infty)$, an inflow capacity $\nu_e^+ \in (0, \infty)$, as outflow capacity $\nu_e^- \in (0, \infty)$, a storage capacity $\sigma_e \in (0, \infty]$ as well as a gap transit time $\eta_e \in [0, \infty)$. To ensure that the sum of traversing flow and traversing gaps can never fill up an arc on its own and that for full arcs at least some positive gap flow arrives at the tail, we require the following lower bound on the storage capacity of every arc e.

$$\sigma_e > \nu_e^+ \cdot \tau_e + \max\left\{\nu_e^+, \nu_e^-\right\} \cdot \eta_e.$$
(6.1)

Furthermore, we require the total transit time of each directed cycle to be strictly positive.

Flow over time. As before, a flow over time is a family of locally integrable and bounded functions $f = (f_e^+, f_e^-)_{e \in E}$ that conserves flow on all arcs *e*:

$$F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e) \le F_e^+(\theta) \qquad \text{for all } \theta \in [0,\infty)$$
(6.2)

and at all nodes $v \in V \setminus \{s, t\}$:

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_e^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_e^-(\theta) = 0.$$

Note that this time the **network inflow rate** $r(\theta)$ might be reduced due to spillback, and therefore, we only require

$$r(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{e \in \delta_s^+} f_e^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_s^-} f_e^-(\theta) \in (0, R].$$

Queues, gap flows and arc loads. The **queue** at time θ is, once again, given by

$$z_e(\theta) \coloneqq F_e^+(\theta - \tau_e) - F_e^-(\theta).$$

This time however, a **gap flow** g_e is created whenever flow leaves the arc. Thereby, g_e has the same rate as the outflow rate f_e^- but it travels backwards from the head to the tail in η_e time. We measure this gap flow by the rate of gaps $g_e(\theta)$ that reach the tail. Hence, for all $\theta \ge \eta_e$ we have

$$g_e(\theta) \coloneqq f_e^-(\theta - \eta_e)$$

and for $\theta < \eta_e$ we set $g_e(\theta) \coloneqq 0$. The **total volume of gaps** on an arc *e* is therefore given by

$$G_e(\theta) \coloneqq \int_{\theta}^{\theta + \eta_e} g_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi$$

The **arc load** d_e of an arc e at time θ is the total amount of flow on the arc, traversing or in the queue, plus the total volume of gaps in the arc. More precisely, we have

$$d_e(\theta) \coloneqq F_e^+(\theta) - F_e^-(\theta) + G_e(\theta).$$

We say an arc *e* is **full** at time θ if the load reaches the storage capacity, i.e., if $d_e(\theta) \ge \sigma_e$. However, we will show later on that the arc load can never exceed the storage capacity in a feasible flow over time.

Flow bounds. If there is enough remaining space on an arc the inflow is only bounded by the inflow capacity ν_e^+ , but whenever an arc is full we only allow an inflow rate which is at most the gap rate reaching the tail of the arc. Hence, we define the **inflow bound** by

$$b_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \min \left\{ g_e(\theta), \nu_e^+ \right\} & \text{ if } e \text{ is full at time } \theta, \\ \nu_e^+ & \text{ else.} \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, the **push rate** is the flow rate, with which the flow would leave arc e at time θ if it was not restricted by succeeding arcs. It is defined by

$$b_e^-(\theta) := \begin{cases} \nu_e^- & \text{if } z_e(\theta) > 0, \\ \min\left\{ f_e^+(\theta - \tau_e), \nu_e^- \right\} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Due to spillback, however, it can happen that the actual outflow rate $f_e^-(\theta)$ is strictly smaller than the push rate $b_e^-(\theta)$. In this case we call arc *e* **throttled** at time θ .

Feasibility conditions and spillback factor. In order to be **feasible** a flow over time *f* must satisfy the following four conditions:

• Inflow condition: For all $e \in E$ and all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ we have

$$f_e^+(\theta) \le b_e^+(\theta)$$

Fair allocation condition: For every node v and all times θ ∈ [0,∞) there exists a c ∈ (0,1] such that for all incoming arcs e ∈ δ_v⁻ we have

$$f_e^-(\theta) = \min\left\{ b_e^-(\theta), \nu_e^- \cdot c \right\}.$$

For v = s the network inflow rate must, additionally, satisfy $r(\theta) = R \cdot c$.

- No-slack condition: For every node v and for all times θ ∈ [0,∞) we have that if there is at least one incoming arc that is throttled at time θ then there has to be at least one outgoing arc e ∈ δ⁺_v that satisfies f⁺_e(θ) = b⁺_e(θ).
- No-deadlock condition: At any point in time θ the set of arcs with η_e = 0 that are full at time θ must be cycle free.

For every node v and every time θ we call the maximal value $c \in (0, 1]$ that satisfies the fair allocation condition the **spillback factor** of node v at time θ denoted by $c_v(\theta)$.

In the following we want to give some intuition for all four feasibility conditions. The purpose of the inflow condition is pretty clear. As discussed above, in order to model spillback the inflow rate needs to be restricted not only by the inflow capacity but also by the gap flow in the case that the arc is full. The intuitive idea behind the fair allocation condition is the following. Whenever the total outgoing flow of node v (sum of all inflow rates of all outgoing arcs) is restricted, for example, because a succeeding arc is full, all incoming flow of v needs to merge. To obtain a fair allocation we allow an outflow rate of each incoming arc proportional to its outflow capacity. This time a link with large



Figure 6.2: In the case that the total push rate exceeds the total outgoing flow of a node v we need to throttle the incoming arcs to preserve flow conservation. For this we determine a value c such that the fair allocation condition is satisfied. We imagine values after each incoming arc that are shut at the beginning. By gradually increasing c from 0 to 1 we open the values proportionally to the outflow capacities, i.e., the width of the value of e equals $c \cdot \nu_e^-$. We stop at the maximal value such that the total incoming flow through the values matches the total outgoing flow. This number is called spillback factor and in this example we have $c_v(\theta) = \frac{3}{4}$.

outflow capacity can send more flow into v than a link with small outflow capacity. Figuratively speaking, one can imagine a valve right behind the bottleneck of each incoming arc as it is depicted in Figure 6.2. For c = 0 these valves are completely closed. By increasing c in a continuous way we open the valves proportionally to the outflow capacities until the total incoming flow of v matches the total outflow of v, such that the flow conservation holds. For c = 1 the outflow of each arc in δ_v^- is not restricted at all, and therefore, it matches the push rate.

The reason for the no-slack condition is simple. If some incoming arc e of some node v is throttled (which can only happen if $c_v(\theta) < 1$) then there has to be a reason for this. The only possible reason is, that there is an outgoing arc for which the amount of flow that desires to enter this arc exceeds the inflow bound. Hence, this happens exactly when we have spillback. But whenever there is no restriction on any outgoing arc, no incoming arc should be throttled.

Finally, the no-deadlock condition has a more technical reason. To ensure that the spillback factor $c_v(\theta)$ is always well-defined and strictly positive the inflow bounds $b_{e_1}^+$ of all outgoing arcs $e_1 \in \delta_v^+$ of node v should not directly depend on the outflow rate $f_{e_2}^-(\theta)$ of some incoming arc $e_2 \in \delta_v^-$. To illustrate the issue, consider a directed cycle of, lets say, three arcs e_1, e_2, e_3 that are full at some point in time θ and suppose the gap transit times of all three arcs are 0. If in this setting all particles want to stay in the cycle (and no external flow wants to enter) then the other feasibility conditions would imply that

$$f_{e_1}^+(\theta) = f_{e_1}^-(\theta) = f_{e_2}^+(\theta) = f_{e_2}^-(\theta) = f_{e_3}^+(\theta) = f_{e_3}^-(\theta).$$

This can easily be seen as the inflow condition would imply that the inflow rate $f_{e_1}^+(\theta)$ is smaller or equal to the inflow bound $b_{e_1}^+(\theta)$, which itself is smaller or equal to $g_{e_1}(\theta) = f_{e_1}^-(\theta)$. But by the flow conservation we have $f_{e_1}^-(\theta) = f_{e_2}^+(\theta)$, which again has to be smaller or equal to the inflow bound of e_2 . Continuing the argumentation around the cycle shows that all in- and outflow rates have to be equal. Note, however, that this common flow rate is not uniquely determined. In fact, any flow rate strictly larger than 0 but less than the smallest capacity in the cycle (counting in- and outflow capacities) would lead to a feasible flow over time. In principal this would be fine, even though we prefer a unique flow over time for given route choices of the particles. However, as soon as some external flow would try to enter the cycle, everything would come to a complete stop, causing all in- and outflow to be equal to 0. In order to keep the theory as comprehensible as possible we exclude these **strong deadlocks** from the model and require instead the property that, whenever there is a queue on an arc, there has to be some positive outflow rate (see Lemma 6.2).

99

Note, however, that we allow for **weak deadlocks**. If at least one of the arcs in the cycle has a positive gap transit time, the inflow bound of some arc $e_1 \in \delta_v^+$ does not depend on the outflow rate of an arc $e_2 \in \delta_v^-$ at the very same point in time. This ensures that at least some small flow rate can leave each arc, even though this rate converges to 0 over time. In this scenario we will end up with infinite waiting times, but at least the outflow rate at each arc is always strictly positive. It is worth noting, that even though this extreme case can be handled by the model, for a Nash flow over time neither the hard deadlock nor the soft deadlock ever occur.

The four feasibility conditions above suffice to show the following.

Lemma 6.1. Given a feasible flow over time f, the following holds for all arcs e and all times θ :

- (i) Outflow capacity condition: $f_e^-(\theta) \le \nu_e^-$.
- (ii) Non-deficit condition: $z_e(\theta) \ge 0$.
- (iii) Storage condition: $d_e(\theta) \leq \sigma_e$.

Proof.

- (i) The outflow capacity condition follows immediately from the fair allocation condition.
- (ii) Assume for contradiction that $z_e(\theta) < 0$ at some point in time θ . Since z_e is continuous there exists an interval $(\theta_0, \theta_1]$ with $z_e(\theta_0) = 0$ and $z_e(\theta) < 0$ for all $\theta \in (\theta_0, \theta_1]$. By the fair allocation condition and the definition of the push rate for the case of $z_e(\theta) \le 0$ it follows that $f_e^-(\theta) \le b_e^-(\theta) \le f_e^+(\theta - \tau_e)$ for all $\theta \in [\theta_0, \theta_1]$. This leads to a contradiction as

$$0 > z_e(\theta_1) - z_e(\theta_0) = \int_{\theta_0}^{\theta_1} f_e^+(\xi - \tau_e) - f_e^-(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \ge 0.$$

(iii) Assume for contradiction that $d_e(\theta) > \sigma_e$ at some point in time θ . By the continuity of d_e and the fact that $d_e(0) = 0$ it follows that there exists an interval $(\theta_0, \theta]$ with $d_e(\theta_0) = \sigma_e$ and $d_e(\theta) > \sigma_e$ for all $\theta \in (\theta_0, \theta]$. The inflow condition yields that $f_e^+(\theta) \le g_e(\theta)$ for all $\theta \in [\theta_0, \theta]$. This leads to a contradiction since

$$0 < d_e(\theta) - d_e(\theta_0) = \int_{\theta_0}^{\theta} f_e^+(\xi) - f_e^-(\xi) + g_e(\xi + \eta_e) - g_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{\theta_0}^{\theta} f_e^+(\xi) - g_e(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \le 0.$$

Note that (ii) is equivalent to the flow conservation on arcs (6.2). But for the proof we do not use flow conservation on arcs, and therefore the feasibility conditions imply (6.2), exactly as it is the case in the base model.

Congestion suffix. In order to consider gaps in traffic congestions over multiple arcs we need the following definition. A **congestion suffix at time** θ_1 is a path (e_1, \ldots, e_k) such that for all $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, k-1\}$ we have that e_i is full at time θ_i with $f_{e_i}^+(\theta_i) = b_{e_i}^+(\theta_i)$ and was throttled at time $\theta_{i+1} := \theta_i - \eta_{e_i}$. Furthermore, arc e_k is not full at time θ_k or was not throttled at time $\theta_k - \eta_{e_k}$, but is also holds that $f_{e_k}^+(\theta_k) = b_{e_k}^+(\theta_k)$.

We can prove that every full arc is part of a congestion suffix, which helps us to show that whenever an arc has a positive queue it also has a positive outflow rate. This property will be important later on. Furthermore, we show that full arcs always have a positive queue.
Lemma 6.2. For a feasible flow over time f the following statements hold for all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$:

- (i) If e is full at time θ we have $z_e(\theta) > 0$.
- (ii) If e is full at time θ we have $z_e(\theta \eta_e) > 0$.
- (iii) Every arc that is full at time θ with $f_e^+(\theta) = b_e^+(\theta)$ is part of a (finite) congestion suffix.
- (iv) There is a function $\varepsilon : [0, \infty) \to (0, 1)$ depending only on the network but not on f such that every arc e with $z_e(\theta) > 0$ satisfies $f_e^-(\theta) \ge \varepsilon(\theta)$ and $b_e^+(\theta) \ge \varepsilon(\theta)$.

The proofs of (i) and (ii) follow immediately from the lower bound on the storage capacity (6.1) and (iii) can be shown from the definition of congestion suffixes in combination with the no-deadlock condition. Finally, (iv) follows by induction along a congestion suffix. As such suffixes can extend over cycles multiple times, the lower bound on the outflow rate does not only depend on the network but also on the time that has passed since flow has been sent into the network. The formal proofs can be found in the appendix on page 115.

Waiting times. To determine the time a particle spends in the queue we follow a similar approach as introduced for time-dependent capacities in Chapter 4. Note that due to spillback the arc might be throttled during the waiting period, and therefore, the outflow capacity and the queue size alone do not provide the necessary information to determine the waiting time. Instead, we need to consider the actual outflow rate. Hence, for a given feasible flow over time *f* the waiting time function $q_e : [0, \infty) \rightarrow [0, \infty]$ of an arc *e* is defined by

$$q_e(\theta) \coloneqq \min\left\{ q \ge 0 \left| \int_{\theta+\tau_e}^{\theta+\tau_e+q} f_e^-(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = z_e(\theta+\tau_e) \right\}.$$

Note that it might be the case that $\int_{\theta+\tau_e}^{\infty} f_e^-(\xi) d\xi < z_e(\theta+\tau_e)$. In this case we define $q_e(\theta) \coloneqq \infty$. Exit times. Similar to the base model we can now define the exit times $T_e \colon [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty]$ by

$$T_e(\theta) := \theta + \tau_e + q_e(\theta).$$

Note that if $q_e(\theta) = \infty$ the exit time also equals ∞ .

With all these definitions we can show next that Lemma 3.1 can be transferred to this kinematic wave model with only some minor changes.

Lemma 6.3. For a feasible flow over time f it holds for all $e \in E$, $v \in V$ and $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that:

(i)
$$q_e(\theta) > 0 \iff z_e(\theta + \tau_e) > 0.$$

- (ii) $z_e(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) > 0$ for all $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$.
- (iii) $F_e^+(\theta) = F_e^-(T_e(\theta))$ whenever $T_e(\theta) < \infty$.
- (iv) For $\theta_1 < \theta_2$ with $F_e^+(\theta_2) F_e^+(\theta_1) = 0$ and $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e) > 0$ we have $T_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_2)$.
- (v) If $T_e(\theta) < \infty$ and $f_e^-(T_e(\theta)) = 0$ then $F_e^+(\theta + q_e(\theta)) F_e^+(\theta) = 0$.
- (vi) If $T_e(\theta) < \infty$ the push rate functions satisfy

$$b_{e}^{-}(T_{e}(\theta)) = \begin{cases} \nu_{e}^{-} & \text{if } F_{e}^{+}(\theta + q_{e}(\theta)) - F_{e}^{+}(\theta) > 0, \\ \min \{ f_{e}^{+}(T_{e}(\theta) - \tau_{e}), \nu_{e}^{-} \} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

- (vii) The functions T_e are monotonically increasing.
- (viii) The functions T_e and q_e are differentiable at almost all θ with $q_e(\theta) < \infty$.
- (ix) For almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$ with $q_e(\theta) < \infty$ we have

$$q'_e(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{f_e^-(T_e(\theta))} - 1 & \text{if } f_e^-(T_e(\theta)) > 0, \\ -1 & \text{else if } z_e(\theta + \tau_e) > 0, \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Even though the results are basically the same as the statements of Lemma 3.1, the proofs are more sophisticated in most cases. They can be found with all technical details in the appendix on page 116.

Example. One of the main features we want to capture with the kinematic wave model are the congestion waves that can be observed in real-world traffic. These occur when there is a temporary bottleneck on a heavily frequented highway. The bottleneck creates a traffic jam but even after the bottleneck is removed the congestion persists and moves slowly upstream. This is a phenomenon that cannot be modeled in the base model or a spillback model without kinematic waves. However, as the example in Figure 6.3 shows, this is exactly what happens in the kinematic wave model. Note that arcs downstream remain full, but after some point in time they do not throttle the preceding arc anymore and a big part of the arc load is due to the gap flow. In other words, road users would not experience these arcs as full as there is less traffic and no rate reduction.



Figure 6.3: Example of a backwards moving wave over time (*fist left column from top to bottom then right column from top to bottom*). An inflow rate of 2 enters a long road that is congested due to some temporary bottleneck (during $\theta < 0$). Every road segment is identical with $\tau_e = \eta_e = \nu^+ = \nu^- = 2$ and $\sigma_e = 9$. Thick blue lines correspond to a flow rate of 2 and thin blue lines to a rate of 1. Within each node we display the throughput rate from this time onwards up to the next time step. Below each arc the gap flow is visualized. Arcs that are full but do not throttle the preceding arc are labeled with a gray "full". After the bottleneck is removed at time 0 the flow can leave the network with rate 2 but due to the kinematic waves it takes time until the flow rate upstream benefits from this.

6.3 Nash Flows Over Time

In this section we define Nash flows over time in the kinematic wave model and transfer the main results from the base model. We keep the structure very similar to the base version but most of the proofs are much more sophisticated than before.

Earliest arrival times. To determine at which time a particle $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ can arrive at some node v for a given feasible flow over time f we first have to determine the earliest time this particle can enter the network at s. This is given by the **source arrival time** defined by

$$\ell_s(\phi) \coloneqq \min\left\{ \left. \theta \ge 0 \right| \int_0^\theta r(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi = \phi \right\}.$$
(6.3)

This is basically the same as if particle ϕ stands in a queue right before the source at time 0 with all particles $[0, \phi)$ in front of it. For all other nodes $v \in V \setminus \{s\}$ we define the **earliest arrival time** by

$$\ell_v(\phi) \coloneqq \min_{\substack{e=uv \in \delta_v^-, \\ \ell_u(\phi) < \infty}} T_e(\ell_u(\phi)).$$
(6.4)

If the minimum is empty we set $\ell_v(\phi) \coloneqq \infty$. Clearly, ℓ_v is monotone and almost everywhere differentiable on the set { $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} | \ell_v(\phi) < \infty$ } as it is a minimum of functions with these properties; see Lemma 2.3 and Lemma 6.3 (vii) and (viii).

Active, resetting and spillback arcs. The sets of active and resetting arcs ar, once more, given by

$$\begin{split} E'_{\phi} &\coloneqq \{ \, e = uv \in E \mid \ell_u(\phi) < \infty \text{ and } \ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \, \} \\ \text{and} \quad E^*_{\phi} &\coloneqq \{ \, e = uv \in E \mid \ell_u(\phi) < \infty \text{ and } q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0 \, \} \,. \end{split}$$

Clearly, the **current shortest paths network** $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$ is cycle free for every $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$, since we require the sum of transit times in each cycle to be strictly positive. Furthermore, we call arcs that are full at $\ell_u(\phi)$ spillback arcs denoted by

$$\bar{E}_{\phi} \coloneqq \{ e = uv \mid \ell_u(\phi) < \infty \text{ and } d_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \sigma_e \}.$$

Dynamic equilibria. Again, a dynamic equilibrium is a feasible flow over time where almost every particle chooses a fastest route from s to t. As the active arcs once more indicate which paths are the fastest the definition of Nash flows over time is exactly the same as in the base model.

Definition 6.4 (Nash flow over time in the kinematic wave model).

A feasible flow over time f in the kinematic wave model is a **Nash flow over time**, also called **dynamic equilibrium**, if the following **Nash flow condition** holds:

 $f_e^+(\theta) > 0 \implies \theta \in \ell_u(\Phi_e)$ for all arcs $e = uv \in E$ and almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$, (N)

where
$$\Phi_e \coloneqq \{ \phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid e \in E'_{\phi} \}$$
 is the set of flow particles for which arc *e* is active.

As a first important step, we show that the earliest arrival times in a Nash flow over time will never be ∞ , and therefore, user equilibria do not create any deadlocks.

Theorem 6.5.

Given a Nash flow over time in the kinematic wave model, for every $e \in E$ and $v \in V$ we have that $q_e(\theta), T_e(\theta), \ell_v(\theta) < \infty$ for all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$.

Proof. In order to simplify the proof we assume that all outgoing arcs from s have inflow capacities greater or equal to the network push rate R and infinite storage capacities. This ensures that the network inflow rate will never be throttled, i.e., $r(\phi) = R$ for all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. This assumption is without loss of generality, since we can always modify the network by adding a new source and a new arc $e^* = s^*s$ with $\nu_{e^*}^+ = \nu_{e^*}^- = R$, $\tau_{e^*} = \eta_{e^*} = 0$ and $\sigma_{e^*} = \infty$. Nash flows over time will then be exactly the same in the new network and the only difference is that, when we have spillback on the original source s, the flow queues on the new arc e^* instead of outside of the network.

With this assumption we first show that $\ell_v(\phi) < \infty$. Assume for contradiction that there is a first particle ϕ_0 where some ℓ -label equal ∞ . Since we have $\ell_s(\phi_0) = \frac{\phi_0}{R}$ by our assumption, there has to be some arc e = uv with $\ell_u(\phi_0) < \infty = \ell_v(\phi_0)$, and thus $q_e(\ell_u(\phi_0)) = \infty$. This is only possible if $f_e^-(\xi) \to 0$ for $\xi \to \infty$. In other words, for some $\xi_0 > 0$ arc e would be throttled for all times $\xi > \xi_0$. Consequently, for each $\xi \ge \xi_0$ there has to be some arc $e' \in \delta_v^+$ that is full due to the no-slack condition. For some $\varepsilon < \min \{ \sigma_{e'} - \nu_{e'}^- \cdot \eta_{e'} \mid e' \in E \}$ we consider the particle $\phi_1 \coloneqq \phi_0 - \varepsilon$, for which $\ell_t(\phi_1) < \infty$. At time $\ell_t(\phi_1)$ all particles $[0, \phi_1)$ have left the network, and therefore, the amount of flow in the network that is in front of particle ϕ_0 equals ε at this point in time. But this is a contradiction since for every arc $e' \in \delta_e^+$ that is full at time $\ell_t(\phi_1)$ we have

$$\sigma_{e'} = d_{e'}(\ell_t(\phi_1)) \le \varepsilon + G_{e'}(\ell_t(\phi_1)) < \varepsilon + \nu_e^- \cdot \eta_e < \sigma_{e'}.$$

Hence, $\ell_v(\phi) < \infty$ for all $v \in V$ and all ϕ . It follows that this also holds for $q_e(\theta)$ and $T_e(\theta)$ for all $e \in E$ at all times θ .

With this, Lemma 3.3 transfers to the kinematic wave model one-to-one with the exact same proof, which can be found in the appendix of Chapter 3 on page 47. In particular, we have that a feasible flow over time f is a Nash flow over time if, and only if,

$$F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))$$
 for all arcs $e = uv$ and all particles ϕ .

The active, resetting and spillback arcs in a Nash flow over time have the following properties.

Lemma 6.6. *Given a Nash flow over time the following holds for all times* θ *:*

- (i) $E_{\phi}^* \subseteq E_{\phi}'$.
- (ii) $E'_{\phi} = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) \ge \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e \}.$
- (iii) $E_{\phi}^* = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) > \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e \}.$

(iv)
$$\overline{E}_{\phi} \subseteq E'_{\phi}$$
.

(v) $\ell_u(\phi) < \ell_v(\phi)$ for all $e = uv \in \overline{E}_{\phi}$.

The proofs of (i) to (iii) are exactly the same as for the base model (see Lemma 3.4) and can be found on page 49. The last two statements follow with some elementary calculations and Lemma 6.2. The details can be found in the appendix on page 118.

Underlying static flow. In order to obtain some structural insight into Nash flows over time we define, as in the base model, the **underlying static flow** for particle ϕ by

$$x_e(\phi) \coloneqq F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)).$$

For every particle ϕ we have that $(x_e(\phi))_{e \in E}$ is, once more, a static *s*-*t*-flow of value ϕ and by taking the derivatives $(x'_e(\phi))_{e \in E}$ we obtain a static *s*-*t*-flow of value 1 with

$$x'_{e}(\phi) = f^{+}_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{u}(\phi) = f^{-}_{e}(\ell_{v}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{v}(\phi).$$
(6.5)

6.4 Spillback Thin Flows

In order to show the existence of Nash flows over time in the kinematic wave model, we show that the derivatives of the underlying static $(x'_e(\phi))_{e \in E}$, corresponding to the strategy of the particles, together with the node labels $(\ell'_v(\phi))_{v \in V}$ and the newly introduced spillback factors $(c_v(\phi))_{v \in V}$ form a spillback thin flow. For a proper definition consider an acyclic directed graph G' = (V, E') with a source s and a sink t where all nodes are reachable from s. Every arc e is equipped with an outflow capacity $\nu_e^- > 0$ and an inflow bound $b_e^+ > 0$. Additionally, we are given a subset of arcs $E^* \subseteq E'$ and a network push rate R.

Definition 6.7 (Spillback thin flow). -

A static *s*-*t*-flow $(x'_e)_{e \in E}$ of value 1 together with two node labelings $\ell'_v \ge 0$ and $c_v \in (0, 1]$, for all $v \in V$, is a **spillback thin flow** with resetting on E^* if it fulfills the following conditions:

$$\ell'_s = \frac{1}{c_s \cdot R},\tag{sTF1}$$

$$\ell'_{v} = \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}, x'_{e}, c_{v}) \quad \text{ for } v \in V \setminus \{s\},$$
(sTF2)

$$\begin{aligned} \ell'_v &= \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v) & \text{for } e = uv \in E' \text{ with } x'_e > 0, & \text{(sTF3)} \\ \ell'_v &\geq \max_{e=vw \in E'} \frac{x'_e}{b_e^+} & \text{for } v \in V, & \text{(sTF4)} \end{aligned}$$

for
$$v \in V$$
, (sTF4)

$$\int_{v} = \max_{e=vw \in E'} \frac{x'_e}{b_e^+} \quad \text{for } v \in V \text{ with } c_v < 1, \quad (\text{sTF5})$$

where

$$\rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{x'_e}{c_v \cdot v_e^-} & \text{if } e = uv \in E^*, \\ \max\left\{ \ell'_u, \frac{x'_e}{c_v \cdot v_e^-} \right\} & \text{if } e = uv \in E' \backslash E^*. \end{cases}$$

Note that the inflow bounds b_e^+ are part of the input similar to the outflow capacities ν_e^- . During the construction of a Nash flow over time we will set $b_e^+ = b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ for all e = uv.

Similar to the base model, we have Condition (sTF2) to ensure that the node label ℓ'_v corresponds to the slope of the earliest arrival time, Condition (sTF1) to make sure that ℓ'_s denotes the derivative of the source arrival time and Condition (sTF3) to guarantee that flow is only sent along arcs that stay active during the phase. Since the outflow capacities might be reduced due to spillback, we multiply them by the spillback factors c_v , which are additional parameters of the spillback thin flow.

However, we have two new conditions for every node v this time, which set the node label ℓ_v' in correlation to the outgoing arcs $e = vw \in \delta_v^+$. To ensure that the outflow rate $f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi)) = \frac{x_e^{i}(\phi)}{\ell'_v(\phi)}$ stays smaller than the inflow bound $b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ we require $\ell'_v \geq \frac{x'_e}{b^+}$ in (sTF4). If spillback occurs, which implies that $c_v < 1$, Condition (sTF5) provides that the no-slack condition is satisfied, since $l'_v = \frac{x'_e}{b^+}$ means that $f^+_e(\ell_v(\phi)) = b^+_e(\ell_v(\phi))$.

We also want to present another perspective: If we only consider (sTF1) to (sTF3) and set all spillback factors c_v to 1, we get exactly a thin flow with resetting in the base model (see Theorem 3.5 on page 33), where the ℓ'_v -labels are uniquely defined (Proposition 3.8 on page 36). So it might happen that the inflow rate exceeds the inflow bound on some arcs. Hence, we introduce (sTF4) as a lower bound on ℓ'_v . But since the labels in the base model are unique and they might not satisfy the added lower bounds, we could not guarantee existence anymore. Introducing the spillback factors c_v as additional parameters enables the thin flow to reduce the effective capacity ($c_v \cdot \nu_e^-$) on each arc, and therefore, to increase the node label ℓ'_v until it satisfies the lower bound of (sTF4). Finally, to ensure that the effective capacity is not reduced unnecessarily, we include (sTF5) to ensure that if c_v is reduced then only to the point that (sTF4) is tight.

In order to show this intuition mathematically we first show that the derivatives of a Nash flow over time in the kinematic wave model are indeed spillback thin flows.

- Theorem 6.8. -

For almost all $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ the derivatives $x'_e(\phi)$ and $\ell'_v(\phi)$ of a Nash flow over time f together with the spillback factors $c_v(\ell_v(\phi))$ form a spillback thin flow on the current shortest paths network $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$ with resetting on E^*_{ϕ} and inflow bounds $b^+_e(\ell_u(\phi))$.

Proof. We fix a particle ϕ such that for all $e = uv \in E$ the derivatives of x_e , ℓ_v and $T_e \circ \ell_u$ exist and $x'_e(\phi) = f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_v(\phi) = f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u(\phi)$. Note that almost all particles satisfy these conditions. For the sake of readability, let $\ell'_v \coloneqq \ell'_v(\phi)$, $x'_e \coloneqq x'_e(\phi)$, $c_v \coloneqq c_v(\ell_v(\phi))$, $b_e^+ \coloneqq b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$, $E' \coloneqq E'_{\phi}$ and $E^* \coloneqq E^*_{\phi}$.

(sTF1) By (6.3) we have that $\int_0^{\ell_s(\phi)} r(\xi) d\xi = \phi$. Taking the derivative yields $r(\ell_s(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_s(\phi) = 1$, and therefore, the fair allocation condition implies

$$\ell_s'(\phi) = \frac{1}{r(\ell_s(\phi))} = \frac{1}{R \cdot c_s(\ell_s(\phi))}$$

(sTF2) Applying the differentiation rule for a minimum (see Lemma 2.3 on page 17) on (6.4) yields

$$\ell'_v = \min_{e=uv \in E'} T'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u.$$

Note that E' is precisely the set of arcs with $\ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi))$, and therefore, exactly these arcs need to be considered for the derivative. In the following we analyze the derivative of $T_e(\phi) = \phi + \tau_e + q_e(\phi)$ at the point $\ell_u(\phi)$ for active arcs $e = uv \in E'$. Lemma 6.3 (ix) yields

$$T'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \begin{cases} \frac{f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))}{f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))} & \text{ if } f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) > 0, \\ 0 & \text{ else if } z_e(\ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e) > 0, \\ 1 & \text{ else.} \end{cases}$$

First, we consider the case that $f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) = 0$, which implies that $x'_e = 0$, and hence,

$$T'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} 0 & \text{if } q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0, \\ \ell'_u & \text{else,} \end{array} \right\} = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v).$$

Next, we consider the case that $f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) > 0$ and $x'_e = 0$. If $e \notin E^*$, we have

$$f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi) - \tau_e) \ge b_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) \ge f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) > 0,$$

which implies $\ell'_u = \frac{x'_e}{f^+_e(\ell_u(\phi))} = 0$. In both cases, whether $e \in E^*$ or not, we have

$$T'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u = \frac{x'_e}{f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))} = 0 = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v).$$

Finally, we consider $f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) > 0$ and $x'_e > 0$. This implies that $x_e(\phi) = F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ is strictly increasing in $[\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi) + \varepsilon]$, and therefore $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi) + q_e(\ell_u(\phi))) - F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0$ if, and only if, $q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0$. Together with Lemma 6.3 (vi) we obtain

$$b_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) = \begin{cases} \nu_e^- & \text{if } e \in E^*, \\ \min \{ f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)), \nu_e^- \} & \text{if } e \in E' \backslash E^*. \end{cases}$$

Hence,

$$T'_{e}(\ell_{u}(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_{u} = \frac{x'_{e}}{f_{e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi))} = \frac{x'_{e}}{\min\{c_{v} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-}, b_{e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi))\}} = \begin{cases} \frac{x'_{e}}{c_{v} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-}} & \text{if } e \in E^{*} \\ \max\left\{\frac{x'_{e}}{f_{e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi))}, \frac{x'_{e}}{c_{v} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-}}\right\} & \text{if } e \in E' \setminus E^{*} \end{cases}$$

$$= \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}, x'_{e}, c_{v}).$$
(6.6)

In summary, we obtain

$$\ell'_v = \min_{e=uv \in E'} T'_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_u = \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v)$$

(sTF3) For $x'_e = f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_v > 0$ we have $\ell'_v = \frac{x'_e}{f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi))} \stackrel{(6.6)}{=} \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v).$

(sTF4) By the inflow condition we obtain for all arcs e = vw that $x'_e = f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_v \le b_e^+ \cdot \ell'_v$.

(sTF5) Suppose we have $c_v < 1$. The maximality of c_v implies that there has to be at least one incoming throttled arc and by the no-slack condition there has to be an outgoing arc e = vw with $f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi)) = b_e^+$. Hence, $x'_e = f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi)) \cdot \ell'_v = b_e^+ \cdot \ell'_v$. Together with (sTF4) we obtain (sTF5). \Box

6.5 Existence of Spillback Thin Flows

In this section we show that for all acyclic current shortest paths networks G' = (V, E') with arbitrary capacities, outflow bounds and resetting arcs E^* there always exists a spillback thin flow. Unfortunately, Kakutani's fixed point theorem does not suffice to show this anymore, but we use a finite dimensional variational inequality and the corresponding nonlinear complementarity problem instead.

Variational inequality and nonlinear complementarity. As described in Section 2.5.1 the variational inequality problem $VI(X, \Gamma)$ for a finite index set I and a given subset $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{I}$ as well as a mapping $\Gamma \colon X \to \mathbb{R}^{I}$ is the following.

Find
$$x \in X$$
 such that $(y - x)^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \Gamma(x) \ge 0$ for all $y \in X$. (VI)

The set of points that solves this variational inequality is denoted by $SOL(X, \Gamma)$ and, in order to show that this set contains at least one element, we have to ensure that X is non-empty, compact and convex and that Γ is continuous, as we can then apply Theorem 2.6 (see page 19).

Recall that whenever $X = \bigotimes_{i \in I} [0, M_i]$ is a box then, given a solution of the variational inequality $x^* \in \text{SOL}(X, \Gamma)$, we have that for every $i \in I$ with $x_i^* < M_i$ the **nonlinear complementarity** holds:

$$\Gamma_i(x^*) \ge 0$$
 and $x_i^* \cdot \Gamma_i(x^*) = 0.$ (NCP)

In order to define X and Γ for our purpose let $\overline{V} := \{ \overline{v} \mid v \in V \}$ be a copy of the set of nodes V and let $I := E' \cup V \cup \overline{V}$ be the index set. We will later see that the index $e \in E'$ corresponds to x'_e , the index $v \in V$ to ℓ'_v and the index $\overline{v} \in \overline{V}$ to β_v , which itself corresponds bijectively to c_v . With

$$u_{\min}^- \coloneqq \min_{e \in E'} \nu_e^-, \qquad \nu_{\max}^- \coloneqq \max_{e \in E'} \nu_e^- \quad \text{and} \quad b_{\min}^+ = \min_{e \in E'} b_e^+$$

we define

$$M \coloneqq \max\left\{ 1, \frac{R}{\nu_{\min}^{-n}}, \frac{1}{b_{\min}}, \frac{\nu_{\max}^{-} \cdot |E'|}{R \cdot b_{\min}^{+}} \right\},$$
(6.7)
$$X \coloneqq \left\{ \left(x', \ell', \beta \right) \in \mathbb{R}^{I} \middle| \begin{array}{c} 0 \le x'_{e} \le 4M^{2} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-} & \text{for all } e \in E' \\ 0 \le \ell'_{v} \le 3M^{2} & \text{for all } v \in V \\ 0 \le \beta_{v} \le \log(2M \cdot R) & \text{for all } \bar{v} \in \bar{V} \end{array} \right\},$$
$$\left\{ \frac{x'_{e}}{e^{-\beta_{v}} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-}} - \ell'_{v} & \text{if } i = e = uv \in E^{*}, \\\max\left\{ \ell'_{u}, \frac{x'_{e}}{e^{-\beta_{v}} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-}} \right\} - \ell'_{v} & \text{if } i = e = uv \in E' \setminus E^{*}, \\\max\left\{ \ell'_{u}, \frac{x'_{e}}{e^{-\beta_{v}} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-}} \right\} - \ell'_{v} & \text{if } i = v \in V \setminus \{s, t\},$$

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_i(x',\ell',\beta) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \sum_{e \in \delta_v} & e \in \delta_v \\ \sum_{e \in \delta_t^-} & x'_e - \sum_{e \in \delta_t^+} x'_e - 1 & \text{if } i = t \in V, \\ \ell'_s - \frac{1}{e^{-\beta_s} \cdot R} & \text{if } i = s \in V, \\ \ell'_v - \max_{e \in \delta_v^+} \frac{x'_e}{b_e^+} & \text{if } i = \bar{v} \in \bar{V}. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Note that the e in $e^{-\beta_s}$ stands for the Euler constant. Even though e is still also used for arcs, it should be very clear from the context whether e denotes the Euler constant.

Since X is convex and compact and Γ is continuous Theorem 2.6 states that there exists a solution $(x', \ell', \beta) \in SOL(X, \Gamma)$.

In order to show that this solution corresponds to a spillback thin flow we need the nonlinear complementarity property. Therefore, we first show that the components of (x', ℓ', β) do not hit the upper boundaries of the box X.

Lemma 6.9. For every solution $(x', \ell', \beta) \in SOL(X, \Gamma)$ we have

- (i) $x'_e < 4M^2 \cdot \nu_e^-$ for every arc e,
- (ii) $\ell'_v < 3M^2$ for every node $v \in V$,
- (iii) $\beta_v < \log(2M \cdot R)$ for every node $v \in V \setminus \{s\}$ with $\sum_{e \in \delta_u^+} x'_e > 0$.

The proof basically works the following way. We first assume that one component hits the upper boundary, then we define a point in X that equals the solution but only differs in that one component. Together with (VI) we can turn this into a contradiction. For (ii) we use the already proven (NCP) properties for x'_e and the basic observation (2.1) of a static *b*-transshipment (see page 13). Finally, (iii) is shown by applying (NCP) to x'_e and using flow conservation of $(x'_e)_{e \in E'}$, which is induced by (NCP) applied to ℓ'_v for all $v \in V$. For the sake of clarity we moved the proof to the appendix on page 119.

With this lemma we can finally show the following existence result.

- Theorem 6.10. -

Consider an acyclic network G' = (V, E') with source s and sink t, outflow capacities $(\nu_e^-)_{e \in E'}$, inflow bounds $(b_e^+)_{e \in E'}$ as well as a set of resetting arcs $E^* \subseteq E'$. Suppose that every node v is reachable by s. Then there exists a spillback thin flow (x', ℓ', c) with resetting on E^* .

To prove this we consider a solution $(x', \ell', \beta) \in \text{SOL}(X, \Gamma)$ and set $c_v := e^{-\beta_v}$. With the help of Lemma 6.9 we can use the (NCP) properties to show the spillback thin flow equations. Note that the nodes with zero throughput of x' need a special treatment. For those nodes we basically set $c_v := 1$ and $\ell_v := \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v)$. The details of this proof can be found in the appendix on page 120.

6.6 Constructing Nash Flows Over Time

In the same way as in the base model we want to use spillback thin flows in order to construct a Nash flow over time in the kinematic wave model. In contrast to the base model we will have four different kinds of events that can end a phase. In the following we only consider Nash flows over time f that have right-continuous and piece-wise constant in- and outflow rates.

 α -Extensions. For a fixed $\phi \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ we consider once more a restricted Nash flow over time only taking into account the particles in $[0, \phi)$. This is enough to determine the earliest arrival times $\ell_v(\phi)$ for each $v \in V$ and the inflow bounds $b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi))$ for all $e = uv \in E$ as well as E'_{ϕ} , E^*_{ϕ} and \overline{E}_{ϕ} . Hence, Theorem 6.10 provides a spillback thin flow (x', ℓ', c) on the current shortest paths network $G'_{\phi} = (V, E'_{\phi})$ with resetting on E^*_{ϕ} and inflow bounds $(b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)))$ for all $e = uv \in E'$. We use this spillback thin flow to extend the restricted Nash flow over time in the following way. We set

$$\ell_v(\phi+\xi) \coloneqq \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_v \qquad \text{and} \qquad x_e(\phi) \coloneqq x_e(\phi) + \xi \cdot x'_e \quad \text{for } \xi \in [0,\alpha),$$

as well as

$$f_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} \quad \text{for } \theta \in [\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha)) \qquad \text{and} \qquad f_e^-(\theta) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} \quad \text{for } \theta \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha]).$$

Additionally, we define

$$r(\theta) \coloneqq c_v \cdot R$$
 for all $\theta \in [\ell_s(\phi), \ell_s(\phi + \alpha)).$

As before this extended flow over time is called α -extension.

Thin flow phase. In the following we present some necessary bounds on α , which we later show to be sufficient for the α -extension to form a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha)$.

As in the base model, queues can only shrink until they deplete and non active arcs can become active and open alternative routes. Thus, we get the following two conditions on α for all e = uv:

$$\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) + \alpha(\ell'_v - \ell'_u) \ge \tau_e \quad \text{if } e \in E^*_\phi$$
(6.8)

$$\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) + \alpha(\ell'_v - \ell'_u) \le \tau_e \quad \text{if } e \in E \setminus E'_\phi.$$
(6.9)

In addition, the inflow bounds of the spillback arcs need to be constant within one phase, i.e., for all $e = uv \in \overline{E}_{\phi}$ we require that

$$b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_u) = b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) \quad \text{for all } \xi \in [0, \alpha).$$
 (6.10)

Finally, the spillback thin flow changes whenever an arc becomes full. Thus, within an extension phase, the total amount of flow on an arc $e = uv \in E'_{\phi} \setminus \overline{E}_{\phi}$ stays strictly under the storage capacity:

$$d_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)) < \sigma_e \quad \text{ for } \xi \in [0, \alpha).$$
(6.11)

Note that F_e^- needs not be linear on $[\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha))$. We call $\alpha > 0$ **feasible** if it satisfies Equations (6.8) to (6.11) and the following lemma shows that such an α always exists.

Lemma 6.11. For a given restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi)$ in the kinematic wave model there exists a feasible $\alpha > 0$.

Proof. By Lemma 6.6 (ii) and (iii) we have that $\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) > \tau_e$ for $e = uv \in E_{\phi}^*$ and $\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) < \tau_e$ for $e = uv \in E \setminus E'_{\phi}$. Since $d_e(\ell_u(\phi)) < \sigma_e$ for $e = uv \in E'_{\phi} \setminus \overline{E}_{\phi}$ we can find an $\alpha_1 > 0$ that satisfies Equations (6.8), (6.9) and (6.11). Lemma 6.6 (v) states that $\ell_u(\phi) < \ell_v(\phi)$ for full arcs and since f_e^- is piecewise-constant and right-continuous on $[\ell_u(\phi), \ell_v(\phi))$ so is b_e^+ . Hence, there is an $\alpha_2 > 0$ satisfying (6.10). Clearly, $\alpha := \min \{ \alpha_1, \alpha_2 \} > 0$ is feasible.

For the maximal feasible α we call the interval $[\phi, \phi + \alpha)$ thin flow phase. These four conditions on α are indeed sufficient, which is shown in the next theorem.

- Theorem 6.12.

Consider a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi)$ and a feasible $\alpha > 0$, then the α -extension is a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha)$. Furthermore, the extended ℓ - and x-functions represent the earliest arrival times and the underlying static flows for all $\varphi \in [0, \phi + \alpha)$.

To prove this we first show that the α -extension is a feasible flow over time, where the fair allocation condition follows from (sTF2) and (sTF3), the inflow condition from (sTF4), and the no-slack condition from (sTF5). Furthermore, the no-deadlock condition follows since the total transit time of each cycle is positive. To show that the extended ℓ -labels correspond to the earliest arrival times we do a quite technical case distinction. With this the Nash flow condition follows immediately. The formal proof can be found in the appendix on page 121.

The next theorem finally shows the existence of Nash flows over time in the kinematic wave model.

- Theorem 6.13. -

There exists a Nash flow over time in the kinematic wave model.

Proof. The empty flow over time is a restricted Nash flow over time for the empty set [0, 0). For a given restricted Nash flow over time f_i on $[0, \phi_i)$ we choose a maximal feasible $\alpha_i \in (0, \infty]$, which

exists due to Lemma 6.11, and extend f_i with Theorem 6.12 to a restricted Nash flow over time f_{i+1} on $[0, \phi_{i+1})$, where $\phi_{i+1} = \phi_i + \alpha_i$. This leads to a strictly increasing sequence $(\phi_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$. Suppose this sequence has a finite limit $\phi_{\infty} := \lim_{i \to \infty} \phi_i < \infty$. In this case we define a restricted Nash flow over time f^{∞} for $[0, \phi_{\infty})$ by using the point-wise limits of the *x*- and ℓ -functions. Note that the functions remain monotonically increasing and bounded (see Theorem 6.5), and therefore, the process can be continued from this limit point. Since this enables us to always extend the Nash flow over time, there cannot be an upper bound on the length of the extension interval because the smallest upper bound would correspond to a limit point, which we can extend again.

Example. We consider a Nash flow over time in the kinematic wave model depicted in Figure 6.4 on the next page. The first particles [0, 24) take the direct path (s, v, t) and thereby build up queues on vt and on sv as the inflow capacity of vt restricts the outflow of sv to 2. For particle 24, which arrives at v at time 14, the waiting time on vt becomes so long that path (v, w, t) becomes active. As the flow leaving v within this second phase is no longer restricted, the outflow rate of sv increases to 4, causing the queue to decrease. For particle 30 the arc sv becomes full (which happens at time 10), and therefore, we have spillback at the source, which throttles the network inflow rate to 2, as the gap flow arrives at s with a rate of 2 during time [10, 17). For particle 44 two events happen simultaneously: The gap flow of rate 4 finally reaches s at time 17, which means that the network inflow rate can again operate at rate 3, and the queue of arc sv depletes at time 19. After this the Nash flow over time reaches its steady state.

6.7 Further Results

Except for the results presented so far, Nash flows over time in the spillback or kinematic wave model have not been studied much yet. But some results concerning uniqueness and the price of anarchy follow rather easily.

6.7.1 Non-Uniqueness of Earliest Arrival Times

It turns out that the ℓ' -labels in spillback thin flows, and hence the earliest arrival times of a Nash flow over time, are not uniquely determined anymore. As seen in Figure 6.5 on page 114 it can happen in the spillback model (even without kinematic waves) that an arc becomes full at the very same time as a new path becomes active. In the displayed graph the x'_{vt} value can be equal to all values in $[\frac{1}{2}, 2]$, which causes the ℓ'_v -label to lie between $[\frac{1}{2}, 2]$ as well. This also makes sense from a traffic perspective as all traffic users arriving at the highway-exit v know that both routes to their destination are of equal length. As long as the congestion on arc vt does not decrease, they can freely choose between the two paths. Even the extreme case that everyone sticks to the congested highway vt and nobody takes the ring road (v, w, t) would be an equilibrium, as this only increases the congestion on arc sv, which every road user experiences independent of the route choice.

This phenomenon does not only show that there is a continuum of valid spillback thin flows, it also shows that a Nash flow over time can be very chaotic as the spillback thin flow can basically change at every point in time after arc vt became full (as long as the particles with the same spillback thin flow form a measurable set). It also indicates that there are dynamic equilibria with different arrival times, and therefore, one might consider the worst or the best Nash flow over time.



Figure 6.4: An example of a Nash flow over time in the kinematic wave model in the network displayed *on* the top. Here, sv has a transit time $\tau_{sv} = 2$, a gap transit time of $\eta_{sv} = 3$, an outflow capacity of $\nu_{sv}^- = 4$ and a storage capacity of $\sigma_{sv} = 20$. The storage capacities of all other arcs are ∞ , and hence, the respective gap transit times are irrelevant. All other arc properties are displayed accordingly and the network inflow rate is 3. The Nash flow over time consists of four thin flow phases depicted *in the middle*. At the bottom we show six snapshots in time of the resulting flow over time.

6.7.2 Unbounded Prices of Anarchy

By the network in Figure 6.6 we can observe that the time price of anarchy is unbounded in the spillback model, and therefore also in the kinematic wave model. By setting the inflow capacity ν_{vt}^+ to a small $\varepsilon > 0$ the Nash flow over time will be unique, as the top path (v, w, t) will never become active. Hence, in a Nash flow over time, the flow will arrive at sink t with a rate of ε , whereas the optimal earliest arrival flow will additionally use the top route. Thus, for a given flow amount A the Nash flow over time needs more than $\frac{A}{\varepsilon}$ time units until the last particle arrives, whereas an optimal flow over time will be done before time A + 3. Thus, the time price of anarchy is unbounded for this network family.



Figure 6.5: This example shows that spillback thin flows are not unique. The network is shown on the top. Here, arc vt has a transit time of $\tau_{vt} = 2$, an inflow capacity of $\nu_{vt}^+ = 2$, a storage capacity of $\sigma_{vt} = 8$ and an outflow capacity of $\nu_{vt}^- = 1$. The kinematic waves are disabled, i.e., all gap transit times are 0. The Nash flow over time, *displayed below*, consists of two phases. The second phase is not unique, and thus, two possibilities, A and B, are depicted. On the left we show the spillback thin flows and on the right some key snapshots in time of the resulting flow over time. At the beginning (top row) all flow has to take the shortest path (s, v, t) as arc wt is inactive. A queue is growing at the end of arc vt. For particle 12 two events happen at the same time. The arc wt becomes active and, at the moment particle 12 reaches v at time $\theta = 7$, arc vt gets full. Now, there are multiple possibilities for the next spillback thin flow. Either the flow splits up and half of the particles take the top route while the other half continues to use the full arc (*Scenario A*). In this case we have $c_v = 1$ and no queue on arc sv. Or all particles stay on the bottom route (*Scenario B*) in which case we have $c_v = \frac{1}{2}$ and due to spillback a queue is growing on arc sv. All convex combinations of these two spillback thin flows are also valid.



Figure 6.6: This family of networks (*left side*) shows that the time price of anarchy is unbounded in the kinematic wave/spillback model. All transit times and outflow capacities are 1 and arc *vt* has a storage capacity of $\sigma_{vt} = 1$ and a parameterized inflow capacity of $\nu_{vt}^+ = \varepsilon$ for some $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$. All gap transit times are 0 and all other inflow and storage capacities are ∞ or large enough. As the top route will never be used by any Nash flow over time we only have one thin flow phase and a unique spillback thin flow (*right side*) with $\ell'_t = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$. Hence, the arrival time increases very fast with slope $\frac{1}{\varepsilon}$.

6.8 Appendix: Technical Proofs

Lemma 6.2. For a feasible flow over time f the following statements hold for all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$:

- (i) If e is full at time θ we have $z_e(\theta) > 0$.
- (ii) If e is full at time θ we have $z_e(\theta \eta_e) > 0$.
- (iii) Every arc that is full at time θ with $f_e^+(\theta) = b_e^+(\theta)$ is part of a (finite) congestion suffix.
- (iv) There is a function $\varepsilon : [0, \infty) \to (0, 1)$ depending only on the network but not on f such that every arc e with $z_e(\theta) > 0$ satisfies $f_e^-(\theta) \ge \varepsilon(\theta)$ and $b_e^+(\theta) \ge \varepsilon(\theta)$.

Proof.

(i) The inflow condition yields $f_e^+(\theta) \le \nu_e^+$ and by definition we have $g_e(\theta) \le \nu_e^-$. Hence,

$$z_e(\theta) = F_e^+(\theta - \tau_e) - F_e^-(\theta) \ge F_e^+(\theta) - \nu_e^+ \cdot \tau_e - F_e^-(\theta) + G_e(\theta) - \nu_e^- \cdot \eta_e^{(6.1)} d_e(\theta) - \sigma_e \ge 0.$$

(ii) Again with $f_e^+(\theta) \leq \nu_e^+$ and the definitions of z_e , G_e and d_e we obtain

$$z_e(\theta - \eta_e) = F_e^+(\theta - \eta_e - \tau_e) - F_e^-(\theta - \eta_e) \ge F_e^+(\theta) - \nu_e^+ \cdot (\tau_e + \eta_e) - F_e^-(\theta) + G_e(\theta) > d_e(\theta) - \sigma_e \ge 0.$$

- (iii) If e is not throttled at time $\theta \eta_e$ we are done, since the one-elemental sequence (e) is a congestion suffix. Thus, suppose e is throttled at time $\theta_2 = \theta \eta_e$. Then, by the no-slack condition, there has to be a consecutive arc e_2 with $f_{e_2}^+(\theta_2) = b_{e_2}^+(\theta_2)$. If e_2 is full at time θ_2 and was throttled at time $\theta_3 := \theta_2 \eta_{e_2}$ we find an arc e_3 with $f_{e_3}^+(\theta_3) = b_{e_3}^+(\theta_3)$. We repeat this argumentation until we obtain an arc e_k that has $f_{e_k}^+(\theta_k) = b_{e_k}^+(\theta_k)$ but is not full at time θ_k or not throttled at time $\theta_k \eta_{e_k}$. To show that such an arc e_k exists, assume for contradiction that the constructed sequence (e_1, e_2, e_3, \dots) is unending. Since E is finite, there has to be some node v that is visited infinitely often. But due to the no-deadlock condition each time we visit v we consider a point in time which is strictly earlier (by at least min { $\eta_e > 0 \mid e \in E$ }) than the last visit of v. Since no arc is full at time 0 this is a contradiction.
- (iv) We set

$$\nu_{\min} \coloneqq \min\left(\left\{\nu_e^+, \nu_e^- \mid e \in E\right\} \cup \{1\}\right), \qquad \Sigma \coloneqq \max\left\{\sum_{e \in E} \nu_e^-, 1\right\},$$
$$\eta_{\min} \coloneqq \min\left(\left\{\eta_e > 0 \mid e \in E\right\} \cup \{1\}\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \varepsilon(\theta) \coloneqq \left(\frac{\nu_{\min}}{\Sigma}\right)^{|E| \cdot \frac{\theta}{\eta_{\min}}} \cdot \nu_{\min}.$$

If e is not throttled at time θ we have $f_e^-(\theta) = \nu_e^-$. Thus, suppose e is throttled. By the no-slack condition there has to be a consecutive arc e_1 with $f_{e_1}^+(\theta) = b_{e_1}^+(\theta)$. Due to (iii) there has to be a congestion suffix (e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_k) at time $\theta_1 = \theta$ where $k \leq \frac{\theta}{\eta_{\min}} \cdot |E|$. If e_k is not full we have $f_{e_k}^+(\theta_k) = b_{e_k}^+(\theta_k) = \nu_{e_k}^+$. If e_k is full but not throttled at time $\theta_{k+1} \coloneqq \theta_k - \eta_{e_k}$ we obtain by (ii) that e_k had a queue at time θ_{k+1} , and therefore $g_{e_k}(\theta_k) = \nu_{e_k}^-$, which leads to $f_{e_k}^+(\theta_k) = b_{e_k}^+(\theta_k) = \min\{\nu_{e_k}^+, \nu_{e_k}^-\}$. Furthermore, for two consecutive arcs $e_i = uv$ and $e_{i+1} = vw$ we have that

$$f_{e_i}^-(\theta_{i+1}) = c_v(\theta_{i+1}) \cdot \nu_{e_i}^- \ge \frac{\sum_{e' \in \delta^+(v)} f_{e'}^+(\theta_{i+1})}{\sum_{e' \in \delta^-(v)} \nu_{e'}^-} \cdot \nu_{\min} \ge \frac{f_{e_{i+1}}^+(\theta_{i+1})}{\Sigma} \cdot \nu_{\min}.$$
(6.12)

Since the arc e_i , for i = 1, ..., k-1, is full at time θ_i with exhausted inflow capacity it holds that $f_{e_i}^+(\theta_i) = b_{e_i}^+(\theta_i) = \min \{ f_{e_i}^-(\theta_{i+1}), \nu_{e_i}^- \}$. Recursive application of (6.12) along the sequence gives

$$f_e^-(\theta) \ge \left(\frac{\nu_{\min}}{\Sigma}\right)^k \cdot \nu_{\min} \ge \varepsilon(\theta).$$

With (ii) we obtain that $b_e^+(\theta) = \min \{ f_e^-(\theta - \eta_e), \nu_e^+ \} \ge \varepsilon(\theta - \eta_e) \ge \varepsilon(\theta)$ in the case that e is full.

Lemma 6.3. For a feasible flow over time f it holds for all $e \in E$, $v \in V$ and $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ that:

- (i) $q_e(\theta) > 0 \iff z_e(\theta + \tau_e) > 0.$
- (ii) $z_e(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) > 0$ for all $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$.
- (iii) $F_e^+(\theta) = F_e^-(T_e(\theta))$ whenever $T_e(\theta) < \infty$.
- (iv) For $\theta_1 < \theta_2$ with $F_e^+(\theta_2) F_e^+(\theta_1) = 0$ and $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e) > 0$ we have $T_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_2)$.
- (v) If $T_e(\theta) < \infty$ and $f_e^-(T_e(\theta)) = 0$ then $F_e^+(\theta + q_e(\theta)) F_e^+(\theta) = 0$.
- (vi) If $T_e(\theta) < \infty$ the push rate functions satisfy

$$b_e^-(T_e(\theta)) = \begin{cases} \nu_e^- & \text{if } F_e^+(\theta + q_e(\theta)) - F_e^+(\theta) > 0, \\ \min \{ f_e^+(T_e(\theta) - \tau_e), \nu_e^- \} & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

- (vii) The functions T_e are monotonically increasing.
- (viii) The functions T_e and q_e are differentiable at almost all θ with $q_e(\theta) < \infty$.
- (ix) For almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$ with $q_e(\theta) < \infty$ we have

$$q'_e(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{f_e^-(T_e(\theta))} - 1 & \text{if } f_e^-(T_e(\theta)) > 0, \\ -1 & \text{else if } z_e(\theta + \tau_e) > 0, \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Proof.

- (i) This follows directly by the definition of q_e .
- (ii) For $q_e(\theta) < \infty$ we have by definition that $q_e(\theta)$ is the minimal value such that

$$F_e^{-}(\theta + \tau_e + q_e(\theta)) - F_e^{-}(\theta + \tau_e) = z_e(\theta + \tau_e) = F_e^{+}(\theta) - F_e^{-}(\theta + \tau_e)$$
(6.13)

and for $q_e(\theta) = \infty$ we have for all $q \in [0, \infty)$ that

$$F_{e}^{-}(\theta + \tau_{e} + q) - F_{e}^{-}(\theta + \tau_{e}) < z_{e}(\theta + \tau_{e}) = F_{e}^{+}(\theta) - F_{e}^{-}(\theta + \tau_{e}).$$

In both cases we obtain $F_e^+(\theta) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) > 0$ for $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$. Since F_e^+ is monotonically increasing we have for all $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta))$ that

$$z_e(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) = F_e^+(\theta + \xi) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) \ge F_e^+(\theta) - F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e + \xi) > 0.$$

- (iii) Whenever $T_e(\theta) < \infty$ we have $q_e(\theta) < \infty$, and therefore, (6.13) implies that $F_e^-(T_e(\theta)) = F_e^+(\theta)$ in this case.
- (iv) We have

$$q_{e}(\theta_{1}) = \min\left\{ q \ge 0 \left| \int_{\theta_{1}+\tau_{e}}^{\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}} f_{e}^{-}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi + \int_{\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}}^{\theta_{1}+\tau_{e}+q} f_{e}^{-}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = F_{e}^{+}(\theta_{1}) - F_{e}^{-}(\theta_{1}+\tau_{e}) \right\} \\ = \min\left\{ p = q - \theta_{2} + \theta_{1} \ge 0 \left| \int_{\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}}^{\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}+p} f_{e}^{-}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = F_{e}^{+}(\theta_{2}) - F_{e}^{-}(\theta_{2}+\tau_{e}) \right\} + \theta_{2} - \theta_{1} \\ = q_{e}(\theta_{2}) + \theta_{2} - \theta_{1}.$$

Thus, $T_e(\theta_1) = \theta_1 + \tau_e + q_e(\theta_1) = \theta_2 + \tau_e + q_e(\theta_2) = T_e(\theta_2)$. Note that $q_e(\theta_1) = \infty$ if, and only if, the set above is empty, which is exactly the case when $q_e(\theta_2) = \infty$. Hence, $T_e(\theta_1) = \infty = T_e(\theta_2)$ in this case.

(v) In order to show the contra-position assume that $F_e^+(\theta + q_e(\theta)) - F_e^+(\theta) > 0$. We obtain

$$z_e(T_e(\theta)) = F_e^+(\theta + q_e(\theta)) - F_e^-(T_e(\theta)) \stackrel{\text{(III)}}{=} F_e^+(\theta + q_e(\theta)) - F_e^+(\theta) > 0.$$

Thus, Lemma 6.2 (iv) implies $f_e^-(T_e(\theta)) > \varepsilon(\theta) > 0$.

- (vi) This follows by $z_e(T_e(\theta)) \stackrel{\text{(iii)}}{=} F_e^+(\theta + q_e(\theta)) F_e^+(\theta)$ and the definition of $b_e^-(\theta)$.
- (vii) Consider two points in time $\theta_1 < \theta_2$. We show that $T_e(\theta_1) \leq T_e(\theta_2)$.

If $T_e(\theta_1) = \infty$ we have $q_e(\theta_1) = \infty$, which means

$$\int_{\theta_1 + \tau_e}^{\infty} f_e^{-}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi < z_e(\theta_1 + \tau_e) = F_e^{+}(\theta_1) - F_e^{-}(\theta_1 + \tau_e).$$

Hence, it holds that

$$\int_{\theta_2 + \tau_e}^{\infty} f_e^{-}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{\theta_1 + \tau_e}^{\infty} f_e^{-}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi - \int_{\theta_1 + \tau_e}^{\theta_2 + \tau_e} f_e^{-}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi < F_e^{+}(\theta_1) - F_e^{-}(\theta_2 + \tau_e) \le z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e)$$

implying $q_e(\theta_2) = \infty$, and therefore, $T_e(\theta_2) = \infty$.

Now suppose that $T_e(\theta_1) < \infty$. If $T_e(\theta_2) = \infty$ we already have $T_e(\theta_1) \leq T_e(\theta_2)$, thus, we consider the case that $T_e(\theta_2) < \infty$. Since F_e^+ is monotonically increasing, (iii) implies that

$$F_e^-(T_e(\theta_2)) = F_e^+(\theta_2) \ge F_e^+(\theta_1) = F_e^-(T_e(\theta_1)).$$
(6.14)

If this holds with strict inequality, we obtain by monotonicity of F_e^- that $T_e(\theta_1) < T_e(\theta_2)$. If (6.14) holds with equality we have two cases. If $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e) > 0$, (iv) states that $T_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_2)$. If $z_e(\theta_2 + \tau_e) = 0$ the statement in (ii) applied to θ_1 yields $\xi := \theta_2 - \theta_1 \notin [0, q_e(\theta_1))$. Thus,

$$T_e(\theta_2) \stackrel{\text{(i)}}{=} \theta_2 + \tau_e \ge \theta_1 + \tau_e + q_e(\theta_1) = T_e(\theta_1).$$

(viii) Note that $T_e(\theta) < \infty$ if, and only if, $q_e(\theta) < \infty$. By (vii) T_e is monotonically increasing on the set $\{ \theta \in [0, \infty) \mid T_e(\theta) < \infty \}$, and hence, Lebesgue's theorem for the differentiability of monotone functions (Theorem 2.5 on page 19) states that T_e is differentiable at almost all points in time

in this set. As a sum of almost everywhere differentiable functions $q_e(\theta) = T_e(\theta) - \tau_e - \theta$ is also almost everywhere differentiable on this set.

(ix) By (iii) we have $F_e^-(\theta + \tau_e + q_e(\theta)) = F_e^+(\theta)$. Since the functions F_e^- , F_e^+ and q_e are almost everywhere differentiable we can take the derivative on both sides to obtain with the chain rule that

$$f_e^-(T_e(\theta)) \cdot (1 + q'_e(\theta)) = f_e^+(\theta).$$

Hence, $q'_e(\theta) = \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{f_e^-(T_e(\theta))} - 1$ if $f_e^-(T_e(\theta)) > 0$. In the case of $f_e^-(T_e(\theta)) = 0$ and $z_e(\theta + \tau_e) > 0$ (v) yields $F_e^+(\theta + \xi) - F_e^+(\theta) = 0$ for all $\xi \in [0, q_e(\theta)) \neq \emptyset$, and therefore $T_e(\theta) = T_e(\theta + \xi)$ by (i) and (iv). It follows that

$$q_e(\theta + \xi) = T_e(\theta + \xi) - \theta - \xi - \tau_e = T_e(\theta) - \theta - \tau_e - \xi = q_e(\theta) - \xi$$

Thus, the right derivative of q_e at θ equals -1, which implies that either q is not differentiable at θ or $q'_e(\theta) = -1$.

Finally, in the case of $f_e^-(T_e(\theta)) = 0$ and $z_e(\theta + \tau_e) = 0$ we have $q_e(\theta) = 0$ by (i), and thus, θ is a local minimum of q_e . Hence, q_e is either not differentiable at θ or $q'_e(\theta) = 0$.

Lemma 6.6. *Given a Nash flow over time the following holds for all times* θ *:*

- (i) $E_{\phi}^* \subseteq E_{\phi}'$.
- (ii) $E'_{\phi} = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) \ge \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e \}.$
- (iii) $E_{\phi}^* = \{ e = uv \mid \ell_v(\phi) > \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e \}.$
- (iv) $\bar{E}_{\phi} \subseteq E'_{\phi}$.

(v)
$$\ell_u(\phi) < \ell_v(\phi)$$
 for all $e = uv \in \overline{E}_{\phi}$.

Proof. (i) to (iii) follow from the statements made in Lemma 3.4 of the base model. The proof of this lemma can be found on page 49. The last two statements are shown in the following.

(iv) For $e \in \overline{E}_{\phi}$ Lemma 6.2 (ii) states that $z_e(\ell_u(\phi) - \eta_e) > 0$. Therefore, by continuity of z_e and Lemma 6.2 (iv) we have that $f_e^-(\xi) > 0$ for all $\xi \in [\ell_u(\phi) - \eta_e - \delta, \ell_u(\phi) - \eta_e]$ for some small $\delta > 0$. Considering the amount of flow that has left the arc and whose gap flow has also already left the arc, we obtain for all $\varepsilon > 0$ that

$$\begin{split} F_e^-(\ell_u(\phi)) - G_e(\ell_u(\phi)) &= \int_0^{\ell_u(\phi) - \eta_e} f_e^-(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \\ &> \int_0^{\ell_u(\phi) - \eta_e - \varepsilon} f_e^-(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \\ &= F_e^-(\ell_u(\phi) - \varepsilon) - G_e(\ell_u(\phi) - \varepsilon). \end{split}$$

This, together with $d_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \sigma_e \ge d_e(\ell_u(\phi) - \varepsilon)$, yields

$$F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = d_e(\ell_u(\phi)) + F_e^-(\ell_u(\phi)) - G_e(\ell_u(\phi))$$

> $d_e(\ell_u(\phi) - \varepsilon) + F_e^-(\ell_u(\phi) - \varepsilon) - G_e(\ell_u(\phi) - \varepsilon)$
= $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi) - \varepsilon).$

Hence, Lemma 3.3 (v) implies $e \in E'_{\phi}$.

(v) Due to (iv), *e* is active, i.e., $\ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = \ell_v(\phi)$. Thus, for $\tau_e > 0$ the claim follows immediately. For $\tau_e = 0$ we get by Lemma 6.2 (i) that $0 < z_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = z_e(\ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e)$. Hence, Lemma 6.3 (i) implies $q_e(\ell_u(\phi)) > 0$, and therefore $\ell_u(\phi) < \ell_v(\phi)$.

Lemma 6.9. For every solution $(x', \ell', \beta) \in SOL(X, \Gamma)$ we have

- (i) $x'_e < 4M^2 \cdot \nu_e^-$ for every arc e,
- (ii) $\ell'_v < 3M^2$ for every node $v \in V$,
- (iii) $\beta_v < \log(2M \cdot R)$ for every node $v \in V \setminus \{s\}$ with $\sum_{e \in \delta_n^+} x'_e > 0$.

Proof.

(i) Suppose there is an arc $e \in E'$ with $x'_e = 4M^2 \cdot \nu_e^-$. Note that $e^{-\beta_v} \leq 1$ and $\ell'_v \leq 3M^2$, and therefore, $\Gamma_e(x', \ell', \beta) = \frac{x'_e}{e^{-\beta_v} \cdot \nu_e^-} - \ell'_v$ even if $e \in E' \setminus E^*$. Hence, for $(y, \ell', \beta) \in X$ with $y_e \coloneqq 0$ and $y_i \coloneqq x'_i$ for $i \in E' \setminus \{e\}$, (VI) states that

$$0 \le -x'_e \cdot \left(\frac{x'_e}{e^{-\beta_v} \cdot \nu_e^-} - \ell'_v\right) \le 4M^2 \cdot \nu_e^- \cdot (\ell'_v - 4M^2).$$

But this is a contradiction since $\ell'_v - 4M^2 < 0$.

(ii) Using (x', k, β) with $k_v = \ell'_v$ for $v \neq s$ we obtain with (VI) that $(k_s - \ell'_s) \cdot (\ell'_s - \frac{1}{e^{-\beta_s \cdot R}}) \ge 0$ for all $k_s \in [0, 3M^2]$. Hence, $\ell'_s = \frac{1}{e^{-\beta_s \cdot R}} \le 2M < 3M^2$.

Furthermore, we will show that

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x'_e \leq \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x'_e \qquad \text{for all } v \in V \backslash \left\{ \, s,t \, \right\}.$$

If $\ell'_v > 0$ this follows from (VI) for $(x', k, \beta) \in X$ with $k_u = \ell'_u$ for all nodes $u \in V \setminus \{v\}$ and $k_v = 0$. In the case of $\ell'_v = 0$ the inequality follows since (i) and (NCP) imply that $x'_e = 0$ on all arcs $e \in \delta_v^-$.

If we define

$$b(v)\coloneqq \sum_{e\in \delta_v^+} x'_e - \sum_{e\in \delta_v^-} x'_e \qquad \text{for all } v\in V,$$

the flow x'_e is a feasible static *b*-transshipment, where $b(v) \ge 0$ for all $v \in V \setminus \{t\}$. Note that *s* has no incoming arcs, and thus, $b(s) = \sum_{e \in \delta_s^+} x'_e \ge 0$. Since the graph *G'* is acyclic and *t* is the only sink in this *b*-transshipment, we get that $\sum_{e \in \delta_t^+} x'_e = 0$, and therefore, the definition of Γ_t and (VI) imply $b(t) \ge -1$. In the following we show that a label of $3M^2$ would induce a flow of $x'_e > 1$ on an arc, which is a contradiction to Equation (2.1) on page 13. Suppose there is a node *w* with $\ell'_w = 3M^2$. Since $\ell'_s < 3M^2$, there has to be an arc e = uv along an *s*-*w*-path, such that $\ell'_u < \ell'_v = 3M^2$. By (i) we can apply (NCP) on Γ_e to obtain

$$x'_{e} \ge \ell'_{v} \cdot e^{-\beta_{v}} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-} \ge 3M^{2} \cdot e^{-\log(2M \cdot R)} \cdot \nu_{\min}^{-} > M \cdot \frac{1}{R} \cdot \nu_{\min}^{-} \stackrel{(6.7)}{\ge} 1.$$

Thus, $\ell'_v < 3M^2$ for every $v \in V$ and by (NCP) flow conservation follows.

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x'_e - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x'_e = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } v = s \\ -1 & \text{if } v = t \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$
(6.15)

In other words, x'_e is a static *s*-*t* flow of value 1. Hence, $x'_e \leq 1$ for all $e \in E'$.

(iii) Suppose $\beta_v = \log(2M \cdot R)$ for some $v \in V$ with $\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x'_e > 0$. For $(x', \ell', \gamma) \in X$ with $\gamma_u \coloneqq \beta_u$ for all $u \neq v$ and $\gamma_v \coloneqq 0$ we obtain from (VI) that $\ell'_v \leq \max_{e \in \delta_v^+} \frac{x'_e}{b_e}$. Let $e_1 \in \underset{e \in \delta_v^+}{\operatorname{arg max}} \frac{x'_e}{b_e}$. For v = s we have a contradiction, since

$$\ell_s' = \frac{1}{e^{-\beta_s} \cdot R} = 2M \stackrel{\text{(6.7)}}{>} \frac{1}{b_{\min}^+} \ge \frac{x_{e_1}'}{b_{e_1}^+}.$$

For $v \neq s$ Equation (6.15) implies that there is at least one incoming arc $e_2 = uv$ that carries $x'_{e_2} \geq \frac{x'_{e_1}}{|\delta_v^-|} \geq \frac{x'_{e_1}}{|E'|} > 0$ flow. Using (NCP) for arc e_2 yields $\Gamma_{e_2}(x', \ell', \beta) = 0$, and therefore, we obtain the following

$$\ell'_{v} \geq \frac{x'_{e_{2}}}{e^{-\beta_{v}} \cdot \nu_{e_{2}}^{-}} \geq \frac{x'_{e_{1}} \cdot e^{\log(2M \cdot R)}}{|E'| \cdot \nu_{e_{2}}^{-}} \stackrel{\text{(6.7)}}{\geq} \frac{x'_{e_{1}} \cdot 2 \cdot \nu_{\max}^{-} \cdot |E'| \cdot R}{|E'| \cdot \nu_{e_{2}}^{-} \cdot R \cdot b_{\min}^{+}} > \frac{x'_{e_{1}}}{b_{\min}^{+}} \geq \frac{x'_{e_{1}}}{b_{e}^{+}}$$

This is again a contradiction, which finishes the proof.

Theorem 6.10.

Consider an acyclic network G' = (V, E') with source s and sink t, outflow capacities $(\nu_e^-)_{e \in E'}$, inflow bounds $(b_e^+)_{e \in E'}$ as well as a set of resetting arcs $E^* \subseteq E'$. Suppose that every node v is reachable by s. Then there exists a spillback thin flow (x', ℓ', c) with resetting on E^* .

Proof. Let $(x', \tilde{\ell}', \beta)$ be a solution of VI (X, Γ) . In order to obtain a spillback thin flow we need to make some modifications. Let $V_0 \subseteq V \setminus \{s\}$ be the set of nodes with

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} x'_e = \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x'_e = 0.$$

We set $c_v = 1$ if $v \in V_0$ and $c_v = e^{-\beta_v}$ otherwise. Note that we have $\rho_e(\cdot, x'_e, e^{-\beta_v}) = \rho_e(\cdot, x'_e, c_v)$ because $c_v \neq e^{-\beta_v}$ implies $x'_e = 0$. Furthermore, let

$$L := \left\{ \left. k \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}^{V} \right| k_{v} = \tilde{\ell}_{v} \text{ for } v \in V \setminus V_{0} \text{ and } k_{v} \leq \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_{e}(k_{u}, x'_{e}, c_{v}) \text{ for } v \in V \right\}.$$

Clearly, $\tilde{\ell}' \in L$ since for every $v \in V$ we obtain by (NCP) applied to e = uv that

$$\tilde{\ell}'_{v} \leq \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \frac{x'_{e}}{e^{-\beta_{v}} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-}} & \text{if } e \in E^{*} \\ \max\left\{ \tilde{\ell}'_{u}, \frac{x'_{e}}{e^{-\beta_{v}} \cdot \nu_{e}^{-}} \right\} & \text{if } e \in E' \backslash E^{*} \end{array} \right\} = \rho_{e}(\tilde{\ell}'_{u}, x'_{e}, e^{-\beta_{v}}) = \rho_{e}(\tilde{\ell}'_{u}, x'_{e}, c_{v}).$$

So L is non-empty and closed. From the facts that x'_e and $\tilde{\ell}'_s = \frac{1}{e^{-\beta_s}} \leq 2M$ are bounded and that every node is reachable from s, it follows that L is also bounded, i.e., we can define $\ell' := \arg \max_{k \in L} \sum_{v \in V} k_v$.

In the remaining part of the proof we show that (x', ℓ', c) is a spillback thin flow. Equation (6.15) states that x' is a static *s*-*t*-flow of value 1, so it remains to show Equations (sTF1) to (sTF5).

(sTF1) Applying (NCP) to ℓ'_s yields $(\ell'_s - \frac{1}{e^{-\beta_s}}) \ge 0$ and $\ell'_s \cdot (\ell'_s - \frac{1}{e^{-\beta_s}}) = 0$. Thus, $\ell'_s = \frac{1}{e^{-\beta_s}} = \frac{1}{c_s}$. (sTF3) Applying (NCP) to x'_e yields

$$x'_e \cdot \left(\rho_e(\tilde{\ell}'_u, x'_e, e^{-\beta_v}) - \tilde{\ell}'_v\right) = 0.$$

So if $x'_e > 0$ it follows that $u, v \notin V_0$, and therefore $\tilde{\ell}'_v = \ell'_v$ and $\tilde{\ell}'_u = \ell'_u$, which shows

$$\ell'_{v} = \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}, x'_{e}, e^{-\beta_{v}}) = \rho_{e}(\ell'_{u}, x'_{e}, c_{v}).$$

(**sTF2**) The definition of *L* implies

$$\ell'_v \le \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v).$$

In order to show equality we consider two cases. If $v \notin V_0$ there exists an $e \in \delta_v^-$ with $x'_e > 0$, and hence, (sTF3) implies equality.

For $v \in V_0$ suppose for contradiction that $\ell'_v < \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v)$. We set $k_w := \ell'_w$ for $w \in V \setminus \{v\}$ and $k_v = \min_{e=uv \in E'} \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v)$. Since $\rho_e(\cdot, x'_e, c_w)$ is non-decreasing we have

$$k_w = \ell'_w \le \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_w) \le \rho_e(k_u, x'_e, c_w)$$

for $w \neq v$. Hence, we obtain that $k \in L$ which is a contradiction to the maximality of ℓ'_v .

(sTF4) Applying (NCP) to $\bar{v} \in \bar{V}$ yields $\tilde{\ell}'_v - \max \frac{x'_e}{b^+_e} \ge 0$, which proves (sTF4) for $v \notin V_0$. For $v \in V_0$ we have $\ell'_v \ge 0 = \max_{e=vw \in E'} \frac{x'_e}{b^+_e}$, trivially.

(sTF5) Finally, we have $\beta_v \cdot \left(\tilde{\ell}_v - \max_{e=vw \in E'} \frac{x'_e}{b_e^+}\right) = 0$, which implies (sTF5) for $v \notin V_0$, since $\beta_v > 0$ means that $c_v = e^{-\beta_v} < 1$, and thus, we have equality in this case. For $v \in V_0$ we set $c_v = 1$, and therefore there is nothing to show.

Hence, (x', ℓ', c) forms a spillback thin flow, which finishes the proof of Theorem 6.10.

Theorem 6.12.

Consider a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi)$ and a feasible $\alpha > 0$, then the α -extension is a restricted Nash flow over time on $[0, \phi + \alpha)$. Furthermore, the extended ℓ - and x-functions represent the earliest arrival times and the underlying static flows for all $\varphi \in [0, \phi + \alpha)$.

Proof. Obviously f_e^- and f_e^+ are bounded, piece-wise constant and right-continuous. All conditions are fulfilled on $[0, \phi)$ since nothing has changed on this interval. Note that we use the linearly extended ℓ -labels in the first part of the proof and that we show only in the end that they are indeed the earliest arrival times.

Flow conservation. For $\ell'_v > 0$ we obtain for all $v \in V \setminus \{t\}$ and all $\theta \in [\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha))$ that

$$\sum_{e \in \delta^+(v)} f_e^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta^-(v)} f_e^-(\theta) = \sum_{e \in \delta^+(v)} \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} - \sum_{e \in \delta^-(v)} \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s, t\}, \\ c_s \cdot R = r(\theta) \in (0, R] & \text{if } v = s. \end{cases}$$

Note that x' is a static flow of value 1 and that $\ell'_s = \frac{1}{c_s \cdot R}$. For the degenerated case of $\ell'_v = 0$ we have $[\ell_v(\phi), \ell_v(\phi + \alpha)) = \emptyset$, and therefore, there is nothing to show.

x is well-defined. For all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ we have

$$F_{e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi+\xi)) = x_{e}(\phi) + \int_{\ell_{u}(\phi)}^{\ell_{u}(\phi)+\xi\cdot\ell'_{u}} f_{e}^{+}(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = x_{e}(\phi) + \xi \cdot x'_{e} = x_{e}(\phi+\xi) \quad \text{and}$$

$$F_{e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi+\xi)) = x_{e}(\phi) + \int_{\ell_{v}(\phi)}^{\ell_{v}(\phi)+\xi\cdot\ell'_{v}} f_{e}^{-}(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = x_{e}(\phi) + \xi \cdot x'_{e} = x_{e}(\phi+\xi).$$
(6.16)

Fair allocation condition. For every arc e = uv we have to show that

$$f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)) = \min\left\{ b_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)), c_v \cdot \nu_e^- \right\} \quad \text{ for } \xi \in [0,\alpha).$$

This is obvious for $\ell'_v = 0$, so we assume $\ell'_v > 0$.

Case 1: $x'_e = 0$.

Either *e* is not active or it is active, but then $\ell'_v > 0$ together with (sTF2) implies that *e* is not resetting. Either way $z_e(\ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e) = 0$ and since $f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)) = 0$ the queue stays empty. We have

$$f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} = 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad b_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)) = f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi+\xi) - \tau_e) = 0$$

for $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ since either $\ell_v(\phi + \xi) - \tau_e \ge \ell_u(\phi)$ or $\ell_v(\phi + \xi) - \tau_e < \ell_u(\phi)$. In the first case the inflow is part of either the current or an even later spillback thin flow. Either way the inflow is 0. In the second case the inflow if part of a previous spillback thin flow, thus, e is not active for ζ with $\ell_u(\zeta) = \ell_v(\phi + \xi) - \tau_e$, since

$$T_e(\zeta) = \ell_u(\zeta) + \tau_e + q_e(\zeta) \ge \ell_v(\phi + \xi) > \ell_v(\zeta).$$

We constructed the flow over time on $[0, \phi)$ in such a way that the Nash flow condition is fulfilled at every point in time, and therefore, we have $f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi + \xi) - \tau_e) = f_e^+(\ell_u(\zeta)) = 0$ for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$.

 $\begin{array}{ll} \textbf{Case 2:} \quad x'_e > 0 \text{ and } e \in E'_\phi \backslash E^*_\phi \text{ with } \frac{x'_e}{c_v \cdot \nu_e^-} \leq \ell'_u. \\ \text{It follows from (sTF3) that } \ell'_v = \ell'_u, \text{ and thus,} \end{array}$

$$f_{e}^{+}(\ell_{u}(\phi+\xi)) = \frac{x'_{e}}{\ell'_{u}} = \frac{x'_{e}}{\ell'_{v}} = f_{e}^{-}(\ell_{v}(\phi+\xi)) \quad \text{ for } \xi \in [0,\alpha)$$

We obtain

$$f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)-\tau_e) = f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi)-\tau_e+\ell'_v\cdot\xi)) = f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)+\ell'_u\cdot\xi)) = f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) = f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)).$$

This equality yields

$$z_e(\ell_v(\phi + \xi)) = z_e(\ell_v(\phi)) + \int_{\ell_v(\phi)}^{\ell_v(\phi + \xi)} f_e^+(\zeta - \tau_e) - f_e^-(\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta = 0.$$

By the case distinction we have

$$b_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)) = f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi+\xi) - \tau_e) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} \le c_v \cdot \nu_e^-.$$

In conclusion, we obtain

$$\min\left\{ b_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)), c_v \cdot \nu_e^- \right\} = b_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)) = f_e^+(\ell_v(\phi+\xi) - \tau_e) = f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)).$$

Case 3: $x'_e > 0$ and $(e \in E^*_{\phi} \text{ or } e \in E'_{\phi} \setminus E^*_{\phi} \text{ with } \frac{x'_e}{c_v \cdot \nu_e^-} > \ell'_u)$. It follows from (sTF3) that $\ell'_v = \frac{x'_e}{c_v \cdot \nu_e^-}$, and thus,

$$f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} = c_v \cdot \nu_e^- \quad \text{for } \xi \in [0,\alpha).$$

It remains to show that $b_e^-(\ell_v(\phi + \xi)) \ge c_v \cdot \nu_e^-$. For $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ we obtain by (6.8) that

$$\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) + \xi \cdot (\ell'_v - \ell'_u) > \tau_e \quad \text{ for } \xi \in [0, \alpha).$$

For $e \in E'_{\phi} \setminus E^*_{\phi}$ and $\ell'_v = \frac{x'_e}{c_v \cdot v_e} > \ell'_u$ it follows that $\ell_v(\phi) - \ell_u(\phi) = \tau_e$ and $\xi \cdot (\ell'_v - \ell'_u) > 0$ for $\xi \in (0, \alpha)$. In both cases we get that $\ell_v(\phi + \xi) - \tau_e > \ell_u(\phi + \xi)$ for $\xi \in (0, \alpha)$. It follows with the monotonicity of F^+_e that

$$z_e(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)) \stackrel{(6.16)}{=} F_e^+(\ell_v(\phi+\xi) - \tau_e) - F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) \ge F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi) + \varepsilon) - F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) = \varepsilon \cdot \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} > 0,$$

where we choose $\varepsilon > 0$, such that $\ell_u(\phi + \xi) + \varepsilon < \min \{\ell_u(\phi + \alpha), \ell_v(\phi + \xi) - \tau_e\}$. Note that, since a flow of x'_e leaves node u, there either has to be some inflow of x' into u or u = s. In both cases we have $\ell'_u > 0$, and thus, $\ell_u(\phi + \xi) < \ell_u(\phi + \alpha)$ and $\frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u}$ is well-defined. Finally, we get that $b_e^-(\ell_v(\phi + \xi)) = \nu_e^- \ge c_v \cdot \nu_e^-$.

Inflow condition and no-slack condition. For all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ we show that

$$f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) \le b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi))$$

and that this holds with equality for at least one arc $e \in \delta_v^+$, whenever there is an incoming throttled arc. Equation (6.11) ensures that an arc $e \notin \bar{E}_{\phi}$ stays non-full during $[\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \alpha))$. Together with (6.10) we get that $b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)) = b_e^+$ for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$, and hence, (sTF4) yields

$$f_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_u} \le b_e^+ = b_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)).$$

An incoming throttled arc implies $c_u < 1$, and thus, the inequality holds with equality in this case due to (sTF5).

No-deadlock condition. Suppose for contradiction that there is a point in time ξ , for which the set of arcs e with $\eta_e = 0$ and $d_e(\xi) = \sigma_e$ contains a cycle $v_1, \ldots, v_k = v_0$. For every $i = 0, 1, \ldots, k$ we consider the particle with minimal value ϕ_i such that $\ell_{v_i}(\phi_i) = \xi$. By Lemma 6.6 (iv) we have

$$\ell_{v_i}(\phi_{i-1}) - \tau_{v_{i-1}v_i} \ge \ell_{v_{i-1}}(\phi_{i-1}) = \xi = \ell_{v_i}(\phi_i)$$

for every i = 1, ..., k, which implies $\phi_{i-1} \ge \phi_i$. Since the sum of transit times in each cycle is strictly positive there has to be an *i* with $\tau_{v_{i-1}v_i} > 0$, and therefore $\phi_{i-1} > \phi_i$, which leads to a contradiction.

Earliest arrival times. We show that the extended ℓ -labels fulfill Equations (6.3) and (6.4), and therefore describe the earliest arrival times.

We have $\ell'_s = \frac{1}{c_s \cdot R}$, implying

$$\int_0^{\ell_s(\phi+\xi)} r(\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta = \phi + \int_{\ell_s(\phi)}^{\ell_s(\phi+\xi)} c_s \cdot R \,\mathrm{d}\zeta = \phi + \left(\ell_s(\phi+\xi) - \ell_s(\phi)\right) \cdot \frac{1}{\ell'_s} = \phi + \xi$$

for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$. Since $r(\zeta)$ is always strictly positive, $\ell_s(\phi + \xi)$ is also the minimal value that satisfies this equation, and hence, fulfills (6.3).

Considering $v \neq s$, $e = uv \in E$, and $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$, we distinguish two cases and show that $\ell_v(\phi + \xi) \leq T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi))$ in the first case and that $\ell_v(\phi + \xi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi))$ in the second case.

 $\begin{array}{ll} \textbf{Case 1:} & e \in E \backslash E'_{\phi} \text{ or } (e \in E'_{\phi} \backslash E^*_{\phi} \text{ with } \ell'_v < \ell'_u). \\ \text{Here, we have for all } \xi \in [0, \alpha) \text{ that} \end{array}$

$$\ell_v(\phi+\xi) \le \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e + \xi \cdot \ell'_u \le T_e(\ell_u(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_u) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)),$$

where the first inequality follows either by (6.9) for $e \in E \setminus E'_{\phi}$ or by $\ell_v(\phi) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e$ and $\ell'_v < \ell'_u$ otherwise.

Case 2: $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ or $(e \in E_{\phi}' \setminus E_{\phi}^* \text{ with } \ell_v' \ge \ell_u')$. If $x'_e = 0$ and $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ we get from (sTF2) that $\ell_v' = \rho_e(\ell_u', x'_e, c_v) = 0$. Since e is active for ϕ we have

$$\ell_v(\phi + \xi) = \ell_v(\phi) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) \le T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)).$$

To show equality note that with (6.8) we obtain

$$q_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) - \ell_u(\phi+\xi) - \tau_e > T_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) - \ell_v(\phi+\xi) \ge 0.$$

Thus, Lemma 6.3 (i) and (v) together with $F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)) - F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi)) = \xi \cdot x'_e = 0$ implies $T_e(\ell_u(\phi)) = T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)).$

If we have $x'_e = 0$ and $e \in E'_{\phi} \setminus E^*_{\phi}$ with $\ell'_v \ge \ell'_u$ we obtain that $\ell'_v \le \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v) = \ell'_u \le \ell'_v$, and hence $\ell'_v = \ell'_u$. This yields

$$\ell_v(\phi + \xi) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e + \xi \cdot \ell'_u = \ell_u(\phi + \xi) + \tau_e = T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)).$$

The last equation holds since the inflow is 0 within $(\ell_u(\phi), \ell_u(\phi + \xi))$, and hence, there is no queue. Now, suppose that $x'_e > 0$, which implies $\ell'_v = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v) > 0$. For all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ we have

$$\ell_u(\phi + \xi) + \tau_e = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e + \xi \cdot \ell'_u \le \ell_v(\phi) + \xi \cdot \ell'_v = \ell_v(\phi + \xi).$$
(6.17)

The inequality follows either by (6.8) in the case of $e \in E_{\phi}^*$ or, in the other case, by $\ell_v(\phi) = \ell_u(\phi) + \tau_e$ and $\ell'_u \leq \ell'_v$. By definition of q_e and z_e we obtain that $q_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi))$ is the minimal non-negative value with

$$F_e^-(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)+\tau_e+q_e(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)))=F_e^+(\ell_u(\phi+\xi)) \stackrel{(6.16)}{=} F_e^-(\ell_v(\phi+\xi)).$$

Note that F_e^- is monotone and strictly increasing at $\ell_v(\phi + \xi)$ with slope $f_e^-(\ell_v(\phi + \xi)) = \frac{x'_e}{\ell'_v} > 0$. This and (6.17) imply that $q_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi))$ satisfies

$$T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)) = \ell_u(\phi + \xi) + \tau_e + q_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)) = \ell_v(\phi + \xi).$$

In conclusion, both cases together show that for all $v \in V \setminus \{s\}$ and all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ we have

$$\ell_v(\phi + \xi) \le \min_{e=uv \in E} T_e(\ell_u(\phi + \xi)).$$

In order to show equality, recall that (sTF2) yields an arc $e = uv \in E'$ with $\ell'_v = \rho_e(\ell'_u, x'_e, c_v)$. Hence, either $e \in E^*$ or $\ell'_v \ge \ell'_u$, meaning that e belongs to the second case where we have shown equality.

Nash flow condition. Since all conditions are fulfilled, we have a feasible flow over time. The Nash flow condition follows immediately by Lemma 3.3 (iii) and (6.16). Note that by construction, the condition holds for every point in time and not only for almost every point in time.

7

Instantaneous Dynamic Equilibria

One essential aspect of a Nash equilibrium is the assumption that each player has access to all information of the game and sticks with his or her strategy even after the strategies of the other players have been revealed. In other words, players assume that the other participants act completely rational. Transferred to dynamic equilibria that means that every flow particle in a Nash flow over time does not only have access to all information on the current state of the network but it also predicts the future evolution perfectly, under the assumption that the flow in front uses current shortest paths only. While this might be a typical assumption in mathematical game theory, it is far from realistic in today's traffic. Even though the routing data of the majority of traffic users might be available in the near future (of course it is up to discussion if this is desirable society-wise) there will always be a factor of uncertainty, since we cannot assume complete rationality of all traffic users.

On the one hand, one can argue that a Nash flow over time is a state of traffic that evolves after multiple rounds. This makes sense when considering the daily commuters facing more or less the same setting every day. They might take some highly congested routes with the smallest free flow transit time at the beginning, but they will deviate to quicker alternatives after some days of experience. On the other hand, Nash flows over time neither incorporate spontaneous changes of the network, such as car accidents, nor do they allow for instantaneous route changes of the agents. To address these issues we want to discuss a different class of flows over time, called **instantaneous dynamic equilibria**, or **IDE flows** for short, in this chapter. Introduced by Lukas Graf and Tobias Harks in early 2019 [36], these IDE flows are much more realistic concerning some aspects of today's traffic, but they also have their own drawbacks and oddities.

The main idea is the following. We consider a feasible flow over time in a multi-commodity setting where every particle starts at some origin and heads to some destination. But instead of deciding on complete origin-destination paths at the very beginning, particles only choose the first link in the right direction, while having a complete route in mind. When reaching the next junction, every particle reconsiders its choice and might adopt its path to the destination. Importantly, this decision is only based on the current configuration of the network as particles do not anticipate the future evolution. In other words, at every node each particle chooses a route with the shortest travel time to the destination with respect to the waiting times at the exact moment of the decision. Obviously, this is well motivated by real-world traffic, as we might assume that each road user follows a navigation system that reports the delays on every road in the network in real-time and he or she decides at every crossing to choose a path that has the shortest travel time to the destination at that very moment. Of course this route might not be chosen wisely as the network can change drastically over time. In fact, it is even possible that particles go back to a location they have already visited before. An example where this occurs is given in Figure 7.1. But this is not even the worst that can happen. By a careful construction of a network it is possible to create an IDE flow where no particle will ever reach its destination, but instead, they cycle around the network for eternity. This special network construction as well as the existence of IDE flows in networks with only a single destination were shown by Graf and Harks in their first publication on this topic [36].

In this chapter, however, we will focus on the structure and existence of IDE flows in the multi-origin and multi-destination setting. This theory was developed in collaboration with Graf and Harks [37]. It turns out that these multi-commodity IDE flows have a lot in common with single-commodity Nash flows over time. They can even be constructed by a sequence of thin-flow-like objects as we will show in the following.

7.1 Flow dynamics

We consider the multi-commodity flow setting as it is introduced in Section 5.1.1 from page 70 onwards. We will briefly recall the central definitions.

In this chapter a network consists of a directed graph G = (V, E), where every arc e is equipped with a transit time $\tau_e > 0$ and a capacity $\nu_e > 0$, and a finite set of commodities J, each with an origindestination pair (s_j, t_j) as well as a right-constant network inflow rate function $r_j : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$. We denote the set of nodes that can reach t_j by V_j and we assume that $s_j \in V_j$.

Multi-commodity flows over time. As before we represent a flow over time by a family of locally integrable and bounded functions $f = (f_{j,e}^+, f_{j,e}^-)_{j \in J, e \in E}$, describing the **in-** and **outflow rate** functions of each commodity. The **cumulative in-** and **outflow** is denoted by $F_{j,e}^+$ and $F_{j,e}^-$. Furthermore, the **total flow rates** and **total cumulative flows** of all commodities combined are defined for all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ by

$$f_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{j \in J} f_{j,e}^+(\theta), \quad f_e^-(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{j \in J} f_{j,e}^-(\theta), \quad F_e^+(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{j \in J} F_{j,e}^+(\theta) \quad \text{ and } \quad F_e^-(\theta) \coloneqq \sum_{j \in J} F_{j,e}^-(\theta).$$

Flow conservation. We say that *f* is a **multi-commodity flow over time** if it satisfies the following flow conservation conditions:

$$F_{j,e}^{-}(\theta + \tau_e) \le F_{j,e}^{+}(\theta) \qquad \text{for all } \theta \in [0,\infty),$$
(7.1)

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_{j,e}^+(\theta) - \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_{j,e}^-(\theta) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in V \setminus \{s_j\}, \\ r_j(\theta) & \text{if } v = s_j, \end{cases} \quad \text{for almost all } \theta \in [0,\infty).$$
(7.2)

Queues, waiting times and exit times. The queue sizes, waiting times and exit times are defined by

$$z_e(\theta) \coloneqq F_e^+(\theta - \tau_e) - F_e^-(\theta), \qquad q_e(\theta) \coloneqq \frac{z_e(\theta + \tau_e)}{\nu_e} \quad \text{and} \quad T_e(\theta) \coloneqq \theta + \tau_e + q_e(\theta).$$

Feasibility. We call a multi-commodity flow over time *f* feasible if the total outflow rates satisfy

$$f_e^-(\theta) = \begin{cases} \nu_e & \text{if } z_e(\theta) > 0, \\ \min\left\{ f_e^+(\theta - \tau_e), \nu_e \right\} & \text{if } z_e(\theta) = 0, \end{cases} \quad \text{for almost all } \theta \in [0, \infty) \quad (7.3)$$

and if the outflow rate of every commodity $j \in J$ individually fulfills

1

$$f_{j,e}^{-}(\theta) = \begin{cases} f_e^{-}(\theta) \cdot \frac{f_{j,e}^{+}(\vartheta)}{f_e^{+}(\vartheta)} & \text{if } f_e^{+}(\vartheta) > 0, \\ 0 & \text{else,} \end{cases} \quad \text{for almost all } \theta \in [0,\infty). \tag{7.4}$$

Here, $\vartheta = \min \{ \xi \le \theta \mid T_e(\xi) = \theta \}$ denotes the earliest point in time a particle can enter the arc *e* in order to leave the queue at time θ .

7.2 Instantaneous Dynamic Equilibria

The most essential information for a particle in an IDE flow is not the earliest time to arrive at some node, but the fastest way to reach the destination from its current location.

Current shortest path distances. Hence, we denote for every commodity j the **current shortest path distance** from a node $v \in V_j$ to t_j by a function $\ell_{j,v} \colon [0,\infty) \to [0,\infty)$ defined by

$$\ell_{j,v}(\theta) \coloneqq \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } v = t_j, \\ \min_{e=vw \in E} \tau_e + q_e(\theta) + \ell_{j,w}(\theta) & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$
(7.5)

Clearly, this is well-defined as all transit times are strictly positive. Furthermore, since q_e is almost everywhere differentiable so are these ℓ -functions.

We say that an arc e = vw with $w \in V_j$ is **active** for $j \in J$ at time θ , if

$$\ell_{j,v}(\theta) = \tau_e + q_e(\theta) + \ell_{j,w}(\theta).$$

The set of active arcs is denoted by $E'_{j,\theta}$ and we call the graph $G'_{j,\theta} := (V_j, E'_{j,\theta})$ the **current shortest paths network**. Note that in contrast to the earliest arrival times for Nash flows over time, we always consider the waiting time at θ even for arcs further ahead. Hence, when considering an active path P from some node v to t_j we have

$$\ell_{j,v}(\theta) = \sum_{e \in P} (\tau_e + q_e(\theta)).$$

Queuing arcs. We call the arcs that have a positive waiting time for particles entering at time θ the **queuing arcs** and denote them by

$$E_{\theta}^* \coloneqq \{ e \in E \mid q_e(\theta) > 0 \}.$$

Note that this set is not commodity specific. However, the arcs in $E^*_{\theta} \cap E'_{j,\theta}$ are comparable to the resetting arcs of Nash flows over time.

IDE flows. As motivated at the beginning of this chapter, we want to consider flows over time where every particle only uses arcs that lie on a current shortest path to the destination. In other words, flow should only enter into active arcs. This leads to the following definition.

Definition 7.1 (Instantaneous dynamic equilibrium).

A feasible flow over time f is an **instantaneous dynamic equilibrium** (**IDE flow** for short), if for all $j \in J$ and every $e \in E$ the **IDE condition** is satisfied for almost every point in time θ :

$$f_{i,e}^+(\theta) > 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad e \in E'_{j,\theta}.$$
 (IDE)

The next sections are dedicated to the proof of the existence of these multi-commodity IDE flows. Similar to the existence proof for Nash flows over time, we will start with the empty flow over time and extend it step by step. This time, however, we do not consider the particles in order of their source arrival time. Instead, for a given snapshot time θ , we consider the incoming flow at all nodes simultaneously. In other words, we consider the same point in time at all nodes at once.

Note that it is easy for one specific particle at node v at one specific point in time θ to determine a current shortest path to the particle's destination. The main difficulty is to distribute all particles

leaving node v during a whole interval $[\theta, \theta + \alpha)$, because the flow needs to split up in such a way that all outgoing arcs that are used stay active during the whole interval. Of course, this does not only depend on the amount of flow that is sent into this very arc, but also on the change of waiting times on all arcs on all current shortest paths to the destination. In networks where all commodities have the same destination this can easily be done by considering the nodes one by one, starting with the ones closest to the common destination. For multiple destinations, however, this is a bit more involved since we need to consider all outgoing flows of all nodes simultaneously.

Throughput rates. Given a feasible flow over time f we want to formulate necessary conditions (which are also sufficient, as we will see later) for f to be an IDE flow. For this we denote the **throughput rate** of a commodity j at node v at time θ by $b_{j,v}(\theta)$. More precisely, we define for every $j \in J$ and $v \in V$

$$b_{j,v}(\theta) := \begin{cases} \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_{j,e}^-(\theta) & \text{for } v \in V \setminus \{ s_j \}, \\ \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_{j,e}^-(\theta) + r_j(\theta) & \text{for } v = s_j. \end{cases}$$

7.3 Thin Flows for Instantaneous Dynamic Equilibria

Similar to the thin flows with resetting for Nash flows over time, we define a set of conditions on the derivatives of the current shortest path distances $(\ell'_{j,v})_{j \in J, v \in V}$ and the outflow rate, which we will denote by $(x'_{j,e})_{j \in J, e \in E}$ (in the style of the thin flows for Nash flows over time).

Definition 7.2 (IDE thin flow).

Given a directed graph G = (V, E) and a set of commodities J with destinations t_j for all $j \in J$, we consider non-negative throughput rates $(b_{j,v})_{j\in J,v\in V}$ and a set of arcs with queues $E^* \subseteq E$ as well as a current shortest paths network $G'_j = (V_j, E'_j)$ for every commodity j. Suppose G'_j is acyclic and every node v with $b_{j,v} > 0$ is in V_j and can reach t_j within G'_j . We call the pair of two real vectors $(x'_{j,e})_{j\in J,e\in E}$ and $(\ell'_{j,v})_{j\in J,v\in V_j}$ an **IDE thin flow** if the following equations hold:

$\sum_{vw\in E} x'_{j,e} = b_{j,v}$	for all $j \in J$ and $v \in V \setminus \{t_j\}$,	(ideTF1)
$x'_{j,e} = 0$	for all $j \in J$ and $e \in E \setminus E'_j$,	(ideTF2)
$\ell_{j,t_j}'=0$	for all $j \in J$,	(ideTF3)
$\ell'_{j,v} = \min_{e=vw \in E'_j} \rho_e \left(\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e} \right) + \ell'_{j,w}$	for all $j \in J$ and $v \in V_j \setminus \{ t_j \}$,	(ideTF4)
$\ell_{j,v}' = \rho_e \left(\sum_{i \in J} x_{i,e}' \right) + \ell_{j,w}'$	for all $j \in J$ and $e = vw \in E'_j$ with $x'_{i,e} > 0$,	(ideTF5)

where

 $\rho_e(x'_e) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} - 1 & \text{if } e \in E^*, \\ \max\left\{ \frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} - 1, 0 \right\} & \text{if } e \in E \setminus E^*. \end{cases}$

Note that this time $(x'_{j,e})_{e \in E}$ does not form a static flow in general, as the throughput rate $b_{j,v}(\theta)$ at a node v is not directly related to the throughput rate $b_{j,w}(\theta)$ at another node w. In other words, if we have an arc e = vw and the thin flow sends an inflow rate of $x'_{j,e}$ into that arc, this flow will arrive at w at time $T_e(\theta) > \theta$, which will only be relevant for a later thin flow phase.

Furthermore, the function ρ_e maps the total inflow x'_e to the change of the waiting time q_e . In other words, if the total inflow rate exceeds the capacity, a queue builds up with a rate of $x'_e - \nu_e$, and therefore, the waiting time increases with a slope of $\frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} - 1$. Analogously, if the total inflow rate is less than the capacity, the waiting time decreases with a slope of $\frac{x'_e}{\nu_e} - 1$ if there was a queue to begin with, or stays 0 otherwise.

With this observations it is easy to see that (ideTF4) describes the change of the current shortest path distance of node v and commodity j. Considering an arc e = vw the travel time of the arc itself changes with a slope given by ρ_e in dependency of the total inflow rate into this arc. In addition, the change of travel time from w to t_j is given by $\ell'_{j,w}$. Hence, the slope of $\ell_{j,v}$ is given by the sum of these two values.

Since we consider the current shortest paths network at time θ , all outgoing arcs $vw \in E'_j$ are active at the beginning. But only the arcs that attain the minimum in (ideTF4) stay active during the phase, and therefore, only these can be used by an IDE flow. This intuition leads to the following theorem.

Theorem 7.3.

For almost all $\theta \in [0,\infty)$ the inflow rate $x' = (f_{j,e}^+(\theta))_{j\in J,e\in E}$ of an IDE flow f, together with the derivatives of the current shortest path distances $(\ell'_{j,v})_{j\in J,v\in V}$, forms an IDE thin flow with throughput rates $(b_{j,v}(\theta))_{j\in J,v\in V}$, active arcs $(E'_{j,\theta})_{j\in J}$ and waiting arcs E_{θ}^* .

Proof. Let $\theta \in [0, \infty)$ be a point in time where all $\ell'_{j,v}$ are differentiable, where flow conservation (3.2), the feasibility condition (7.3) as well as the IDE condition (IDE) hold and where $\frac{d}{d\theta}F^+_{j,e}(\theta) = f^+_{j,e}(\theta)$ for all $j \in J$ and all $e \in E$. This is given for almost all $\theta \in [0, \infty)$.

We have that each node v with $b_{j,v}(\theta) > 0$ is contained in V_j , and therefore, v can reach t_j within the acyclic current shortest paths network $G'_{j,\theta}$. Equation (ideTF1) follows immediately by the flow conservation condition, (ideTF2) by the IDE flow condition and (ideTF3) by the definition of $\ell_{j,t_j}(\theta) = 0$.

For the remaining two equations we consider the derivatives of (7.5). By the differentiation rule for a minimum (Lemma 2.3 on page 17) we have

$$\ell_{j,v}'(\theta) = \min_{e=vw \in E_{j,\theta}'} q_e'(\theta) + \ell_{j,w}'(\theta).$$

By Lemma 3.1 (vii) applied to the total inflow rate $f_e^+(\theta)$ we have that

$$q'_e(\theta) = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e} - 1 & \text{if } q_e(\theta) > 0, \\ \max\left\{ \frac{f_e^+(\theta)}{\nu_e} - 1, 0 \right\} & \text{else,} \end{array} \right\} = \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} f_{i,e}^+(\theta)\right),$$

which shows (ideTF4).

Finally, for (ideTF5) suppose for contradiction that

$$\ell_{j,v}'(\theta) < \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} f_{i,e}^+(\theta)\right) + \ell_{j,w}'(\theta) = q_e'(\theta) + \ell_{j,w}'(\theta)$$

for some arc $e \in E'_{j,\theta}$ with $f^+_{j,e}(\theta) > 0$. But this contradicts the IDE condition for the times in $(\theta, \theta + \varepsilon)$ for some small $\varepsilon > 0$, since e will immediately leave the current shortest paths network but the inflow rate is strictly positive during this interval. Hence, (ideTF5) is satisfied, which finishes the proof. \Box

As the next step, we will show that these IDE thin flows always exist for all throughput rates $b_{j,e}$ and all active and queuing arcs that satisfy the requirements.

Theorem 7.4.

For all current shortest paths networks $G'_j = (V_j, E'_j)$, arc subsets E^* and non-negative throughput rates $(b^-_{j,v})_{j \in J, v \in V}$, such that G'_j is acyclic and every node v with $b_{j,v} > 0$ is in V_j and reaches t_j within G'_j , there exists an IDE thin flow (x', ℓ') .

Proof. For every vector x' satisfying (ideTF1) and (ideTF2) we can define unique node labels ℓ' that fulfill (ideTF3) and (ideTF4). Furthermore, this mapping $x' \mapsto \ell'$ is continuous. Here, existence follows since E'_j is acyclic and the uniqueness follows from the fact that for every node v there is a v- t_j -path within E'_j . Thus, the only difficult part is to show (ideTF5), which we will do once more with the help of Kakutani's fixed point theorem (Theorem 2.9 on page 22).

In order to do so let X be the set of x' vectors that satisfy (ideTF1) and (ideTF2), i.e.,

$$X \coloneqq \left\{ \begin{array}{l} x' \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}^{J \times E} \\ and \begin{array}{l} \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x'_{j,e} = b_{j,v} \\ and \begin{array}{l} x'_{j,e} = 0 \\ y'_{j,e} = 0 \end{array} \right. \text{ for all } j \in J \text{ and } v \in V \setminus \left\{ t_j \right\} \\ \end{array} \right\}.$$

Clearly, X is compact, convex and non-empty. We define a set-valued function $\Gamma : X \to 2^X$ as follows:

$$\Gamma(x') := \left\{ y \in X : y_{j,e} = 0 \text{ for all } e \in E'_j \text{ with } \ell'_{i,v} < \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e}\right) + \ell'_{i,w} \right\}$$

where ℓ' are the labels corresponding to x'. Then, $\Gamma(x)$ is non-empty and convex. For non-emptiness note that every node in V_j , except for t_j , has at least one outgoing arc with $\ell'_{j,v} = \rho_e \left(\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e}\right) + \ell'_{j,w}$, so y can send everything there. Convexity is clear as well, since x' determines which arcs can be used and those are fixed within $\Gamma(x')$.

Finally, in order to apply Kakutani's fixed point theorem we show that $\{(x, y) \mid y \in \Gamma(x)\}$ is a closed set. Let $(x^n, y^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence within this set that converges in $\mathbb{R}^{J \times E} \times \mathbb{R}^{J \times E}$. Since X is compact, both sequences separately converge to some point x^* and y^* . Let $(\ell^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be the sequence of associated node labels of x^n and ℓ^* the node labels of x^* . Since $x \mapsto \ell'$ is continuous we have $\ell^* = \lim_{n \to \infty} \ell^n$.

Finally, we need to show that $y^* \in \Gamma(x^*)$. Suppose there is a commodity $j \in J$ and an arc $e = vw \in E'_j$ with $y^*_{j,e} > 0$ and $\ell^*_{j,v} < \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} x^*_{i,e}\right) + \ell^*_{j,w}$. But since ρ_e is continuous, there has to be an $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $y^n_{j,e} > 0$ and $\ell^n_{j,v} < \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} x^n_{i,e}\right) + \ell^n_{j,w}$ for all $n \ge n_0$. This is a contradiction to $y^n \in \Gamma(x^n)$.

With Kakutani's fixed point theorem (Theorem 2.9) there exists an $x'_* \in X$ with $x'_* \in \Gamma(x'_*)$, which forms, together with the associated node labels ℓ'_* , an IDE thin flow.

7.4 Constructing Instantaneous Dynamic Equilibria

Similar to the construction of Nash flows over time, we want to use IDE thin flows to extend an IDE flow step by step.

 α -Extensions. Consider an IDE flow f where the inflow rates $f_{j,e}^+$ are already defined for all times in $[0, \theta)$ and are right-constant. We call f an IDE flow up to time θ . Note that due to continuity of q_e and $\ell_{j,v}$ we can determine the current shortest paths networks $G'_{j,\theta} = (V_j, E'_{j,\theta})$ as well as the throughput rates $b_{j,v}(\theta)$ since the feasibility conditions (7.3) and (7.4) determine unique outflow rates $f_{j,e}^-(\theta)$ for given inflow rates $f_{j,e}^+$ from the past.

In order to extend f we consider an IDE thin flow (x', ℓ') and extend the inflow rates and ℓ -labels for all $j \in J$, $e \in E$ and $v \in V_j$ by

$$f_{j,e}^+(\theta+\xi)\coloneqq x_{j,e}' \quad \text{ and } \quad \ell_{j,v}(\theta+\xi)\coloneqq \ell_{j,v}(\theta)+\xi\cdot\ell_{j,v}' \qquad \text{ for all } \xi\in[0,\alpha).$$

We call this extended flow over time α -extension.

Feasible extension steps and thin flow phases. To ensure that we end up with an IDE flow up to time $\theta + \alpha$ the following requirements on the **extension step size** α must be satisfied.

First of all, the waiting time can never be negative, and therefore, the phase ends as soon as a queue depletes:

$$q_e(\theta) + \alpha \cdot \left(\frac{\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e}}{\nu_e} - 1\right) \ge 0 \qquad \text{for all } e \in E^*_{\theta}.$$
(7.6)

Furthermore, the phase ends as soon as an inactive arc gets active. Since queues can also grow on inactive arcs (due to flow of other commodities) we need to take the changing rate of a queue into account. Hence, for all $j \in J$ and $e = vw \in E \setminus E'_{i\theta}$ with $v, w \in V_j$ we require that

$$\ell_{j,v}(\theta) + \alpha \cdot \ell'_{j,v} \le \tau_e + q_e(\theta) + \alpha \cdot \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e}\right) + \ell_{j,w}(\theta) + \alpha \cdot \ell'_{j,w}.$$
(7.7)

Finally, the throughput rate should stay constant during a phase:

$$b_{j,v}(\theta + \xi) = b_{j,v}(\theta)$$
 for all $j \in J$ and $v \in V \setminus \{t_j\}$ and all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$. (7.8)

We call $\alpha > 0$ **feasible** if it satisfies (7.6), (7.7) and (7.8). It is easy to see that such a feasible $\alpha > 0$ always exists, since $q_e(\theta) > 0$ for all $e \in E_{\theta}^*$ and $\ell_{j,v}(\theta) < \tau_e + q_e(\theta) + \ell_{j,w}(\theta)$ for all $j \in J$ and $e = vw \in E \setminus E'_{j,\theta}$ as well as $v, w \in V_j$. Furthermore, the functions $b_{j,v}$ are right-constant, since $f_{j,e}^+$ as well as r_j are right-constant. Since $\tau_e > 0$ for all $e \in E$ we have that $b_{j,v}(\theta)$ is well-defined and constant on some small interval $[\theta, \theta + \varepsilon)$.

For the maximal α we call the interval $[\theta, \theta + \alpha)$ a **thin flow phase**.

Theorem 7.5.

Consider an IDE flow up to time θ , an IDE thin flow (x, ℓ') at time θ and a feasible $\alpha > 0$. The α -extension is an IDE flow up to time $\theta + \alpha$ and the extended ℓ -functions denote the current shortest path distances.

Proof. First note that the feasibility conditions are satisfied since the outflow rates $f_{j,e}^-$ are defined exactly that way. Furthermore, flow conservation holds at all nodes $v \in V \setminus \{t_j\}$ and for every commodity $j \in J$ since for all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ we have

$$\sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} f_{j,e}^+(\theta + \xi) = \sum_{e \in \delta_v^+} x_{j,e}' = b_{j,v}(\theta) = b_{j,v}(\theta + \xi) = \begin{cases} \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_{j,e}^-(\theta + \xi) & \text{for } v \neq s_j, \\ \sum_{e \in \delta_v^-} f_{j,e}^-(\theta + \xi) + r_j(\theta + \xi) & \text{for } v = s_j. \end{cases}$$

Next, we show that the ℓ labels satisfy Equation (7.5). Given a point in time $\theta + \xi$ with $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ we have by Lemma 3.1 (vii) applied to the total inflow rate $f_e^+(\theta + \xi)$ that

$$q'_e(\theta+\xi) = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \frac{f_e^+(\theta+\xi)}{\nu_e} - 1 & \text{if } q_e(\theta+\xi) > 0, \\ \max\left\{ \frac{f_e^+(\theta+\xi)}{\nu_e} - 1, 0 \right\} & \text{else,} \end{array} \right\} = \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e}\right).$$

Note that $q'_e(\theta + \xi)$ is constant during the thin flow phase, i.e., $q_e(\theta + \xi) = q_e(\theta) + \xi \cdot \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e}\right)$.

For non-active arcs $e = vw \notin E'_{j,\theta}$ with $v, w \in V_j$ we have by (7.7) that

$$\ell_{j,v}(\theta+\xi) = \ell_{j,v}(\theta) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{j,v} \le \tau_e + q_e(\theta) + \xi \cdot \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e}\right) + \ell_{j,w}(\theta) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{j,w} = \tau_e + q_e(\theta+\xi) + \ell_{j,w}(\theta+\xi).$$

For active arcs $e = vw \in E'_{i,\theta}$ we have by (ideTF4) that

$$\ell_{j,v}(\theta+\xi) = \ell_{j,v}(\theta) + \xi \cdot \ell'_{j,v} \le \tau_e + q_e(\theta) + \ell_{j,w}(\theta) + \xi \cdot \left(\rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e}\right) + \ell'_{j,w}\right)$$
$$= \tau_e + q_e(\theta+\xi) + \ell_{j,w}(\theta+\xi).$$

Since there has to be one active arc that satisfies (ideTF4) with equality, the same arc satisfies the inequality above with equality, which shows that (7.5) holds. In other words, the extended ℓ labels denote the current shortest path distances in the α -extension.

Finally, we show that the α -extension satisfies the IDE condition (IDE). For all $\xi \in [0, \alpha)$ and all arcs $e = vw \in E$ we have that

$$\begin{split} f_{j,e}^+(\theta+\xi) &> 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad x'_{j,e} &> 0 \\ &\Rightarrow \quad \ell'_{j,v}(\theta+\xi) = \ell'_{j,v} \stackrel{\text{(ideTF5)}}{=} \rho_e\left(\sum_{i \in J} x'_{i,e}\right) + \ell'_{j,w} = q'_e(\theta+\xi) + \ell'_{j,w}(\theta) \\ &\Rightarrow \quad e \in E'_{j,\theta+\xi}. \end{split}$$

Hence, the α -extension is indeed an IDE flow up to time $\theta + \alpha$.

As we are now able to extend IDE flows by some small time interval, we can use an approach similar to the one for Nash flows over time in order to show the existence of an IDE flow for all times.

Theorem 7.6. For right-constant inflow rate functions, there exists an IDE flow f.

Proof. Let \mathcal{F}_0 be the set of tuples (f, θ) , where $\theta \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \cup \{\infty\}$ and where f is an IDE flow up to time θ with right-constant functions f_e^+ and f_e^- . We define

 $\hat{\theta}_0 \coloneqq \sup \{ \theta \ge 0 \mid \text{ there exists an IDE flow } f \text{ such that } (f, \theta) \in \mathcal{F}_0 \}.$

If $\hat{\theta}_0 = \infty$ we are done, so suppose $\hat{\theta}_0 < \infty$. There exists an IDE flow f_1 with $\theta_1 := \frac{\hat{\theta}_0}{2}$ such that $(f_1, \theta_1) \in \mathcal{F}_0$. With this we define

$$\mathcal{F}_{1} \coloneqq \left\{ \left. (f, \theta) \in \mathcal{F}_{0} \right| \left. f \right|_{[0, \theta_{1})} = f_{1} \right\}.$$

Here, $f|_{[0,\theta_1)}$ denotes the flow over time up to time θ_1 that is obtained by restricting all in- and outflow rates to the interval $[0,\theta_1)$. Note that if f is an IDE flow up to time θ and $\theta > \theta_1$ then $f|_{[0,\theta_1)}$ is an IDE flow up to time θ_1 .

The set \mathcal{F}_1 is non-empty, so we set

 $\hat{\theta}_1 := \sup \{ \theta \ge 0 \mid \text{ there exists an IDE flow } f \text{ such that } (f, \theta) \in \mathcal{F}_1 \}.$

By Theorem 7.5 we know that $\hat{\theta}_1 > \theta_1$, and therefore $\hat{\theta}_1 \in (\theta_1, \hat{\theta}_0]$. Let $\theta_2 \coloneqq \frac{\hat{\theta}_1 - \theta_1}{2}$. Continuing this construction, we obtain a strictly increasing sequence $(\theta_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ and a non-increasing sequence $(\hat{\theta}_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $\theta_i < \hat{\theta}_i$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\hat{\theta}_i - \theta_i \leq \frac{\hat{\theta}_0}{2^i} \to 0$ for $i \to \infty$. Let θ^* be the limit of these two sequences. By taking point-wise limits of the sequence $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ we can construct an IDE flow f^* such

that $(f^*, \theta^*) \in \mathcal{F}_0$. These point-wise limits exist for all $\theta < \theta^*$, since the inflow rates at time θ of f_i are constant with respect to i as soon as i is large enough such that $\theta_i > \theta$.

Again by Theorem 7.5 we can extend f^* by some $\alpha > 0$ but this is a contradiction to the definition of $\hat{\theta}_i$ for all i with $\hat{\theta}_i \in [\theta^*, \theta^* + \alpha)$. Hence, $\hat{\theta}_0 = \infty$, which finishes the proof.

Example. In Figure 7.1 on the next page we give an example of an IDE flow with three commodities. At the beginning at time 0, the shortest path from s_1 to t_1 is clearly the direct top route (s_1, v_1, s_2, t_1) with a current shortest distance of 9. Hence, all particles of commodity 1 take this path at the start. However, as soon as the first particle of commodity 1 arrives at v_1 at time 3, we observe that commodity 2 has built up a large congestion on arc s_2t_1 . For this particle both paths (v_1, s_2, t_1) and $(v_1, v_2, s_3, v_3, t_1)$ now have a current distance of 12. Since the queue on s_2t_1 continues to grow due to commodity 2, the arc v_1s_2 becomes inactive for commodity 1 right after time 3. Thus, all particles of this commodity have to take the bottom route.

At time 4 the first particle of commodity 3 reaches node v_3 and since both outgoing arcs have a capacity restriction, the flow has to split up in order to ensure that both arcs v_3t_1 and v_3t_2 stay active. Hence, a flow rate of 3 enters arc v_3t_1 and the remaining flow rate of 1 takes v_3t_2 .

The first particle of commodity 1 arrives at s_3 at time 9 only to recognize that there is now a huge congestion on arc v_3t_1 . With the current waiting times it would take 6 + 15 = 21 time units to stay on this bottom path, whereas the path (s_3, v_1, s_2, t_1) has a current path distance of only 12. In other words, since s_3v_3 is not active anymore, all flow particles of commodity 1 choose to go back to the top route, where they have done a full cycle at time 12. As the queue on s_2t_1 is only decreasing, this time, every flow particle sticks with its choice of the top route until leaving the network.

7.5 Further Results on Instantaneous Dynamic Equilibria

In the following we give a brief overview of further interesting results on IDE flows.

Non-termination. First of all, it is worth noting that IDE flows might not terminate. By this we mean that, even though the network inflow rates stop sending in flow at some point in time, the IDE flow keeps cycling in the network indefinitely. Such a strange behavior is really surprising at first sight and the construction of a network for proving this is quite complicated.

The rough idea is to consider two commodities, each cycling in multiple copies of the same network gadget that consists of two directed cycles with one common arc. In order to force the flow to keep cycling in these gadgets we connect each node along the cycles with the sink by a path that is directed through multiple copies of the gadget of the other commodity. By careful construction it is possible that the waiting times on these paths behave exactly in such a way that whenever the flow reaches a node the current fastest way is to stay in the double-cycle-gadget and to leave it at a node further ahead. But as soon as the flow reaches this node, the waiting times have changed and, again, the current shortest path forces the flow to stay in the gadget. In other words, the flow keeps cycling and builds up a queue on the central arc from time to time. Exactly this arc, with varying waiting times, is used by paths of the other commodity. For more details on this we refer to [36].

Termination for single-destination networks. If all commodities have the same destination an IDE flow essentially becomes a single-commodity flow over time. In this case it is possible to show that the flow always terminates, i.e., that all flow reaches the destination at some point in time if the network inflow rate has finite support. The basic idea to show this is to consider the flow closest to





Figure 7.1: An example of an IDE flow with three commodities. The network properties are displayed on top. The transit time of all arcs is 3 and all capacities are large enough except for $\nu_{s_2t_1} = 1$, $\nu_{v_3t_1} = \frac{3}{4}$ and $\nu_{v_3t_2} = \frac{1}{4}$. In the middle some of the IDE thin flows are depicted at crucial points in time. Arcs that are active for some commodities are shown in the respective colors. Positive thin flow values $x'_{j,e}$ are shown next to each arc and the values in the boxes next to the nodes are the ℓ' -labels of the respective commodity. In the bottom we show the flow over time at some snapshots in time. Here, the labels +q indicates a waiting time of q for all particles that enter this arc at this moment in time.

the common destination. This flow will never go in cycles. Instead, it takes the shortest path to the sink according to transit times only and leaves the network there. Again, for details we refer to [36].

Non-uniqueness. As a final remark on IDE flows we want to mention that they are not unique in any sense, not even for a single commodity. To see this consider a network consisting of two parallel *s*-*t*-paths $P = (e_1, e_2)$ and $P' = (e'_1, e'_2)$ of equal total transit time. If the first arcs, e_1 and e'_1 , of both paths have large capacities (larger than the network inflow rate), then every distribution of flow into e_1 and e'_1 is a valid IDE thin flow at the beginning, since no queue is building up.

But not even the current shortest path distances are unique. Suppose that the second arcs, e_2 and e'_2 , on both paths have very small capacities. Then the queues, and therefore the current shortest path distances, heavily depend on the distribution of flow into the paths at node s. But since the particles do not anticipate later stages, the decision mode at s does not depend on the capacities of e_2 or e'_2 at all. Hence, depending on the IDE thin flow at time 0 we end up with different current shortest path distances later on.
8

Future Research and Conclusion

In this final chapter of this thesis we want to take a look back, give an overview of the results we have achieved so far and set them into context. Even though we extended the Nash flow over time model by a fair amount, this is by no means a complete theory yet. Therefore, we want to also have a look into the future and give an outlook on further research as well as discuss a number of problems that remain open.

8.1 Review

Motivated by the dynamic traffic assignment problem and with the goal in mind to obtain a better understanding of the complex traffic dynamics, we considered a dynamic game in a flow over time model with deterministic queuing. The dynamic equilibria, called Nash flows over time, in the base version of this model was already understood quite well, but is only a very rough approximation of a real-world traffic scenario. In order to close the gap between large-scale simulation tools, which work well in practice but lack any provable foundation, and the mathematical theory, we extended this base model by several very natural traffic features and showed that, by extending the proof ideas, we could, in most cases, preserve the existence and the structural insights of dynamic equilibria.

As a first starting point we introduced time-dependent capacities and time-dependent speed limits in order to represent changes in the road network, such as planned construction work or school zones. This extension changes the base model only slightly and it is no surprise that it is possible to transfer the concept of thin flows with resetting and the construction of Nash flows over time with only minor adjustments.

Much more challenging was the consideration of multiple commodities in such a dynamic network game. The essential property of a global FIFO principle does not hold for these scenarios, and therefore, it is not possible anymore to extend multi-commodity Nash flows over time step by step. Instead, we have to consider all infinitesimally small players at the same time as the choice of early particles depends not only on all the flow already in the network but may also depend on all future flow. Even though we could not use any of the techniques of the base model, we were still able to show the existence of dynamic equilibria in this multi-commodity setting with the help of infinite dimensional-variational inequalities. Since this was known prior to the work in this thesis, the main contribution is the structural insight into these Nash flows over time, as we could show that their derivatives have to satisfy a set of conditions similar to the thin flow equations. The major difference to the single-commodity case is that we cannot consider each thin flow isolated anymore, but instead, we have to take into account the flow of the other commodities (the so-called foreign flow), and therefore, we have to consider all flow from the past and the future simultaneously. Unfortunately, this still does not give a clear instruction on how to construct Nash flows over time with multiple commodities, however, for the special case that all commodities share the same origin we showed that the problem of constructing a Nash flow over time reduces to the single-commodity case. The same holds true for the other extreme case, that every particle can start at multiple origins but they all share a common destination.

Clearly, the extension of the base model to a model with spillback and kinematic waves is one of the main contributions of this thesis. These fundamental traffic features, which are especially relevant in highly congested networks, were a huge challenge for the deterministic queuing model. The key idea is to restrict the total amount of flow on each arc by an arc specific storage capacity and to model the backwards moving gaps between vehicles by a gap flow over time. In order to obtain a well-defined flow over time based on the route choices of the particles we introduced a priority rule on each intersection. The fair allocation condition guarantees that, in the case of spillback, the particles merge according to the outflow capacity of each incoming link. As we only considered a single-commodity we could, again, use the network-wide FIFO principle in order to construct a Nash flow over time in this kinematic wave model. However, most of the proof ideas do not transfer to this extension, and therefore, most of the proofs became much more involved. In addition, we observed that the arrival times of these dynamic equilibria are not unique anymore and that, due to the fact that congestions can block intersections, the price of anarchy is unbounded in the spillback model. Finally, we considered a different type of flows over time, called *instantaneous dynamic equilibria*. Here, particles do not predict the future evolution, but instead, each of them chooses a route depending on the current network configuration, i.e., the current shortest distance to the destination. As these might change drastically along the way, each player is allowed to adopt his or her route choice on the way. Even though these flows over time do not form a game theoretical Nash equilibrium, they are well motivated by real-world scenarios since traffic users, following a navigation system, might get re-routed as soon as the current traffic conditions change. As we only have to consider the current waiting times it becomes much easier to construct such IDE flows. In fact, we could even handle multi-commodity IDE flows with the same thin flow technique we used for single-commodity Nash flows over time.

8.2 Open Problems

Even though we have achieved quite a lot already, there still remain several open problems for further research. We want to mention the most prominent future challenges on Nash flows over time in the following.

Number of thin flow phases. We conjecture that, at least for the base model, the number of thin flow phases is finite for every network. It has been shown that this number can be exponential in the network size [19], but so far, it is not even clear whether there is a network where the extension step sizes converge to 0, or if there exists some network-dependent $\varepsilon > 0$ such that each thin flow phase has at least length ε . In all our experiments, however, the Nash flow over time had a final phase that lasts indefinitely.

This question is very relevant for computing Nash flows over time algorithmically. If there exists an instance that produces infinitely many phases, then the corresponding dynamic equilibrium can most likely not be described by a finite description, and hence, it cannot be computed algorithmically.

Computation complexity of thin flows. Related to the number of thin flow phases is the question of the complexity of computing a single thin flow with resetting. The mixed integer formulation for the base model, which we discussed in Section 3.6.1, shows that it is possible to compute a thin flow in exponential running time and that this problem lies in the complexity class NP. However, it remains a challenging open problem whether this problem is NP-hard, meaning that we cannot hope for a fast algorithm, or if it can be computed in polynomial time.

Price of anarchy. For the kinematic wave model it is very easy to see that all versions of the price of anarchy are unbounded, which can already be shown for very simple network topologies; see Figure 6.6 on page 114. For the base model, however, it remains an open problem for now. With the latest progress by Correa et al. in [20] it seems as if it is only a small step to show a bound of $\frac{e}{e-1}$ for the time price of anarchy, but the related monotonicity conjecture (Conjecture 3.12 on page 42) turns out to be more challenging to prove than expected.

Uniqueness of earliest arrival times. In the kinematic wave model we could show that spillback thin flows do not have unique ℓ' -labels, and hence, there exist networks with multiple Nash flows over time with different earliest arrival times. In the base model, however, the ℓ' -labels of a thin flow with resetting are uniquely determined, but it still remains an open question whether this translates to unique earliest arrival times. For more details on this topic we refer to Section 3.6.2 on page 41.

Structure of multi-commodity Nash flows over time. As a first step, we showed in Section 5.1.3 that the derivatives of a multi-commodity Nash flow over time are characterized by the multi-commodity thin flow conditions. Unfortunately, the properties of the x'- and ℓ' -functions are not obvious. We conjecture that the earliest arrival times ℓ must be piece-wise linear, or in other words, the ℓ' functions must be piece-wise constant. The intuition behind this is the following consideration. Whenever a current shortest path changes for some commodity, this means that either an arc became active or a queue depleted. It seems that every arc can only be responsible for a countable amount of events and every event will cause at most a countable amount of jump points for the ℓ' -functions. Unfortunately, we were not able to prove this yet.

Long-term behavior of Nash flows over time in the kinematic wave model. For the base model the long-term behavior of Nash flows over time is well understood as long as the minimal *s*-*t*-cut is smaller than the network inflow rate. In fact, a dynamic equilibrium reaches a steady state if, and only if, this cut condition is satisfied. A characterization of the long-term behavior of a Nash flow over time in the spillback or kinematic wave model remains an open problem. Is it even possible to denote simple conditions on the network in order to guarantee a steady state? Due to the nature of spillback, Nash flows over time are even harder to predict in this extended model.

IDE flows in the spillback model. A probably simpler open problem is the question whether the concept of an IDE flow can be transferred to the spillback, or even to the kinematic wave, model. As the effective capacity $c_v \cdot \nu_e^-$ of an arc *e* can change drastically in the spillback model, it is not obvious what information is available for particles to choose their routes. In the model without spillback we use the current waiting times of each arc, which are the actual waiting times for particles entering the link at this very moment. In a spillback model, however, the actual waiting times heavily depend on the future evolution of the flow over time since arcs further downstream might become full and restrict the outflow rates. Hence, the first step to transfer IDE flows to the spillback model would be to consider a reasonable information model.

Combination of IDE flows and Nash flows over time. The main difference between IDE flows and Nash flows over time is that the particles of an IDE flow only consider the current waiting times, whereas the particles of a Nash flow over time predict the complete future flow evolution. Hence, an obvious question is, whether there exists a combined flow over time model with a parameter $H \in [0, \infty)$, which describes how far particles predict the future. For a well-defined model these equilibrium flows should be equal to IDE flows for H = 0 and equal to Nash flows over time for an H that is larger than the largest travel time from the source to the sink. The open questions, what properties such equilibrium flows would have or whether they even exist, have not been studied so far.

Convergence of packet routing models to non-atomic flows over time. In the real world, traffic does not consist of a continuous flow that can be split up arbitrarily, but instead, we have a set of atomic, non-splittable vehicles. This is captured in so-called packet routing models, which have been considered a lot. Surprisingly, the relation between these atomic models and non-atomic flows over time has not been studied very intensively so far. As a first step, it would be interesting to show that there exists a packet routing model with discrete time steps that converges to a flow over time in the deterministic queuing model, when the packet size and the time step size go to zero. It would be very interesting to study dynamic equilibria in such a packet routing model and maybe it could even be possible to show that these equilibria also converge to a Nash flow over time.

Regulating dynamic equilibria by tolls. Tolls are an obvious tool for an authority to regulate traffic. It would be very interesting to consider dynamic equilibria in a flow over time model with tolls. Unfortunately, it seems that for fixed tolls a dynamic equilibrium would not implement a global FIFO principle anymore since particles on roads with tolls might overtake particles on toll-free routes. By some first considerations it seems that the existence of single-commodity Nash flows over time with tolls is as complicated as it is to prove the existence of multi-commodity Nash flows over time without tolls. Nonetheless, this is a very relevant research direction. For example, it might be possible to implement tolls that force a dynamic equilibrium to be optimal, i.e., to be an earliest arrival flow. For some first results in this regard we refer to the very recent preprint article of Frascaria and Olver [34].

Further open questions. These are only some of the obvious open questions and there are many more. For example, questions about a characterization of Braess arcs, about the minimal investment into storage capacities in order to avoid spillback or about the robustness of Nash flows over time if not all particles act rationally, just to name a few. Flow over time models with deterministic queuing, and especially Nash flows over time, remain an interesting and active field of research with, hopefully, a lot more to come.

8.3 Conclusion

It is fair to say that the contribution of the work presented in this thesis is a first but important step in order to obtain a better mathematical understanding of the dynamic traffic assignment problem. We provide important structural insights into dynamic equilibria in order to build a solid mathematical foundation, which is not only interesting from an academical perspective but also useful to improve and evaluate large-scale simulation tools used for real-world scenarios. In order to improve the traffic infrastructure and to reduce congestions in highly populated regions it is essential that network designers can rely on accurate forecasts, which can be provided by such simulations.

Even though this is only a small part in the overall picture and there are a lot of open problems remaining, the research work will continue, and hopefully sooner than later, mathematics, and science as a whole, will have a positive impact on one of urgent problems of today's society, the climate change. It might be too late to prevent most of the drastic consequences, but nonetheless, science needs to try its best to reduce anthropogenic emissions of atmospheric green house gases in order to temper the impact on our society and on nature as a whole. There is no planet B.

Bibliography

- [1] S. Algers, E. Bernauer, M. Boero, et al. "Review of micro-simulation models". In: *Review Report of the SMARTEST project* (1997).
- [2] M. J. Beckmann, C. B. McGuire, and C. B. Winsten. "Studies in the Economics of Transportation". In: (1955).
- [3] D. Bertsimas and R. Weismantel. *Optimization over integers*. Vol. 13. Dynamic Ideas, 2005.
- [4] S. Bharadwaj, S. Ballare, M. K. Chandel, et al. "Impact of congestion on greenhouse gas emissions for road transport in Mumbai metropolitan region". In: *Transportation Research Procedia* 25 (2017), pp. 3538–3551.
- [5] U. Bhaskar, L. Fleischer, and E. Anshelevich. "A Stackelberg strategy for routing flow over time". In: *Games and Economic Behavior* 92 (2015), pp. 232–247.
- [6] S. Blandin, D. Work, P. Goatin, B. Piccoli, and A. Bayen. "A general phase transition model for vehicular traffic". In: *SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics* 71.1 (2011), pp. 107–127.
- [7] V. I. Bogachev. Measure theory. Vol. 1. Springer Science & Business Media, 2007.
- [8] D. Braess. "Über ein Paradoxon aus der Verkehrsplanung". In: Unternehmensforschung 12.1 (1968), pp. 258–268.
- [9] D. Braess, A. Nagurney, and T. Wakolbinger. "On a paradox of traffic planning". In: *Transportation science* 39.4 (2005), pp. 446–450.
- [10] H. Brézis. "Equations et inéquations non linéaires dans les espaces vectoriels en dualité". In: Annales de l'institut Fourier. Vol. 18. 1. 1968, pp. 115–175.
- [11] R. E. Burkard, K. Dlaska, and B. Klinz. "The quickest flow problem". In: *Zeitschrift für Operations Research* 37.1 (1993), pp. 31–58.
- [12] I. C. Change. "Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability Summaries, Frequently Asked Questions, and Cross-Chapter Boxes". In: *Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (2014).
- [13] I. C. Change. "Mitigation of climate change". In: *Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (2014).
- [14] I. C. Change. "The Physical Science Basis". In: *Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (2013).
- [15] L. Chapman. "Transport and climate change: a review". In: *Journal of transport geography* 15.5 (2007), pp. 354–367.
- [16] R. M. Colombo. "A 2×2 hyperbolic traffic flow model". In: *Mathematical and computer modelling* 35.5-6 (2002), pp. 683–688.
- [17] R. Cominetti, J. Correa, and O. Larré. "Dynamic equilibria in fluid queueing networks". In: Operations Research 63.1 (2015), pp. 21–34.
- [18] R. Cominetti, J. Correa, and O. Larré. "Existence and uniqueness of equilibria for flows over time". In: *International Colloquium on Automata, Languages, and Programming*. Springer. 2011, pp. 552–563.

- [19] R. Cominetti, J. Correa, and N. Olver. "Long Term Behavior of Dynamic Equilibria in Fluid Queuing Networks". In: *Integer Programming and Combinatorial Optimization*. 2017, pp. 161– 172.
- [20] J. Correa, A. Cristi, and T. Oosterwijk. "On the Price of Anarchy for flows over time". In: Proceedings of the 2019 ACM Conference on Economics and Computation. ACM. 2019, pp. 559– 577.
- [21] J. Correa and N. E. Stier-Moses. "Wardrop equilibria". In: *Wiley encyclopedia of operations* research and management science (2010).
- [22] J. R. Correa, A. S. Schulz, and N. E. S. Moses. "Computational complexity, fairness, and the price of anarchy of the maximum latency problem". In: *International Conference on Integer Programming and Combinatorial Optimization*. Springer. 2004, pp. 59–73.
- [23] S. C. Dafermos and F. T. Sparrow. "The traffic assignment problem for a general network". In: *Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards B* 73.2 (1969), pp. 91–118.
- [24] J. Del Castillo and F. Benitez. "On the functional form of the speed-density relationship—I: General theory". In: *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological* 29.5 (1995), pp. 373–389.
- [25] P. Dubey and J. D. Rogawski. "Inefficiency of Nash equilibria in strategic market games". In: *BEBR faculty working paper; no. 1104* (1985).
- [26] F. Facchinei and J.-S. Pang. *Finite-dimensional variational inequalities and complementarity problems*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2007.
- [27] J. Fenger. "Urban air quality". In: Atmospheric environment 33.29 (1999), pp. 4877–4900.
- [28] L. Fleischer and M. Skutella. "Quickest flows over time". In: SIAM Journal on Computing 36.6 (2007), pp. 1600–1630.
- [29] L. Fleischer and É. Tardos. "Efficient continuous-time dynamic network flow algorithms". In: Operations Research Letters 23.3-5 (1998), pp. 71–80.
- [30] L. Fleischer. "Faster algorithms for the quickest transshipment problem". In: *SIAM Journal on Optimization* 12.1 (2001), pp. 18–35.
- [31] G. Flötteröd and J. Rohde. "Operational macroscopic modeling of complex urban road intersections". In: *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological* 45.6 (2011), pp. 903–922.
- [32] L. R. Ford and D. R. Fulkerson. "Constructing maximal dynamic flows from static flows". In: *Operations research* 6 (1958), pp. 419–433.
- [33] L. R. Ford and D. R. Fulkerson. Flows in Networks. Princeton University Press, 1962.
- [34] D. Frascaria and N. Olver. *Algorithms for flows over time with scheduling costs*. 2019. arXiv: 1912.00082 [cs.DS].
- [35] D. Gale. "Transient flows in networks". In: *The Michigan Mathematical Journal* 6.1 (1959), pp. 59–63.
- [36] L. Graf and T. Harks. "Dynamic flows with adaptive route choice". In: *International Conference on Integer Programming and Combinatorial Optimization*. Springer. 2019, pp. 219–232.
- [37] L. Graf, T. Harks, and L. Sering. "Dynamic flows with adaptive route choice". In: *Mathematical Programming* (2020).
- [38] A. Hall, S. Hippler, and M. Skutella. "Multicommodity flows over time: Efficient algorithms and complexity". In: *Theoretical Computer Science* 379.3 (2007), pp. 387–404.

- [39] P. Harker and J. Pang. "Finite-Dimensional Variational Inequality and Nonlinear Complementarity Problems: A Survey of Theory, Algorithms and Applications." In: *Mathematical Programming* 48 (1990), pp. 161–220.
- [40] T. Harks, B. Peis, D. Schmand, B. Tauer, and L. Vargas Koch. "Competitive packet routing with priority lists". In: *ACM Transactions on Economics and Computation (TEAC)* 6.1 (2018), p. 4.
- [41] C. Hendrickson and G. Kocur. "Schedule delay and departure time decisions in a deterministic model". In: *Transportation science* 15.1 (1981), pp. 62–77.
- [42] M. P. Hoang. "Nash flows over time in networks with time-dependent transit times". BA thesis. Technische Universität Berlin, 2019.
- [43] M. Hoefer, V. S. Mirrokni, H. Röglin, and S.-H. Teng. "Competitive routing over time". In: International Workshop on Internet and Network Economics. Springer. 2009, pp. 18–29.
- [44] B. Hoppe. "Efficient dynamic network flow algorithms". PhD thesis. Cornell University, 1995.
- [45] B. Hoppe and É. Tardos. "The quickest transshipment problem". In: *Mathematics of Operations Research* 25.1 (2000), pp. 36–62.
- [46] A. Horni, K. Nagel, and K. Axhausen, eds. *Multi-Agent Transport Simulation MATSim*. London: Ubiquity Press, 2016, p. 618.
- [47] R. Jayakrishnan, H. S. Mahmassani, and T.-Y. Hu. "An evaluation tool for advanced traffic information and management systems in urban networks". In: *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies* 2.3 (1994), pp. 129–147.
- [48] S. Kakutani. "A generalization of Brouwer's fixed point theorem". In: *Duke Mathematical Journal* 8 (1941), pp. 457–459.
- [49] D. Kinderlehrer and G. Stampacchia. *An introduction to variational inequalities and their applications*. Vol. 31. Siam, 1980.
- [50] M. Klimm and P. Warode. "Computing all Wardrop equilibria parametrized by the flow demand". In: *Proceedings of the Thirtieth Annual ACM-SIAM Symposium on Discrete Algorithms*. SIAM. 2019, pp. 917–934.
- [51] B. Klinz and G. J. Woeginger. "Minimum-cost dynamic flows: The series-parallel case". In: *Networks: An International Journal* 43.3 (2004), pp. 153–162.
- [52] W. Knödel. *Graphentheoretische Methoden und ihre Anwendungen*. Springer, 1969.
- [53] R. Koch. "Routing Games over Time". PhD thesis. Technische Universität Berlin, 2012.
- [54] R. Koch and M. Skutella. "Nash equilibria and the price of anarchy for flows over time". In: *International Symposium on Algorithmic Game Theory*. Springer. 2009, pp. 323–334.
- [55] R. Koch and M. Skutella. "Nash equilibria and the price of anarchy for flows over time". In: *Theory of Computing Systems* 49.1 (2011), pp. 71–97.
- [56] E. Köhler, R. H. Möhring, and M. Skutella. "Traffic networks and flows over time". In: *Algorithmics of large and complex networks*. Springer, 2009, pp. 166–196.
- [57] G. Kolata. "What if they closed 42d street and nobody noticed". In: *New York Times* 25 (1990), p. 38.
- [58] E. Koutsoupias and C. Papadimitriou. "Worst-case equilibria". In: *Computer science review* 3.2 (2009), pp. 65–69.

- [59] M. Krzyżanowski, B. Kuna-Dibbert, and J. Schneider. *Health effects of transport-related air pollution*. WHO Regional Office Europe, 2005.
- [60] J. Kulkarni and V. Mirrokni. "Robust price of anarchy bounds via LP and fenchel duality". In: Proceedings of the twenty-sixth annual ACM-SIAM symposium on Discrete algorithms. SIAM. 2014, pp. 1030–1049.
- [61] T. Larsson and M. Patriksson. "Side constrained traffic equilibrium models—analysis, computation and applications". In: *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological* 33.4 (1999), pp. 233–264.
- [62] F. T. Leighton, B. M. Maggs, and S. B. Rao. "Packet routing and job-shop scheduling in O (congestion+ dilation) steps". In: *Combinatorica* 14.2 (1994), pp. 167–186.
- [63] M. J. Lighthill and G. Whitham. "On kinematic waves I. Flood movement in long rivers". In: Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences 229.1178 (1955), pp. 281–316.
- [64] M. J. Lighthill and G. B. Whitham. "On kinematic waves II. A theory of traffic flow on long crowded roads". In: Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences 229.1178 (1955), pp. 317–345.
- [65] M. Macko, K. Larson, and L. Steskal. "Braess's paradox for flows over time". In: *Theory of Computing Systems* 53.1 (2013), pp. 86–106.
- [66] A. D. May. Traffic flow fundamentals. Prentice Hall, 1989.
- [67] D. K. Merchant and G. L. Nemhauser. "A model and an algorithm for the dynamic traffic assignment problems". In: *Transportation science* 12.3 (1978), pp. 183–199.
- [68] E. Minieka. "Maximal, lexicographic, and dynamic network flows". In: *Operations Research* 21.2 (1973), pp. 517–527.
- [69] G. F. Newell. "Mathematical models for freely-flowing highway traffic". In: *Journal of the Operations Research Society of America* 3.2 (1955), pp. 176–186.
- [70] J. J. Olstam and A. Tapani. *Comparison of car-following models*. Vol. 960. Sweden: Swedish National Road and Transport Research Institute Linköping, 2004.
- [71] B. Peis, B. Tauer, V. Timmermans, and L. Vargas Koch. "Oligopolistic Competitive Packet Routing". In: 18th Workshop on Algorithmic Approaches for Transportation Modelling, Optimization, and Systems (ATMOS 2018). Schloss Dagstuhl-Leibniz-Zentrum fuer Informatik. 2018.
- [72] A. B. Philpott. "Continuous-time flows in networks". In: *Mathematics of Operations Research* 15.4 (1990), pp. 640–661.
- [73] B. Ran and D. E. Boyce. *Modelling Dynamic Transportation Networks: An Intelligent Transportation System Oriented Approach*. Springer, 1996.
- [74] T. Roughgarden. "Designing networks for selfish users is hard". In: Proceedings 42nd IEEE Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science. IEEE. 2001, pp. 472–481.
- [75] T. Roughgarden. *Selfish routing and the price of anarchy*. Vol. 174. Cambridge: MIT press, 2005.
- [76] T. Roughgarden. "The price of anarchy is independent of the network topology". In: *Journal of Computer and System Sciences* 67.2 (2003), pp. 341–364.

- [77] T. Roughgarden and É. Tardos. "How bad is selfish routing?" In: *Journal of the ACM (JACM)* 49.2 (2002), pp. 236–259.
- [78] H. L. Royden and P. Fitzpatrick. Real analysis. Vol. 32. New York: Macmillan, 1988.
- [79] D. L. Royer, R. A. Berner, and J. Park. "Climate sensitivity constrained by *CO*₂ concentrations over the past 420 million years". In: *Nature* 446.7135 (2007), p. 530.
- [80] W. Rudin. Real and complex analysis. McGraw-Hill Education, 2006.
- [81] M. Scarsini, M. Schröder, and T. Tomala. "Dynamic atomic congestion games with seasonal flows". In: *Operations Research* 66.2 (2018), pp. 327–339.
- [82] M. Schlöter. "Flows Over Time and Submodular Function Minimization". PhD thesis. Technische Universität Berlin, 2018.
- [83] M. Schlöter and M. Skutella. "Fast and Memory-Efficient Algorithms for Evacuation Problems". In: Proceedings of the Twenty-Eighth Annual ACM–SIAM Symposium on Discrete Algorithms. SIAM, 2017, pp. 821–840.
- [84] M. Schlöter. "Earliest Arrival Transshipments in Networks with Multiple Sinks". In: International Conference on Integer Programming and Combinatorial Optimization. Springer. 2019, pp. 370–384.
- [85] A. Schrijver. Theory of linear and integer programming. John Wiley & Sons, 1998.
- [86] L. Sering and M. Skutella. "Multi-source multi-sink Nash flows over time". In: 18th Workshop on Algorithmic Approaches for Transportation Modelling, Optimization, and Systems. Vol. 65. 2018, 12:1–12:20.
- [87] L. Sering and L. Vargas Koch. "Nash flows over time with spillback". In: *Proceedings of the Thirtieth Annual ACM-SIAM Symposium on Discrete Algorithms*. SIAM. 2019, pp. 935–945.
- [88] S. A. Shaheen, A. P. Cohen, and M. S. Chung. "North American carsharing: 10-year retrospective". In: *Transportation Research Record* 2110.1 (2009), pp. 35–44.
- [89] M. Skutella. "An introduction to network flows over time". In: *Research trends in combinatorial optimization*. Springer, 2009, pp. 451–482.
- [90] R. Smit, A. Brown, and Y. Chan. "Do air pollution emissions and fuel consumption models for roadways include the effects of congestion in the roadway traffic flow?" In: *Environmental Modelling & Software* 23.10-11 (2008), pp. 1262–1270.
- [91] M. J. Smith. "The existence, uniqueness and stability of traffic equilibria". In: *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological* 13.4 (1979), pp. 295–304.
- [92] E.-S. Smits, M. C. Bliemer, A. J. Pel, and B. van Arem. "A family of macroscopic node models". In: *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological* 74 (2015), pp. 20–39.
- [93] J. Steger. "Nash flows over time in networks with time-varying capacities". MA thesis. Technische Universität Berlin, 2017.
- [94] Y. Tang, J. Guan, Y. Xu, and Y. Su. "A kind of system of multivariate variational inequalities and the existence theorem of solutions". In: *Journal of inequalities and applications* 2017.1 (2017), p. 208.
- [95] R. F. Teal. "Carpooling: who, how and why". In: *Transportation Research Part A: General* 21.3 (1987), pp. 203–214.
- [96] W. S. Vickrey. "Congestion theory and transport investment". In: *The American Economic Review* 59.2 (1969), pp. 251–260.

- [97] J. Vidal. "Heart and soul of the city". In: The Guardian (2016).
- Y. Wang, W. Y. Szeto, K. Han, and T. L. Friesz. "Dynamic traffic assignment: A review of the methodological advances for environmentally sustainable road transportation applications". In: *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological* 111 (2018), pp. 370–394.
- [99] J. G. Wardrop. "Some theoretical aspects of road traffic research." In: *Proceedings of the institution of civil engineers* 1.5 (1952), pp. 767–768.
- [100] J. G. Wardrop. "Road paper. some theoretical aspects of road traffic research." In: *Proceedings* of the institution of civil engineers 1.3 (1952), pp. 325–362.
- [101] N. Zadeh. "A bad network problem for the simplex method and other minimum cost flow algorithms". In: *Mathematical Programming* 5.1 (1973), pp. 255–266.
- [102] D. Zenghelis. "Stern Review: The economics of climate change". In: *London, England: HM Treasury* (2006).